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MANAGEMfcNT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

GROSS MARGIN EARNED THROUGH NEW MARKETING EFFORTS 

Annual gross margin per customer for new and renewed customers 

The table below depicts the annual margins on contracts of residential and commercial customers signed during the year This table reflects 

all margin earned on new additions and renewals including both the brown commodity and JustGreen, Customers added through 

marketing w/ere at or above the margins of customers lost through attrition or failure to renew. Renewing customers were at lower margins 

largely due to lesser take-up of JustGreen on renewal. However, JustGreen is beginning to be aggressively marketed for renewals, with the 

expectation that rates similar to those for new customers can be achieved. Sales of the JustGreen products remained very strong, with 

approximately 36% of all residential customers added in the past year taking some or all green energy supply Customers that have 

purchased the JustGreen product elected, on average, to take 90% of their consumption in green supply For large commercial customers, 

the average gross margin for new customers added was $S8/RCE. The aggregation cost of these customers is commensurately lower per 

RCE than a residential customer 

Annual gross margin per customer' 

Residential and small commercial customers added in the year 

Canada-gas 

Canada-electricity 

United States - gas 

United States - electricity 

Average annual margin 

Residential and small commerdal customers renewed in the year 

Canada-gas 

Canada - electricity 

United States- gas 

United States - electricity 

Average annual margin 

Residential and small commercial customers lost in the year 

Canada - gas 

Canada - electricity 

United States-gas 

United States - electricity 

Average annual margin 

Large commercial customers added in the year 

Large commercial customers lost in the year 

' Customer sales price less cost of associated supply and allowance for bad debt and U,S. working capital, 

HOME SERVICES DIVISION (NHS) 

NHS provides Ontario residential customers with long-term water heater rental programs that offer conventional tanks, power vented tanks 

and tankless water heaters in a variety of sizes, in addition to leasing HVAC products, NHS had continued strong customer growth and as at 

March 31, 2011, had a cumulative installed base of 115,200 water heaters, 2,600 furnaces and 800 air conditioners in residential homes. 

The water heater installed base has increased by 50% in the past year, from 77,000 as at March 31 , 2010, Management is confident that 

NHS will contribute to the long-term profitability of Just Energy and continue to contribute to diversification, NHS currently markets through 

approximately 210 independent contractors. 

As NHS is a high growth, relatively capital-intensive business, Just Energy's management believes that, in order to maintain stability of 

dividends, separate non-recourse finandng of this capital is appropriate, NHS announced that it had entered into a long-term financing 

agreement with Home Trust Company ("HTC") for the funding of the water heaters and HVAC products in the Enbridge Gas (January 2010) 

and Union Gas (July 2010) distribution territories. Under the agreements, NHS receives funds equal to the amount of the five-, seven-or 

ten-year cash flow (at its option) of the water heater and HVAC contracts discounted at the contracted rate, which is currently 7.99%. HTC is 

then paid an amount which is equal to the customer rental payments on the water heaters for the next five, seven or ten years. The funding 

received from HTC up to March 31, 2011, was $105,7 million. 
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

Fiscal 2011 

S 22,566 

6,869 

15,697 

3,302 

12,083 

6,468 

30,625 

1,902 

115,200 

Fiscal 2010' 

$ 8,886 

1.837 

7,049 

2,824 

5,789 

818 

24,544 

1,975 

77,000 

Management's strategy for NHS is to self-fund the business through its grovrth phase, building value within the customer base. This way, 

NHS will not require significant cash from Just Energy's core operations nor will Just Energy rely on NHS's cash flow to fund dividends. 

The result should be a valuable asset, which will generate strong cash returns following repayment of the HTC financing. 

The 2011 fiscal year saw significant geographic and product expansions for NHS, The division began marketing its products in Union Gas 

territory in Ontario, expanding its reach to the entire province. It also rolled out an offering of furnace and air conditioner rentals and sales. 

These expansions were funded by increased general and administrative costs but are expected to substantially increase the growth and 

profitability of NHS in the future. 

Selected financial informat ion 

For the years ended March 31 

(thousands of dollars, except where indicated) 

Sales per financial statements 

Cost of sales 

GnDss margin 

Marketing expenses 

General and administrative expense 

Interest expense 

Capital expenditures 

Amortization 

Ending total number of water heaters installed 

' Represents results from the dateof acquisitiun. July 1. 2009, through to March 31, 2010, 

Results of operations 

For the year ended March 31 , 2011, NHS had sales of $22,6 million, up 154% year overyear, and gross margin of $15,7 million, up 123% 

from the comparable penod. The cost of sales for the year was $6,9 million, of which $4.6 million represents the non-cash amortization of 

the installed water heaters for the customer contracts signed to date. Marketing expenses for fiscal 2011 were $3,3 million and include 

the amortization of commission costs paid to the independent agents, sales-related automotive fleet costs, advertising and promotion, 

and telecom and office supplies expenses. General and administrative costs, which relate primarily to administrative staff compensation and 

warehouse expenses, were $12,1 million for the year ended March 3 1 , 2011, up 109% year overyear The higher level of general and 

administrative costs relative to the past year was largely due to the expansion into Union Gas territory and the rollout of furnace and air 

conditioner offerings. The infrastructure has now been put in place to allow for strong growth in the Union Gas territory. 

Interest expense amounted to $6.5 million as a result of the financing arrangement with HTC, Capital expenditures, including installation 

costs, amounted to $30,5 million for the year ended March 3 1 , 2011, Amortization costs were 31,9 million for the current year and include 

both the depreciation on non-tank-related capital assets noted above and the amortization of the purchased water heater contracts. 

For the prior comparable period, which represents operations from the date of acquisition, July 1, 2009, through March 31, 2010, sales and 

gross margin amounted to $8,9 million and $7,0 million, respectively Marketing expenses were $2.8 million and general and administrative 

expenses amounted to $5,8 million. Interest expense for the nine months was $0.8 million as a result of the HTC financing just being 

secured in January 2010, 

The growth of NHS has been rapid and, combined with the HTC finandng. is expected to be self-sustaining on a cash flow basis, 

ETHANOL DIVISION (TGF) 

TGF continues to remain focused on improving the plant production and run time of the Belle Plaine, Saskatchewan, wheat-based ethanol 

facility. For the year ended March 3 1 , 2011, the plant achieved an average production capacity of 78%, a significant increase from average 

production capacity of 62% in the prior comparative period. The Phase 1 grain-milling upgrade done In late fiscal 2010 has allowed the 

plant to achieve daily milling rates exceeding nameplate capacity from time to time. In the fourth quarter, the plant achieved average 

production capacity of 86%, In the first quarter of fiscal 2012, the plant will complete scheduled maintenance, resulting in production 

downtime. 

Ethanol prices were, on average, $0.57 per litre for the year and wheat prices averaged $168 per metric tonne for the year As at March 31, 

ethanol was priced at $0,68 per litre. The ethanol division has separate non-recourse financing in place such that capital requirements and 

operating losses will not impact Just Energy's core business and its ability to pay dividends. 

JUSTENERGY * ANNUAL REPORT 2011 



Fiscal 2011 

$ 108,526 

94,260 

14,266 

11,231 

6,862 

266 

1.193 

Fiscal 2010^ 

5 56,455 

51,945 

4,510 

9,089 

5,107 

4,599 

1,079 

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

Selected financial Informat ion 

For the years ended March 31 

(thousands of dollars, except where indicated) 

Sales per finandal statements 

Cost of sales 

Gross margin 

General and administrative expense 

Interest expense 

Capital expenditures 

Amortization 

'Represents results from the date of acquisition, July 1, 2009, through to March 31, 2010, 

Results o f operations 

For fiscal 2011, TGF had sales and gross margin of $108.5 million and $14,3 million, respectively During the fiscal year, the plant produced 

117.7 million litres of ethanol and 111,417 metric tonnes of DDG, Forthe year ended March 31 , 2011, TGF incurred $11,2 million in 

general and administrative expenses and $6.9 million in interest charges. Fiscal 2011 is the first year in which the ethanol fadlity has 

generated positive EBITDA, 

Forthe prior comparable period, which represents results from the date of acquisition, July 1, 2009 to March 3 1 , 2010. sales and gross 

margin totaled $56,5 million and $4,5 million, respectively The plant produced 69,4 million litres of ethanol and 66,487 metric tonnes of 

DDG, General and administrative expenses were $9,1 million and interest expense was $5,1 million. Capital expenditures were $4,6 million 

in fiscal 2010, primarily relating to the milling upgrade completed near year-end, 

TGF receives a federal subsidy related to the ecoEnergy for Biofuels Agreement signed on February 17, 2009, as amended from time to 

time, based on the volume of ethanol produced. From July 1, 2009 to March 31 , 2010, the subsidy was ten cents per litre, and throughout 

fiscal 2011, this subsidy was nine cents per litre. The subsidy will be eight cents per litre for fiscal 2012. The subsidy amount declines 

through time to five cents per litre of ethanol produced in fiscal 2015, the last year of the agreement. 

OVERALL CONSOLIDATED RESULTS ~ JUST ENERGY 

General and administrative expenses 

General and administrative costs were $109,4 million for the year ended March 31 , 2011, representing a 24% increase from 388,4 million 

in fiscal 2010, This was primarily due to the inclusion of a full year of administrative costs for NHS and TGF as well as the addition of 

Hudson's commercial energy marketing administrative costs, 

_ fiscal 2011 Fiscal 2010 % increase 

Energy marketing 

NHS 

TGF 

Total general and administrative expenses $ 109,407 3 88,423 24% 

Energy marketing general and administrative costs were 386,1 million In fiscal 2011, an increase of 17% from $73.5 million forthe year 

ended March 31. 2010, The 17% increase has allowed Just Energy to support a 45% increase in customers as well as fund one-time costs 

for the conversion to a corporate structure, in addition, the increase versus the prior year is a result of a full year of Universal-related 

expenses (versus nine months in the prior year) offset by realized synergies as well as the inclusion of Hudson administrative costs. Just 

Energy obtained a new commercial license in Pennsylvania and incurred costs to prepare to enter Pennsylvania for residential sales and 

Saskatchewan for the commercial business. Just Energy expects continued general and administrative spending to support geographic 

market expansion but management believes that costs per customer will continue to decline over the long term. 

Market ing expenses 

Marketing expenses, which consist of commissions paid to independent sales contractors, brokers and independent representatives for 

signing new customers, as well as sales-related corporate costs, were $133,6 million, an increase of 4 0 % from $95.8 million in fiscal 2010, 

New customers signed by our marketing sales force were 999,000 during fiscal 2011, up 98% compared to 505,000 customers added 

through our sales offices in the prior year The increase in the current year expense reflects the cost of a 98% gross and a 395% net 

increase in customer additions, offset by the lower total aggregation cost per customer and a lower U.S, dollar exchange rate. 
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

Marketing expenses to maintain gross margin are allocated based on the ratio of gross margin lost from attrition as compared to the gross 

margin signed from new and renewed customers during the period. Marketing expenses to maintain gross margin were $84,8 million for 

the year, an increase of 35% fn^m $62.3 million in fiscal 2010, 

Marketing expenses to add new gross margin are allocated based on the ratio of net new gross margin earned on the customers signed, 

less attrition, as compared to the gross margin signed from new and renewed customers during the period. Marketing expenses to add 

new gross margin in the year ended March 31 . 2011, totaled $36,4 million, a 10% increase from $33,0 million in fiscal 2010, Although 

there was a large increase in the net customer additions through marketing of 361,000 for the current year, up from 73,000 in fiscal 2010, 

the blend of commerdal and residential customers added resulted in a 20% increase in embedded margin, lower than the 45% increase in 

total customers. 

Commissions related to obtaining and renewing Hudson commercial contracts are paid all or partially up front or as residual payments over 

the life of the contract. If the commission is paid all or partially up front, the amortization is included in marketing expenses as the 

associated revenue is earned. If the commission is paid as a residual payment, the amount is expensed as earned. Of the current total 

commerdal customer base, approximately 60% are commercial broker customers and 55% of these commercial brokers are being paid 

recurring residual payments. 

Marketing expenses included in distributable cash exclude amortization related to the contract initiation costs for Hudson and NHS, For the 

year ended March 31 . 2011, the amortization amounted to $14,5 million. Capitalized marketing costs associated with maintaining margin 

are reflected as maintenance capital in Adjusted EBITDA. 

The actual aggregation costs for the year ended March 31 , 2011, per customer for residential and commercial customers signed by 

independent representatives and commercial customers signed by brokers w/ere as follov/s: 

Commercial 

Natural gas 

Canada 

United States 

Electricity 

Canada 

United States 

Total aggregation costs 

The actual aggregation per customer added for all energy marketing forthe year ended March 31 , 2011, was 3102, The $35 average 

aggregation cost for the commerdal broker customers is based on the expected average annual cost for the respective customer contracts. 

It should be noted that commercial broker contracts are paid further commissions averaging $35 per year for each additional year that the 

customer flows. Assuming an average life of 2,8 years, this would add approximately $63 (1,8 X $35) to the fiscal 2011 $35 average 

aggregation cost for commercial broker customers reported above. 

For the prior comparable year, aggregation costs per customer in the Canadian and U,S, gas markets were $215/RCE and $174/RCE, 

respectively, with a combined cost of $182/RCE, In the Canadian and U.S. electridty markets, the aggregation costs per customer amounted 

to $188/RCEand $161/RCE, respectively, with the combined cost amounting to $168AiCE, 

Share-based compensation 

Compensation in the form of stock (non-cash) granted by Just Energy to the directors, officers, full-time employees and service providers of 

the Company and its subsidiaries and affiliates pursuant to the 2010 Share Option Plan (formerly the 2001 Unit Option Plan), the 2010 

Restricted Share Grant Plan (formerly the 2004 unit appreciation rights plan) and the Directors' Compensation Plan amounted to $5,5 million, 

an increase of 16% from the 34.8 million paid in fiscal 2010, The increase relates primanly to additional fully paid long-term retention 

restricted share grants awarded to the senior management of the Company 

Bad debt expense 

In Illinois, Alberta, Texas, Pennsylvania, California and Massachusetts, Just Energy assumes the credit risk assodated with the collection of 

customer accounts. In addition, for commercial direct-billed accounts in B,C,, New York and Ontario, Just Energy is responsible for the bad 

debt risk, NHS has also assumed credit risk for customer account collection for certain territories within Ontario, Credit review processes 

have been established to manage the customer default rate. Management factors default from credit risk into its margin expectations for all 

of the above-noted markets. During the year. Just Energy was exposed to the risk of bad debt on 35% of its sales. 

Residential 
customers 

$ 277/RCE 

177/RCE 

213/RCE 

150/RCE 

$ 173/RCE 

$ 

$ 

Commercial 
customers 

157/RCE 

126/RCE 

157/RCE 

8 5/RCE 

122/RCE 

$ 

$ 

broker 
customers 

31/RCE 

19/RCE 

31/RCE 

40/RCE 

35/RCE 
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

Bad debt expense for fiscal 2011 was $27,7 million, up 54% from 317.9 million expensed last year. The bad debt expense increase was 

entirely related to the 59% increase in total revenuesfor the current year to $1,033,5 million, in the markets where Just Energy assumes the 

risk for accounts receivable collections. These markets also now include incremental commercial customers. Management integrates its 

default rate for bad debts within its margin targets and continuously reviews and monitors the credit approval process to mitigate customer 

delinquency For the year ended March 31 , 2011, the bad debt expense of $27,7 million represents appnDximately 2,7% of revenue, slightly 

lower than the bad debt for fiscal 2010, which represented 2,8% of relevant revenue. 

Credit losses in Texas as a percentage of total revenues have declined due to aggressive collection efforts and quicker disconnection for 

delinquent customers. Continued improvements in the Illinois collection efforts and lower default rates for acquired Hudson commerdal 

customers have also contributed to the improvement in the bad debt rate versus the prior year Management expects that bad debt 

expense will remain in the range of 2 % to 3% for the next fiscal year assuming that the housing market in the U.S, continues to show 

signs of improvement. 

For each of Just Energy's other markets, the LDCs provide collection services and assume the risk of any bad debt owing from Just Energy's 

customers for a regulated fee. 

Interest expense 

Total interest expense for the year ended March 31 , 2011, amounted to $50.4 million, a 213% increase from 316,1 million in fiscal 2010, 

The large increase in costs primarily relates to the interest expense for the $330 million convertible debentures associated with the Hudson 

acquisition as well as interest costs associated with the NHS financing. 

This increase also reflects a full year compared to the inclusion of nine months in the prior comparable year of interest relating to the JEEC 

convertible debentures and TGF financing in the prior comparable year 

Foreign exchange 

Just Energy has an exposure to U,S, dollar exchange rates as a result of its U.S, operations and any changes in the applicable exchange rate 

may result in a decrease or increase in other comprehensive income. For the year ended March 31, 2011, a foreign exchange unrealized 

gain of $0.3 million was reported in other comprehensive income (loss) versus a $26,6 million gain reported in the prior fiscal year. 

Overall, a weaker U,S, dollar decreases the value of sales and gross margin in Canadian dollars but this is partially offset by lower operating 

costs denominated in U,S. dollars. Just Energy retains sufficient funds in the U,S, to support ongoing growth and surplus cash is repatriated 

to Canada. U.S. cross border cash flow is forecasted annually and hedges for cross border cash flow are entered into. Just Energy hedges 

between 25% and 90% of the next 12 months' cross border cash flows depending on the level of certainty of the cash flow. During fiscal 

2011, a total of $28.0 million in U,S. funds was repatriated back to Canada, versus $23,0 million in the prior fiscal year 

Class A preference share cash distributions 

On January 1, 2011, as part of the conversion from an income trust to a corporation, the remaining Class A preference shares of Just 

Energy Corp, ("JEC") were converted into JEGI common shares. Prior to this, the holder of the JEC Class A preference shares was entitled to 

receive, on a quarterly basis, a payment equal to the amount paid to a unitholder on an equal number of units. The total amount paid for 

the nine months ended December 31 , 2010, including tax, amounted to $4,9 million. The distributions on the Class A preference shares are 

reflected in the consolidated statement of unitholders'/shareholders' deficiency in the consolidated financial statements, net of tax. 

Provision for (recovery of) income tax 

(thousands of dollars) 

Fiscal 2011 Fiscal 2010 

Current income tax provision $ 8,182 $ 19,253 

Amount credited to unitholders'/shareholders' equity 1.305 2.501 

Future tax expense (recovery) __ 22.655 (122.014) 

Provision for (recovery of) income tax $ 32.142 $ (100.260) 

Just Energy recorded a current income tax expense of $8,2 million forthe year versus $19,3 million of expense in fiscal 2010, The change is 

mainly attributable to lower Canadian income taxes as a result of the integration of the Universal entities into the income fund structure 

during the first three quarters of the current fiscal year 
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

Also included in the income tax provision is an amount relating to the tax deduction for JEC relating to the Class A preference share 

distributions. In accordance with EIC 151, Exchangeable Securities Issued by Subsidiaries of Income Trusts, all Class A preference shares are 

included as part of unitholders' equity and the distributions paid to the shareholders are included as distributions on the consolidated 

statement of unitholders' deficiency, net of tax, Forthe year ended March 31, 2011. thetaximpact of these distributions, based on a tax 

rate of 30%, amounted to $1,3 million, versus an amount of $2,5 million based on the 33% tax rate last year. The decrease of this tax 

impact in the current year is due to the combined effect of the cessation of such distributions to the Class A preference shareholder at the 

time that Just Energy converted to a taxable Canadian corporation effective January 1, 2011, and a decline in the corporate tax rate in 

Canada during the current year 

As noted in Just Energy's 2010 Annual Report, a future tax recovery of $122,0 million was recorded in fiscal 2010 to recognize the 

significant temporary differences attributed to mark to market losses from finandal instruments, which are expected to be realized 

subsequent to the Conversion on January 1, 2011, During this fiscal year, these mark to market losses declined as a result of a change in 

fair value of these derivative instruments and, as a result, a future tax expense of $22,7 million has been recorded for this year 

After the Conversion on January 1, 2011, Just Energy hasbeen taxed as a taxable Canadian corporation. Therefore, the future tax asset or 

liability associated with Canadian liabilities and assets recorded on the consolidated balance sheets as at that date will be realized over time 

as the temporary differences between the carrying value of assets in the consolidated financial statements and their respective tax bases are 

realized. Current Canadian income taxes are accrued to the extent that there is taxable income in Just Energy and its underlying 

corporations. Canadian corporations under Just Energy are subject to a tax rate of approximately 28% after the Conversion. 

The U.S.-based corporate subsidiaries are subject to U.S, income taxes on their taxable income determined under U.S, income tax rules and 

regulations. During the year, the U.S, subsidiaries had fully utilized their combined operating losses for tax purposes carried over from prior 

years, and after taking these tax losses into effect, recorded a 33,1 million current U,S, income tax for the year 

Just Energy follows the liability method of accounting for income taxes. Under this method, income tax liabilities and assets are recognized 

for the estimated tax consequences attributable to the temporary differences between the carrying value of the assets and liabilities on the 

consolidated financial statements and their respective tax bases, using substantively enacted income tax rates, A valuation allowance is 

recorded against a future income tax asset if it is not anticipated that the asset will be realized in the foreseeable future. The effect of a 

change in the income tax rates used in calculating future income tax liabilities and assets is recognized in income during the period in which 

the change occurs. 

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES 

Summary of cash f lows 

(thousands of dollars) 

Operating activities 

Investing activities 

Financing activities, exduding distributions/dividends 

Effect of foreign currency translation 

Increase in cash before distributions'dividends 179,888 163,612 

Distributions/dividends (cash payments) (142,387) (162,574) 

Increase in cash 37,501 1,038 

Cash - beginning of year 60,132 59,094 

Fiscal 2011 

$ 153,360 
(318,847) 
346,266 

(891) 

Fiscal 2010 

$ 158,273 
(37,466) 
46,666 
(3.861) 

Cash-end of year $ 97,633 3 60,132 
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

Operating activities 

Cash flow from operating activities for the year ended March 31 , 2011, was $153,4 million, a decrease from $158,3 million in the prior 

year. The decrease is a result of the higher gross margin being offset by an increase in short-term working capital, general and 

administrative, marketing, bad debt and interest expenses. 

Investing activities 

Just Energy purchased capital assets totaling $36,6 million during the year, a decrease from 341,2 million in the prior year. In fiscal 2011 to 

date. Just Energy's capital spending related primarily to the home services business and costs related to purchases of office equipment and 

IT software. 

Financing activities 

Financing activities, excluding distributions''dividends, relates primarily to the issuance of the $330 million in convertible debentures in 

relation to the Hudson acquisition. Long-term debt, amounting to $484 8 million, was issued (related to the convertible debentures, NHS 

financing and the credit facility) with repayment during the year of $148.3 million. In the prior comparable year, $243.8 million was issued 

in long-term debt while $207.5 million was repaid. 

Asof March 31 , 2011, Just Energy had a credit fadlity of $350 million. In connection with the Conversion on January 1. 2011, Just Energy 

increased itscredit facility with repaymentof the facility due on December 31, 2013, The syndicate of lenders now includes the Canadian 

Imperial Bank of Commerce, Royal Bank of Canada, National Bank of Canada, Society G^n^rale, Bank of Nova Scotia, Toronto-Dominion 

Bank and Alberta Treasury Branches. 

As Just Energy continues to expand in the U,S. markets, the need to fund working capital and collateral posting requirements will increase, 

dnven primarily by the number of customers aggregated, and to a lesser extent, by the number of new markets. Based on the markets in 

which Just Energy currently operates and others that management expects the Company to enter, funding requirements will be fully 

supported through the credit fadlity 

Just Energy's liquidity requirements are driven by the delay from the time that a customer contract is signed until cash flow is generated. For 

residential customers, approximately 60% of an independent sales contractor's commission payment is made following reaffirmation or 

verbal verification of the customer contract, with most of the remaining 40% being paid after the energy commodity begins flowing to the 

customer. For commerdal customers, commissions are paid either as the energy commodity flows throughout the contract or partially up 

front once the customer begins to flow. 

The elapsed period between the time when a customer is signed to when the first payment is received from the customer varies with each 

market. The time delays per market are approximately two to nine months. These periods reflect the time required by the various LDCs to 

enroll, flow the commodity, bill the customer and remit the first payment to Just Energy In Alberta and Texas, Just Energy receives payment 

directly from the customer 

Distributions/Dividends (cash payments) 

In conjunction with the Conversion, investors began receiving dividendsasof January 3 1 , 2011, instead of distributions. Just Energy 

maintains its annual dividend rate at S1,24/share, the same rate that was previously paid for distributions. Investors should note that due to 

the dividend reinvestment plan ("DRIP"), a portion of dividends (and priorto January 1, 2011, distributions) declared are not paid in cash. 

Under the program, shareholders can elect to receive their dividends in shares at a 2% discount to the prevailing market price rather than 

the cash equivalent. For the fiscal year ended March 31 , 2011, $26,0 million of the distributions/dividends were paid in shares/units under 

the DRIP, a 30% increase from 320,0 million in the prior comparable year During the year ended March 31, 2011, Just Energy made cash 

distributions/dividends to its unitholders/shareholders and the Class A preference shareholder in the amount of $142.4 million compared to 

$162,6 million in the prior comparable periods. 

Just Energy will continue to utilize its cash resources for expansion into new markets, growth in its existing energy marketing customer 

base, JustGreen products and Home Services division, and also to make accretive acquisitions of customers as well as dividends to its 

shareholders. 

At the end of the year, the annual rate for distributions per unit was $1,24. The current dividend policy provides that shareholders of record 

on the 15th of each month receive dividends at the end of the month. 
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

BALANCE SHEET AS AT MARCH 31, 2011, COMPARED TO MARCH 31, 2010 

Cash increased from $60,1 million as at March 31, 2010, to $97,6 million. Restricted cash, which includes cash collateral posted related to 

supply procurement and credit support for Universal, Commerce and the TGF entities, has decreased to $0,8 million on March 31 , 2011, 

from $13.7 miliion. Ihe utilization of the credit fadlity decreased slightly from 357,5 miilion to $51.0 million as a result of normal working 

capital requirements. Working capital requirements in the U.S, and Alberta are a result of the timing difference between customer 

consumption and cash receipts. For electricity, working capital is required to fund the lag between settlements with the suppliers and 

settlement with the L.DCS, 

As at March 31 , 2011, accounts receivable and unbilled revenue amounted to $281.7 million and $125,1 million, respectively compared to 

a year earlier when the accounts receivable and unbilled revenue amounted to $232.6 million and $74,0 million. Accounts payable and 

accrued liabilities have increased from $184,7 million to $282,8 million in the past year Both increases in accounts receivable and payable 

are related to added consumption as a result of the Hudson customers acquired and strong net additions in fiscal 2011 as well as the colder 

winter temperatures in the currentfiscalyear compared with fiscal 2010, 

As at March 31 , 2011, just Energy had delivered less gas to the LDCs than had been consumed by customers in Ontario, Manitoba, Quebec 

and Michigan, resulting in accrued gas receivable and payable balances of $26,5 million and $19.4 million, respectively. At March 31 , 2010, 

Just Energy had accrued gas receivable and payable amounting to $20.8 million and $15,1 million, respectively and gas delivered in excess 

of consumption and deferred revenue of $7.4 million and $7,2 million, respectively 

Contract initiation costs relate to the commissions paid by both Hudson and NHS for contracts sold and will be amortized over the life of 

the contract. The balance increased to $29,7 million from 35,6 million at the end of the last fiscal year mainly due to the Hudson 

acquisition. The March 31 , 2010, balance related to contract initiation costs for NHS only 

Other assets and other liabilities relate entirely to the fair value of the finandal derivatives. The mark to market gains and losses can result in 

significant changes in net income and, accordingly, shareholders' equity from quarter to quarter due to commodity price volatility. Given 

that Just Energy has purchased this supply to cover future customer usage at fixed prices, management believes that these non-cash 

quarterly changes are not meaningful, 

intangible assets include the acquired customer contracts as well as other intangibles such as brand, broker network and information 

technology systems, primarily related to the Hudson and Universal purchases. The total intangible asset and goodwill balances increased to 

$413,0 million and 3211,4 million, respectively from $342,0 million and $177,9 million, respectively, as at March 31 , 2010. 

Long-term debt excluding the current portion has increased to 3507,5 million in the year ended March 31 , 2011, from 3231,8 million and is 

detailed below, 

LONG-TERM DEBT AND FINANCING 

(thousands of dollars) 

Just Energy credit facility 

TGF credit facility 

TGF debentures 

TGF term loan 

$90m convertible debentures 

NHS financing 

$330m convertible debentures 

Just Energy credit facil ity 

Just Energy holds a $350 million credit fadlity to meet working capital requirements. The syndicate of lenders now indudes Canadian 

Imperial Bank of Commerce, Royal Bank of Canada. National Bank of Canada, Soci^tS G6n6rale, Bank of Nova Scotia, Alberta Treasury 

Branches and Toronto Dominion Bank, Underthe terms of the credit facility. Just Energy was able to make use of Bankers'Acceptances and 

LIBOR advances at stamping fees that vary between 3,25% and 3,75%, prime rate advances at rates of interest that vary between bank 

prime plus 2,25% and 2,75%, and letters of credit at rates that vary between 3,25% and 3,75%. Just Energy's obligations underthe credit 

fadlity are supported by guarantees of certain subsidiaries and affiliates, exduding among others, TGF and NHS, and secured by a pledge of 

the assets of Just Energy and the majority of its operating subsidiaries and affiliates. Just Energy is required to meet a number of financial 

covenants under the credit facility agreement. As at March 31 , 2011 and 2010, all of these covenants had been met. 
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2011 

$ 51,035 

36,680 

37,001 

-
84,706 

105,716 

286,439 

As at 
March 31, 

2010 

$ 57,500 

41,313 

37,001 

10,000 

83,41 ? 

65,435 

-
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TGF credit faci l i ty 

A credit fadlity of up to 350 million was established with a syndicate of Canadian lenders led by Conexus Credit Union and was arranged to 

finance the construction of the ethanol plant in 2007, The facility was revised on March 18, 2009, and was converted to a fixed repayment 

term of ten years commencing March 1, 2009, which indudes interest costs at a rate of prime plus 3%, with prindpal repayments 

commencing on March 1, 2010, The credit fadlity is secured by a demand debenture agreement, a first priority security interest on all assets 

and undertakings of TGF, and a general security interest on all other current and acquired assets of TGF The fadlity was further revised on 

March 31, 2010, postponing the principal payments due for April 1,2010 to June 1, 2010, and to amortize them over the six-month period 

commencing October 1, 2010, and ending March 31 , 2011. The credit fadlity includes certain financial covenants, the more significant of 

which relate to current ratio, d&bt to equity ratio, debt service coverage and minimum shareholders' equity. The lenders had deferred 

compliance with the financial covenants until April 1, 2011, TGF is in discussions with the lenders with respect to the language and compliance 

of such general covenants, 

TGF has separate non-recourse financing in place such that capital requirements and operating losses will not impact Just Energy's core 

business and its ability to pay cjividends, 

TGF debentures 

A debenture purchase agreement with a number of private parties providing for the issuance of up to $40 million aggregate principal 

amount of debentures was entered into in 2006, The interest rate is 10,5% per annum, compounded annually. Interest is to be paid 

quarterly with quarterly prindpal payments commencing October 1, 2009, in the amount of $1.0 million per quarter. The agreement 

includes certain financial covenants, the more significant of which relate to current ratio, debt to capitalization ratio, debt service coverage, 

debt to EBITDA and minimum shareholders'equity The lender has deferred compliance with the finandal covenants until April 1, 2011. 

TGF entered into an agreement with the holders of the debentures to defer scheduled principal payments owing under the debenture until 

April 1, 2011, The current debenture agreement matures in the second quarter of fiscal 2012. TGF is in negotiations with the debenture 

holders to renew the finandng terms and with respect to the terms of the finandal covenants, 

TGF term/operat ing facilities 

TGF had a term loan for $10,000 with a third party lender bearing interest at prime plus 1 % , which was due in full on December 31 , 2010. 

As at December 31 , 2010, the $10,000 amount was repaid. In addition, TGF has a working capital operating line bearing interest at prime 

plus 2% of which $0,3 million of letters of credit have also been issued, 

$90m convertible debentures 

In conjunction with the acquisition of Universal on July 1, 2009, Just Energy assumed the obligations of the convertible unsecured subordinated 

debentures issued by Universal in Ortober 2007. which have a face value of $90 million. The fair value of the convertible debenture was 

estimated by discounting the remaining contrartual payments at the fime of acquisition. This discount will be accreted using an effertive 

interest rate of 8%. These instruments mature on September 30, 2014. unless converted prior to that date, and bear interest at an annual rate 

of 6%, payable semi-annually on March 31 and September 30 of each year As at March 31, 2011, each $1,000 prindpal amount of the $90m 

convertible debentures is convertible at any time prior to maturity or on the date fixed for redemption, at the option of the holder, into 

approximately 30,87 JEGI shares, representing a conversion price of $32,40 per share. Pursuant to the $90m convertible debentures, if JEGi 

fixes a record date for the making of a dividend on its shares, the conversion price shall be adjusted in accordance therewith, 

Onandafter October 1,2010, but priorto September 30, 2012. the $90m convertible debentures are redeemable, in whole or in part, at a 

price equal to the prindpal amount thereof, plus accrued and unpaid interest, at Just Energy's sole option on not more than 60 days' and 

not less than 30 days' prior notice, provided that the current market price on the date on which notice of redemption is given is not less 

than 125% of the conversion price. On and after September 30, 2012. but priorto the maturity date, the $90m convertible debentures are 

redeemable, in whole or in part, at a price equal to the principal amount thereof, plus accrued and unpaid interest, at Just Energy's sole 

option on not more than 60 days' and not less than 30 days' prior notice, 

NHS financing 

In fiscal 2010. NHS entered into a long-term financing agreement with HTC for the funding of new and existing rental water heater and 

HVAC contracts in the Enbridge Gas distribution territory. On July 16, 2010, the financing arrangement was expanded to the Union Gas 

territory Pursuant to the agreement, NHS will receive financing of an amount equal to the net present value of the first five, seven or ten 

years (at its option) of monthly rental income, discounted at the agreed upon financing rate of 7.99%, and is required to remit an amount 

equivalent to the rental stream from customers on the water heater and HVAC contracts for the first five, seven or ten years, respectively 

Underthe agreement up to one third of rental agreements may be financed for each of the seven- or ten-year terms. As at March 31 , 2011, 

the average term of the HTC funding was 5,4 years. 
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The financing agreement is subject to a holdback provision, whereby 3% in the Enbridge territory and 5% in the Union Gas territory of the 

outstanding balance of the funded amount is deducted and deposited to a reserve account in the event of default. Once all of the 

obligations of NHS are satisfied or expired, the remaining funds in the reserve account will immediately be released to NHS, HTC holds 

security over the contracts and equipment it has financed. NHS is required to meet a number of covenants under the agreement and, as at 

March 3 1 , 2011, all of these covenants have been met, 

$330m convertible debentures 

To fund the acquisition of Hudson, Just Energy entered into an agreement with a syndicate of underwriters for $330 million of convertible 

extendible unsecured subordinated debentures issued on May 5, 2010, The $330m convertible debentures bear an interest rate of 6,0% 

per annum payable semi-annually in arrears on June 30 and December 31 of each year, with maturity on June 30, 2017, Each $1,000 of 

principal amount of the $33Om convertible debentures is convertible at any time prior to maturity or on the date fixed for redemption, at 

the option of the holder, into approximately 55.6 shares of JEGI, representing a conversion price of $18 per unit. 

The $330m convertible debentures are not redeemable prior to June 30, 2013, except under certain conditions after a change of control 

has occurred. On or after June 30, 2013. but prior to June 30, 2015, the debentures may be redeemed by JEGI, in whole or in part, on not 

more than 60 days' and not less than 30 days' prior notice, at a redemption price equal to the principal amount thereof, plus accrued and 

unpaid interest, provided that the current market price on the date on which notice of redemption is given is not less than 125% of the 

conversion price. On or after June 30, 2015, and prior to the maturity date, the debentures may be redeemed by JEGI, in whole or in part, 

at a redemption price equal to the prindpal amount thereof, plus accrued and unpaid interest. 

CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS 

in the normal course of business, Just Energy is obligated to make future payments for contrarts and other commitments that are known 

and non-cancelable. 

Payments due by period 

(thousands o f dollars) 

Total Less tinan 1 year 1-3 years 4-5 years After 5 years 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 

Bank indebtedness 

Long-term debt (contractual cash flow) 

Interest payments 

Property and equipment lease agreements 

EPCOR billing, collections and supply commitments 

Grain production contracts 

Gas and electridty supply purchase commitments 

$ 282,805 

2,314 

652.397 

173.609 

30.662 

4.974 

9.181 

3.173.789 

$ 282,805 

2,314 

94,117 

45,430 

8.333 

4.974 

7,082 

1,498,293 

$ - : 
-

99,099 

61,282 

10,955 

-
2,099 

1,405,699 

3 

~ 
119,684 

45,470 

6,533 

-
-

267,505 

$ 
-

339,497 

21,427 

4,841 

-
-

2,292 

$4,329,731 $ 1,943,348 $ 1,579,134 3 439,192 3 368,057 

Other obligations 

In the opinion of management. Just Energy has no material pending actions, claims or proceedings that have not been included in either 

its accrued liabilities or in the financial statements. In the normal course of business. Just Energy could be subject to certain contingent 

obligations that become payable only if certain events were to occur. The inherent uncertainty surrounding the timing and financial impact 

of any events prevents any meaningful measurement, which is necessary to assess any material impact on future liquidity. Such obligations 

include potential judgments, settlements, fines and other penalties resulting from actions, claims or proceedings, 

TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES 

Just Energy does not have any material transactions with any individuals or companies that are not considered independent of Just Energy 

or any of its subsidiaries and/or affiliates. 
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES 

The consolidated finandal statements of Just Energy have been prepared in accordance with Canadian GAAR Certain accounting policies 

require management to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues, cost of sales, 

marketing, and general and administrative expenses. Estimates are based on historical experience, current information and various other 

assumptions that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. The emergence of new information and changed circumstances 

may result in actual results or changes to estimated amounts that differ materially from current estimates. 

The following assessment of critical accounting estimates is not meant to be exhaustive. Just Energy might realize different results from the 

application of new accounting standards promulgated, from time to time, by various rule-making bodies. 

Unbilled revenues/Accrued gas accounts payable 

Unbilled revenues result when customers consume more gas than has been delivered by Just Energy to the LDCs. These estimates are 

stated at net realizable value. Accrued gas accounts payable represents Just Energy's obligation to the LDC with respect to gas consumed 

by customers in excess of that delivered and valued at net realizable value. This estimate is required for the gas business unit only since 

electricity is consumed at the same time as delivery. Management uses the current average customer contract price and the current average 

supply cost as a basis for the valuation. 

Gas delivered in excess of consumption/Deferred revenues 

Gas delivered to LDCs in excess of consumption by customers is valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Collections from LDCs 

in advance of their consumption results in deferred revenues, which are valued at net realizable value. This estimate is required for the gas 

business unit only since electricity is consumed at the same time as delivery. Management uses the current average customer contract price 

and the current average supply cost as a basis for the valuation. 

Allowance tor doubt fu l accounts 

Just Energy assumes the credit risk associated with the collection of customers' accounts in Alberta, Illinois, Texas, Pennsylvania, California 

and Massachusetts, In addition, for large direct-billed accounts in B.C., New York and Ontario, Just Energy is responsible for the bad debt risk, 

NHS has also assumed credit risk for customer accounts within certain territories in Ontario, Management estimates the allowance for 

doubtful accounts in these markets based on the finandal conditions of each jurisdiction, the aging of the receivables, customer and industry 

concentrations, the current business environment and historical experience. 

Goodwil l 

In assessing the value of goodwill for potential impairment, assumptions are made regarding Just Energy's future cash flow. If the estimates 

change in the future, Just Energy may be required to record impairment charges related to goodwill. An impairment review of goodwill was 

performed as at March 31 , 2011, and as a result of the review, it was determined that no impairment of goodwill existed, 

FAIR VALUE OF DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT 

Just Energy has entered into a variety of derivative financial instruments as part of the business of purchasing and selling gas. electricity and 

JustGreen supply Just Energy enters into contrarts with customers to provide electridty and gas at fixed prices and provide comfort to 

certain customers that a specified amount of energy will be derived from green generation. These customer contrarts expose Just Energy to 

changes in market prices to supply these commodities. To reduce the exposure to the commodity market price changes. Just Energy uses 

derivative financial and physical contrarts to secure fixed-price commodity supply to cover its estimated fixed-price delivery or green 

commitment obligations. 

Just Energy's business model's objective is to minimize commodity risk, other than consumption changes, usually attributable to weather 

Accordingly it is Just Energy's policy to hedge the estimated fixed-price requirements of its customers with offsetting hedges of natural gas 

and electricity at fixed prices for terms equal to those of the customer contrarts. The cash f low from these supply contrarts is expected to 

be effertive in offsetting Just Energy's price exposure and serves to fix acquisition costs of gas and elertricity to be delivered under the fixed-

price or price-protected customer contracts. Just Energy's policy is not to use derivative instruments for speculative purposes. 

Just Energy's expansion in the U.S. has introduced foreign exchange-related risks. Just Energy enters into foreign exchange forwards in 

order to hedge the exposure to flurtuations in cross border cash flows. 

The finandal statements are in compliance with Section 3855 of the CICA Handbook, which requires a determination of fair value for all 

derivative financial instruments. Up to June 30, 2008, the financial statements also applied Section 3865 of the CICA Handbook, which 

permitted a further calculation for qualified and designated accounting hedges to determine the effertive and ineffertive portions of the 

hedge. This calculation permitted the change in fair value to be accounted for predominantly in the consolidated statements of 

comprehensive income. As of July 1, 2008. management decided that the increasing complexity and costs of maintaining this accounting 

treatment outweighed the benefits. This fair value (and when it was applicable, the ineffectiveness) was determined using market 

information at the end of each quarter. Management believes Just Energy remains economically hedged operationally across all jurisdictions. 
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JEGI COMMON SHARES AND PREFERENCE SHARES OF JEC 

As at May 19, 2011, there were 137.192,802 common shares of JEGI outstanding. As of January 1, 2011, Just Energy converted from an 

income trust to a corporation and all Class A preference shares of JEC were converted on a one-for-one basis for JEGI common shares. 

TAXABILITY OF DISTRIBUTIONS 

Distributions received in calendar 2010 were allocated 100% to other income. Additional information can be found on our website at 

www,justenergygroup,com. With the conversion to a corporation effective January 1, 2011, all future payments to shareholders will be in 

the form of dividends. 

RECENTLY ISSUED ACCOUNTING STANDARDS 

The following are new standards, not yet In effect, which are required to be adopted by the Company on the effertive date: 

Business combinations 

In October 2008, the CICA issued Handbook Section 1582, Business Combinations ("CICA 1582"), concurrently with CICA Handbook 

Section 1601, Consolidated Financial Statements ("CICA 1601"), and CICA Handbook Section 1602, Non-controlling Interest ("ClCA 

1602"), CICA 1582, which replaces CICA Handbook Sertion 1581, Business Combinations, establishes standards for the measurement of a 

business combination and the recognition and measurement of assets acquired and liabilities assumed, CICA 1601, which replaces ClCA 

Handbook Section 1600, carries forward the existing Canadian guidance on aspects of the preparation of consolidated finandal statements 

subsequent to acquisition other than non-controlling interests. CICA 1602 establishes guidance for the treatment of non-controlling 

interests subsequent to acquisition through a business combination. These new standards are effective for fiscal years beginning on or after 

January 1,2011. The Company will not adopt the new standards prior to adopting IFRS as described below. 

International Financial Reporting Standards 

In February 2008, CICA announced that GAAP for publicly accountable enterprises will be replaced by IFRS for fiscal years beginning on or 

after January 1, 2011. IFRS uses a conceptual framework similar to GAAP, but there are significant differences in recognition, measurement 

and disclosures. The conversion to IFRS will impact the way we present our financial results, however, we do not expert IFRS to impact the 

overall revenue and underlying profitability trends of our operating performance. 

Just Energy will transition to IFRS effective April 1,2011, and intends to issue its first interim finandal statements under IFRS for the three-

month period ending June 30, 2011, and a complete set of financial statements under IFRS for the year ending March 31 , 2012. The first 

financial statements prepared under IFRS will include numerous notes disclosing extensive transitional information and full disclosure of all 

new IFRS accounting policies. 

Based on the initial assessment of the differences between Canadian GAAP and IFRS relevant to Just Energy, an internal project team was 

assembled and a conversion plan was developed in March 2009 to manage the transition to IFRS, Project status reporting is provided to 

senior executive management and to the Audit Committee on a regular basis. 

Our project consisted of three phases: IFRS diagnostic assessment, solution development and implementation. The diagnostic phase, which 

was completed in 2009, involved a high-level review and the identification of major accounting differences between current Canadian 

GAAP and IFRS applicable to Just Energy Phase 2, the solution development phase, which included the completion of all policy papers, was 

completed and discussed with the external auditors in 2010. The IFRS project team has recently completed the implementation phase, 

which was the final phase of the project. This phase involved approving the accounting policy choices, completing the collection of data 

required to prepare the financial statements, implementing changes to systems and business processes relating to financial reporting, 

administering key personnel training and monitoring standards currently being amended by the International Accounting Standards Board 

("lASB"), Just Energy has also analyzed the IFRS finandal statement presentation and disdosure requirements. These assessments vi/ill 

continue to be analyzed and evaluated throughout the transition to IFRS, 

The areas with the highest quantitative or business system impart to Just Energy include, but are not limited to, the following: 

IAS 16: Property, p lant and equipment 

IAS 16 reinforces the requirement under Canadian GAAP that requires each part of property, plant and equipment that has a cost which is 

significant in relation to the overall cost of the item, be depredated separately The Company will adopt this revised accounting policy with 

respect to the componentization of the ethanol plant on transition to IFRS, The carrying value of the ethanol plant and corresponding 

depredation expense will differ upon transition to IFRS, The quantification of the impart is approximately $0,6 million. 
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IAS 36: Impairment o f assets 

IAS 36 uses a one-step approach to both testing and measuring impairment, with asset carrying values compared directly to the higher of 

fair value less costs to sell and value in use (which uses discounted future cash flows), Canadian G/\AP, however, uses a two-step approach 

to impairment testing, first comparing asset carrying values with undiscounted future cash flows to determine whether impairment exists, 

and then measuring any impairment by comparing asset carrying values with fair values. Just Energy does not expect any material 

impairment upon transition to IFRS, 

IAS 37: Provisions, cont ingent liabilities and cont ingent assets 

Provisions are measured at the discounted present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects the current market assessments of the 

time value of money and the risks specific to the liability. The discounting of significant litigation accruals results in an adjustment of 

approximately $0,7 million, 

IAS 12: Income taxes 

Other than recording the tax effect of the various other transitional adjustments and the reclassification of certain tax balances, the 

Company does not e>ipect to record any significant tax-related adjustments on the transition to IFRS, 

IAS 39: Financial instruments: Recognition and measurement 

The Company enters into fixed-term contracts with customers to provide electricity and gas at fixed prices. These customer contracts expose 

the Company to changes in market prices of electridty and gas consumption. To reduce the exposure to movements in commodity prices 

arising from the acquisition of elertridty and gas at floating rates, the Company routinely enters into derivative contracts. Under Canadian 

GAAP, all supply contracts are remeasured at fair value at each reporting date. The requirements for normal purchase and normal sale 

exemption (own-use exemption) are similar under Canadian GAAP and IFRS; however, several small differences exist, Tfiere is no specific 

guidance either in Canadian GAAP or IFRS with respect to eligibility of the own-use exemption of energy supply contracts entered into by 

energy retailers. The Company has concluded that the own-use exemption does not apply and the amounts will continue to be marked to 

market as is the current practice, 

IAS 39 also requires that transaction costs incurred upon initial acquisition of a finandal instrument be deferred and amortized into profit 

and loss over the life of the instrument. Initial application of IAS 39 will result in an opening balance sheet adjustment to reduce long-term 

debt on the date of transition. This adjustment of approximately $2,4 million will be offset through opening retained earnings. IAS 39 is to 

be replaced by IFRS 9 and Just Energy is closely monitoring the exposure draff for any possible impact, 

IFRS 2: Share-based payments 

Under IFRS, when stock option awards vest gradually, each tranche is to be considered as a separate award; whereas under Canadian GAAP, 

the gradually vested tranches are considered as a single award. This will result in expenses relating to share-based payments being 

recognized over the expected term of each vested tranche, IFRS also requires Just Energy to estimate forfeitures up front in the valuation of 

stock options; whereas, under Canadian GAAP, they can be recorded up front or recorded as they occur Currently the Company accounts 

for forfeitures as they occur On transition the adjustment to opening retained earnings is not significant and the impact is approximately 

$0,5 million. 

Just Energy has analysed the optional exemptions available under IFRS 1, First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting, IFRS 

generally requires an entity to apply standards on a retrospective basis; however, IFRS 1 provides both mandatory exceptions and optional 

exemptions from this general requirement. First-time adoption exemptions relevant to the Company are discussed below. 

Business Comblnatitjns 

Under this exemption, Just Energy may elert not to retrospectively apply IFRS 3 to past business combinations. The standard may be 

prospectively applied from the date of the opening IFRS balance sheet. Just Energy intends to use this exemption. 

Share-based payment transactions 

Just Energy may not elert to apply IFRS 2 to equity instruments that were granted on or before November 7. 2002, or which are vested 

before the Company's date of transition to IFRS, Just Energy may also not elect to apply IFRS 2 to liabilities arising from share-based 

payment transactions, which settled before the date of transition to IFRS, Just Energy intends to apply these exemptions. 
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Cumulative translation adjustment 

The exemption permits the Company to reset the cumulative translation adjustments to zero by recognizing the full amount in the retained 

earnings of the opening IFRS balance sheet. Just Energy is currently not expected to elert this exemption. 

Borrowing costs 

The exemption allows Just Energy to adopt IAS 23, which requires the capitalization of borrowing costs on all qualifying assets, 

prospectively from the date of the opening IFRS balance sheet. Just Energy intends to use this exemption. 

Just Energy has prepared an IFRS 1 transition note and full set of annual finandal statements under IFRS, which will be disdosed in fiscal 2012, 

We have evaluated the impart of the conversion on our accounting systems. Based on the differences identified to date, we believe our 

systems can accommodate the required changes. We believe our internal and disdosure control processes will not need significant 

modifications as a result of our transition to IFRS. We have assessed the impacts of adoption on our debt covenants and other contractual 

arrangements, and have not identified any material compliance issues. 

Just Energy continues to evaluate the impacts of current and prospective IFRS on all of our business activities, including those of our 

subsidiaries and the impact on our entity-wide information system, 

RISK FACTORS 

Described below are the principal risks and uncertainties that Just Energy can foresee. It is not an exhaustive list, as some future risks may 

be as yet unknown and other risks, currently regarded as immaterial, could turn out to be material, 

CREDIT, COMMODITY AND OTHER MARKET RELATED RISKS 

Availabil i ty of supply 

The risk of supply default is mitigated through credit and supply diversity arrangements. The Just Energy business model Is based on 

contracting for supply to lock in margin. There is a risk that counterparties could not deliver due to business failure, supply shortage or be 

othenwise unable to perform their obligations under their agreements with Just Energy, or that Just Energy could not identify alternatives to 

existing counterparties. Just Energy continues to investigate opportunities to identify or secure additional gas suppliers and elertricity 

suppliers. Just Energy's commodity contracts are predominantly with Shell, BP, Bruce Power, Constellation, Soci6t6 G^n^rale, EDF Trading 

North America, LLC, National Bank of Canada and CP Energy Marketing (formerly and also known as EPCOR Merchant and Capital), Other 

suppliers represent less than 5% of commodity supply 

Volati l i ty of commodity prices - enforcement 

A key risk to Just Energy's business model is a sudden and significant drop in the market price of gas or electricity resulting in some 

customers renouncing their contracts. Just Energy may encounter difficulty or political resistance for enforcement of liquidated damages 

and/or enactment of force majeure provisions in such a situation and be exposed to spot prices with a material adverse impact to cash flow. 

Continual monitoring of margin and exposure allows management of Just Energy time to adjust strategies, pricing and communications to 

mitigate this risk. 

Availabil i ty of credit 

In several of the markets in which Just Energy operates, payment is provided by LDCs only when the customer has paid for the consumed 

commodity (rather than when the commodity is delivered). Also, in some markets. Just Energy must injert gas inventory into storage in 

advance of payment. These factors, along with the seasonality of customer consumption, create working capital requirements necessitating 

the use of Just Energy's available credit. In addition, some of Just Energy's subsidiaries and affiliates are required to provide credit assurance, 

by means of providing guarantees or posting collateral, in connection with commodity supply contracts, license obligations and obligations 

owed to certain LDCs, Cash flow could be impacted by the ability of Just Energy to fund such requirements or to provide other satisfactory 

credit assurance for such obligations. To mitigate credit availability risk and its potential impact to cash flows. Just Energy has security 

arrangements in place pursuant to which commodity suppliers and the lenders under the Credit Facility hold security over substantially all of 

the assets of Just Energy (other than AESLP, NEC and TGF), AESLP, in turn, has similar arrangements in place solely with EPCOR, Other 

commodity suppliers' security requirements are met through cash margining, guarantees and letters of credit. The most significant assets of 

Just Energy consist of its contrarts with customers, which may not be suitable as security for some creditors and commodity suppliers. To 

date, the Credit Facility and related security agreements have met the collateral posting and operational requirements of the business. Just 

Energy continues to monitor its credit and security requirements. Just Energy's business may be adversely affected if it is unable to meet 

cash obligations for operational requirements or its collateral posting requirements. 
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Market risk 

Market risk is the potential loss that may be incurred as a result of changes in the market or fair value of a particular instrument or 

commodity. Although Just Energy manages its estimated customer requirements, net of contracted commodity to zero, it is exposed to 

market risks assodated with commodity prices and market volatility where estimated customer requirements do not match actual customer 

requirements or where it has not been able to exactiy purchase the estimated customer requirements. Just Energy is also exposed to interest 

rates associated with its credit facility and foreign currency exchange rates assodated with the repatriation of U,S, dollar denominated funds 

for Canadian dollar denominated distributions. Just Energy's exposure to market risk is afferted by a number of fartors, including accuracy 

of estimation of customer commodity requirements, commodity prices, volatility and liquidity of markets, and the absolute and relative 

levels of interest rates and foreign currency exchange rates. Just Energy enters into derivative instruments in order to manage exposures to 

changes in commodity prices and foreign currency rates; current exposure to interest rates does not economically warrant the use of 

derivative instruments. The derivative instruments that are used are designed to fix the price of supply for estimated customer commodity 

demand and thereby fix margins such that the payment of dividends to shareholders can be appropriately established. Derivative 

instruments are generally transacted over the counter The inability or failure of Just Energy to manage and monitor the above market risks 

could have a material adverse effect on the operations and cash flow of Just Energy 

Market risk governance 

Just Energy has adopted a corporate-wide Risk Management Policy governing its market risk management and any derivative trading 

artivities. An internal Risk Committee, consisting of senior officers of Just Energy monitors company-wide energy risk management 

artivities as well as foreign exchange and interest rate activities. There is also a Risk Committee of the Board that oversees management. 

The Risk Office and the internal Risk Committee monitor the results and ensure compliance with the Risk Management Policy The Risk 

Office is responsible for ensuring that Just Energy manages the market, credit and operational risks within limitations imposed by the Board 

of Directoi's in accordance v^rith its Risk Management Policy Market risks are monitored by the Risk Office and internal Risk Committee 

utilizing industry accepted mark to market techniques and analytical methodologies in addition to company-specific measures. The Risk 

Office operates and reports independently of the traders. The failure or inability of Just Energy to comply with and monitor its Risk 

Management Policy could have an adverse effert on the operations and cash flow of Just Energy 

Energy t rad ing inherent risks 

Energy trading subjects Just Energy to some inherent risks associated with future contractual commitments, including market and 

operational risks, counterparty credit risk, product location differences, market liquidity and volatility. There is continuous monitoring and 

reporting of the valuation of identified risks to the internal Risk Committee, Executive Committee and the Risk Committee of the Board of 

Directors. The failure or inability of Just Energy to monitor and address the energy trading inherent risks could have a material adverse effect 

on its operations and cash flow. 

Customer credit risk 

In Alberta. Pennsylvania, Massachusetts, California, Texas and Illinois, credit review processes have been implemented to manage customer 

default as Just Energy has credit risk in these markets. The processes are also applied to commercial customers in all of Just Energy's 

jurisdictions. In addition, there is a Credit Policy that has been established to govern these processes, If a significant number of residential 

customers or a collection of larger commercial customers for which Just Energy has the credit risk were to default on their payments, it 

could have a material adverse effect on the operations and cash flow of Just Energy Management factors default from credit risk in its 

margin expectations for all customers in these markets and for commercial customers where Just Energy has that credit risk. 

For the remaining customers, the LDCs provide collection services and assume the risk of any bad debts owing from Just Energy's customers 

tor a fee. Management believes that the risk of the LDCs failing to deliver payment to Just Energy is minimal. There is no assurance that the 

LDCs that provide these services will continue to do so in the future. 

Counterparty credit risk 

Counterparty credit risk represents the loss that Just Energy would incur if a counterparty fails to perform under its contractual obligations. 

This risk would manifest itself in Just Energy repladng contracted supply at prevailing market rates, thus impaaing the related customer 

margin or replacing contracted foreign exchange at prevailing market rates impacting the related Canadian dollar denominated cash flows. 

Counterparty limits are established within the Risk Management Policy, Any exception to these limits requires approval from the Board of 

Dirertors of JEGI, The Risk Office and internal Risk Committee monitor current and potential credit exposure to individual counterparties 

and also monitor overall aggregate counterparty exposure. The failure of a counterparty to meet its contractual obligations could have a 

material adverse effect on the operations and cash flow of Just Energy 
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Elertricity supply - balancing risk 

It is Just Energy's policy to procure the estimated electridty requirements of its customers with offsetting elertricity derivatives in advance of 

obtaining customers. Depending on several factors, including weather. Just Energy's customers may use more or less elertricity than the 

volume purchased by Just Energy for delivery to them. Just Energy is able to invoice some of its existing elertricity customers for balancing 

charges or credits when the amount of energy used is greater than or less than the amount of energy that Just Energy has estimated. For 

certain customers. Just Energy bears the risk of fluctuation in customer consumption. Just Energy monitors consumption and has a 

balancing and pricing strategy to accommodate the estimated associated costs. In certain circumstances, there can be balancing issues for 

which Just Energy is responsible when customer aggregation forecasts are not realized. 

Natural gas supply - balancing risk 

It is Just Energy's policy to procure the estimated gas requirements of its customers with offsetting gas derivatives in advance of obtaining 

customers. Depending on several fartors including weather. Just Energy's customers may use more or less gas than the volume purchased 

by Just Energy for delivery to them. Just Energy does not invoice its natural gas customers for balancing and, accordingly bears the risk of 

fluctuation in customer consumption, Just Energy monitors gas consumption and artively manages forecast differences in customer 

consumption due to weather variations as well as forecast LDC balancing requirements. To the extent that forecast balancing requirements 

are beyond initial estimates. Just Energy will bear financing responsibility, be exposed to market risk and, furthermore, may also be exposed 

to penalties by the LDCs, The inability or failure of Just Energy to manage and monitor these balancing risks could have a material adverse 

effect on its operations and cash flow. Just Energy has developed a policy of entering into weather-related derivative contrarts which are 

intended to reduce margin volatility in situations of materially higher or lower than forecast consumer consumption, in addition, for certain 

commercial customers. Just Energy bears the risk of fluctuation in customer consumption. Just Energy monitors consumption and has a 

balancing and pricing strategy to accommodate for the estimated assodated costs. 

JustGreen - balancing risk 

It is Just Energy's policy to procure the estimated carbon offsets or renewable energy requirements of its customers in advance of obtaining the 

customers. The balancing risk associated with this produrt is different in that there is no utility reconciliation of the requirements and public 

perception of the produrt is a more significant risk. The Risk Management Policy requires that there be no short positions for this product and 

management ensures that there is an independentreviewperformedannually of the match of purchased supply to committed delivery, 

OPERATIONAL RISKS 

informat ion technology systems 

Just Energy operates in a high volume business with an extensive array of data interchanges and market requirements. Just Energy is 

dependent on its management information systems to track, monitor and correct or otherwise verify a high volume of data to ensure the 

reported finandal results are accurate. Management also relies on its management information systems to provide its independent 

contractors with compensation information, provide its brokers with pricing and compensation information and to elertronically record each 

customer telephone interaction. Just Energy's information systems also help management forecast new customer enrollments and their 

energy requirements, which helps ensure that Just Energy is able to supply its new customers' estimated average energy requirements 

without exposing the Company to the spot market beyond the risk tolerances established by the Risk Management Policy The failure of Just 

Energy to install and maintain these systems could have a material adverse effect on the operations and cash flow of Just Energy 

Reliance on th i rd party service providers 

In most jurisdirtions in which Just Energy operates, the LDCs currently perform billing and collertion services. In some areas. Just Energy is 

required to invoice and receive payments dirertly from its customers; in others. Just Energy is responsible for collection of defaulted amounts; in 

others. Just Energy is required to invoice and receive payments from certain commerdal customers; and in others. Just Energy is responsible for 

collertion of defaulted amounts. If the LDCs cease to perform these sen/ices. Just Energy would have to seek a third party billing provider or 

develop internal systems to perform these funrtions. There is no assurance that the LDCs will continue to provide these services in the future. 

Outsourcing arrangements 

Just Energy has outsource arrangements to support the call centre's requirements for business continuity plans and independence for 

regulatory purposes, billing and settlement arrangements for certain jurisdictions and operation support for its multi-level marketing efforts. 

Contrart data input is also outsourced as is some business continuity and disaster recovery. As with any contractual relationship, there are 

inherent risks to be mitigated and these are actively managed, predominantiy through quality control measures and regular reporting. 
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Competi t ion 

A number of companies (induding Direct Energy Reliant, Superior Energy, Constellation, NewEnergy, FirstEnergy Solutions and Sempra 

Energy Solutions) and incumbent utility subsidiaries compete with Just Energy in the residential, commercial and small industrial market. It is 

possible that new entrants may enter the market as marketers and compete dirertly for the customer base that Just Energy targets, slowing 

or reducing its market share. If the LDCs are permitted by changes in the current regulatory framework to sell natural gas at prices other 

than cost, their existing customer bases could provide them with a significant competitive advantage. This may limit the number of 

customers available for marketers including Just Energy 

Dependence on independent sales contrartors and brokers 

Just Energy must retain qualified independent sales contractors to condurt its door-to-door sales as well as brokers and inside salespeople to 

market to commercial customers despite competition for these sales professionals from Just Energy's competitors. If Just Energy is unable to 

attract a sufficient number of independent sales contractors or brokers. Just Energy's customer additions and renewals may decrease and 

the Company may not be able to execute its business strategy The continued growth of Just Energy is reliant on distribution channels, 

including the services of its independent sales contrartors and brokers. There can be no assurance that competitive conditions will allow 

these independent contrartors and brokers, who are not employees of Just Energy or its affiliates, to achieve these customer additions. 

Lack of success in these marketing programs would limit future growth of the cash flow of Just Energy 

Just Energy has consistentiy taken the position that its independent sales contractors act independentiy pursuant to their contracts for 

service, which provide that Just Energy does not control how, where or when they provide their sen/ices. On occasion, an independent 

contractor may make a claim that they are entitled to employee benefits pursuant to legislation even though they have entered into a 

contract with Just Energy that provides that they are not entitled to benefits normally available to employees and Just Energy must respond 

to these claims. Just Energy's position has been confirmed by regulatory bodies in many instances, but some of these decisions are under 

appeal. Should regulatory bodies be ultimately successful. Just Energy would be required to remit unpaid tax amounts plus interest and 

might be assessed a penalty. It could also mean that Just Energy would have to reassess its position in respect of other regulatory matters 

affecting its independent sales contractors, such as income tax treatment. Such a decision could have a material adverse effect on the 

operations and cash flow of Just Energy 

Elertricity and gas contrart renewals and at t r i t ion rates 

As at March 31 , 2011, Just Energy held long-term electridty and gas contrarts reflecting approximately 3,308,000 long-term RCEs and the 

renewal schedule for the contrarts is noted on page 32, In fiscal 2011, Just Energy experienced contrart attrition rates of approximately 

10% in Canada and 23% in the U,S, for gas with rates of 10% and 17% being realized for Canada and the U,S,, respectively, for electricity. 

Management forecasts using a combination of experienced and experted attrition per year, however there can be no assurance that these 

rates of annual attrition will not increase in the future or that Just Energy will be able to renew its existing electridty and gas contrarts at 

the expiry of their terms. Changes in customer behaviour, government regulation or increased competition may affert (potentially adversely) 

attrition and renewal rates in the future, and these changes could adversely impact the future cash flow of Just Energy See page 32 for 

further discussion on "Failed to renew". Just Energy's fiscal 2011 experience was that approximately 65% and 73% of its Canadian and 

U,5, gas customers, respertively, and 61 % and 66% of its Canadian and U.S. electridty customers, respectively, have renewed at the expiry 

of the term of their contrart. 

Cash dividends are not guaranteed 

The ability to pay dividends and the actual amount of dividends will depend upon numerous factors, including profitability, fluctuations in 

working capital, debt service requirements (including compliance with Credit Facility obligations), the sustainability of margins, the ability of 

Just Energy to procure, at favourable prices, its estimated commitment to supply natural gas and electricity to its customers, the ability of 

Just Energy to secure additional gas and electricity contrarts and other factors beyond the control of Just Energy Management of Just 

Energy cannot make any assurances that the Company's affiliates will be able to pass any additional costs arising from legislative changes 

(or any amendments) on to customers. Cash dividends are not guaranteed and will fluctuate with the performance of the Company's 

affiliates and other factors. 
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Earnings volat i l i ty 

Just Energy's business is seasonal in nature. In addition to regular seasonal fluctuations in its earnings, there is significant volatility in its 

earnings associated with the requirement to mark its commodity contracts to market. The earnings volatility associated with seasonality and 

mark to market accounting may be misconstrued as instability, thereby imparting access to capital. Management ensures there is adequate 

disclosure for both the mark to market and seasonality to mitigate this risk. 

Model risk 

The approach to calculation of market value and customer forecasts requires data intensive modeling used in conjunction with certain 

assumptions when independently verifiable information is not available. Although Just Energy uses industry standard approaches and 

validates its internally developed models, results could change significantiy should underiying assumptions prove incorrect or an embedded 

modeling error go undetected in the vetting process. 

Commodity alternatives 

To the extent that natural gas and elertricity enjoy a price advantage over other forms of energy, such price advantage may be transitory 

and consumers may switch to the use of another form of energy The inherent volatility of natural gas and elertricity prices could result in 

these other sources of energy providing more significant competition to Just Energy 

Capital asset and replacement risk 

The retail business does not invest in a significant capital asset program, however the water heater business and the ethanol plant are more 

capital-intensive businesses. The risk assodated with water heater replacement is considered minimal as there are several suppliers of high 

efficiency tanks to source replacements and, individually the units are not material. The risk associated with the capital assets of the ethanol 

plant are more significant as parts are not standard, components have a significant value associated and capital asset replacements could 

significantly impart operations during periods of upgrade or repair. Management monitors this risk in the ethanol business to ensure 

continuity of operations as demonstrated through the recent hammer mill projert that replaced the roller mill technology 

Credit facilities and other debt arrangements 

The credit facility maintained by Just Energy Ontario L.R and JEUSC is in the amount of $350 million. The lenders under such credit fadlity 

together with certain of the suppliers of Just Energy and its affiliates are parties to an intercreditor agreement and related security 

agreements which provide for a joint security interest over all customer contrarts (except for those owned by AESLP), There are various 

covenants pursuant to the credit facility that govern the activities of Just Energy and its subsidiaries and affiliates. The borrowers are 

required to submit monthly reports addressing, among other things, mark to market exposure, their borrowing base and a supply/demand 

projection. To date. Just Energy's subsidiaries have met the requirements of the credit fadlity; however, should those subsidiaries default 

under the credit facility, it becomes unavailable and could have a significant material adverse effert on the business of those subsidiaries 

and on the results of operations and financial performance of Just Energy if it is not able to obtain other financing on satisfartory terms. 

TGF also has a credit facility of up to $50 million and a debenture purchase agreement providing for the issuance of up to $40 million 

assodated with the Belle Plaine fadlity. Security for these facilities includes a first priority security interest on all assets and undertaking of 

TGF These facilities indude certain finandal covenants. The debenture holders also agreed to defer certain principal payments during fiscal 

2011, In addition, there was a term loan for $10 million, which was repaid at December 3 1 , 2010, and a working capital operating line of 

$7 million. There is a risk that these credit facilities, induding the debenture purchase agreement, may not continue to be available on the 

same terms or at all given the compliance Issues that TGF has previously experienced and the inability of TGF and the lender and debenture 

holders to reach an agreement regarding the financial covenants for fiscal 2012, which could result in the Belle Plaine facility ceasing to 

operate and a loss of the security pledged by TGF as security for advances under such credit facilities, 

NHS has also entered into a long-term financing agreement with respert to the installation of water heaters (see page 40 for more 

information). In the event this finandng became unavailable, it could have a material adverse effect on the Company's home services business. 

Disruptions t o infrastrurture 

Customers are reliant upon the LDCs to deliver their contrarted commodity. LDCs are reliant upon the continuing availability of the 

distribution infrastrurture. Any disruptions in this infrastrurture would result in counterparties and thereafter Just Energy enacting the force 

majeure clauses of their contracts. Under such severe circumstances there would be no revenue or associated cost of sales to report for the 

affected areas. 
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Expansion strategy and fu ture acquisitions 

The Company plans to grow its business by expansion into additional deregulated markets through organic growth and acquisitions. The 

expansion into additional markets is subject to a numberof risks, any of which could prevent the Company from realizing its business strategy 

Acquisitions involve numerous risks, any one of which could harm the Company's business, induding difficulties in integrating the 

operations, technologies, produrts, existing contracts, accounting processes and personnel of the target and realizing the anticipated 

synergies of the combined businesses; difficulties in supporting and transitioning customers, if any, or assets of the target company may 

exceed the value the Company realizes, or the value it could have realized if it had allocated the purchase price or other resources to 

another opportunity; risks of entering new markets or areas in which Just Energy has limited or no experience or are outside its core 

competencies; potential loss of key employees, customers and strategic alliances from either Just Energy's current business or the business 

of the target; assumption of unanticipated problems or latent liabilities, such as problems with the quality of the products of the target; and 

inability to generate suffident revenue to offset acquisition costs. 

Future acquisitions or expansion could result in the incurrence of additional debt and related interest expense, as well as unforeseen 

liabilities, all of which could have a material adverse effect on business, results of operations and financial condition. The failure to 

successfully evaluate and execute acquisitions or otherwise adequately address the risks assodated with acquisitions could have a material 

adverse effect on Just Energy's business, results of operations and financial condition. Just Energy may require additional finandng should 

an appropriate acquisition be identified and it may not have access to the funding required for the expansion of its business or such funding 

may not be available to Just Energy on acceptable terms. There is no assurance that Just Energy will determine to pursue any acquisition or 

that such an opportunity, if pursued, will be successful, 

LEGAL, REGULATORY AND SECURITIES RISKS 

Legislative and regulatory environment 

Just Energy operates in the highly regulated natural gas and elertricity retail sales industry in all of its jurisdictions. It must comply with the 

legislation and regulations in these jurisdictions in order to maintain its licensed status and to continue its operations. There is potential for 

change to this legislation and these regulatory measures that may favourably or unfavourably impact Just Energy's business model. As part 

of doing business door-to-door. Just Energy receives complaints from consumers which may involve sanrtions from regulatory and legal 

authorities induding those which issue marketing licenses, Similariy, changes to consumer protertion legislation in those provinces and 

states where Just Energy markets to non-commercial customers may, favourably or unfavourably impart Just Energy's business model. 

Just Energy has a dedicated team of m-house regulatory advisors to ensure adequate knowledge of the legislation and regulations in order 

that operations may be advised of regulations pursuant to which procedures are required to be implemented and monitored to maintain 

license status. When new markets are entered, the team assesses the market and determines if additional expertise (internal or external) is 

required. There is also a team that monitors and addresses complaints with a view to mitigating underiying causes of complaints. 

In addition to the litigation referenced herein and occurring in the ordinary course of business. Just Energy may in the future be subjert to 

class actions, other litigation and other actions arising in relation to its consumer contracts and marketing practices. See the "Legal 

proceedings" sertion on page 53 of this report. This litigation is, and any such additional litigation could be, time consuming and expensive 

and could distract our executive team from the conduct of Just Energy's daily business. The adverse resolution or reputational damage of 

any specific lawsuit could have a material adverse effect on our ability to favourably resolve other lawsuits and on the Company's financial 

condition and liquidity. 

The Company may issue addit ional shares, d i lut ing existing shareholders' interests 

The Company may issue additional common shares and up to 50,000,000 preferred shares without the approval of shareholders, 

Financial markets 

Significant events or volatility in the financial markets could result in the lack of (1) sufficient capital to absorb the impart of unexpected 

losses and/or (ii) sufficient liquidity or financing to fund operations and strategic initiatives. Furthermore, significant volatility in exchange 

rates and interest rates could have an adverse impart on produrt pricing, gross margins and net interest expense. In addition, inappn^priate 

hedging strategies for mitigating foreign exchange, interest rate and equity exposures could cause a significant impart on earnings. 
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TGF'S dependence on commodity prices 

TGF's results of operations, financial position and business outlook are substantially dependent on commodity prices, espedally prices for 

wheat, natural gas, ethanol and distillers' grains. Prices for these commodities are generally subject to significant volatility and uncertainty. 

As a result, TGF's results may fluctuate substantially, and TGF may experience periods of declining prices for TGF's products and increasing 

costs for TGF's raw materials, which could result in operating losses, TGF may attempt to offset a portion of the effects of such fluctuations 

by entering into forward contrarts to supply ethanol or to purchase wheat, natural gas or other items or by engaging in other hedging 

transactions, however, the amount and duration of these hedging and other risk mitigation activities may vary substantially over time. In 

addition, these activities involve substantial costs and substantial risks and may be ineffective to mitigate these fluctuations, 

Ethanol is marketed both as a fuel additive to reduce vehicle emissions from gasoline and as an octane enhancer to improve the octane 

rating of gasoline with which it is blended. As a result, ethanol prices are influenced by the supply and demand for gasoline (which is itself 

influenced by the supply and demand for crude oil). 

TGF's dependence on federal and provincial legislation and regulat ion 

Various laws, regulations and programs of the United States federal government and certain provincial and state governments are intended 

to lead to increased use of ethanol in gasoline. For example, certain existing and proposed laws, regulations and programs provide (or if 

implemented will provide) economic incentives to ethanol producers and users, however, existing and proposed laws may be influenced by 

those who believe that the use of ethanol does not create the benefits suggested by proponents of increased ethanol usage. These existing 

and proposed laws, regulations and programs are constantly changing. In both the U.S, and Canada legislators and environmental 

regulators could adopt or modify existing or proposed laws, regulations or programs that could adversely affect the use of ethanol. There 

can be no assurance that existing laws, regulations or programs will continue in the future, or that proposed lavi/s, regulations or programs 

will be adopted or implemented as currently antidpated or at all. In addition, certain jurisdictional governments may oppose the use of 

ethanol because those jurisdirtions might have to acquire ethanol from other jurisdictions, which could increase gasoline prices in those 

jurisdictions. 

Environmental, health and safety laws, regulations and liabilities 

TGF owns the land on which it has built the Belle Plaine facility TGF is subject to various federal, provincial and local environmental laws 

and regulations, including those relating to the discharge of materials into the air, water and ground, the generation, storage, handling, 

use, transportation and disposal of hazardous materials, and the health and safety of TGF's employees. These laws and regulations require 

TGF to maintain and comply with numerous environmental permits to operate its Belle Plaine facility These laws, regulations and permits 

can offen require expensive pollution control equipment or operational changes to limit actual or potential impacts on the environment, A 

violation of these laws, regulations or permit conditions or contamination to the land or neighbouring lands can result in substantial fines, 

natural resource damages, criminal sanrtions, permit revocations, litigation and/or fadlity shutdowns, in addition, new laws, new 

interpretations of existing laws, increased governmental enforcement of environmental laws or other developments could require TGF to 

make additional significant expenditures. Continued government and public emphasis on environmental issues may result in increased 

future investments for environmental controls at the Belle Plaine Facility 

The hazards and risks associated with producing and transporting TGF's products (such as fires, natural disasters, explosions, and abnormal 

pressures and blowouts) may also result in personal injury daims by employees, third parties or damage to property owned by TGF or by 

third parties. As protection against operating hazards, TGF maintains insurance coverage against some, but not all, potential losses. 

However, TGF could sustain losses for uninsurable or uninsured events, or in amounts in excess of existing insurance coverage. 

Technological advances 

TGF expects that technological advances in the processes and procedures for processing ethanol will continue to occur It is possible that 

those advances could make the processes and procedures that TGF intends to utilize at the Belle Plaine fadlity less efficient or obsolete, or 

cause the ethanol TGF intends to produce to be of a lesser quality These advances could also allow TGF's competitors to produce ethanol at 

a lower cost than TGF, If TGF is unable to adopt or incorporate technological advances, TGF's ethanol production methods and processes 

could be less efficient than those of its competitors, which could cause the Belle Plaine facility to become less competitive. 

In addition, alternative fuels, additives and oxygenates are continually under development. Alternative fuel additives that can replace 

ethanol may be developed, which may decrease the demand for ethanol. It is also possible that technological advances in engine and 

exhaust system design and performance could reduce the use of oxygenates, which would lower the demand for ethanol, in which case 

TGF's business, results of operations and financial condition may be materially adversely affected. 
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Social or technological changes af fer t ing the water heater market 

Within Canada, the Ontario marketplace is unique in that the vast majority of homeowners rent their water heaters; however, there can be 

no assurance that NHS's customers will continue to rent their water heaters. It is also possible that more economical or efficient water 

heating technology than that which is currently used by customers will be developed or that the economic conditions in which the current 

technology is applied will change resulting in a reduction in the number of installed water heaters. 

The Canadian water heater rental market is primarily limited to the Province of Ontario. A prolonged downturn in the Ontario economy and 

a corresponding slowdown in new home construrtion could have an adverse effect on the demand for additional water heaters in Ontario. 

Concentration of water heater suppliers and produr t faults 

Although there are a number of manufarturers of water heaters, NHS relies principally on GSW Inc, ("GSW") for its supply of water heaters. 

Should this supplier fail to deliver in a timely manner, delays or disruptions in the supply and installation of water heaters could result. 

In addition, different water heater manufarturers may, from time to time, source components from the same manufacturers for use in their 

water heaters. As a result, a parts defect relating to a commonly sourced component could affect water heaters produced by more than 

one manufacturer Although NHS maintains what it believes to be suitable product liability insurance, there can be no assurance that NHS 

will be able to maintain such insurance on acceptable terms or that any such insurance will provide adequate protection against potential 

liabilities, including with respert to product recalls. 

LEGAL PROCEEDINGS 

Just Energy's subsidiaries are party to a number of legal proceedings. Just Energy believes that each proceeding constitutes a routine legal 

matter incidental to the business conducted by Just Energy and that the ultimate disposition of the proceedings will not have a material 

adverse effect on its consolidated earnings, cash flows or financial position. 

In addition to the routine legal proceedings of Just Energy, the State of California has filed a number of complaints to the Federal Energy 

Regulatory Commission ("FERC") against many suppliers of elertricity including Commerce with respect to events stemming from the 2001 

energy crisis in California, Pursuant to the complaints, the State of California is challenging the FERC's enforcement of its market-based rate 

system. Although CEI did not own generation facilities, the State of California is claiming that CEI was unjustly enriched by the run-up in 

charges caused by the alleged market manipulation of other market participants. On March 18, 2010, the Administrative Law Judge in the 

matter granted a motion to strike the claim for all parties in one of the complaints, holding that California did not prove that the reporting 

errors masked the accumulation of market power California has appealed the decision. CE! continues to vigorously contest this matter and 

it is not experted to have a material impart on the financial condition of the Company 

CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES 

Disclosure controls and procedures 

Except for the limitation on scope of design of disdosure controls and procedures as noted below. Just Energy maintains appropriate 

information systems, procedures and controls to ensure that information disclosed externally is complete, reliable and timely Just Energy's 

Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer evaluated, or caused an evaluation under their dirert supervision of, the design and 

operating effectiveness of the Company's disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in National Instrument 52-109, Certification of 

Disclosure in Issuer's Annual and interim Filings) as at March 3 1 , 2011. and have concluded that such disdosure controls and procedures 

were appropriately designed and were operating effectively 

internal control over financial report ing 

Except for the limitation on scope of the internal controls over finandal reporting as noted below, Just Energy has established adequate 

internal controls over financial reporting to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of its finandal reporting and the 

preparation of the financial statements for external purposes in accordance with GAAR Just Energy's Chief Executive Officer and Chief 

Financial Officer assessed, or caused an assessment under their direct supervision of. the design and operating effectiveness of its internal 

controls over finandal reporting (as defined in National Instrument 52-109, Certification of Disclosure in Issuer's Annual and Interim Filings) 

as at March 31 , 2011, using the Internal Control over Financial Reporting - Guidance for Smaller Public Companies published by The 

Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO), Based on the assessment it was concluded that Just Energy's 

internal controls over financial reporting were appropriately designed and were operating effectively 
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It should be noted that a control system, no matter how well conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance 

that the objectives of the control system are met. Because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of controls can 

provide absolute assurance that all control issues, including instances of fraud, if any, have been deterted. These inherent limitations 

indude, among other items; (1) that management's assumptions and judgments could ultimately prove to be incorrect under varying 

conditions and circumstances; (11) the impact of any undetected errors; and (iii) that controls may be circumvented by the unauthorized acts 

of individuals, by collusion of two or more people, or by management override. 

The design of any system of controls is also based In part upon certain assumptions about the likelihood of future events, and there can be 

no assurance that any design will succeed in achieving its stated goals under all potential future conditions. 

Changes in internal control over financial report ing 

There have been no changes in Just Energy's policies and procedures that comprise its internal control over financial reporting that have 

materially afferted, or are reasonably likely to materially affert. the Company's internal control over financial reporting during the year 

ended March 31, 2011, 

Limitat ion on scope of design 

Section 3,3(1) of National Instrument 52-109, Certification of Disdosure in Issuer's Annual and Interim Filings, states that Just Energy may 

limit its design of disclosure controls and procedures and internal controls over finandal reporting for a business that it acquired not more 

than 365 days before the end of the finandal period to which the certificate relates, Under this section, Just Energy's Chief Executive Officer 

and Chief Finandal Officer have limited the scope of the design, and subsequent evaluation, of disclosure controls and procedures and 

internal controls over financial reporting to exclude controls, policies and procedures of the Hudson subsidiaries acquired on May 1, 2010, 

Summary financial information pertaining to the Hudson acquisition that was induded in the consolidated financial statements of the Company 

for the 11 months ended March 31 , 2011, is as follows: 

(thousands of dollars) 

Sales' S 654,802 

Net income' 5,670 

Current assets 123,322 

Non-current assets 293,967 

Current liabilities 114,578 

Non-current liabilities 20,544 

' Results from May 1, 2010 to March 31. 3011, 

Just Energy as part of the acquisition of the above noted subsidiary, acquired commitments to office leases in the amount of $1,4 miliion 

which have been included in the notes to the consolidated finandal statements. 

Corporate governance 

Just Energy is committed to transparency in our operations and our approach to governance meets all recommended standards. Full disclosure 

of our compliance with existing corporate governance rules is available on our website at www,justenergycom and is induded in Just Energy's 

May 20, 2011, management information circular Just Energy artively monitors the corporate governance and disclosure environment to ensure 

timely compliance with current and future requirements, 

OUTLOOK 

Fiscal 2011 saw the continued benefit of Just Energy's ongoing diversification beyond its core business of five-year fixed rate residential 

gas and electricity. Sales to this core customer group have faced very difficult market conditions during the past two years, with very stable 

low commodity prices limiting the attraction of a fixed price product both for new customers and renewals. As this situation became clear. 

Just Energy management took a number of steps intended to use new products and markets to provide growth that would not otherwise 

be available. 

Foremost among these diversifications is the expansion of Just Energy's commercial offerings through the acquisition of Hudson and the 

expansion of the Company's in-house commercial sales capability The result is a second consecutive year of record gross and net new 

customer additions with the majority of these coming from the commercial division. Going fonward, the Company will continue to broaden 

its product offering with more flexible terms for both residential and commercial customers. The availability of shorter-term contracts and 

variable and/or fixed rate blended options added to existing JustGreen offerings will broaden the base of potential customers for Just Energy 

and ease renewals at contrart end. 
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

The short-term impart of these diversifications can be seen in gross customer additions, which were 999,000 (excluding those acquired with 

Hudson), up 98% from the previous record of 505,000 in fiscal 2010, This strong growth was combined with improvements in customer 

attrition leading to net additions through marketing of 361,000, up 395% from 73,000 in fiscal 2010, Commercial customers are currently 

approximately 40% of Just Energy's base, and management expects this to increase to 50% overtime. Commercial customers are typically 

subject to less weather volatility than residential customers. This may translate into more predictable results from the natural gas book. Also, 

commercial customers do not ordinarily move, reducing overall attrition, and making balancing of the supply book less complex. 

New produrt offerings and further geographic expansion will also contribute to growth in the coming years, A major product will be the 

JustClean offering, which results in comparable margins per RCE to traditional residential customer contracts, can be offered in all states 

and provinces and is not dependent on energy deregulation. Early response to JustClean has been very positive and product rollout across 

North America is expected in the coming fiscal year 

Geographic expansion is expected in the coming year into Pennsylvania, Saskatchewan and two new utility territories in New York. Equally 

important will be an expansion of the very successful Hudson broker network. Broadening this commerdal footprint to existing Just Energy 

markets will be a major contributor to growth in fiscal 2012. Recently developed telemarketing and Internet sales as well as the Momentis 

network marketing unit are further diversifications of the Company's sales platform, which should also contribute to growth. 

The year also saw improved operations and grov^lh in the Home Sen/ices and Ethanol divisions. These product line diversifications are now 

beginning to contribute to current EBITDA as well as future growth. The coming year will see the addition of Hudson Solar, a solar project 

development platform, which has begun operations in New Jersey Just Energy continues to monitor opportunities to enhance growth by 

adding related products to its coffering to customers. 

Management has, in past years, provided guidance on grovirth expected for the coming fiscal year For fiscal 2012, management experts 

growth of approximately 5% per share in gross margin and Adjusted EBITDA. Customer grovirth should exceed these levels but the shift 

toward lower aggregation cost/lower margin commercial customers will result in a lower relative growth of margin. Management 

anticipates that accelerated deductibility of Hudson solar capital expenditures combined with tax planning for Canadian operations should 

result in a cash tax expenditure for fiscal 2012 very similar to that of fiscal 2011, 

Just Energy's recent growth has been, and will continue to be, predominantiy in U.S, markets. The dedine in the U.S, dollar versus the 

Canadian has had an adverse impart on the reported results of Just Energy The 7% decline in the U,S, annual exchange rates seen year 

over year reduced reported gross margin by $16,3 million and distributable cash by $10,6 miliion. It is expected that sales, margins and 

distributable cash will be subjert to more volatility during times of currency fluctuations, U.S, cross border cash flow is forecasted annually 

and hedges for cross border cash flow are entered into. Just Energy hedges between 25% and 90% of the next 12 months' cross border 

cash flows depending on the level of certainty of the cash flows. 

Just Energy margins were reduced by $35 million in the first and second quarters of fiscal 2011 due to balandng cost and utility finandal 

reconciliations related to the record warm winter of 2009-10, In an attempt to reduce exposure to further weather variance, management 

has increased the usage of weather options as part of the overall hedge positions. The impact of this will be to increase margins toward 

expected levels when weather-related consumption declines and reduce margins toward expected levels when weather-related 

consumption is high. The existence of these options had a small adverse effect on gross margin in the fourth quarter but the longer-term 

result of the policy should be more stable, predirtable operating results. 

Just Energy has partnered on a power-purchase-agreement basis with a number of green energy projects and plans to enter into more such 

partnerships concentrated in jurisdirtions where the Company has an established customer base. Just Energy continues to monitor the 

progress of the deregulated markets in various jurisdirtions, which may create the opportunity for further geographic expansion. 
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MANAGEMENTS RESPONSIBILITY FOR FINANCIAL REPORTING 

The accompanying consolidated financial statements of Just Energy Group Inc. and all the information in this annual report are the 

responsibility of management and have been approved by the Board of Directors, 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared by management in accordance with Canadian Generally Accepted Accounting 

Principles. The consolidated financial statements include some amounts that are based on estimates and judgments. Management has 

determined such amounts on a reasonable basis in order to ensure that the consolidated financial statements are presented fairiy. in all 

material respects, Finandal information presented elsewhere in this annual report has been prepared on a consistent basis with that in the 

consolidated financial statements. 

Just Energy Group Inc. maintains systems of internal accounting and administrative controls. These systems are designated to provide 

reasonable assurance that the financial information is relevant, reliable and accurate and that the Company assets are properly accounted 

for and adequately safeguarded. 

The Board of Directors is responsible for ensuring that management fulfills its responsibilities for financial reporting and is ultimately 

responsible for reviewing and approving the consolidated financial statements. The Board carries out this responsibility principally through 

its Audit Committee. 

The Audit Committee is appointed by the Board of Dirertors and is comprised entirely of non-management dirertors. The Audit Committee 

meets periodically with management and the external auditors, to discuss auditing, internal controls, accounting policy and financial 

reporting matters. The committee reviews the consolidated financial statements with both management and the external auditors and 

reports its findings to the Board of Directors before such statements are approved by the Board, 

The consolidated finandal statements have been audited by Ernst & Young LLP, the external auditors, in accordance with Canadian 

generally accepted auditing standards on behalf of the shareholders. The external auditors have full and free access to the Audit 

Committee, with and without the presence of management, to discuss their audit and their findings as to the integrity of the finandal 

reporting and the effectiveness of the system of internal controls. 

On behalf of Just Energy Group Inc, 

Ken Hartwick 

Chief Executive Officer and President 

S ^ - -
Beth Summers 

Chief Financial Officer 

JUSTENERGY x ANNUAL REPORT 2011 



INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT 

To the Shareholders of Just Energy Group Inc, 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Just Energy Group Inc., which comprise the consolidated balance 

sheet as at March 31 , 2011 and the consolidated statements of operations, shareholders' deficiency comprehensive income and cash flows 

for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information, 

MANAGEMENT'S RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements In accordance with 

Canadian generally accepted accounting principles, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the 

preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

AUDITORS' RESPONSIBILITY 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in 

accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and 

plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material 

misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated finandal 

statements. The procedures selerted depend on the auditors' judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of 

the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error In making those risk assessments, the auditors consider internal 

control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures 

that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effertiveness of the entity's internal 

control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 

made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 

OPINION 

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material resperts, the financial position of Just Energy Group Inc, as 

at March 31. 2011 and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian generally 

accepted accounting principles, 

OTHER MATTERS 

The consolidated financial statements of Just Energy Group Inc. for the year ended March 31 . 2010 were audited by another firm of 

chartered accountants who expressed an unmodified opinion on those consolidated statements on May 19. 2010, 

Toronto, Canada, Chartered Accountants, 

May 19, 2011, Licensed Public Accountants 
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS 
As at March 31 

(thousands of Canadian dollars) 

ASSETS 
CURRENT 

Cash 
Restricted cash (Note 4) 
Accounts receivable 
Unbilled revenue 
Accrued gas receivable 
Gas delivered in excess of consumption 
Gas in storage 
Inventory (NoteS) 
Prepaid expenses and deposits 
Current portion of future income tax assets fiVote W) 
Corporate tax recoverable 
Other assets - current fiVofe l4a} 

FUTURE INCOME TAX ASSETS rwote 10) 
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Wofe ?; 
CONTRACT INITIATION COSTS 
INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Notes) 
GOODWILL 
LONG-TERM RECEIVABLE 
OTHER ASSETS-LONG-TERM (Note 14a) 

2011 2010 

$ 97,633 
833 

281.685 
125,122 
26,535 
3,481 
6,133 
6,906 
6,079 

36,375 
9,135 
3,846 

603,763 
85,899 

234,906 
29,654 

413,035 
211,434 

4,569 
5.384 

$1,588,644 

$ 2,314 
282,805 

-
9,788 

13,216 

-
19,353 
94,117 

485,406 

906,999 
507,460 

2,657 
1,622 

355,412 

1,774,150 

-

$(1,063,179) 
123,804 

(939,375) 

-
697,052 
33,914 
22,903 

(185,506) 

$ 1,588,644 

$ 60,132 
18,650 

232,579 
74,045 
20,793 

7,410 
4,058 
6,323 

20,038 
29,139 

-
2,703 

475,870 
85,197 

217,223 
5.587 

342,022 
177,887 

2,014 
5,027 

$ 1,310.827 

$ 8.236 
184,682 
13.182 
6.410 
6.776 
7,202 

15,093 
62.829 

685.200 

989.610 
231.837 

-
1.984 

590.572 

1,814.003 

20.603 

$(1,423,698) 
221.969 

(1,201,729) 
659,118 

-
-

18,832 

(523.779) 

$ 1,310,827 

LIABILITIES 
CURRENT 

Bank indebtedness 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 
Unit distribution payable 
Corporate taxes payable 
Current portion of future income tax liabilities (Note 10) 
Deferred revenue 
Accrued gas accounts payable 
Current portion of long-term debt (Note 9} 
Other liabilities - current (Note 14a) 

LONG-TERM DEBT (Wote9J 
FUTURE INCOME TAX LIABILITIES (Note 10) 
DEFERRED LEASE INDUCEMENTS 
OTHER LIABILITIES-LONG-TERM fWote J4aJ 

NON-CONTROLLING INTEREST 

SHAREHOLDERS' DEFICIENCY 
Deficit 
Accumulated other comprehensive income (Note 11} 

Unitholders' capital (Note 12) 
Shareholders' capital (Note 12) 
Equity component of convertible debenture (Note 9e) 
Contributed surplus (Note 13d) 

Shareholders' deficiency 

Guarantees (Note 18) Commitments (Note 19) Contingencies (Note 20) Subsequent events (Note 24) 

See accompanying notes to the consolidated finandal statements 

Approved on behalf of Just Energy Group Inc, 

/ / , • / 
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Rebecca MacDonald, Executive Chair 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS 
For the years ended March 31 

(thousands of Canadian dollars, except per share amounts) 

SALES 

COST OF SALES 

GROSS MARGIN 

EXPENSES 

General and administrative expenses 

Marketing expenses 

Bad debt expense 

Amortization of intangible assets and related supply contracts 

Amortization of property, plant and equipment 

Share-based compensation 

Capital tax expense 

INCOME BEFORE THE UNDERNOTED 

INTEREST EXPENSE fWoteSJ 

CHANGE IN FAIR VALUE OF DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS (Note )4a) 

OTHER INCOME 

INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAX 

PROVISION FOR (RECOVERY OF) INCOME TAXES (Note W) 

NON-CONTROLLING INTEREST 

NET INCOME 

2011 2010 

$2,953,192 

2,470,989 

482.203 

109,407 

133,607 

27,650 

120,841 

5,698 

5,509 

188 

402.900 

79,303 

50,437 

(509,401) 

(7.235) 

545.502 

32,142 

(1,987) 

$ 515,347 

$ 2,299,231 

1,883,898 

415,333 

88,423 

95,760 

17.940 

60.951 

5.494 

4.754 

522 

273.844 

141.489 

16.134 

1,282 

(3,515) 

127,588 

(100.260) 

(3.648) 

$ 231.496 

See accompanying notes to the consolidated finandal statements 

Net income per share/unit (Note W) 

Basic $ 3,81 $ 1.81 

Diluted $ 3,73 $ 1.79 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS' DEFICIENCY 
For the years ended March 31 

(thousands of Canadian dollars) 

2011 2010 

ACCUMULATED EARNINGS (DEFICIT) 

Accumulated deficit, beginning of year $ (480,931) $ (712,427) 

Net income 515.347 231,496 

ACCUMULATED EARNINGS (DEFICIT^, END OF YEAR 34,416 (480,931) 

DISTRIBUTIONS AND DIVIDENDS 

Distributions and dividends, beginning of year (942,767) (757,850) 

Distributions and dividends (151,782) (179,839) 

Class A preference share distributions - net of income taxes of $1,305 (2010 - $2,501) (3,046) (5,078) 

Distributions and dividends, end of year 

DEFICIT 

ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (Note)!} 

Accumulated other comprehensive income, beginning of year 

Other comprehensive loss 

Accumulated other comprehensive income, end of year 

SHAREHOLDERS7UNITHOLDER5* CAPITAL (Wote U) 

Shareholders' capital, beginning of year 

Shares exchanged 

Shares issued on exercise/exchange of share compensation 

Shares issued 

Distribution reinvestment plan 

Exchangeable Shares issued 

Exchangeable Shares exchanged 

ShareholdersVUnitholders' capital, end of year 

EQUITY COMPONENT OF CONVERTIBLE DEBENTURE (Note9e) 

CONTRIBUTED SURPLUS (Note 13d) 

Shareholders' deficiency, end of year $ (185,506) $ (523.779) 

See accompanying notes to the consolidated finandal statements 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
For the years ended March 31 

(thousands of Canadian dollars) 

(1,097,595) 

(1,063,179) 

221,969 

(98,165) 

123,804 

559,118 

23,231 

1,559 

10.328 

26,047 

-
(23,231) 

697,052 

33.914 

22,903 

(942,767) 

(1,423,698) 

364,566 

(142,59?) 

221,969 

398,454 

187,063 

682 

-
20,036 

239.946 

(187.063) 

659,118 

-
18.832 

2011 2010 

NET INCOME 

Unrealized gain on translation of self-sustaining operations 

Amortization of deferred unrealized gain of discontinued hedges, net of income taxes 

of $21,384 (2010 - $34,339) (Note 14a) 

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS 

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME S 417,182 $ 88,899 

See accompanying notes to the consolidated finandal statements 

S 515,347 

334 

(98,499) 

(98,165) 

$ 231,496 

26.626 

(169,223) 

(142,59?) 

JUSTENERGY o ANNUAL REPORT 2011 



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 
For the years ended March 31 

(thousands of Canadian dollars) 

Net in f low (outf low) of cash related t o the fo l lowing activities 

OPERATING 

Net income 

Items not af fer t ing cash 

Amortization of intangible assets and related supply contrarts 

Amortization of property plant and equipment 

Amortization of contrart initiation costs 

Share-based compensation 

Non-controlling interest 

Future income taxes 

Financing charges, non-cash portion 

Other 

Change in fair value of derivative instruments 

Adjustments required to reflert net cash receipts from gas sales (Note 21) 

Net change in non-cash working capital (Note 22) 

Cash Inf low f rom operat ing artivities 

FINANCING 

Distributions and dividends paid 

Distributions to Class A preference shareholder 

Tax impact on distributions to Class A preference shareholder 

lncrease/(decrease) in bank indebtedness 

Issuance of long-term debt 

Repayment of long-term debt 

Debt issuance costs 

Funding from minority interest holder of TGF 

Restricted cash 

Cash inf low (outf low) f r om financing activities 

INVESTING 

Purchase of property, plant and equipment 

Purchase of other intangible assets 

Acquisitions CWore 6; 

Proceeds from long-term receivable 

Contrart initiation costs 

Cash outflow from investing artivities 

Effect of foreign currency translation on cash balances 

NET CASH INFLOW 

CASH, BEGINNING OF YEAR 

CASH, END OF YEAR 

2011 ZOIO 

S 515,347 $ 231.496 

120,841 

5,698 

12,429 

5,509 

(1,987) 

22,655 

6,151 

16,056 

(509,401) 

(322,049) 

(1,725) 

(38,213) 

153,360 

(138,796) 

(4,896) 

1,305 

(5,922) 

484,844 

(148,292) 

(2,157) 

-
17,793 

203,879 

(36,641) 

(2.555) 

(262,673) 

2,232 

(19,210) 

(318,847) 

(891) 

37,501 

60,132 

60.951 

5,494 

-
4,754 

(3,648) 

(122,014) 

902 

4,030 

1.282 

(48.249) 

10,549 

(35.523) 

158.273 

(157.495) 

(7.580) 

2.501 

8.236 

243.797 

(207,493) 

-
1,500 

626 

(115,908) 

(41,207) 

(6.348) 

9,799 

290 

-
(37,466) 

(3,861) 

1,038 

59,094 

$ 97,633 S 60,132 

Supplemental cash f l o w informat ion 

Interest paid 

Income taxes paid 

$ 
$ 

39,167 

8,651 

3 

$ 
14,521 

27,886 

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the year ended March 31. 2011 

(thousands of Canadian dollars except where indicated and per share amounts) 

NOTE 1 ORGANIZATION 

Effertive January 1. 2011, Just Energy completed the conversion from an income trust (Just Energy Income Fund (the "Fund")) 

to a corporation (the "Conversion") pursuantto a plan of arrangement approved by unitholders on June 29, 2010, and by the 

Alberta Court of the Queen's Bench on June 30, 2010 and going forward, operates under the name. Just Energy Group Inc, 

("JEGI", "Just Energy" or "the Company"), JEGI was a newly incorporated entity for the purpose of acquiring the outstanding 

units of the Fund, exchangeable sharesof Just Energy Exchange Corp ("JEEC") and the Class A Preference Shares of Just Energy 

Corp ("JEC") on a one-for-one basis for common shares of JEGI, There was no change in the ownership of the business and 

therefore, there is no impact to the consolidated finandal statements except for the elimination of unitholders' equity and the 

recording of shareholders' equity in the same amount. 

Just Energy is a corporation established under the laws of Canada to hold securities and to distribute the income of its directiy or 

indirectly owned operating subsidiaries and affiliates: Just Energy Ontario L,P., Just Energy Manitoba L,P,, Just Energy Quebec L,R, 

Just Energy (B,C,) Limited Partnership, Just Energy Alberta L,R, Alberta Energy Savings L,R ("AESLP"), Just Energy Illinois Corp,, 

Just Energy New York Corp,, Just Energy Indiana Corp,. Just Energy Texas L.P, Just Energy Massachusetts Corp,, Just Energy 

Michigan Corp,, Just Energy Pennsylvania Corp,, Universal Energy Corporation, Commerce Energy Inc, ("Commerce" or "CEI"), 

National Energy Corp, (which operates under the trade name of National Home Services ("NHS")), Hudson Energy Services, LLC 

and Hudson Energy Canada Corp, ("Hudson" or "HES"), Momentis Canada Corp, and Momentis U,S, Corp, (collectively, 

"Momentis"), Terra Grain Fuels, Inc, ("TGF"), and Hudson Energy Solar Corp, 

NOTE 2 OPERATIONS 

Just Energy's business primarily involves the sale of natural gas and/or electridty to residential and commercial customers under 

long-term fixed-price, price-protected or variable-priced contrarts and green energy products. By fixing the price of natural gas or 

electricity under its fixed-price or price-protected program contracts for a period of up to five years. Just Energy's customers offset 

their exposure to changes in the price of these essential commodities. Just Energy, which commenced business in 1997. derives its 

margin or gross profit from the difference between the price at which it is able to sell the commodities to its customers and the 

price at which it purchases the assodated volumes from its suppliers. Just Energy also offers green products through its JustGreen 

program. The JustGreen elertricity product offers the customer the option of having all or a portion of their electricity sourced 

from renewable green sources such as wind, run of the river hydro or biomass. The JustGreen gas product offers carbon offset 

credits, which will allow the customer to reduce or eliminate the carbon footprint of their home or business. Management 

believes that the JustGreen products will not only add to profits but also increase sales receptivity and improve renewal rates. 

In addition, thrcjugh NHS. Just Energy sells and rents high efficiency and tankless water heaters and other heating, ventilating 

and air conditioning ("HVAC") products, TGF. an ethanol producer, operates a wheat-based ethanol facility in Belle Plaine. 

Saskatchewan, Just Energy indirectly acquired Hudson, effective May 1, 2010, a marketer of natural gas and electricity that 

primarily sells to commerdal customers, 

NOTE 3(1) S U M M A R Y OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

(a) Principles of consolidation 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian Generally Accepted Accounting Principles 

("GAAP"), and include the accounts of Just Energy and its directiy or indirectiy owned subsidiaries and affiliates, 

(b) Cash and cash equivalents 

All highly liquid temporary cash investments with an original maturity of three months or less when purchased are considered to 

be cash equivalents. 

(c) Accrued gas receivable/accrued gas accounts payable or gas delivered in excess o f consumption/deferred revenues 

Accrued gas receivables are slated at estimated realizable value and result when customers consume more gas than has been 

delivered by Just Energy to local distribution companies (" LDCs"), Accrued gas accounts payable represents the obligation to the 

LDCs with respect to gas consumed by customers in excess of that delivered to the LDCs, 

Gas delivered to LDCs in excess of consumption by customers is stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Collections 

from customers in advance of their consumption of gas result in deferred revenues. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIPATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

Due to the seasonality of our operations, during the winter months customers will have consumed more than what was delivered 

resulting in the recognition of unbilled revenues/accrued gas accounts payable; however, in the summer months customers will have 

consumed less than what was delivered, resulting in the recognition of gas delivered in excess of consumption/deferred revenues. 

These adjustments are applicable solely to the Ontario, Manitoba, Quebec and Michigan gas markets. 

W) Gas in storage 

Gas in storage primarily represents the gas delivered to the LDCs in the States of Illinois, Indiana, New York, Ohio and California, 

The balance will flurtuate as gas is injected or withdrawn from storage. Injections typically occur from April through November 

and withdrawals occur from December through March, 

In addition, a portion of the gas in storage relates to operations in the Province of Alberta, in Alberta, there is a month to month 

carryover, which represents the difference between the gas delivered to the LDC within a month and customer consumption. 

The delivery volumes in the following month are adjusted accordingly 

Gas in storage is stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value. 

(e) Inventory 

Inventory consists of water heaters, furnaces and air conditioners as well as ethanol, ethanol in process and grain inventory. 

Water heaters, furnaces and air conditioners are stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value with cost being determined 

on a weighted average basis, Ethanol, ethanol in process and grain inventory are valued at the lower of cost and net realizable 

value with cost being determined on a weighted average basis. 

(f) Property, plant and equipment 

Property, plant and equipment are recorded at cost less accumulated amortization. Cost for water heaters, furnaces and air 

conditioners includes the cost of installation. 

Amortization is provided over the estimated useful lives of the assets, with the half year rule applied to additions, as follows: 

Asset 

Furniture and fixtures 

Office equipment 

Computer equipment 

Water heaters, furnaces and air conditioners 

Leasehold improvements 

Vehicles 

Ethanol plant and equipment 

Building 

(g) Goodwil l 

Goodwill is the residual amount that results when the purchase price of an acquired business exceeds the sum of the amounts 

allocated to the tangible and intangible assets acquired, less liabilities assumed, based on their fair values. Goodwill is allocated as 

of the date of the business combination of the Company's reporting subsidiaries that are expected to benefit from the synergies 

of the business combination. 

Goodwill is not amortized however; it is tested for impairment annually or more frequently tf events or changes in circumstances 

indicate that the asset might be impaired. The impairment test is carried out in two steps: in the first step, the carrying amount of the 

reporting unit including goodwill is compared with its fair value. When the fair value of a reporting unit induding goodwill exceeds its 

carrying amount, goodwill of the reporting unit is not considered to be impaired and the second step of the impairment test is unnecessary. 

The second step is carried out when the carrying amount of a reporting unit exceeds its fair value, in which case the implied fair value 

of the reporting unit's goodwill is compared with its carrying amount to measure the amount of the impairment loss, if any The 

implied fair value of goodwill is determined in the same manner as the value of goodwill is determined in a business combination. 

(h) Gas contracts and customer relationships 

Gas contrarts represent the original fair value of existing sales and supply contracts acquired by Just Energy on the acquisition of 

various gas contrarts and experted renewals. These contracts are amortized over their average estimated remaining life of up to 

five years on a straight line basis which approximates the life of the assets. 

(i) Elertricity contracts and customer relationships 

Electricity contracts represent the original fair value of existing sales and supply contracts acquired by Just Energy on the 

acquisition of various electricity contrarts and expected renewals. These contracts are amortized over their average estimated 

remaining life of up to six years on a straight line basis which approximates the life of the assets, 
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Basis 

Declining balance 

Declining balance 

Declining balance 

Straight line 

Straight line 

Straight line 

Straight line 

Straight line 

Rate 

20% 

20% 

30% 

15 years 

Term of lease 

5 years 

25 years 

39 years 



NOTES TO THE CONSOUDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

{J) Water heater contracts and customer relationships 

Water heater contrarts represent the fair value of rental contracts on the acquisition of various water heater contracts and 

experted renewals. These contracts are operating leases and are amortized over their average estimated remaining life of up 

to 15 years on a straight line basis which approximates the life of the assets, 

(k) Impairment of long-l ived assets 

Just Energy reviews long-lived assets, which include property, plant and equipment, contrart initiation costs and intangible assets 

with finite lives, whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the asset may not be 

recoverable, Recoverability of assets to be held and used is measured by a comparison of the carrying amount of an asset to the 

estimated undiscounted future cash flows experted to be generated by the asset, through use and eventual disposition. If the 

carrying amount of an asset exceeds its estimated future cash flows, an impairment charge is recognized for the amount by which 

the carrying amount of the asset exceeds the fair value of the asset, 

(I) Other assets (liabilities) - current/ long-term, change in fair value of derivative instruments and 

other comprehensive Income (loss) 

Just Energy's various derivative instruments have been accounted for using the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants 

("CICA") Handbook Section 3855, Finandal Instruments - Recognition and Measurement, Effective July 1, 2008, Just Energy 

ceased the utilization of hedge accounting. In accordance with CICA Handbook Section 3865, Hedges, Just Energy is amortizing 

the accumulated gains and losses to June 30, 2008, from other comprehensive income in the same period in which the original 

hedged item affects the Consolidated Statements of Operations. No retrospective restatement is required for this change. The 

derivatives are measured at fair value and booked to the consolidated balance sheets. Effertive July 1, 2008, all changes in fair 

value between periods are booked to change in fair value of derivative instruments on the consolidated statements of operations. 

Just Energy enters into contracts with the intent of moderating its exposure to risks affecting the cost of sales for fixed-price 

electricity and JustGreen electricity sales. The contracts include fixed-for-floating elertricity swap contracts and physical forward 

contracts, unforced capacity contrarts. heat rate swap contracts, heat rate options, renewable energy certificates, and financial 

and physical forward gas contracts (to fulfill obligations under the heat rate swaps) with electricity and natural gas suppliers. 

These swaps and forwards are accounted for in accordance with CICA Handbook Sertion 3855. 

Just Energy enters into hedges of its cost of sales relating to its fixed-price gas and JustGreen gas contracts by entering into a 

combination of physical gas forwards, financial gas forwards, physical transportation forwards, carbon offset contracts and option 

contracts. Physical gas forwards and transportation forwards are accounted for in accordance with CICA Handbook Section 3855. 

Option contracts and financial gas fonwards are accounted for in accordance with CICA Handbook Section 3855. 

Just Energy enters into hedges for its foreign exchange risk relating to its anticipated repatriation of U,S, dollar denominated 

currency by entering into foreign exchange forward contracts with its lender Just Energy accounts for these forward contracts in 

accordance with CICA Handbook Sertion 3855 by recording them on the consolidated balance sheets as either other assets or 

other liabilities measured at fair value, with changes in fair value booked to change in fair value of derivative instruments, 

(m) Financial instruments 

Finandal instruments are classified into a defined category, namely, held-for-trading financial assets or finandal liabilities, held-to-

maturity investments, loans and receivables, available-for-sale financial assets, or other financial liabilities, Financial instruments are 

included on Just Energy's consolidated balance sheets and measured at fair value, except for loans and receivables, held-to-

maturity financial assets and other financial liabilities which are measured at cost or amortized cost, Finandal assets and financial 

liabilities have been initially remeasured as at April 1, 2009 to take into account the appropriate credit risk and counterparty credit 

risk (see Note 13c), Gains and losses on held-for-trading financial assets and financial liabilities are recognized in net earnings in 

the period in which they arise. Unrealized gains and losses, including those related to changes in foreign exchange rates on 

available-for-sale financial assets, are recognized in accumulated other comprehensive loss until the finandal asset is derecognized 

or determined to be impaired, at which time any unrealized gains or losses are recorded in net earnings. Transaction costs other 

than those related to finandal instruments dassified as held-for-trading, which are expensed as incurred, are amortized using the 

effective interest method. The following classifications have been applied: 

• cash and restricted cash as held-for-trading, which is measured at fair value; 

• accounts receivable and unbilled revenues are classified as loans and receivables, which are measured at amortized cost; and 

• long-term debt, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, unit distribution payable and bank indebtedness are classified as 

other financial liabilities, which are measured at amortized cost, 

Finandal instruments measured at fair value on the consolidated balance sheets are based on a hierarchy that reflects the significance 

of the inputs used in the fair value measurements. The fair value hierarchy is disclosed in note 13 of the finandal statements, 
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Electricity: 

Just Energy has entered into contracts with customers to provide electridty and renewable energy at fixed prices ("customer 

electricity contracts"). Customer elertricity contrarts include requirements contrarts and contracts with fixed or variable volumes 

at fixed prices. The customer elertricity contracts expose Just Energy to changes in market prices of electricity, renewable energy 

certificates and consumption. To reduce its exposure to movements in commodity prices arising from the acquisition of electricity 

and renewable energy certificates at floating rates. Just Energy uses electricity derivative contracts ("elertricity derivative 

contracts"). These electricity derivative contracts are fixed-for-fioating swaps, physical elearicity forward contracts, unforced 

capacity contracts, renewable energy certificates or a combination of heat rate swaps, heat rate options and physical or financial 

forward gas contracts. 

Just Energy agrees to exchange the difference between the variable or indexed price and the fixed price on a notional quantity of 

electridty for a specified time frame in the fixed-for-floating contract arrangements. Just Energy takes title to the renewable 

energy certificate volumes to satisfy customer contrarts. Just Energy takes title to electridty and unforced capacity at a fixed price 

for scheduling into the power grid under the forward contracts. Just Energy agrees to pay for certain quantities of power based 

on the floating price of natural gas under heat rate swaps. In order to cover the floating price of gas under these arrangements, 

prices for gas are fixed through either physical or financial forward gas contracts with a protection against weather variation 

achieved through the purchase of heat rate options. These contracts are expected to be effertive as economic hedges of the 

elertricity price exposure. 

The premiums and settlements for these derivative instruments are recognized in cost of sales, when incurred. 

The fair value of the elertridty derivative contracts is recorded in the consolidated balance sheets with changes in the fair value 

being recorded in change in fair value of derivative instruments on the consolidated statements of operations. 

Gas: 

Just Energy has entered into contrarts with customers to provide gas and carbon offsets at fixed prices ("customer gas 

contrarts"). Customer gas contracts indude requirements contracts and contrarts with fixed or variable volumes at fixed prices. 

The customer gas contrarts expose Just Energy to changes in market prices of gas and consumption. To reduce its exposure to 

movements in commodity prices and usage. Just Energy uses carbon offset, options and gas physical and finandal contracts 

("gas supply contracts"). These gas supply contrarts are expected to be effertive as economic hedges of the gas price exposure. 

Just Energy uses physical fonArards, carbon offset transportation fonA/ards (together "physical gas supply contracts") and other gas 

flnandal instruments to fix the price of its gas supply Under the physical gas supply contracts. Just Energy agrees to pay a 

specified price per volume of gas or transportation. Other financial instruments are comprised of finandal puts and calls that fix 

the price of gas in jurisdictions where Just Energy has scheduling responsibilities and therefore is exposed to commodity price risk 

on volumes above or below its base supply 

The fair value of physical gas contracts is recorded in the consolidated balance sheets with changes in the fair value being 

recorded in change in fair value of derivative instruments on the consolidated statements of operations. 

Foreign exchange: 

To reduce its exposure to movements in foreign exchange rates. Just Energy uses foreign exchange forwards ("foreign exchange 

contracts"). These derivative financial instruments are recorded on the consolidated balance sheets as either other assets or other 

liabilities measured at fair value, with changes in fair value recognized in income as change in fair value of derivative instruments. 

(n) Revenue recognit ion 

Just Energy delivers gas and/or elertricity to end-use customers who have entered into long-term fixed-price contracts. Revenue is 

recognized when the commodity is consumed by the end-use customer or sold to third parties. The Company assumes credit risk 

in Illinois, Alberta, Texas, Pennsylvania, Maryland. Massachusetts and California, and for large volume customers in British 

Columbia and Ontario. In these markets, the Company ensures that credit review processes are in place prior to commodity 

flowing to the customer 

Just Energy recognizes revenue upon delivery to customers at terminals or other locations for ethanol and dried distillers' grain. 

Just Energy recognizes revenue from the monthly rental of water heaters, furnaces and air conditioners commencing from the 

installation date. 
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(o) Market ing expenses and contrart Ini t iat ion costs 

Commissions and various other costs related to obtaining and renewing customer contracts are charged to income in the period 

incurred except as disdosed below: 

Commissions related to obtaining and renewing Hudson customer contracts are paid in one of the following ways: ail or partially 

up front or as a residual payment over the life of the contract. If the commission is paid all or partially up front, it is recorded as 

contrart initiation costs and amortized in marketing expenses over the term for which the assodated revenue is earned. If the 

commission is paid as a residual payment, the amount is expensed as earned. 

In addition, commissions related to obtaining customer contracts signed under NHS are recorded as contract initiation costs and 

amortized in rnarketing expenses over the remaining life of the contract, 

<p) Foreign currency translation 

The operations of Just Energy's US-based subsidiaries are self-sustaining operations. Accordingly the assets and liabilities of 

foreign subsidiaries are translated into Canadian dollars at the rate of exchange at the consolidated balance sheet dates. Revenues 

and expenses are translated at the average rate of exchange for the period. The resulting gains and losses are accumulated as a 

component of Shareholders' equity within AOCl, 

(q) Per common share amounts 

The computation of income per common share is based on the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the year. 

Diluted earnings per share is computed in a similar way to basic earnings per share except that the weighted average shares 

outstanding are increased to include additional shares assuming the exercise of options, restrirted share grants and deferred 

restrirted share grants, and conversion of convertible debentures, if dilutive, 

(r) Share-based compensation plans 

The Company accounts for all of its share-based compensation awards using the fair value based method, 

Awards are valued at the grant date and are not subsequently adjusted for changes in the prices of the underlying shares and 

other measurement assumptions. Compensation for awards without performance conditions is recognized as an expense and a 

credit to contributed surplus over the related vesting period of the awards. Compensation for awards with performance 

conditions is recognized based on management's best estimate of whether the performance condition will be achieved. 

When options, restrirted share grants ("RSGs") and deferred share grants ("DSGs") are exerdsed or exchanged, the amounts 

previously credited to contributed surplus are reversed and credited to Shareholders' capital. The amount of cash, if any received 

from participants is also credited to Shareholders' capital. 

(i) Employee future benefits 

Just Energy established a long-term incentive plan (the "Plan") for the permanent full time and part time employees (working 

more than 20 hours per week) in Canada, The Plan consists of tv\io components, a Deferred Profit Sharing Plan ("DPSP") and an 

Employee Profit Sharing Plan ("EPSP"), For participants of the DPSP, Just Energy contributes an amount equal to a maximum of 

2% per annum of an employee's base earnings. For the EPSP, Just Energy contributes an amount up to a maximum of 2% per 

annum of an employee's base earnings towards the purchase of common shares of Just Energy, on a matching one for one basis. 

For the U,S. employees, Just Energy has established a 401(k) plan to provide employees the potential for future financial security 

for retirement. Employees may participate in the 401 (k) plan subject to ail the terms and conditions of the plan. They may join the 

plan on the first of any month, once they have completed six months of employment. The 401 (k) savings plan is an employer 

matching plan. Just Energy will match an amount up to 4% of their base earnings. Employees may contribute from 1 % to 25% 

of their total salary with Just Energy on a beforehand basis with a 2011 calendar year maximum of $17. 

Participation in either plan in Canada or the U,S, is voluntary The Plan has a two-year vesting period beginning from the later of 

the Plan's effective date and the employee's starting date. During the year. Just Energy contributed $1,572 (2010-$1,096) to 

both plans, which was paid in full during the year and recognized as an expense in the consolidated statements of operations. 
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(t) Exchangeable Securities 

Just Energy followed the recommendations of the Emerging Issues Committee relating to the presentation of exchangeable 

securities, which includes the Class A preference shares, issued by subsidiaries of income funds. The recommendations require that 

the exchangeable securities issued by a subsidiary of an income fund be presented on the consolidated balance sheets of the 

Income fund as a part of shareholders' capital If the following criteria have been met: 

• the holders of the exchangeable securities are entitied to receive distributions of earnings economically equivalent to 

distributions received on units of the income fund; and 

• the exchangeable securities ultimately are required to be exchanged for units of the income fund as a result of the passage of 

fixed periods of time or the non-transferability to third parties of the exchangeable securities without first exchanging them for 

units of the income fund. 

The exchangeable shares and Class A preference shares met these criteria and were classified as Unitholders' capital for the year 

ended March 3 1 , 2010, All distributions paid to JEEC shareholders were induded in Unitholders' capital. All distributions paid to 

the Class A preference shareholder were in Unitholders' capital, net of tax. The management incentive program, which is a bonus 

equal to the dividend amount received by a Shareholder, is additional compensation to senior management of JEC. a wholly 

owned subsidiary of Just Energy 

As a result of the Conversion to a corporation, the exchangeable shares of JEEC and Class A preference shares were converted 

into 3.794.154 and 5,263,738 common shares, respectively 

(u) Use of estimates 

The preparation of the finandal statements, in conformity with Canadian GAAP, requires management to make estimates and 

assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes. Actual results 

could differ from those estimates and assumptions. Significant areas requiring the use of management estimates indude 

allowance for doubtful accounts, estimate of the useful life and estimated fair value of property, plant and equipment and 

impairments thereon, valuation of goodwill and intangibles and the impairment thereon, valuation allowances for future tax 

assets, the determination of the fair values of financial instruments, as the aggregate fair value amounts represent point in time 

estimates only and should not be interpreted as being realizable in an immediate settlement of the supply contracts, and the 

determination of share-based compensation, 

(v) Income taxes 

The Company follows the liability method of accounting for income taxes. Under this method, income tax liabilities and assets are 

recognized for the estimated tax consequences attributable to the temporary differences between the carrying value of the assets 

and liabilities on the consolidated financial statements and their respertive tax bases, using substantively enarted income tax rates 

experted to apply when the asset is realized or the liability settled, A valuation allowance is recorded against a future income 

tax asset if it is determined that it Is more likely than not that the future tax assets will not be realized in the foreseeable future. 

The effect of a change in the income tax rates used in calculating future income tax liabilities and assets is recognized in income 

during the period that the change occurs, 

(w) Other intangible assets 

Computer software is amortized on a dedining basis at a rate of 100% and the commodity billing and settlement systems are 

amortized on a straight line basis over five years which approximates the life of the assets, 

(ii) RECENTLY ISSUED ACCOUNTING STANDARDS 

The following are new standards, not yet in effect, which are required to be adopted by the company on the effective date: 

Business Combinations 

In October 2008, CICIA issued Handbook Section 1582, Business Combinations ("CICA 1582"). concurrentiy with CICA Handbook 

Section 1601, Consolidated Finandal Statements {"ClCA 1601"), and CICA Handbook Section 1602, Non-controlling Interest 

("CICA 1602"). CICA 1582, which replaces CICA Handbook Sertion 1581, Business Combinations, establishes standards for 

the measurement of a business combination and the recognition and measurement of assets acquired and liabilities assumed, 

CICA 1601, which replaces CICA Handbook Section 1600, carries forward the existing Canadian guidance on aspects of the 

preparation of consolidated financial statements subsequent to acquisition other than non-controlling interests, CiCA 1602 

establishes guidance for the treatment of non-controlling interests subsequent to acquisition through a business combination. 

These new standards are effective for fiscal years beginning on or after January 1, 2011, Just Energy will not adopt the new 

standards prior to adopting International Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRS") as described below. 
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International Financial Reporting Standards 

In February 2008, CICA announced that Canadian GAAP for publicly accountable enterprises will be replaced by IFRS for fiscal 

years beginning on or after January 1,2011, 

Just Energy will transition to IFRS effective April 1, 2011, and intends to issue its first interim consolidated financial statements 

under IFRS for the three-month period ending June 30, 2011, and a complete set of consolidated financial statements under IFRS 

for the year ending March 31. 2012. 

Just Energy has developed a changeover plan, which includes diagnostic assessment, solution development and implementation 

phases. Just Energy has completed the initial assessment and solution development phases. These included certain training 

initiatives, researching and documenting the significant differences between Canadian GAAP and IFRS. assessing the impact on 

Just Energy, and a preliminary assessment of the information technology systems. The IFRS team is currentiy engaged in the 

implementation phase, which is the final phase of the project. 

Significant differences exist which may impart Just Energy's financial reporting. Those areas include, but are not limited to, 

property plant and equipment, impairment of assets, accounting for income taxes, financial instruments, share-based payments, 

business combinations, provisions and the first-time adoption of IFRS ("IFRS 1"), 

As part of the Conversion, Just Energy is in the process of analyzing the detailed impacts of these identified differences and 

developing solutions to bridge these differences. Although the full impact of the adoption of IFRS on Just Energy's financial 

position and results of operations is not yet reasonably determinable or estimable. Just Energy experts a significant increase in 

financial statement disclosure requirements resulting from the adoption of IFRS, Just Energy is currently on target with its 

conversion plan. 

NOTE 4 RESTRICTED CASH 

Restrirted cash and customer rebates payable represent: (1) rebate monies received from LDCs in Ontario as provided by the 

Independent Elertricity System Operator ("lESO") and (ii) Newten Home Comfort Inc, 

i) JB Ontario is obligated to disperse the monies to eligible end-use customers in accordance with the Ontario Power Generation 

Rebate as part of Just Energy Ontario L,R's Retailer License conditions, 

ii) As part of the acquisition of Newten Home Comfort Inc. (Note 6(c)) the Company is required to transfer cash into a trust 

account, in trust for the vendors, as part of the contingent consideration, 

NOTE 5 INVENTORY 

The amount of inventories recognized as an expense during the year was $77,376. There has not been a write down of inventory 

to date. Inventory is made up of the following: 

Raw materials 

Work in progress 

Finished goods 

$ 6,906 $ 6,323 

$ 

2011 

2,224 $ 

518 

4,164 

2010 

2,308 

463 

3,552 
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NOTE 6 ACQUISITIONS 

(a) Acquisit ion of Hudson Energy Services, LLC 

On May 7. 2010, Just Energy completed the acquisition of all of the equity interests of Hudson Parent Holdings. LLC, and all the 

common sharesof Hudson Energy Corp,, thereby indirectly acquiring Hudson Energy Services, LLC, with an effective date of May 1, 

2010. The acquisition was funded by an issuance of $330 million in convertible debentures issued on May 5, 2010 (see Note 9(e)). 

The acquisition of Hudson was accounted for using the purchase method of accounting. Just Energy allocated the purchase price 

to the identified assets and liabilities acquired based on their fair values at the time of acquisition as follows: 

Net assets acquired: 

Current assets (including cash of $24,003) $ 88,696 

Current liabilities (107.817) 

Electridty contracts and customer relationships 200.653 

Gas contrarts and customer relationships 26.225 

Broker network 84.400 

Brand 11,200 

Information technology system development 17,954 

Contrart initiation costs 20,288 

Other intangible assets 6,545 

Goodwill 33,574 

Property, plant and equipment 2,559 

Unbilled revenue 15,092 

Notes receivable - long-term 1,312 

Security deposits - long-term 3,544 

Other assets - current 124 

Other assets - long-term 100 

Other liabilities - current (74,683) 

Other liabilities - long-term (40,719) 

$ 289.047 

Consideration: 

Purchase price $ 287,790 

Transartion costs 1.257 

$ 289,047 

All contracts and intangible assets, excluding brand, are amortized over the average remaining life at the time of acquisition. 

The gas and electricity contracts and customer relationships are amortized over 30 months and 35 months, respectively Other 

intangible assets, excluding brand, are amortized over periods of three to five years. The brand value is considered to be indefinite 

and, therefore, not subjert to amortization. The purchase price allocation is considered preliminary and, as a result, it may be 

adjusted during the 12-month period following the acquisition, 

(b) Acquisition of Universal Energy Group Ltd. 

On July 1, 2009, Just Energy completed the acquisition of all of the outstanding common sharesof Universal Energy Group Ltd, 

("UEG" or "Universal") pursuantto a plan of arrangement (the "Arrangement"). Underthe Arrangement, UEG shareholders 

received 0.58 of an exchangeable share ("Exchangeable Share") of JEEC. a subsidiary of Just Energy, for each UEG common share 

held. In aggregate, 21,271,804 Exchangeable Shares were issued pursuantto the Arrangement, Each Exchangeable Share was 

exchangeable for a trust unit on a one for one basis at any time at the option of the holder, and entitled the holder to a monthly 

dividend equal to 66 % % of the monthly distribution paid by Just Energy on a trust unit, JEEC also assumed all the covenants 

and obligations of UEG in respect of UEG's outstanding 5% convertible unsecured subordinated debentures. 
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The acquisition of UEG was accounted for using the purchase method of accounting. Just Energy allocated the purchase price to 

the identified assets and liabilities acquired based on their fair values at the time of acquisition, as follows: 

Net assets acquired: 

Working capital (including cash of $10,319) $ 63,614 

Electridty contracts and customer relationships 229,586 

Gas contrarts and customer relationships 243,346 

Water heater contrarts and customer relationships 22,700 

Other intangible assets 2,721 

Goodwill 77.494 

Property, plant and equipment 171,693 

Future tax liabilities (50,475) 

Other liabilities - current (164,148) 

Other liabilities - long-term (140,857) 

Long-term debt (183,079) 

Non-controlling interest (22,697) 

$ 249,898 

Consideration: 

Transaction costs $ 9.952 

Exchangeable Shares 239,946 

249,898 

Non-controlling interest represented a 33,3% ownership of TGF held by EllisDon Corporation, The non-controlling interest was 

subsequently acquired by JEGI on January 4, 2011 (Note 12), 

All contracts and intangible assets are amortized over the average remaining life at the time of acquisition. The gas and elertricity 

contracts and customer relationships are amortized over periods ranging from 8 to 57 months. The water heater contracts and 

customer relationships are amortized over 174 months, and the intangible assets were amortized over six months. An adjustment 

in the amount of $10,700 was made to increase goodwill and decrease working capital during the three months ended June 30. 

2010, The purchase price for this acquisition is final and no longer subject to change. 

(0 Newten Home Comfort Inc. 

On July 2, 2009, NHS. a wholly owned subsidiary of Just Energy, acquired Newten Home Comfort Inc. an arm's length third party 

that held a 20% interest in Newten Home Comfort L.R for $3,2 million, of which 5520 was paid in cash and determined to be the 

purchase price consideration. The purchase price consideration excludes contingent payments to the 20% interest holders that 

will become payable in July 2012 based on the number of completed water heater installations. Any contingent payments made 

will result in an increase to the balance of goodwill generated by the acquisition. 
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NOTE 7 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 

As at March 31, 2011 

Furniture and fixtures 
Office equipment 
Computer equipment 
Water heaters 
Furnaces and air conditioners 
Leasehold improvements 

Vehicles 
Ethanol plant and equipment 
Building 
Land 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

Cost 

6,090 

17,976 

7,750 

78,223 

3,813 

8,567 

215 

157,842 

640 

299 

281,415 

Cost 

5,581 

14,810 

6,417 

51,059 

317 

8,409 

197 

159,500 

299 

246,589 

Accumulated 
amortization 

$ 

$ 

3,561 

9,520 

4,958 

6,887 

179 

5,077 

38 

16,222 

17 

-
46,509 

Accumulated 
amortization 

$ 

$ 

2,972 

5.930 

3.763 

2,481 

4 

4,116 

46 

10,054 

-
29,366 

Net book 
value 

$ 2,529 

8,456 

2,792 

71,336 

3,634 

3,490 

127 

141,620 

623 

299 

$ 234,906 

Net book 
value 

$ 2,609 

8.880 

2.654 

48.578 

313 

4,293 

151 

149,446 

299 

$ 217,223 

As at r/larch 31, 2010 

Furniture and fixtures 
Office equipment 
Computer equipment 
Water heaters 
Furnaces and air conditioners 
Leasehold improvements 
Vehicles 
Ethanol plant and equipment 
Land 

MOTE a INTANGIBLE ASSETS 

As at March 31, 2011 

Gas contrarts and customer relationships 
Elertricity contracts and customer relationships 
Water heater contrarts and customer relationships 

Computer software 
Commodity billing and settlement systems 
Broker network 
Brand 
Information technology system development 
Other intangible assets 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

Cost 

248,828 

436,339 

23,164 

9.540 

6,743 

80,561 

10,692 

19,691 

9,061 

844,619 

Cost 

228,827 

245,617 

23.081 

5.562 

6.544 

2,982 

512,613 

Accumulated 
amortization 

$ 144,568 

248,673 

2,813 

6,616 

6,450 

14,770 

-
3,478 

4,216 

$ 431.584 

Accumulated 
amortization 

$ 63,484 

92,779 

1,218 

4,198 

6,515 

2,397 

$ 170,591 

Net book 
value 

$ 104,260 

187,666 

20,351 

2,924 

293 

65,791 

10,692 

16,213 

4,845 

$ 413.035 

Net book 
value 

$ 165,343 

152,838 

21,863 

1,364 

29 

535 

$ 342,022 

As at March 31.2010 

Gas contracts and customer relationships 
Elertricity contracts and customer relationships 
Water heater contracts and customer relationships 
Computer software 
Commodity billing and settlement systems 
Other intangible assets 
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NOTE 9 LONG-TERM DEBT A N D FINANCING 

Marchai. MarchSl. 
_____2011 2010 

Credit fadlity (a) 

TGF credit facility (b)(i) 

TGF debentures (b)(ii) 

TGF term/operating facilities (b)(iii) 

NHS financing (c) 

$90 million convertible debentures (d) 

$330 million convertible debentures (e) 

601,577 294.666 

Less: current portion (94,117) _ (6_2.829[ 

$ 507,460 $ 231,837 

Future annual minimum prindpal repayments are as follows: 

2012 2013 2014 2Q1S 2016 2017-2021 Total 

Credit Fadlity (a) $ - $ - $ 51,035 $ - $ - $ - $ 51,035 

TGF Credit fadlity (b)(i) 36,680 _ _ - . . _ 36,680 

TGF Debentures (b)(ii) 37,001 _ . , - _ _ 37,001 

NHS HTC finandng (c) 20,436 22,132 23,967 23,442 6.242 9.497 105,716 

$90 miilion Convertible debentures (d) - - - 90,000 - - 90,000 

$330 miilion Convertible debentures (e) _ - , _ - _ 330,000 330,000 

$ 51,035 3 
36,660 
37,001 

-
105,716 
84,706 

286,439 

i 57,500 
41.313 
37.001 
10.000 
65.435 
83.417 

-

$ 94,117 $ 22,132 $ 75,002 $ 113,442 $ 6.242 $ 339.497 $ 650,432 

The following table details the interest expense. Interest is expensed at the effective interest rate. 

Credit facility (a) 

TGF Credit fadlity (b)(i) 

TGF Debentures (b){ii) 

TGF wheat produrtion financing 

TGF Operating facilities (b)(iii) 

NHS financing (c) 

$90 million Convertible debentures (d) 

$330 million Convertible debentures (e) 

2011 2010 

$ 7,848 $ 

2,013 

4,269 

-
515 

6,464 

6,690 

22,638 

5,258 

1,365 

3,049 

10 

683 

817 

4,952 

-
$ 50,437 S 16,134 

(a) As at March 31 . 2011, Just Energy holds a $350 million credit facility to meet working capital requirements. The syndicate of 

lenders indudes Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce, Royal Bank of Canada, National Bank of Canada, Sod^t^ G^n^rale, 

Bank of Nova Scotia, The Toronto-Dominion Bank and Alberta Treasury Branches, The repayment of the facility is due on 

December 31 , 2013, 

Interest is payable on outstanding loans at rates that vary with Bankers' Acceptances. UBOR, Canadian bank prime rate or 

U.S. prime rate. Under the terms of the operating credit fadlity Just Energy is able to make use of Bankers' Acceptances and 

LIBOR advances at stamping fees that vary between 3,25% and 3,75%, Prime rate advances are at rates of interest that vary 

between bank prime plus 2.25% and 2.75% and lettersof credit are at ratesthat vary between 3,25% and 3,75%. Interest 

rates are adjusted quarteriy based on certain financial performance indicators. 

As at March 31 , 2011, the Canadian prime rate was 3,0% and the U,S, prime rate was 3,25%, As at March 31,2011, 

Just Energy had drawn $51,035 (March 3 1 , 2 0 1 0 - $57,500) against the facility and total letters of credit outstanding 

amounted to $78,209 (March 3 1 , 2010-$49,444), As at March 31 , 2011, Just Energy has $218,791 of the fadlity remaining 

for future working capital and security requirements. Just Energy's obligations under the credit fadlity are supported by 

guarantees of certain subsidiaries and affiliates and secured by a pledge of the assets and securities of Just Energy and the 

majority of its operating subsidiaries and affiliates. Just Energy is required to meet a number of financial covenants under the 

credit facility agreement. As at March 31 . 2011 and 2010, all of these covenants have been met. 
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(b) In connection with the acquisition of UEG on July 1, 2009, Just Energy acquired the debt obligations of TGF, which currentiy 

comprise the following separate facilities; 

(i) TGF credit facility 

A credit facility of up to $50,000 was established with a syndicate of Canadian lenders led by Conexus Credit Union and was 

arranged to finance the construrtion of the ethanol plant in 2007, The fadlity was revised on March 18, 2009, and was 

con'/erted to a fixed repayment term of ten years, commencing March 1,2009, which includes interest costs at a rate of prime 

plus 3% with prindpal repayments scheduled to commence on March 1,2010, The credit fadlity is secured by a demand 

debenture agreement, a first priority security interest on all assets and undertakings of TGF, and a general security interest on all 

other current and acquired assets of TGF As a result, the fadlity is fully dassified as a current obligation. The fadlity was further 

revised on April 5, 2010, to postpone the prindpal payments due for April 1 to June 1,2010, and to amortize them over the six-

month period commenang October 1, 2010, and ending March 1, 2011, The credit facility indudes certain finandal covenants, 

the most significant of which relate to current ratio, debt to equity ratio, debt sen/ice coverage and minimum shareholders' 

capital. The lenders deferred compliance with the finandal covenants until April 1, 2011, TGF is currently in discussions with the 

lendersoverfuturecovenants, Asat March 31 , 2011, the amount owing underthisfadlity amounted to $36,680, 

(ii) TGF debentures 

A debenture purchase agreement with a number of private parties providing for the issuance of up to $40,000 aggregate 

principal amount of debentures was entered into in 2006, The interest rate is 10,5% per annum, compounded annually 

Quarterly principal payments commenced Ortober 1. 2009, in the amount of $1,000 per quarter. On April 5, 2010, 

TGF entered into an agreement with the holders of the debenture to defer scheduled principal payments owing under the 

debenture until April 1, 2011, The agreement indudes certain financial covenants, the more significant of which relate to 

current ratio, debt to capitalization ratio, debt service coverage, debt to EBITDA, and minimum shareholders' capital. The 

lender deferred compliance with the financial covenants until April 1, 2011. The current debenture agreement matures in 

thesecondquarter of fiscal 2012, TGF is in negotiations with the lender to renew the financial covenants and to extend 

the maturity date, Asat March 31 , 2011, the amount owing underthisdebentureagreement amounted to $37,001. 

(iii) TGF term/operating facilities 

TGF's term loan for $10,000 with a third party lender bearing interest at prime plus 1 % was due in full on December 31, 

2010, This facility was secured by liquid investments on deposit with the lender Asof December 3 1 , 2010, the amount 

owing under the fadlity for $10,000 was repaid in full, 

(iv) TGF has a working capital operating line of $7,000 bearing interest at a rate of prime plus 2%. In addition, total lettersof 

credit issued amounted to $250, 

(c) In fiscal 2010. NHS entered into a long-term finandng agreement forthe funding of new and existing rental water heater and 

HVAC contrarts in the Enbridge gas distribution territory On July 16, 2010, NHS expanded this facility to cover the Union Gas 

territory Pursuant to the agreement, NHS receives financing of an amount equal to the present value of the first five, seven or 

ten years of monthly rental income, discounted at the agreed upon financing rate of 7.99% and, as settlement, it is required 

to remit an amount equivalent to the rental stream from customers on the water heater and HVAC contracts for the first five, 

seven or ten years. As security for performance of the obligation, NHS has pledged the water heaters, HVAC equipment and 

rental contracts, subject to the financed rental agreement, as collateral. 

The financing agreement is subject to a holdback provision, whereby 3% in the Enbridge territory and 5% in the Union Gas 

territory of the outstanding balance of the funded amount is dedurted and deposited into a reserve account in the event of 

default. Once all obligations of NHS are satisfied or expired, the remaining funds in the reserve account will immediately be 

released to NHS. 

NHS has $105,716 owing under this agreement, including $3,978 relating to the holdback provision, included in long-term 

receivable, as at March 31 , 2011, NHS is required to meet a number of covenants underthe agreement. As at March 31 , 

2011, all of these covenants have been met. 

(d) In conjunrtion with the acquisition of Universal on July 1, 2009, the Company also acquired the obligations of the convertible 

unsecured subordinated debentures (the "$90 million convertible debentures") issued by Universal in October 2007, The fair 

value of the convertible debenture was estimated by discounting the remaining contractual payments at the time of 

acquisition. This discount will be accreted using an effertive interest rate of 8%, These instruments have a face value of 

$90,000 and mature on September 30, 2014, unless converted prior to that date, and bear interest at an annual rate of 6% 

payable semi-annually on March 31 and September 30 of each year Each $1,000 principal amount of the $90 million 

convertible debentures is convertible at any time prior to maturity or on the date fixed for redemption, at the option of the 
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holder, into approximately 30,87 shares, representing a conversion price of $32.40 per common share as at March 31 , 2011. 

Pursuant to the $90 million convertible debentures, if the Company fixes a record date for the payment of a dividend, the 

conversion price shall be adjusted in accordance therewith. During the year, interest expense amounted to $6,454, 

On and after Ortober 1, 2010. but priorto September 30. 2012, the $90 million convertible debentures are redeemable, in 

whole or in part, at a price equal to the principal amount thereof, plus accrued and unpaid interest, at Just Energy's sole 

option on not more than 60 days' and not less than 30 days' prior notice, provided that the current market price on the date 

on which notice of redemption is given is not less than 125% of the conversion price. On and after September 30. 2012, but 

prior to the maturity date, the $90 million convertible debentures are redeemable, in whole or in part, at a price equal to the 

principal amount thereof, plus accrued and unpaid interest, at Just Energy's sole option on not more than 60 days' and not 

less than 30 days' prior notice. On January 1, 2011 as part of the Conversion, JEGI assumed all of the obligations under the 

$90 million convertible debentures, 

(e) In order to fund the acquisition of Hudson, on May 5, 2010, Just Energy entered into an agreement with a syndicate of 

underwriters for $330 million of convertible extendible unsecured subordinated debentures (the "$330 million convertible 

debentures"). The $330 miilion convertible debentures bear interest at a rate of 6,0% per annum payable semi-annually 

in arrears on June 30 and December 31, with a maturity date of June 30, 2017, Each $1,000 principal amount of the 

$330 million convertible debentures is convertible at any time prior to maturity or on the date fixed for redemption, at the 

option of the holder, into approximately 55,6 shares of the Company, representing a conversion price of $18 per share. 

During the year, interest expense amounted to $22,638, 

The $330 million convertible debentures are not redeemable prior to June 30, 2013, except under certain conditions after a 

change of control has occurred. On or after June 30, 2013, but prior to June 30, 2015, the $330 million convertible 

debentures may be redeemed by the Company, in whole or in part, on not more than 60 days' and not less than 30 days' prior 

notice, at a redemption price equal to the principal amount thereof, plus accrued and unpaid interest, provided that the 

current market price (as defined herein) on the date on which notice of redemption is given is not less than 125% of the 

conversion price. On and after June 30, 2015, and prior to maturity, the $330 million convertible debentures may be 

redeemed by Just Energy in whole or in part, at a redemption price equal to the prindpal amount thereof, plus accrued and 

unpaid interest. 

The Company may, at its own option, on not more than 60 days' and not less than 40 days' prior notice, subject to applicable 

regulatory approval and provided that no event of default has occurred and is continuing, elect to satisfy its obligation to repay 

all or any portion of the principal amount of the $330 million convertible debentures that are to be redeemed or that are to 

mature, by issuing and delivering to the holders thereof that number of freely tradable units determined by dividing the 

pnncipal amount of the $330 million convertible debentures being repaid by 95% of the current market price on the date of 

redemption or maturity, as applicable. 

The conversion feature of the $330 million convertible debentures has been accounted for as a separate component of 

Shareholders' deficiency in the amount of $33,914. The remainder of the net proceeds of the $330 million convertible 

debentures has been recorded as long-term debt, which will be accreted up to the face value of $330,000 over the term of 

the $330 million convertible debentures using an effective interest rate of 8,8%, If the $330 million convertible debentures are 

converted into common shares, the value of the conversion will he reclassified to share capital along with the principal amount 

converted. On January 1, 2011, as part of the Conversion, JEGI assumed all of the obligations underthe $330 million 

convertible debentures, 

NOTE 10 INCOME TAXES 

Just Energy was a mutual fund trust for income tax purposes up to December 31 , 2010, Until the Conversion, Just Energy was 

only subject to current income taxes on any taxable income not distributed to unitholders. Subsequent to the Conversion, JEGI is 

subjert to current income taxes on all of its taxable income. The Fund distributed all of its taxable income earned prior to the 

Conversion, Accordingly. Just Energy did not provide for future income taxes on its temporary differences and those of its flow-

through subsidiary trust and partnerships expected to reverse prior to 2011 as it was considered tax exempt for accounting 

purposes, 

JEGI has recognized future income taxes for the temporary differences between the carrying amount and tax values of assets and 

liabilities in respect of the proportion of its income taxed directiy to the unitholders that are experted to reverse in or after 2011, 

A valuation allowance that was provided against future tax assets of certain subsidiaries in the past year has been eliminated in 

full this year, as JEGI determines that it is more likely than not that all of those future tax assets will be realized in the future years. 
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Canadian-based corporate subsidiaries are subject to tax on their taxable income at a rate of 30% (2010-33%) , U,S,-based 

corporatesubsidiariesaresubjertto tax on their taxable income at a rate of 4 0 % (2010-40%) , 

The following table reconciles the difference between the income taxes that would result solely by applying statutory tax rates to 

the pre-tax income for Just Energy and the income tax pn^vision in the consolidated financial statements. 

2011 2010 

Income before Income taxes $ 545,502 

163,651 

(15,456) 

(119,556) 

1,910 

1,593 

$ 127,588 

42,104 

(42,045) 

(100,459) 

-
140 

Income tax expense at the combined basic rate of 30% (2010-33%) 

Taxes on income attributable to shareholders 

Benefit of mark to market and other tax losses not previously recognized 

Variance between combined basic rate and rate applicable to U,S, subsidiaries 

Non-dedurtible expenses 

Provision for (recovery of) income taxes $ 32,142 $ (100,260) 

Components of Just Energy's income tax provision (recovery) are as follows: 

Income tax provision 

Amount credited to Shareholders' capital 

Current income tax provision 

Future tax provision (recovery) 

Provision for (recovery of) income taxes 

$ 

2011 

8,182 

1,305 

9,487 

22,655 

2010 

$ 19.253 

2.501 

21.754 

(122.014) 

$ 32,142 $ (100.260) 

Components of Just Energy's net future income tax asset are as follows: 

Partnership income deferred for tax purposes and book carrying amount of 

investments in partnerships in excess of tax cost 

Excess of book basis over tax basis on customer contracts 

Excess of tax basis over book basis 

Mark to market losses on derivative instruments 

Less: valuation allowance 

Future income tax assets (net) 

2011 

106,401 

2010 

(14,046) ! 

(49.141) 

36,700 

132,888 

i (483) 

(84.840) 

28.339 

245.237 

188.253 

80,693 

$ 106,401 $ 107.560 

NOTE 11 ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

2011 

Balance, beginning of year 

Unrealized foreign currency translation adjustment 

Amortization of deferred unrealized gain on discontinued hedges 

after July 1,2008, net of income taxes of $21,384 

Foreign currency 
translation 
adjustment 

$ 28,584 

334 

$ 28,918 

Foreign currency 
translation 
adjustment 

$ 1,958 

26,626 

$ 

$ 

$ 

Cash flow 
hedges 

193,385 

(98,499) 

94,886 

Cash flow 
hedges 

362,608 

(169,223) 

$ 

$ 

$ 

Total 

221,969 

334 

(98,499) 

123,804 

Total 

364,566 

26,626 

(169,223) 

2010 

Balance, beginning of year 

Unrealized foreign currency translation adjustment 

Amortization of deferred unrealized gain on discontinued hedges 

after July 1. 2008. net of income taxes of $34,339 

$ 28,584 $ 193,385 $ 221,969 
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SHAREHOLDERS' CAPITAL 

C o m m o n shares o f t h e C o m p a n y 

Effective January 1.2011, the issued and outstanding units of the Fund, Class A preference shares of JEC and exchangeable 

shares of JEEC were exchanged on a one-for-one basis for common shares of JEGI, An unlimited number of common shares and 

50,000,000 preferred shares have been authorized to be issued. 

Details of issued unitholders' capital and share capital are as follows: 

2011 201Q 

Issued and outstanding 

Trust units 

Balance, beginning of year 

Unit based awards exercised/exchanged 

Distribution reinvestment plan 

Exchanged from Exchangeable Shares 

Units exchanged pursuant to Conversion 

Balance, end of year 

Class A preference shares 

Balance, beginning of year 

Class A preference shares exchanged pursuant to Conversion 

Balance, end of year 

Exchangeable Shares 

Balance, beginning of year 

Exchangeable Shares issued 

Exchanged into units 

Exchangeable Shares exchanged pursuant to Conversion 

Balance, end of year 

Unitholders' capital, end of year 

Share capital 

Shares issued pursuant to the Conversion; 

Trust units 

Class A preference shares 

Exchangeable Shares 

Balance on Conversion, January 1. 2011 

Dividend reinvestment plan (i) 

Share-based awards exercised 

Shares issued to minority shareholder in exchange 

for interest in TGF (ii) 

Share capital, end of year 

Units/Shares Amount Units/Shares 

124,325,307 

38,989 

1.324.834 

894,018 

(126,583.148) 

136,963,726 $ 697,052 

Amount 

$ 593,075 105.138,523 $ 385,294 

462 49,078 682 

17,935 1.554.074 20.036 

10,085 16.583.632 187,063 

(621,557) 

-

5,263,728 

(5,263,728) 

-

4,688,172 

(894,018) 

(3,794,154) 

-
-

126,583,148 3 

5,263,728 

3,794,154 

135,641,030 

546,382 

86,374 

689,940 

-

13,160 

(13,150) 

-

52,883 

(10,085) 

(42,798) 

-
-

i 621,557 

13,160 

42,798 

677,515 

8,112 

1.097 

10,328 

124,325,307 

5.263,728 

5.263,728 

21,271,804 

(16,583,632) 

4,688,172 

134.277.207 

-

593.075 

13,160 

13.160 

239.946 

(187.063) 

52.883 

$ 659.118 

-

-

(i) Dividend reinvestment plan 

Under Just Energy's dividend reinvestment plan ("DRIP"), shareholders holding a minimum of 100 shares can elect to receive 

their dividends in shares rather than cash at a 2% discount to the simple average closing price of the shares for five trading 

days preceding the applicable dividend payment date, providing the shares are issued from treasury and not purchased on the 

open market 

(ii) Shares issued 

During the year ended March 31 , 2011, Just Energy issued 689,940 shares to acquire the share interest held by the minority 

shareholder of TGF The shares were valued at $10,328, The difference between $18.616 representing the value of the 

minority interest of TGF at the time of issuance and the value of the shares has been recorded as a reduction to goodwill 

on the original acquisition of UEC, Just Energy issued 894,018 (2010 - 15,583,632) units relating to the exchange of 

Exchangeable Shares of JEEC, The Exchangeable Shares were issued pursuant to Just Energy's acquisition of UEG. 
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NOTE 13 SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION PLANS 

(a) S tock o p t i o n p l a n 

Just Energy grants awards under its 2010 share option plan (formerly the 2001 Unit Option Plan) to directors, officers, full time 

employees and sen/ice providers (non employees) of Just Energy and its subsidiaries and affiliates. In accordance with the share 

option plan. Just Energy may grant options to a maximum of 11,300,000 shares, Asat March 31 , 2011, there were 1,179,166 

options still available for grant underthe plan. Of the options issued, 135,000 options remain outstanding at year-end. The 

exercise price of the share options equals the closing market price of the Company's shares on the last business day preceding 

the grant date. The share options vest over periods ranging from three to five years from the grant date and expire after five or 

ten years from the grant date. No share options have been granted since June 2008. 

A summary of the changes in Just Energy's option plan during the year and status at March 31 , 2011, is outiined below. 

Outstanding 
options 

Range of 
exercise prices 

Balance, beginning of year 

Forfeited/cancelled 

Balance, end of year 

352.500 

217,500 

$15.09-$17,47 

$15.63 

135,000 $15,09-$17,47 $ 

Weighted 
average 

exercise price^ 

$ 15,92 

15.63 

16,38 

' The weighted average exercise 

2011 

Range of exercise prices 

$15.09-$17,47 

price is calculated by dividing the exercise price of options granted by the number of options granted. 

Options outstanding Options exercisable 

Number 
outstanding 

135,000 

Weighted 
average 

remaining 
contractual 

life 

0.59 

Options outstanding 

Number 
outstanding 

267,500 

85,000 

Weighted 
average 

remaining 
contractual 

life 

0.49 

1,20 

Weighted 
average 
exercise 

price 

$ 16.38 

Weighted 
average 
exercise 

price 

$ 15,53 

17.13 

Number 
exercisable 

98,000 

Opt 

Number 
exercisable 

200,000 

51,000 

$ 

ion; 

$ 

Weighted 
average 
exercise 

price 

16.51 

; exercisable 

Weighted 
average 
exercise 

pnce 

15,63 

17,13 

2010 

Range of exercise prices 

$15,09-$15,63 

$16.65-$17.47 

Balance, end of year 352.500 0,55 $ 15,92 251,000 $ 15,94 

Options available for grant 

Balance, beginning of year 

Add: Cancelled/forfeited during the year 

Balance, end of year 

2011 2010 

961,666 

217,500 

758,666 

203,000 

1,179,166 961,666 

(b) Rest r ic ted share g r a n t s 

Just Energy grants awards under the 2010 Restricted Share Grants Plan (formerly the 2004 unit appreciation rights) to senior 

officers, employees and service providers of its subsidiaries and affiliates in the form of fully paid RSGs. On June 29, 2010. the 

unitholdersof Just Energy approved a 2,000,000 increase in the numberof RSGs available for grant. Asat March 31. 2011, there 

were 1,969,883 (2010-74,472) RSGs still available for grant underthe plan. Of the RSGs issued, 2,711,494 remain outstanding 

at March 31 , 2011 (2010-2,640,723), Except as othenn/ise provided, (i)the RSGs vest from one to five years from the grant date 

providing, in most cases, on the applicable vesting date the RSG grantee continues as a senior officer, employee or sen/ice 

provider of Just Energy or any affiliate thereof; (ii) the RSGs expire no later than ten years from the grant date; (iii) a holder of 

RSGs is entitled to payments at the same rate as dividends paid to JEGI shareholders; and (iv) when vested, the holder of an RSG 

may exchange one l̂ SG for one common share. On January 1, 2011 as part of the Conversion, all unit appreciation rights 

outstanding on that date were replaced by RSGs, 
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74,472 

(234,620) 

2,000,000 

4,663 

125,363 

374,568 

(1,307,192) 

1,000,000 

6,995 

-

NOTES 10 I HE CONSOUDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

RSGs available for grant _20ij 2Qio 

Balance, beginning of year 

Less: Granted during the year 

Add: Increase in RSGs available for grant 

Add: Cancelled/forfeited during the year 

Add: Exercised during the year 

Balance, end of year 1.969.883 74,472 

(c) D e f e r r e d share g r a n t s 

Just Energy grants awards under its 2010 Directors' Compensation Plan (formerly the 2004 Directors' deferred compensation plan) 

to all independent dirertors on the basis each director is required to receive annually $ 15 of his compensation entitiement in 

deferred share grants ("DSGs") and may elert to receive all or any portion of the balance of his annual compensation in DSGs 

and/or common shares. The holders of DSGs and/or common shares are also granted additional DSGs/common shares on a 

monthly basis equal to the monthly dividends paid to the shareholders of Just Energy, The DSGs vest on the earlier of the date of 

the Dirertor's resignation or three years following the date of grant and expire ten years following the date of grant. As at 

March 31 , 20) i , there were 84,US (2010 - 108,248) DSGs available for grant under the plan. Of the DSGs issued, 109,655 DSGs 

remain outstanding at March 31 , 2011. In accordance with the Conversion, all outstanding Dirertors' deferred unit grants were 

replaced with DSGs, 

DSGs available for grant 2011 2^10 

Balance, beginning of year 108,248 31,568 

Add: Increase in DSGs available for grant - 100,000 

Less: Granted during the year (24,130) (23,320) 

Balance, end of year 84,118 108,248 

(d) Contributed surplus 
Amounts credited to contributed surplus include share based compensation awards, restricted share grants and deferred share 

grants. Amounts charged to contributed surplus are awards exercised during the year 

Contributed surplus 2011 2010 

Balance, beginning of year 

Add; Share-based compensation awards 

Non-cash deferred share grant distributions 

Less: Share-based awards exercised 

Balance, end of year $ 22,903 % 18,832 

Total amounts credited to shareholders' capital in respert of share options, restrirted share grants and deferred share grants 

exercised or eitchanged during the year ended March 31 , 2011. amounted to $1,559(2010 - $682), 

NOTE 14 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

(a) Fair v a l u e 

Just Energy has a variety of gas and electricity supply contrarts that are captured under CICA Handbook Section 3855, Financial 

Instruments - Measurement and Recognition, Fair value is the estimated amount that Just Energy would pay or receive to dispose 

of these supply contrarts in an arm's length transartion between knowledgeable, willing parties who are under no compulsion to 

act. Management has estimated the value of electricity, unforced capacity, heat rates, heat rate options, and renewable and gas 

swap and fon^^ard contrarts using a discounted cash flow method which employs market forward curves that are either dirertly 

sourced fnDm third parties or are developed internally based on third party market data. These curves can be volatile thus leading 

to volatility in the mark to market with no impact to cash flows. Gas options have been valued using the Black option value model 

using the applicable market fonward curves and the implied volatility from other market traded gas options. 

Effective July 1, 2008, Just Energy ceased the utilization of hedge accounting. Accordingly, all the mark to market changes on 

Just Energy's derivative instruments are recorded on a single line on the consolidated statements of operations. Due to the 

commodity volatility and size of Just Energy, the quarterly swings in mark to market on these positions will increase the volatility 

in Just Energy's earnings. 
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The following tables illustrate (gains)/losses related to Just Energy's derivative financial instruments classified as held-for-trading 

recorded against other assets and other liabilities with their offsetting values recorded in change in fair value derivative 

instruments for the year ended March 31 , 2011; 

Change In fair value of derivative instruments 

Canada 

Fixed-for-floating electricity swaps (i) 

Renewable energy certificates (ii) 

Verified emission-redurtion credits (iii) 

Options (iv) 

Physical gas forward contrarts (v) 

Transportation forward contrarts (vi) 

Fixed financial swaps (vii) 

United States 

Fixed-for-floating electricity swaps (viii) 

Physical elertricity fonwards (ix) 

Unforced capacity forward contracts (x) 

Unforced capacity physical contracts (xi) 

Renewable energy certificates (xii) 

Verified emission-reduction credits (xiii) 

Options (xiv) 

Physical gas forward contrarts (xv) 

Transportation forward contracts (xvi) 

Heat rate swaps (xvii) 

Fixed financial swaps (xviii) 

Foreign exchange forward contrarts (xix) 

Ethanol physical fonArard contrarts (xx) 

Amortization of deferred unrealized gains on discontinued hedges 

Amortization of derivative financial instruments related 

to acquisitions 

Change in fair value of derivative instruments 

forthe 
year ended 

March 31. 
2011 

$ (232,806) 

987 

952 

(333) 

(138,623) 

(11,365) 

1,217 

(45,009) 

(45,472) 

416 

1,955 

1,077 

140 

(1,150) 

(118,077) 

(568) 

1,789 

47,792 

(1,116) 

(135) 

(119,883) 

149,821 

$ (509,401) 

For the 
year ended 

March 31, 
2011(USD) 

$ n/a 

n/a 

n/a 

n/a 

n/a 

n/a 

n/a 

(44,913) 

(46,421) 

3SB 

1,908 

1,032 

135 

(1,142) 

(116,831) 

(578) 

1,592 

45,967 

n/a 

-
n/a 

n/a 

For the 
year ended 
March 31, 

2010 

$ 5,041 

(480) 

(9) 

(1,593) 

70,568 

21,353 

-

11,295 

2,332 

(423) 

563 

1,856 

644 

1,082 

(30,742) 

1,303 

(4,264) 

34,201 

3,322 

-
(203,562) 

88,795 

$ 1,282 

For the 
year ended 
March 31, 

2010(USD) 

$ n/a 

n/a 

n/a 

n/a 

n/a 

n/a 

n/a 

11,761 

4,737 

(274) 

544 

1,744 

604 

879 

(25,350) 

1,287 

(3,965) 

33,370 

n/a 

' 
n/a 

n/a 
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The following table summarizes certain aspects of the financial assets and liabilities recorded in the financial statements as at 

March 31 . 2011: 

Canada 

Fixed-for-floating electricity swaps (1) 

Renewable energy certificates (ii) 

Verified emission-redurtion credits (iii) 

Options (iv) 

Physical gas forward contrarts (v) 

Transportation forward contrarts (vi) 

Fixed financial swaps (vii) 

United States 

Fixed-for-fioating electricity swaps (viii) 

Physical electricity fonwards (ix) 

Unforced capacity forward contracts (x) 

Unforced capacity physical contrarts (xi) 

Renewable energy certificates (xii) 

Verified emission-reduction credits (xiii) 

Options (xiv) 

Physical gas forward contracts (xv) 

Transportation forward contrarts (xvi) 

Heat rate swaps (xvii) 

Fixed financial swaps (xviii) 

Foreign exchange forward contracts (xix) 

Ethanol physical forward contrarts (xx) 

As at March 31,2011 S 3,846 $ 5,384 $ 485,406 $ 355,412 

Other 
assets 

(current) 

s 
194 

-
815 

-
-
-

125 

-
309 

100 

44 

13 

1 

40 

-
639 

40 

1,391 

135 

Other 
assets 

(long-term) 

$ - : 
196 

-
692 

-
24 

1,037 

45 

310 

177 

410 

49 

36 

-
-
-

2,408 

-
-
-

Other 
liabilities 
(current) 

I 131,279 

158 

315 

4,403 

166,634 

5,301 

2,235 

29,028 

55,548 

581 

1,606 

1,037 

275 

1,056 

32,883 

1,526 

180 

51,361 

-
-

Other 
iiabilities 

(long-term) 

$ 93,397 

417 

628 

-
134,847 

2,858 

19 

25,719 

37,535 

118 

1,280 

1,610 

491 

165 

19,354 

1,281 

131 

35,562 

-
-

$ 

Other 
assets 

(current) 

350 

2 

757 

-
-

Other 
assets 

(long-term) 

$ - : 
621 

7 

416 

-
-

Other 
liabilities 
(current) 

$ 244,563 

30 

-
-

237,145 

11,060 

Other 
liabilities 

(long-term) 

$ 212,920 

139 

-
-

203,088 

8,439 

The following table summarizes certain aspects of the financial assets and liabilities recorded in the financial statements as at 

March 31. 2010; 

Canada 

Fixed-for-floating elertricity swaps (i) 

Renewable energy certificates (ii) 

Verified emission-reduction credits (iii) 

Options (Iv) 

Physical gas forward contracts (v) 

Transportation forward contracts (vi) 

Fixed financial swaps (vii) 

United States 

Fixed-for-floating electricity swaps (viii) 

Physical electricity forivards (ix) 

Unforced capacity forward contrarts (x) 

Unforced capacity physical contrarts (xi) 

Renewable energy certificates (xii) 

Verified emission-reduction credits (xiii) 

Options (xiv) 

Physical gas fonA/ard contrarts (xv) 

Transportation forward contrarts (xvi) 

Heat rate swaps (xvii) 

Fixed financial swaps (xviii) 

Foreign exchange fonward contracts (xix) 

Ethanol physical fon^ard contracts (xx) 

Asa t March 31,2010 

-
-

523 

33 

107 

-
-
-
-

-
-

102 

146 

130 

-
-
-
-

31,291 

38,015 

445 

731 

918 

167 

912 

96,938 

1,265 

30,464 

39,035 

9 

-
945 

447 

915 

75,142 

2,262 

654 

277 

3.605 

21,720 16,767 

$ 2,703 $ 5,027 $ 685,200 $ 590,572 

so JUSTENERGY « ANNUAL REPORT 2011 



NOTES TO THE CONSOUDATED EINANCIAL STAIEMENIS 

The following table summarizes financial instruments classified as held for trading as at March 31. 2011 to which Just Energy 

has committed: 

Contract type 

Notional 
volume 

Total 
remaining 

volume Maturity date 

Fair value 
favourable/ Notional 

Fixed price (urfavouiable) value 

Canada 

0) 

(ii) 

OiJ) 

(tv) 

(V) 

(vii 

(vii) 

Fixed-for-floating 

electricity swaps* 

Renewable energy 

certificates 

Verified emission-

reduction credits 

Options 

Physical gas 

forward contracts 

Transportation 

fon/vard contracts 

Fixed finandal swaps 

United States 
(viii) 

(ix) 

(K! 

(xi) 

(xii) 

(xiii) 

i»y) 

(«-) 

(«il 

(Kvii) 

(xviii 

(xj>d 

(«x) 

Fixed-for-floating 

electricity swaps' 

Physical electridty 

forwards 

Unforced capacity 

forward contracts 

Unforced capadty 

physical contracts 

Renewable energy 

certificates 

Verified emission-

reduction credits 

Options 

Physical gas 

forward contracts 

Transportation 

forward contracts 

Heat rate swaps 

) Fixed tinancial swaps 

Foreign exchange 

forward contracts 

Ethanol physical 

fonward contracts 

0,0001-85 

MV^'h 

10-90,000 

MWh 

6,000-55.000 

tonnes 

46-40,500 

GJ/month 

1-28.558 

GJ/day 

74-20,000 

C3J/day 

14.500-139,500 

GJ/month 

0,10-57 

MWh 

1-55 

MWh 

5-36 

MWCap 

1-50 

MWCap 

5,000-160,000 

MWh 

10.000-50.000 

tonnes 

5-90,000 

mmBTU/month 

1-7.700 

mmBTU/day 

3-15.500 

mmBTU/day 

1-30 

MWh 

930-380,000 

mmBTU/month 

(S569-S4.460) 

(USi 587-14.000) 

396,258 

gallons 

9.688,499 

MWh 

1.106,558 

MWh 

527,000 

tonnes 

3,098.430 

GJ 

105,394.304 

GJ 

43,307,681 

GJ 

9.684,500 

GJ 

7.522,842 

MVMi 

9.253.968 

MWh 

571 
MWCap 

2.369 

MWCap 

2.220.400 

MWh 

585.000 

tonnes 

3,287,880 

mmBTU 

15,890,058 

mmBTU 

39.949.590 

mmBTU 

3,924.952 

MWh 

62,881,529 

mmBTU 

n/a 

7,132,645 

gsllons 

April 30, 2011 -

October 11,2018 

December 31, 2011 -

December31,2015 

DecemberSI, 2011 -

December31,2014 

April 30, 2011 -

February 28, 2014 

April 30, 2011 -

March 3 1 , 2016 

April 30. 2011 -

May 3 1 , 2015 

April 30. 2011 -

July31,2016 

April 30. 2011 -

December 31,2015 

April 30, 2011 -

May 3 1 , 2016 

April 30, 2011 -

November 30. 2012 

April 30, 2011 -

May 3 1 , 2014 

December31, 2011 -

December31,2015 

December31, 2011 -

December 3 1 . 2016 

April 30, 2011 -

December31. 2014 

Apri l30, 2 0 1 1 -

Ju]y31,2014 

April3C, 2 0 1 1 -

August31, 2015 

Apr i l30, 2 0 1 1 -

Septembef 30, 2015 

Apr i l30, 2 0 1 1 -

May31,2017 

April 01 , 2 0 1 1 -

January 03, 2012 

April D l , 2011 ~ 

December 0 1 , 2011 

$28,75-S128.13 

$3,00-$26.00 

16,25-111,50 

$7.16-il2,39 

$3.39-110,00 

$0,01-$1,57 

$4.47-$8,79 

S23,56-$132.59 
(USJ24,30-J136.75) 

S14.54-J106.90 
(USS15,00-J110,25) 

$824-$7,757 
(US$85O-ie.OO0) 

$630-$8,484 
(US$65C^$8,7S0) 

J2,62-J24,00 
(USJ2,70-$24,75) 

$4,36-$8,48 
{US$4,50-$8,75) 

$7.51-113,38 
(US$7,75-$13,80) 

$3,98-$11,52 
{US$4,10-$11,88) 

I0,0048-$1,2100 
(USIO,005O-$1,25O0) 

$18,85-$75,02 
(US$19.44-577,37) 

$3,93-$9,11 
iUS34,05-i9,40) 

$0,9750-$!.0457 

$2,34-32,65 

(5224.677) 

($184) 

(5943) 

$1,507 

($301,481) 

($8,134) 

(51,217) 

($52,917) 
(US($54576)) 

($89,953) 
(US($92,773)) 

($207) 
{US(S213)) 

($2,305) 
(US$(2,377)) 

($2,476) 
(US($2,554)) 

($696) 
(US($7ia)) 

($617) 
(US($636)) 

($50,609) 
(US{$52,196)) 

(12.721) 
{US($2.806)) 

$2,653 
(US$2,736) 

($84,243) 
(US($86.884)) 

$1,391 

$136 

$623,260 

$7,149 

54,964 

$5,500 

$759,167 

$33,686 

$46,196 

$393,405 
(US$405,739) 

$480,536 
(US$495,602) 

$2,677 
(USS2.751) 

$11,037 
(US$n,383) 

$13,716 
(US$14,146) 

$4,097 
(US$4,225) 

$4,245 
{US$4,378) 

$136,499 
(US$140,779) 

{584,548) 
(US$87,199) 

$165,659 
(US$170,a53) 

$397,449 
(US$409,910) 

$28,413 
{US$27,733) 

$17,860 

The electricity fixed-for-floating contracts related to the Province of Alberta are predominantly load-following and some contracts in Ontario are also 
load-following, wherein the quantity of electridty contained in the supply contract "follows" the usage of customers designated by the supply 
contract. Notional volumes assodated with these contracts are estimates and subject to change with customer usage requirements. There are also 
load shaped fixed-for-floating contracts in these and the rest of Just Energy's electridty markets wherein the quantity of electridty is established but 
varies throughout the term of the contracts. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOUDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

The esfimated amortization of deferred gains and losses reported in AOCl that is expected to be amortized to net income within 

the next 12 months is a gain of 368,946, 

These derivative financial instruments create a credit risk for Just Energy since they have been transacted with a limited number of 

counterparties. Should any counterparty be unable to fulfill its obligations under the contracts. Just Energy may not be able to 

realize the other asset balance recognized in the consolidated financial statements. 

Fair value ("FV") hierarchy 

Level 1 

The fair value measurements are classified as Level 1 in the FV Hierarchy if the fair value is determined using quoted, unadjusted 

market prices. Just Energy values its cash, restricted cash, accounts receivable, bank indebtedness, accounts payable and accrued 

liabilities and long-term debt under Level 1, 

Level 2 

Fair value measurements which require inputs other than quoted prices in Level 1, either directly or indirectly, are classified as 

Level 2 in the FV hierarchy This could include the use of statistical techniques to derive the FV curve from observable market 

prices. However, in order to be classified under Level 2, inputs must be substantially observable in the market. Just Energy values 

its New York Mercantile Exchange ("NYMEX") financial gas fixed-for-floating swaps under Level 2, 

Level 3 

Fair value measurements which require unobsen/able market data or use statistical techniques to derive fowvard curves from 

observable market data and unobsen/able inputs are classified as Level 3 in the FV hierarchy. For the electricity supply contracts. 

Just Energy uses quoted market prices as per available market forward data and applies a price-shaping profile to calculate the 

monthly prices from annual strips and hourly prices from block strips for the purposes of mark to market calculations. The profile 

is based on historical settlements with counterparties or with the system operator and is considered an unobservable input for the 

purposes of establishing the level in the hierarchy. For the natural gas supply contracts. Just Energy uses three different market 

obsen/able cun/es: 1) Commodity (predominantly NYMEX), 2) Basis and 3) Foreign Exchange, NYMEX curves extend for over five 

years (thereby covering the length of Just Energy's contracts); however, most basis curves only extend 12-15 months into the 

future. In order to calculate basis curves for remaining years. Just Energy uses extrapolation which leads to natural gas supply 

contracts to be classified under Level 3, 

Fair value measurement input sensitivity 

The main cause of changes in the fair value of derivative instruments is changes in the forward curve prices used for the fair value 

calculations. Just Energy provides a sensitivity analysis of these forward curves under the commodity price risk section of this note. 

Other inputs, including volatility and correlafions, are driven off historical settlements. 

The following table illustrates the classification of financial assets/(llabilities) in the FV hierarchy as at March 31 , 2011: 

March 31, 2011 

leve\ 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

Financial assets 

Trading assets 

Loans and receivable 

Derivative financial assets 

Financial liabilities 

Derivative financial liabilities 

Other financial liabilities 

Total net derivative liabilities 

98,466 

286,254 

(886,696) 

1,077 8,153 

(89,177) (751,641) 

98,466 

286,254 

9,230 

(840,818) 

(886,696) 

$ (501,976) $ (88,100) $ (743,488) $(1,333,564) 

The following table illustrates the changes in net fair value of financial assets/(liabilities) classified as Level 3 in the FV hierarchy for 

the year ended March 31 , 2011: 

March 31, 2011 

Opening balance, Apri l 1, 2010 $(1,229,555) 

Total gainAlosses) - Net income 6,891 

Purchases (256,294) 

Sales 3,795 

Settlements 731,575 

Transfer out of Level 3 

Closing balance, March 31 , 2011 $ (743,488) 

JUSTENERGY » ANNUAL REPORT 2011 



NOTES TO THE CONSOUDATED FINANCIAL STATEWfcNIS 

Carrying 
amount 

$ 98,466 

281.635 

4,569 

9.230 

285.119 

601.577 

840.818 

For the years 

2011 

$ 50,437 

$ 

Fair value 

98,466 

281,685 

4,569 

9,230 

285.119 

663,407 

840.318 

ended March 31 

$ 

2010 

16,134 

{b) C lass i f i ca t ion o f f i n a n c i a l assets a n d l iab i l i t i es 

The following table represents the fair values and carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilifies measured at amortized cost. 

As at March 31, 2011 

Cash and restricted cash 

Accounts receivable 

Long-term receivable 

Other assets 

Bank indebtedness, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, and unit distributions payable 

Long-term debt 

Other liabilities 

Interest expense on financial iiabilities not held-for-trading 

The carrying value of cash, restricted cash, accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, and unit distnbutions 

payable approximates their fair value due to their short-term liquidity. 

The carrying value of long-term debt approximates its fair value as the interest payable on outstanding amounts is at rates that 

vary with Bankers' Acceptances, UBOR, Canadian bank prime rate or U.S, prime rate, with the exception of the $90 million and 

$330 million convertible debentures, which are fair valued, based on market value, 

(c) M a n a g e m e n t o f r isks a r i s i ng f r o m f i n a n c i a l i n s t r u m e n t s 

The risks associated with Just Energy's financial instruments are as follows: 

(i) Market risk 

Market risk is the potenfial loss that may be incurred as a result of changes in the market or fair value of a particular 

instrument or commodity Components of market risk to which Just Energy is exposed are discussed below. 

Foreign currency risk 

Foreign currency risk is created by fiuctuafions in the fair value or cash flows of financial instruments due to changes in foreign 

exchange rates and exposure as a result of investment in U,5, operations, 

A portion of Just Energy's income is generated in U,S, dollars and is subject to currency fluctuations. The performance of the 

Canadian dollar relafive to the U.S, dollar could posifively or negatively affect Just Energy's income. Due to its growing 

operations in the U.S, and its recent acquisition of Hudson, Just Energy expects to have a greater exposure to U,S. fluctuations 

in the future than in prior years. Just Energy has hedged between 25% and 90% of certain forecasted cross border cash fiows 

that are expected to occur within the next year The level of hedging is dependent on the source of the cash flow and the time 

remaining until the cash repatriation occurs. 

Just Energy may, from time to time, expenence lasses resulting from fluctuations in the values of its foreign currency 

transactions, which could adversely affect its operafing results. Translation risk is not hedged. 

With respect to translation exposure, asat March 31 . 2011, if the Canadian dollar had been 5% stronger or weaker against 

the U.S, dollar, assuming that all the other variables had remained constant, net income for the year ended would have been 

$4,823 higher/lower and other comprehensive income would have been $3,365 lower/higher 

Interest rate risk 

Just Energy is also exposed to interest rate fluctuations associated with its floating rate credit facility Just Energy's current 

exposure to interest rates does not economically warrant the use of derivafive instruments. Just Energy's exposure to interest 

rate risk is relatively immaterial and temporary in nature. Just Energy does not currently believe that this long-term debt 

exposes it to material financial risks but has set out parameters to actively manage this risk within its Risk Management Policy 

A 1 % increase (decrease) in interest rates would have resulted in a decrease (increase) in income before income taxes for the 

year ended March 31 , 2011, of approximately $1,023, 
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Commodity price risk 

Just Energy is exposed to market risks associated with commodity prices and market volatility where estimated customer 

requirements do not match actual customer requirements. Management actively monitors these posifions on a daily basis in 

accordance with its Risk Management Policy, This policy sets out a variety of limits, most importantly thresholds for open 

positions in the gas and electricity portfolios which also feed a Value at Risk limit; should any of the limits be exceeded, they 

are closed expeditiously or express approval to continue to hold is obtained. Just Energy's exposure to market risk is affected 

by a number of factors, including accuracy of estimation of customer commodity requirements, commodity prices, volafility 

and liquidity of markets. Just Energy enters into derivative instruments in order to manage exposures to changes in commodity 

prices. The derivative instruments that are used are designed to fix the price of supply for estimated customer commodity 

demand and thereby fix margins such that Shareholder dividends can be appropriately established, Derivafive instruments are 

generally transacted over-the-counter The inability or failure of Just Energy to manage and monitor the above market risks 

could have a material adverse effect on the operations and cash flow of Just Energy 

Commod/f>' price sensitivity - A l l derivative f inancial instruments 

Asat March 31 . 2011, if the energy prices, including natural gas, electricity, verified emission-reduction credits, and renewable 

energy certificates, had risen (fallen) by 10%, assuming that all the other variables had remained constant, Income before 

taxes for the quarter ended March 31 , 2011, would have increased (decreased) by 3193,338 ($192,492) primanly as a result of 

the change in the fair value of Just Energy's derivative instruments. 

Commodity price sensitivity - Level 3 derivative f inancial instruments 

/ILS at March 31 , 2011, if the energy prices, including natural gas, electricity, verified emission-reduction credits, and renewable 

energy certificates, had risen (fallen) by 10%, assuming that all the other variables had remained constant, income before 

taxes for the quarter ended March 31 , 2011, would have increased (decreased) by $169,292 ($168,613) primarily as a result of 

the change in the fair value of Just Energy's derivative instruments, 

{ii] Credit risk 

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument fails to discharge an obligation and causes financial loss to 

another party Just Energy is exposed to credit risk in two specific areas: customer credit risk and counterparty credit risk, 

CustojTjer credit risk 

In Alberta, Texas, Illinois, Pennsylvania, California. Maryland, New York and New Jersey, Just Energy has customer credit risk 

and therefore, credit review processes have been implemented to perform credit evaluations of customers and manage 

customer default. If a significant number of customers were to default on their payments, it could have a material adverse 

effect on the operations and cash flows of Just Energy Management factors default from credit risk in its margin expectations 

for all the above markets. 

As at March 31 , the aging of the accounts receivable from the above markets was as follows; 

2011 2010 

Current 

1-30 days 

31-60 days 

61-90 days 

Over 91 days 

$ 98,290 3 68,743 

For the year ended March 31, 2011, changes in the allowance for doubtful accounts were as follows: 

Balance, beginning of year $ 23.110 

Provision for doubtful accounts 27.627 

Bad debts written off (23.801) 

Others (1,821) 

Balance, end of year $ 25,115 

For the remaining markets, the LDCs provide collection sen/ices and assume the risk of any bad debts owing from Just Energy's 

customers for a fee. Management believes that the risk of the LDCs failing to deliver payment to Just Energy is minimal. There 

is no assurance that the LDCs that provide these services will confinue to do so in the future. 
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10,322 

$ 44,531 

13,873 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOUDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

Counterparty credit risk 

Counterparty credit risk represents the loss that Just Energy would incur if a counterparty fails to perform under its contractual 

obligations. This risk would manifest itself in Just Energy, replacing contracted supply at prevailing market rates, thus impacting 

the related customer margin. Counterparty limits are established within the Risk Management Policy Any exceptions to these 

limits require approval from the Board of Directors of JEGI, The Risk Department and Risk Committee monitor current and 

potenfial credit exposure to individual counterparties and also monitor overall aggregate counterparty exposure. However, the 

failure of a counterparty to meet its contractual obligafions could have a material adverse effect on the operations and cash 

flows of Just Energy 

/Vs at March 31 . 2011, the maximum counterparty credit risk exposure amounted to $107,520, representing the risk relating 

to its derivative financial assets and accounts receivable, 

(til) Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the potential inability to meet financial obligations as they fall due. Just Energy manages this risk by monitoring 

detailed weekly cash flow forecasts covering a rolling six-week period, monthly cash forecasts for the next 12 months, and 

quarterly forecasts for the following two-year period to ensure adequate and efficient use of cash resources and credit facilities. 

The following are the contractual maturifies, excluding interest payments, reflecting undiscounted disbursements of Just 

Energy's financial liabilities as at March 3 1 , 2011. 

Accounts payable and 

accrued liabilities 

Bank indebtedness 

Long-term debt* 

Derivative instruments 

Carrying 
amount 

$ 282,805 

2,314 

601,577 

840,818 

$1,727,514 

Contractual 
cash flows 

$ 282,805 

2,314 

652,397 

3,173,789 

$4,111,305 

Less than 
1 year 

$ 282,805 

2,314 

94,117 

1,498,293 

$ 1.877,529 

1 to 3 years 

$ 
-

99,099 

1.405,699 

$ 1,504,798 

4 to b years 

$ 
-

119.684 

267,505 

$ 387,189 

More than 
5 years 

$ 
-

339,497 

2,292 

$ 341,789 

• Included in long-term debt is $330,000 and $90,000 relating to convertible debentures, which may be settled through the issuance of shares at 
the option of the holder 

In addifion to the amounts noted above, at March 31 , 2011, net interest payments over the life of the long-term debt and 

bank credit facility are as fallows: 

Less than 
1 year 1 to 3 years 4 to 5 years 

More than 
5 years 

Interest payments $ 45,430 $ 61,282 $ 45,470 $ 21.427 

(iv) Supplier risk 

Just Energy purchases the majority of the gas and electricity delivered to its customers through long-term contracts entered 

into with various suppliers. Just Energy has an exposure to supplier risk as the ability to confinue to deliver gas and electricity 

to its customers is reliant upon the ongoing operations of these suppliers and their ability to fulfill their contractual obligations. 

Just Energy has discounted the fair value of its financial assets by $1,207 to accommodate for its counterparties' risk of default. 

NOTE 15 CAPITAL DISCLOSURE 

Just Energy defines capital as Shareholders' equity (excluding accumulated other comprehensive income) and long-term debt. 

Just Energy's objectives when managing capital are to maintain flexibility between: 

(a) enabling it to operate efficiently; 

(b) providing liquidity and access to capital for growth opportunities; and 

(c) providing returns and generating predictable cash flow for dividend payments to shareholders 

Just Energy manages the capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions and the risk 

characteristics of the underlying assets. The Board of Directors does not establish quantitative return on capital criteria for 

management; but rather promotes year over year sustainable, profitable growth. Just Energy's capital management objectives 

have remained unchanged from the prior year. Just Energy is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements other 

than financial covenants in its credit facilities and as at March 31 , 2011 and 2010, all of these covenants have been met. 
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NOTE 16 INCOME PER SHARE 

Basic Income per share 

Net income available to shareholders 

Weighted average number of shares outstanding 

Weighted average number of Class A preference shares 

Weighted average numberof Exchangeable Shares 

Basic units and shares outstanding 

Basic income per share/unit 

2011 2010 

515,347 $ 231,496 

128,171,630 117,674,180 

4,009,086 5,263,728 

3,098,124 5,027,626 

135,278,840 127,965,534 

3.81 $ 1.81 

Diluted income per share' 

Net income available to Shareholders 

Basic units and shares outstanding 

Dilutive effect of; 

Restricted share grants 

Deferred share grants 

Shares outstanding on a diluted basis 

Diluted income per share/unit 

515,347 $ 231,496 

135,278,840 

2,737,214 

93,231 

138,109,285 

127,965,534 

1,392,423 

71,137 

129,429,094 

3,73 $ 1.79 

' The $90 million and 1330 million convertible debentures and stock option rights are anti-dilutive for fiscal 2011 and 2010. 

NOTE 17 REPORTABLE BUSINESS SEGMENTS 

Just Energy operates in two reportable geographic segments, Canada and the United States, Reporting by geographic region is in 

line with Just Energy's performance measurement parameters. The gas and electricity business segments have operations in both 

Canada and the United States, 

Just Energy evaluates segment performance based on geographic segments and operating segments. 

The following tables present Just Energy's results by geographic segments and operating segments. 

Gas and electricity marketing Ethanol Home services 

2011 

Sales gas 

Sales electricity 

Ethanol 

Home services 

Sales 

Gross margin 

Amortization of property, plant and equipment 

Amortization of intangible assets 

Other operating expenses 

Income (loss) before the undernoted 

Interest expense 

Change in fair value of derivative instruments 

Other income 

Non-controlling interest 

Provision (recovery) of income taxes 

Net income (loss) 

$ 

Canada 

660,457 

619,985 

-
-

$ 1,280,442 

$ 

$ 

188,949 

(3,726) 

(47,392) 

(68,653) 

69,178 

34,720 

(370,083) 

(7,036) 

~ 
13,636 

397,941 

United States 

$ 526,311 

1,015,347 

-
-

$1,541,658 

$ 263,291 

(494) 

(71,832) 

(173,524) 

11,441 

2,387 

(139,345) 

(132) 

-
21,007 

$ 127,524 

$ 

$ 
$ 

$ 

Canada 

-
-

108,525 

-
108,526 

14,266 

0,171) 

(22) 

(11,164) 

1,909 

6,862 

27 

(42) 

(1,987) 

(2,951) 

$ 

s 
s 

$ 

Canada 

-
-
-

22,566 

22,566 

15,697 

(307) 

(1,595) 

(17,020) 

(3,225) 

6,46B 

-
(25) 

-
(2,501) 

(7,167) 

Consolidated 

$1,186,768 

1,635,332 

108,526 

22,566 

$2,953,192 

$ 482,203 

(5,693) 

(120,841) 

(276,361) 

79,303 

50,437 

(509,401) 

(7,235) 

(1,987) 

32,142 

S 515,347 

Additions to property, plant and equipment 

Total goodwill 

Total assets 

$ 3,091 

% 153,043 

$ 596,738 

$ 2,659 

$ 58,108 

$ 698,502 

$ 
$ 
$ 

266 

_ 

165,244 

$ 
$ 
$ 

30,625 

283 

128,160 

S 36,641 

$ 211.434 

$1,588,644 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOUDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

2010 

Sales gas 

Sales electricity 

Ethanol 

Home sen/ices 

Sales 

Gross margin 

Amortization of property, plant and equipment 

Amortization of intangible assets 

Other operating expenses 

Income before the undernoted 

Interest expense 

Change in fair value of derivative instruments 

Other income 

Non-controlling interest 

Provision (recovery) for income tax 

Net income (loss) 

Gas and electricity marketing 

Canada 

$ 788.661 

637,580 

-
-

3 1,426,241 

$ 231,147 

(3,418) 

(37,309) 

(68.156) 

122.264 

9.079 

37.058 

(3.122) 

-
(123.113) 

United States 

3 

3 

3 

425,975 $ 

381,674 

" 
-

807,649 $ 

172,627 $ 

(251) 

(22,413) 

(121,394) 

28,569 

1,130 

(35,776) 

(82) 

-
24.415 

Ethanol 

Canada 

-
-

56,455 

-

56,455 

4,510 

(1,059) 

(20) 

(9,089) 

(5,658) 

5,107 

-
(311) 

(3,593) 

-

Home services 

$ 

$ 

$ 

Canada 

-
-
-

8.886 

8.886 

7,049 

(766) 

(1,209) 

(8,760) 

(3,686) 

818 

-
-

(55) 

(1,562) 

Consolidated 

$1,214,636 

1.019.254 

56.455 

8.886 

$ 2.299.231 

$ 415,333 

(5.494) 

(60.951) 

(207,399) 

141,489 

16,134 

1,282 

(3,515) 

(3,648) 

(100,250) 

3 202.362 $ 38.882 $ (6,861) $ (2,887) $ 231,496 

Additions to property, plant and equipment 

Total goodwill 

Total assets 

3 11.267 

3 138.905 

3 727,395 

$ 797 

$ 31,053 

$ 330,912 

3 4,599 

3 

3 161,028 

$ 

$ 

$ 

24,544 

7,929 

91,492 

$ 41,207 

$ 177,887 

$ 1,310,827 

NOTE 18 GUARANTEES 

(a) O f f i ce rs a n d d i rec to rs 

Corporate indemnities have been provided by Just Energy to all directors and certain officers of its subsidiaries and affiliates for 

various items including, but not limited to, all costs to settle suits or acfions due to their association with Just Energy and its 

subsidiaries and/or affiliates, subject to certain restrictions. Just Energy has purchased directors' and officers' liability insurance to 

mitigate the cost of any potential future suits or actions. Each indemnity, subject to certain exceptions, applies for so long as the 

indemnified person is a director or officer of one of Just Energy's subsidiaries and/or affiliates. The maximum amount of any 

potenfial future payment cannot be reasonably estimated. 

jb) Operations 
In the normal course of business, Just Energy and/or Just Energy's subsidiaries and affiliates have entered into agreements that 

include guarantees in favour of third parties, such as purchase and sale agreements, leasing agreements and transportation 

agreements. These guarantees may require Just Energy and/or its subsidiaries to compensate counterparties for losses incurred by 

the counterparties as a result of breaches in representation and regulations or as a result of litigation claims or statutory sanctions 

that may be suffered by the counterparty as a consequence of the transaction. The maximum payable under these guarantees is 

estimated to be $88,282, 

NOTE 19 C O M M I T M E N T S 

Commitments for each of the next five years and thereafter are as foilows: 

2012 

2013 

2014 

2015 

2016 

Thereafter 

Premises and 
equipment 

leasing 

$ 8,333 

6,222 

4,733 

3,855 

2,678 

4,841 

$ 30,662 

Grain 
production 

contracts 

$ 7.082 

1.703 

396 

-
-
-

$ 9.181 

Master Services 

$ 

3 

agreement 
with EPCOR 

4,974 

-
-
-
-
-

4,974 

Long-term 
commodity 

contracts 
with various 

suppliers 

3 1,498,293 

915,844 

489,855 

209,069 

58,436 

2,292 

3 3,173,789 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOUDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

Just Energy is also committed under long term contracts with customers to supply gas and electricity These contracts have various 

expiry dates and renewal opfions, 

NOTE 20 CONTINGENCIES 

The State of California has filed a number of complaints to the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission ("FERC") against many 

suppliers of electricity, including Commerce, a subsidiary of Just Energy, with respect to events stemming from the 2001 energy 

crisis in California, Pursuant to the complaints, the State of California is challenging the FERC's enforcement of its market-based 

rate system. Although Commerce did not own generation, the State of California is claiming that Commerce was unjustly 

enriched by the run-up caused by the alleged market manipulation by other market participants. The proceedings are currently 

ongoing. On March 18, 2010. the Administrafive law Judge granted the motion to strike for all parties in one of the complaints 

holding that California did not prove that the reporting ernars masked the accumulation of market power California has appealed 

the decision. 

At this time, the likelihood of damages or recoveries and the ulfimate amounts, if any, with respect to this litigation is 

not determinable. 

NOTE 21 ADJUSTMENTS REQUIRED TO REFLECT NET CASH RECEIPTS FROM GAS SALES 

Changes In: 

Accrued gas accounts payable 

Unbilled revenues 

Gas delivered in excess of consumption 

Deferred revenue 

2011 2010 

$ 4,266 i 

(5,749) 

3,763 

(4,005) 

; (26,286) 

36,986 

(8,508) 

8,357 

$ (1,725) 3 10,549 

NOTE 22 NET CHANGE IN NON-CASH W O R K I N G CAPITAL 

Accounts receivable 

Gas in storage 

Inventory 

prepaid expenses 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilifies 

Corporate taxes recoverable 

Other 

2011 2010 

$ 4,513 3 
(2,355) 

(583) 
15,511 

(49,637) 
(5,662) 

-

; (60,021) 
2,430 

(41) 
25,869 
5.931 
(8.303) 
(1,388) 

$ (38.213) $ (35,523) 

NOTE 33 COMPARATIVE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

Certain figures from the comparative consolidated financial statements have been reclassified from statements previously 

presented to conform to the presentation of the current year's consolidated financial statements, 

NOTE 24 SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 

Declared dividends 
On April 4. 2011, the Board of Directors of Just Energy declared a dividend in the amount of $0,10333 per common share 

($1,24 annually). The dividend will be paid on April 30, 2011, to shareholders of record at the close of business on April 15, 2011, 

On May 3. 2011, the Board of Directors of Just Energy declared a dividend in the amount of 30,10333 per common share 

($1,24 annually). The dividend will be paid on May 31, 2011, to shareholders of record at the close of business on May 15, 2011. 
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HIGHLIGHTS FOR THE THREE MONTHS ENDED JUNE 30, 2010, INCLUDED: 

Gross customer additions through marketing of 
261,000 and net additions of 116,000 are both the 
highest in Just Energy history. 

Acquisition effective May 1, 2010, of Hudson Energy 
Services, LLC, a leading marketer in the U.S. commercial 
sector wi th more than 660,000 customers. 

Just Energy exited the quarter w i th over three mill ion 
customers, up 79% f rom a year earSier. 

Significant investments in further expansion -
preparation for entry into Massachusetts and two new 
uti l i ty territories in New York, the launch of Momentis 
network marketing in Ontario and New York, broadening 
commercial broker network and the rollout of National 
Home Services into Union Gas terr i tory in Ontario. 

Record warm weather reduced distributable cash 
after gross margin replacement and distributable cash 
by $21.0 mill ion due t o margin effects of lower 
gas consumption. 

Sales (seasonally adjusted) up 48% year over year, 
reaching $640.0 mil l ion. 

Gross margin (seasonally adjusted) of $88.9 mil l ion, 
up 19% but down 2% per unit, primanly attr ibutable 
to reduced gas consumption caused by record 
warm weather, 

Distributable cash after gross margin replacement 
of $33.9 mil l ion, down 32% per u n i t 

Distributable cash after all marketing expenses of 
$24.4 mil l ion, down 44% per unit. 

Adjusted EBITDA of $31.3 mill ion, up f rom $30.2 million 
in fiscal 2010, 
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MESSAGE FROM THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER 

Dear fe l low Unitholders, 
Just Energy has comple ted the first quarter of fiscal 2011 - the year tha t wi l l see the conversion of one of Canada's most successful income 

trusts into a corporat ion. The past five years have seen a concerted effort to geographical ly expand our business. W i t h our entry in to Illinois, 

w e have cont inued t o build a prof i table and g row ing U.S. operat ion wh i ch n o w spans nine states and, fo r the first t ime , encompasses more 

customers than w e have in our original market of Canada, Given the l o w penetrat ion rates in our targeted states, it is our belief that our 

g r o w t h in the U.S, has just begun . 

More recently, w e have looked t o fur ther diversify our business t h rough both product and marke t ing channels. Historically, w e sold gas and 

electricity t h rough a single channel - door - to -door sales - to residential and small business customers. W i t h our entry into renewable energy 

sales t h r o u g h our very successful JustGreen offer ings, w e have con t inued t o add new products. Our Nat ional Home Services ( "NHS") wa te r 

heater rental and sales operat ion has been a huge success, g row ing f r o m zero t o over 88 ,000 units installed in less than t w o years. Recently, 

w e have fur ther expanded in to air condi t ioners and furnaces. 

Our Momen t i s n e t w o r k marke t ing channel has been launched and t h e early results are promis ing. W e are encouraged because n e t w o r k 

marke t ing does not overlap w i t h our t radi t ional sales channel and tends t o generate sales t o customers w h o w o u l d no t othenwise buy f r o m 

a door - to -door salesperson. 

Key t o our marke t ing success th is quarter was our diversif ication into t he large commercial customer marke t t r iggered by our acquisi t ion 

of Hudson Energy Services, LLC ( "Hudson" ) . This marke t segment consists of customers such as school boards, hospitals and universities. It 

does no t include industrial vo lumes as credit and load-variance risks are far h igher fo r industrials. Our analysis of Hudson demonst ra ted tha t 

these customers were underserved by deregulated suppliers and tha t , w i t h a proper ly st ructured product , they could generate l i fe long net 

value per residential customer equivalent ("RCE") equal to tha t of a residential cus tomer 

As these customers o f ten cannot make five-year commi tmen ts , w e have developed a variety of shor ter- term products, o f ten b lending 

f ixed and variable pr ic ing, tha t are ta i lored t o the customer 's needs. The product is sold t h rough a g row ing ne two rk of independent brokers 

and a t eam of internal specialists. Just Energy had no t previously ut i l ized the broker channel , bu t based on its success t o date, we are 

currently expanding the ne two rk w i t h t he add i t ion of our f irst commerc ia l brokers in Canada. 

The annual marg in per RCE on these large commerc ia l contracts is much lower than on residential customers ($67 per year in the f irst 

quarter) , bu t t he customer aggregat ion cost is commensurate ly l ower Annua l customer maintenance per RCE is also substantial ly less, as a 

single targe commercial customer can to ta l hundreds or even thousands of RCEs. Finally at t r i t ion of these customers is very low, and 

renewal , wh i l e compet i t ive , also has a relatively high success rate. 

The impact f r o m the Hudson and Universal acquisit ions as wel l as new product diversif ication is h igh l ighted by the table be low: 

RCEs 

Natural gas 

Canada 

United States 

Total gas 

Electricity 

Canada 

United States 

Total electricity 

Combined 

Beginning 
April 1, 

2010 

734.000 

408,000 

1,142,000 

760,000 

391,000 

1,151,000 

2,293.000 

Additions 

12,000 

108,000 

120,000 

26,000 

115,000 

141,000 

261,000 

Acquired 
with Hudson 

-
81,000 

81,000 

-
579.000 

579,000 

660,000 

Attrition 

(21,000) 

(32,000) 

(53,000) 

(18,000) 

(33,000) 

(51,000) 

(104,000) 

Failed 
to renew 

(16,000) 

(1,000) 

(17,000) 

(11,000) 

(13,000) 

(24,000) 

(41,000) 

Ending 
June 30, 

2010 

709,000 

564,000 

1,273,000 

757,000 

1.039,000 

1.796.000 

3,069,000 

Ending 
June 30, 

2009 

727,000 

238,000 

965,000 

574.000 

262,000 

836,000 

1.801,000 
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MESSAGE FROM THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER 

The 261,000 customers added are, by far, the most ever added by Just Energy in a quarter More importantly the net customer additions 
of 116,000 are also a record and are more than ten times the net additions of the year before. As the chart below indicates, both gross and 
net additions far exceed historical levels, and the reason is commercial additions. 

QUARTERLY CUSTOMER ADDmONS 

(thousands) 
Gross aOdiiioiis 261 

• r̂ et addiiion? 

I'lO 137 13, 

102 
116 

91 94 9'' 
"^ 85 

36 

10 J 

$ 

$ 

June 30, 
2010 

757.5 

698.5 

1.501.1 

$ 

$ 

June 30, 
2009 

675.8 

284.7 

1,003.2 

% increase 

12% 

145% 

50% 

Ql 02 03 Q4 Ql Q2 03 Q-l 01 

t-rscal 20D9 Hscal 201C Fiscal 2011 

A measure of the increase in value of the Just Energy gas and electricity customer base is the future gross margin inherent in the contracts. 
Continued growth of this measure, as margin is realized quarter after quarter, is evidence of the success of our marketing efforts. The 
profitability shown above continued the upward trend of this measure. 

Management's estimate of future embedded gross margin is as follows: 

(in////Qnso^do//ars) 

Canada (CADS) 
United States (USS) 
Total (CAD$) 

The 48% increase in sales was due to a 55% increase in the average number of customers, with normal revenue per customer in electricity 
but lower than expected revenue in gas due to record warm weather resulting in sharply lower gas consumption and losses on disposition 
of the unused gas. 

For the three months ended June 30 
(millions of dollars, except where indicated and per unit amounts) 

Saleŝ  
Gross margin^ 
Distributable cash 

After gross margin replacement 
After marketing expense 

Adjusted EBITDA 
Net income 
Payout ratio 
Long-term customers 

' The per unit arriounts are calculated using an adjusted fully diluted basis for fiscal 2011, removing the impact of the Just Energy Exchange Corp. ("JEEC") and 
Just Energy Income Fund ("JEIF") convertible debentures as both will be anti-dilutive by fiscal year-end. The fiscal 2010 per unit amounts are cakulated on a 
fully diluted basis. 

^ Seasonally adjusted (non-GAAP measure). 

Fiscal 2011 

S 640.0 $ 

88.9 

33.8 

24.4 

31.3 

275.3 

173% 

3,069,000 

Perunit^ 

0.65 

0.25 

0.18 

0.23 

2.01 

Fiscal 2010 

$ 432.6 S 

74.8 

42,2 

36,1 

30.2 

102.6 

97% 

1,801,000 

Per unit' 

0.66 

0.37 

0.32 

0.27 

0.91 
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MESSAGE FROM THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER 

Gross margin was up 19% but down on both a per unit and a per customer basis. The increase reflects a higher number of customers and 

the continued strong take-up of JustGreen offerings offset by the impact of warm weather on gas consumption and the inclusion of lower 

margin Hudson customers. Overall, electricity margins increased in line with the increase in the average number of customers. 

Ql 
fiscal 2011 

Ql 
fiscal 2010 

% increase 
(decrease) 

% increase 
in average 
customers 

Natural gas margins^ 

Electricity margins^ 

Total margins' 

25,851 

62,766 

42,102 

32,667 

(39)% 

92% 

24% 

90% 

$ 88,617 S 74,769 19% 55% 

' Seasonally adjusted (non-GAAP measure). 

The following table highlights the extent of the adverse impact of warm weather reflected in the lower gas consumption in the quarter While 

consumption per customer was down more than 30%, the margin impact was greater because, not only was margin lost on the related 

expected sales, but the excess gas resulting from lower consumption created was sold at a loss due to very low spot prices, U.S. gas and 

electricity also saw a decrease in realized average margin as a large number of lower margin customers, who purchased from Hudson in May, 

were included. Because Hudson was only included for two months of the quarter, investors should look to future quarters for the true impact 

of Hudson on margins and results. 

Toronto 

New York 

Chicago 

Heating 
degree 
days-

01 
fiscal 2011 

672 

347 

475 

Heating 
degree 
days-

01 
fiscal 2010 

971 

511 

701 

% decrease 

(31)% 

(32)% 

(32)% 

Heating 
degree 
days-

30-year 
average 

990 

547 

649 

% decrease 

(32)% 

(37)% 

(27)% 

JustGreen 

Continued strong take-up of the JustGreen energy offerings offset weaker gas margins in the quarter A total of 49% of new customers 

took JustGreen for an average of 89% of their consumption. The result was a continuation of improvement in new residential customer 

margins, which were $246 per customer per year, up 37% from $179 in the first quarter of the previous year, and up from $208 for all of 

fiscal 2010. Currently, JustGreen customers make up 6% of the electricity portfolio and 3% of the gas portfolio. 

H o m e services d i v i s i o n 

NHS provides Ontario residential customers with long-term water heater rental programs, offering conventional tanks, power vented tanks 

and tankless water heaters in a variety of sizes, in addition to the recently added offering of furnaces and air conditioners. NHS continues to 

ramp up its operations and, as at June 30, 2010, had a cumulative installed base of 87,400 water heaters, 500 furnaces and 100 air 

conditioners in Ontario residences. NHS earns revenue from its installed base. 

As NHS is a high growth, relatively capital-intensive business. Just Energy management believes that, in order to maintain stability of 

distributions, separate non-recourse financing of this capital is appropriate. Accordingly NHS entered into a long-term financing agreement 

with HomeTrust Company ("HTC") for the funding of the water heaters. 

Management's strategy for NHS is to self-fund the business through its growth phase, building value within the customer base. This way, 

NHS will not require cash from Just Energy's core operations, nor will Just Energy rely on NHS cash flow to fund distributions. As the HTC 

financing is repaid, NHS will be a valuable, cash-generating asset for Just Energy, 

JUST ENERGY INCOME FUND » FIRST QUARTER REPORT 2011 



MESSAGE FROM THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER 

D i s t r i b u t a b l e cash 

Distributable cash was lower on both a gross and per unit basis in the first quarter of fiscal 2011 versusthe comparable quarter of fiscal 2010. 

The predominant factor in this decline was the loss of natural gas margin due to record warm weather in the quarter. 

There were a number of other factors that contributed to lower distributable cash. 

Distributable cash $22.3 million Was $36.1 million in fiscal 2010 

Terra Grains Fuels ("TGF") 

(not in place in fiscal 2010) 

NHS (not in place in fiscal 2010) 

Weather impact on gas margins 

U.S.3 decline against CAD$ 

(3.6) million 

(2.2) million 

(21.0) million 

(2.3) million 

$(29.1) million 

Operation is non-recourse and must fund its own operations 

and debt sen/ice 

While still in start-up phase, management believes that 

substantial long-term value has been created within contracts 

As described above 

Reduced reported margin net of savings on U.S.S denominated costs 

Adjusted EBITDA was up slightly to 331.3 million from $30.2 million a year prior. Adjusted EBITDA was up while distributable cash was 

down, largely because of heavy expenditures to increase future margins and the elimination of higher cash taxes year over year in the 

EBITDA measure. 

Distributions were 30.31 per unit, equal to those of the prioryear The payout ratio was high at 173% in what is seasonally the slowest 

quarter due to the impact of warm weather on gas consumption. In past years, the payout ratio on normal distributions has been below 

100% and it is management's expectation that it will be below 100% again during fiscal 2011. 

The end of this calendar year will see the conversion of Just Energy into a high yield growth company We believe that the investments 

made in this quarter will contribute to that growth and support our high-dividend yield. The Hudson acquisition is off to a great start, and 

we are confident that Just Energy has built an even stronger and more diverse base fof our business in the future. 

Thank you, fellow Unitholders, for your continued support. 

Yours sincerely 

Ken Hartwick 

Chief Executive Officer 
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS ("MD&A") - AUGUST 11, 2010 
Oven/iew 

The following discussion and analysis is a review of the financial condition and results of operations of Just Energy Income Fund ("Just Energy", 

the "Fund" or "JEIF") for the three months ended June 30, 2010. and has been prepared with all information available up to and including 

August 11,2010. This analysis should be read in conjunction with the unaudited interim consolidated financial statements for the three 

months ended June 30, 2010, as well as the audited consolidated financial statements and related MD&A for the year ended March 31 , 

2010, contained in the Fund's 2010 Annual Report. The financial information contained herein has been prepared in accordance with 

Canadian Generally Accepted Accounting Principles ("GAAP"), All dollar amounts are expressed in Canadian dollars. Quarterly reports, 

the annual report and supplementary information can be found on our corporate website at www.justenergycom. Additional information 

can be found on SEDAF* at www.sedarcom. 

Just Energy is an open-ended, limited-purpose trust established under the laws of the Province of Ontario to hold securities and to distribute 

the income of its directly or indirectly owned operating subsidiaries and affiliates: Just Energy Ontario L.P, ("JE Ontario"), Just Energy 

Manitoba L.R ("JE Manitoba"), Just Energy Quebec L.P ("JE Quebec"). Just Energy (B.C.) Limited Partnership ("JE B.C."). Just Energy Alberta 

L.P ("JE Alberta"), Alberta Energy Savings L.R ("AESLP"), Just Energy Illinois Corp. ("JE Illinois"), Just Energy New York Corp. ("JENYC"), 

Just Energy Indiana Corp. ("JE Indiana"), Just Energy Texas L.P ("JE Texas"). Just Energy Massachusetts Corp. ("JE Mass"), Just Energy 

Michigan Corp. ("JE Michigan"), Just Energy Exchange Corp, ("JEEC"), Universal Energy Corp, ("UEC"), Universal Gas and Electric 

Corporation ("UGSLE") , Commerce Energy Inc. ("Commerce" or "CEI"), National Energy Corp, ("NEC") operating underthe tradename of 

National Home Services ("NHS"), Hudson Energy Services. LLC ("Hudson" or "HES"), Momentis Canada Corp, and Momentis U.S. Corp, 

(collectively "Momentis") and Terra Grain Fuels, Inc. ("TGF"). collectively the "Just Energy Group", 

Just Energy's business primarily involves the sale of natural gas and/or electricity to residential and commercial customers under long-term 

fixed-price and price-protected contracts. By fixing the price of natural gas or electricity under its fixed-price or price-protected program 

contracts for a period of up to five years. Just Energy's customers offset their exposure to changes in the price of these essential commodities. 

Just Energy which commenced business in 1997. derives its margin or gross profit from the difference between the fixed price at which it is 

able to sell the commodities to its customers and the fixed price at which it purchases the associated volumes from its suppliers. In addition, 

through NHS, the Fund sells and rents high efficiency and tankless water heaters and other heating, ventilating and air conditioning 

("HVAC") products. TGF, an ethanol producer, operates a wheat-based ethanol facility in Belle Plaine, Saskatchewan. Just Energy also 

indirectly acquired Hudson, effective May 1, 2010, a marketer of natural gas and electricity that sells primarily to commercial customers in 

New York, New Jersey Illinois and Texas, and results are included for two months of its operations in this report. 

The Fund also offers green products through its JustGreen program, formerly known as the Green Energy Option or "GEO". The electricity 

JustGreen product offers the customer the option of having all or a portion of their electricity sourced from renewable green sources such 

as wind, run of the rivef hydro or biomass. The gas JustGreen product offers carbon offset credits, which will allow customers to reduce or 

eliminate the carbon footprint of their home or business. Management believes that these new products will not only add to profits but also 

increase sales receptivity and improve renewal rates. 

Forward-looking information 
This MD&A contains certain forward-looking information pertaining to customer additions and renewals, customer consumption levels, 

distributable cash and treatment under governmental regulatory regimes. These statements are based on current expectations that involve a 

number of risks and uncertainties which could cause actual results to differ from those anticipated. These risks include, but are not limited to, 

levels of customer natural gas and electricity consumption, extreme weather conditions, rates of customer additions and renewals, customer 

attrition, fluctuations in natural gas and electricity prices, changes in regulatory regimes, decisions by regulatory authorities and competition 

and dependence on certain suppliers. Additional information on these and other factors that could affect the Fund's operations, financial 

results or distribution levels are included in the Fund's Annual Information Form and other reports on file with Canadian security regulatory 

authorities which can be accessed on our corporate website at www.justenergycom or through the SEDAR website at www.sedarcom. 

JUST ENERGY INCOIWE FUND » FIRST QUARTER REPORT 2011 

http://www.justenergycom
http://www.sedarcom
http://www.justenergycom
http://www.sedarcom


MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

Key terms 

"Attrit ion" means customers whose contracts were terminated early or cancelled by Just Energy due to delinquent accounts, 

"Delivered volume" represents the actual volume of gas or electricity provided on behalf of customers to the LDCs for the period. 

"Failed to renew" means customers who did not renew expiring contracts at the end of their term. 

"Gross margin per RCE" represents the gross margin realized on Just Energy's customer base, including both low margin customers 

acquired through various acquisitions and gains/losses from the sale of excess commodity supply 

"LDC" means a local distribution company, which is a natural gas or electricity distributor for a regulatory or governmentally defined 

geographic area. 

"RCE" means residential customer equivalent or the "customer", which is a unit of measurement equivalent to a customer using, as 

regards natural gas. 2,815 m' (or 106 GJ or 1,000 Therms or 1,025 CCF) of natural gas on an annual basis and, as regards electricity, 

10 MWh (or 10,000 kWh) of electricity on an annual basis, which represents the approximateamount of gas and electricity, respectively, 

used by a typical household in Ontario. 

"JEEC convertible debentures" means the S90 million in convertible debentures issued by Universal in October 2007. JEEC assumed 

the obligations of the debentures as part of the acquisition of Universal Energy Group, Inc. ("Universal") on July 1, 2009. See "Long-term 

debt and financing" on page 29 for further details. 

"JEIF convertible debentures" means the S330 million in convertible debentures issued by the Fund to finance the purchase of Hudson 

effective May 1, 2010. See "Long-term debt and financing" on page 29 for further details, 

N o n - G A A P f i nanc ia l measures 

All non-GAAP financial measures do not have standardized meanings prescribed by GAAP and are therefore unlikely to be comparable to 

similar measures presented by other issuers. 

Seasonally adjusted sales and seasonally adjusted gross margin 

Management believes the best basis for analyzing both the Fund's results and the amount available for distribution is to focus on amounts 

actually received ("seasonally adjusted") because this figure provides the margin earned on all deliveries to the utilities. Seasonally adjusted 

sales and gross margin are not defined performance measures under Canadian GAAP. Seasonally adjusted analysis applies solely to the gas 

markets and specifically to Ontario, Quebec, Manitoba and Michigan. 

No seasonal adjustment is required for electricity as the supply is balanced daily In the other gas markets, payments for supply by the LDCs 

are aligned with customer consumption. 

Cash Available for Distr ibution 

"Distributable cash after marketing expense" refers to the net Cash Available for Distribution to Unitholders. Seasonally adjusted gross 

margin is the principal contributor to Cash Available for Distribution. Distributable cash is calculated by the Fund as seasonally adjusted 

gross margin, adjusted for cash items including general and administrative expenses, marketing expenses, bad debt expense, interest 

expense, corporate taxes, capital taxes and other items. This non-GAAP measure may not be comparable to other income funds. 

"Distributable cash after gross margin replacement" represents the net Cash Available for Distribution to Unitholders as defined above. 

However, only the marketing expenses associated with maintaining the Fund's gross margin at a stable level, equal to that in place at the 

beginning of the period, are deducted. Management believes that this is more representative of the ongoing operating performance of the 

Fund because it includes all expenditures necessary for the retention of existing customers and the addition of new margin to replace those 

customers that have not been renewed. This non-GAAP measure may not be comparable to other income funds. 

For reconciliation to cash from operating activities, please refer to the "Cash Available for Distribution and distributions" analysis on page 12. 

EBITDA 

"EBITDA" represents earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization. This is a non-GAAP measure which reflects the pre-tax 

profitability of the business. 
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCU5SI0N AND ANALYSIS 

Adjusted EBITDA 

"Adjusted EBITDA" represents EBITDA adjusted to exclude the impact of mark to market gains (losses) arising from Canadian GAAP 

requirements for derivative financial instruments on future supply positions. In addition, the Adjusted EBITDA calculation deducts marketing 

costs sufficient to maintain existing levels of gross margin and the capital expenditures necessary to sustain existing operations. This 

highlights the marketing that Just Energy had carried out and the capital expenditures that it had made to add to its future productive 

capacity Management believes this is a useful measure of operating performance for investors. 

Just Energy ensures that customer margins are protected by entering into fixed-price supply contracts. However, under Canadian GAAR the 

customer margins are not marked to market but there is a requirement to mark to market the future supply contracts. This creates unrealized 

gains (losses) depending upon current supply pricing volatility. Management believes that these short-term mark to market non-cash gains 

(losses) do not impact the long-term financial performance of the Fund and has therefore excluded it from the adjusted EBITDA calculation. 

Embedded gross margin 

"Embedded gross margin" is a rolling five-year measure of management's estimate of future contracted gross margin. It is the difference 

between existing customer contract prices and the cost of supply for the remainder of the term, with appropriate assumptions for customer 

attrition and renewals. It is assumed that expiring contracts will be renewed at target margin and renewal rates. 

Standardized Distributable Cash 

"Standardized Distributable Cash" is a non-GAAP measure developed to provide a consistent and comparable measurement of distributable 

cash across entities. It is defined as cash flows from operating activities, as reported in accordance with GAAP, less an adjustment for total 

capital expenditures as reported in accordance with GAAP and restrictions on distributions arising from compliance with financial covenants 

restrictive at the date of the calculation of Standardized Distributable Cash. 

For reconciliation to cash from operating activities, please refer to the "Standardized Distributable Cash and Cash Available for Distribution" 

analysis on page 14, 

Financial highlights 
For the three months ended June 30 

(thousands of dollars, except where indicated and per unit amounts) 

Sales 

Net income^ 

Adjusted EBITDA^ 

Gross margin (seasonally adjusted)'' 

Distributable cash 

After gross margin replacement 

After marketing expense 

Distributions 

General and administrative 

Distributable cash payout ratio^ 

After gross margin replacement 

After marketing expense 

^ The per unit amounts are calculated using an adjusted fully diluted basis for fiscal 2011, removing the impact of the JEEC and JEIF convertible debentures as 
both will be anti-dilutive by fiscal year-end. The fiscal 2Q10 per unit amounts are calculated on a fully diluted basis. 

'' Net income includes the impact of unrealized gains (losses) which represent the mark to market of future commodity supply acquired to cower future customer 
demand. The supply has been sold to customers at fixed prices minimizing any impact of quarter-end mark to market gains and losses. 

^Adjusted EBITDA is a more appropriate measure of the performance of the Fund since it excludes the unrealized mark to market gains and losses and deducts 
only marketing costs and capital spending necessary to sustain existing operations. See above for more irfofmation. 

*See discussion of non-GAAP financial measures on page 7. 

^Management targets an annual payout ratio after all marketing expenses, excluding any Spedal Distribution, of less than 100%. 

$ 
609,684 

275,309 

31,282 

88,933 

33,783 

24,402 

42,277 

29,272 

125% 

173% 

Pe 

$ 
$ 
$ 
s 

$ 
s 
$ 
$ 

ir unit' 

4.44 

2.01 

0.23 

0.65 

0.25 

0.18 

0.31 

0.21 

Fiscal 2011 

Per unit 
change 

26% 

121% 

(15)% 

(2)% 

(32)% 

(44)% 

-
50% 

1 

$ 
399 ,010 

102 ,627 

30 ,182 

74 ,769 

42 ,219 

36 ,087 

35 ,014 

15,617 

83% 

97% 

Fisca 

P 

$ 
$ 
$ 
3 

3 
S 
S 
S 

1I201Q 

er unit' 

3.53 

0.91 

0.27 

0.66 

0.37 

0,32 

0.31 

0,14 
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Fiscai 2011 

$ 275,309 

9,480 

19,360 

133 

33,448 

337,730 

(314,376) 

9,381 

(1,453) 

Fiscal 2010 

$ 102,627 

480 

10,303 

80 

1,788 

115,278 

(87.880) 

6,132 

(3,348) 

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

Reconc i l i a t i on o f n e t i n come t o a d j u s t e d EBITDA 

For the three months ended June 30 

(thousands of dollars) 

Net income 

Add: 

Interest 

Tax expense (recovery) 

Capital tax 

Amortization 

EBITDA 

Add: 

Change in fair value of derivative instruments 

Marketing expenses to add gross margin 

Less: 

Maintenance capital expenditures 

Adjusted EBITDA $ 31,282 $ 30,182 

A c q u i s i t i o n o f H u d s o n Energy Serv ices, LLC 

On May 7, 2010, Just Energy completed the acquisition of all of the equity interests of Hudson Parent Holdings, LLC and all of the common 

shares of Hudson Energy Corp., thereby indirectly acquiring Hudson Energy Services, LLC with an effective date of May 1, 2010, It is 

important to note that this first quarter report reflects only two months of operating results from Hudson, and that the full effect of this 

acquisition will not be seen until future quarters. 

The acquisition of Hudson was accounted for using the purchase method of accounting. The Fund allocated the purchase price to the 

identified assets and liabilities acquired based on their fair values at the time of acquisition as follows (thousands of dollars): 

Net assets acquired 

Current assets (including cash of 324,003) $ 88.696 

Current liabilities (107.817) 

Electricity contracts and customer relationships 200,653 

Gas contracts and customer relationships 26,225 

Broker network 84,400 

Brand 11,200 

Information technology system development 17,954 

Contract initiation costs 20,288 

Other intangible assets 6,545 

Goodwill 30,946 

Property, plant and equipment 2,559 

Unbilled revenue 15,092 

Notes receivable- long term 1,312 

Security deposits - long term 3,544 

Other assets - current 124 

Other assets - long term 100 

Other liabilities - current (74,683) 

Other liabilities - long term (40,719) 

S 286.419 

Consideration 

Purchase price S 285,343 

Transaction costs 1,076 

S 286,419 
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

All contracts and intangible assets, excluding brand, are amortized over the average remaining life at the time of acquisition. The gas and 

electricity contracts and customer relationships are amortized over periods of 30 months and 35 months, respectively Other intangible assets, 

excluding brand, are amortized over periods ranging from three to five years. The brand value is considered to be indefinite and, therefore, not 

subject to amortization. The purchase price allocation is considered preliminary and, as a result, may be adjusted during the 12-month period 

following the acquisition. 

A c q u i s i t i o n o f Un ive rsa l Energy G r o u p L td . 

On July 1, 2009, Just Energy completed the acquisition of all of the outstanding common shares of Universal Energy Group ("Universal") 

pursuant to a plan of arrangement (the "Arrangement"). Under the Arrangement the Universal shareholders received 0,58 of an 

exchangeable share ("Exchangeable Share") of JEEC, a subsidiary of Just Energy for each Universal common share held. In aggregate, 

21,271,804 Exchangeable Shares were issued pursuantto the Arrangement. Each Exchangeable Share is exchangeable for a unit of the 

Fund on a one for one basis at any time at the option of the holder, and entitles the holder to a monthly dividend equal to 66 %% of the 

monthly distribution and/or Special Distribution paid by Just Energy on a unit of the Fund, JEEC also assumed all the covenants and 

obligations of Universal in respect of Universal's outstanding JEEC convertible debentures. On conversion of the JEEC convertible debentures, 

holders will be entitled to receive 0,58 of an Exchangeable Share in lieu of each Universal common share that the holder was previously 

entitled to receive on conversion. 

The acquisition of Universal was accounted for using the purchase method of accounting. The Fund allocated the purchase price to the 

identified assets and liabilities acquired based on their fair values at the time of acquisition as follows (thousands of dollars): 

Net assets acquired 

Working capital (induding cash of S10,319> $ 63,614 

Electricity contracts and customer relationships 229,586 

Gas contracts and customer relationships 243,346 

Water heater contracts and customer relationships 22,700 

Other intangible assets 2,721 

Goodwill 77,494 

Property, plant and equipment 171.693 

Future tax liabilities (50.475) 

Other liabilities-current (164,148) 

Other liabilities - long term (140,857) 

Long-term debt (183,079) 

Non-controlling interest (22,697) 

^ 3 249,898 

Consideration 

Transaction costs S 9,952 

Exchangeable Shares 239,946 

249,898 

All contracts, customer relationships and intangible assets are amortized over the average remaining life at the time of acquisition. The gas 

and electricity contracts acquired, including customer relationships, are amortized over periods ranging from eight to 57 months. The water 

heater contracts and customer relationships are amortized over 174 months and the other intangible assets are amortized over six months. 

The non-controlling interest represents 33.3% ownership of TGF held by EllisDon Corporation, An adjustment in the amount of $10,700 

was made to increase goodwill and decrease working capital during the three months ended June 30, 2010. The purchase price for this 

acquisition is final and no longer subject to change. 

10 JUST ENERGY INCOME FUND » FIRST QUARTER REPORT 2011 



MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

O p e r a t i o n s 

Gas 

In each of the markets in which Just Energy operates, it is required to deliver gas to the LDCs for its customers throughout the year Gas 

customers are charged a fixed price for the full term of their contract. Just Energy purchases gas supply in advance of marketing for 

residential customers and generally concurrent with the execution of a contract for larger commercial customers. The LDC provides 

historical customer usage to enable Just Energy to purchase an approximation of estimated supply Furthermore, in many markets. 

Just Energy mitigates exposure to customer usage by purchasing options that cover potential differences in customer consumption due 

to weather variations. The cost of this strategy is incorporated in the price to the customer Our ability to mitigate weather effects is limited 

by utilities' requirements to deliver fixed amounts of gas regardless of the weather. To the extent that balancing requirements are outside 

the options purchased. Just Energy bears the financial responsibility for fluctuations in customer usage. Volume variances may result in 

either excess or short supply Excess supply is sold in the spot market, resulting in either a gain or loss compared to the weighted average 

cost of supply In the case of greater than expected gas consumption. Just Energy must purchase the short supply at the market price, 

which may reduce or increase the customer gross margin typically realized. Under some commercial contract terms, this balancing may be 

passed on to the customer 

Ontario, Quebec, British Columbia and Michigan 

in Ontario, Quebec, British Columbia and Michigan, the volumes delivered for a customer typically remain constant throughout the year 

Just Energy does not recognize sales until the customer actually consumes the gas. During the winter months, gas is consumed at a rate 

that Is greater than delivery, and in the summer months, deliveries to LDCs exceed customer consumption. Just Energy receives cash from the 

LDCs as the gas is delivered, which is even throughout the year 

Mani toba and Alberta 

In Manitoba and Alberta, the volume of gas delivered is based on the estimated consumption for each month. Therefore, the amount of 

gas delivered in the winter months is higher than in the spring and summer months. Consequently cash received from customers and LDCs 

will be higher in the winter months. 

New York, Illinois, Indiana, Ohio and California 

In New 'Vork, Illinois, Indiana, Ohio and California, the volume of gas delivered is based on the estimated consumption and storage 

requirements for each month. Therefore, the amount of gas delivered in the winter months is higher than in the spring and summer 

months. Consequently cash flow received from these states is greatest during the third and fourth (winter) quarters as, normally cash is 

received from the LDCs in the same period as customer consumption. 

Electricity 

Ontario, Alberta, New York, Texas, Illinois, Pennsylvania, New Jersey. Maryland, Michigan, California and Massachusetts 

Just Energy offers a variety of price protection products to its electricity customers. The product offerings include both fixed-price and 

variable-price long-term and short-term electricity contracts. Customers have the ability to choose an appropriate JustGreen program to 

supplement their electricity contracts, providing an effective method to offset their carbon footprint. In Ontario, New York and Texas, 

Just Energy provides customers with price protection for the majority of their electricity requirements. The customers experience either a 

small balancing charge or credit on each bill due to fluctuations in prices applicable to their volume requirements not covered by a fixed 

price. Just Energy uses historical usage data for all enrolled customers to accurately predict future customer consumption and to help with 

long-term supply procurement decisions. 

Cash flow from electricity operations is greatest during the second and fourth quarters (summer and winter), as electricity consumption is 

typically highest during these periods. 

Home services division 

NEC began operations in April 2008 and operates under the trade name of National Home Services ("NHS"), Newten Home Comfort L.R 

("NHCLP"), a partnership between Just Energy and Newten Home Comfort Inc. (an arm's length third party holding 2 0 % of the 

partnership), commenced providing Ontario residential customers with a long-term water heater rental program in the summer of 2008, 

offering high efficiency conventional and power vented tanks and tankless water heaters. On July 2, 2009, NEC, a wholly owned home 

services subsidiary of Universal, acquired Newten Home Comfort Inc. Accordingly NHCLP became a wholly owned subsidiary of Just Energy 

On September 30, 2009, NEC acquired substantially all of the assets of NHCLP, including all of NHCLP's customer water heater rental 

agreements, NHCLP and Newten Home Comfort Inc. were subsequently wound up. NEC began offering the rental of air conditioners and 

furnaces to Ontario residents in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2010. See page 23 for additional information on NEC, 

Ethanol division 

Just Energy also owns a 66.7% interest in TGF. a 150-million-litre capacity wheat-based ethanol plant located in Belle Plaine, Saskatchewan. 

The plant produces wheat-based ethanol and high protein distillers' dried grain ("DDG"). See page 24 for additional information on TGF. 
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

Casli Available fo r Distribution and distributions 

For the three months ended June 30 
(thousands of doHars, except per unit amounts) 

Reconciliation to statements of cash f l ow 

Cash inflow frorn operations 

Add: 

Decrease in non-cash working capital 

Other 

Tax impact on distributions to Class A preference shareholders 

Cash Available fo r Distribution 

Cash Available for Distribution 

Gross margin per financial statements 

Adjustments required to reflect net cash receipts from gas sales 

Seasonally adjusted gross margin 

Less: 

General and administrative 

Capital tax expense 

Bad debt expense 

Income tax recovery 

Interest expense 

Other items 

Distributable cash before marketing expenses 

Marketing expenses to maintain gross margin 

Distributable cash after gross margin replacement 

Marketing expenses to add new gross margin 

Cash Available for Distribution 

Distributions 

Unitholder distributions 

Class A preference share distributions 

Unit appreciation rights and deferred unit grants distributions 

Total distributions 

__ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$_ 

-

$ 

$ 

S 

Fiscal 2011 

25,727 

(3,648) 

1,785 

53B 

24,402 

80,497 

8,436 

88,933 

(29,272) 

(133) 

(5,749) 

1,002 

(9,480) 

6,771 

(36,861) 

52,072 

(18.289) 

33,783 

(9,381) 

24,402 

39,644 

1,631 

1,002 

42,277 

$ 

$ 

$ 

s 

$ 

s 

Per unit 

0.59 

0,65 

0.38 

0.25 

0,18 

0.31 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

-----

$ 

$ 

s 

Fiscal 2010 

37,795 

(2,246) 

-
538 

36,087 

66,075 

8,694 

74.769 

(15,617) 

(fiO) 

(3,829) 

40 

(480) 

669 

(19,297) 

55,472 

(13,253) 

42,219 

_ A'l32). 
36,087 

32.935 

1,631 

448 

35,014 

$ 

S 

3 

$ 

$ 

$ 

Per unit 

0.59 

0.66 

0.49 

0.37 

0.32 

0.31 

Adjusted fully diluted average number of units outstanding' 137,2m 112.9m 

'The per unit amounts are calculated using an adjusted fully diluted basis for fiscal 2011, removing the impact of the JEEC and JEIF convertible debentures as 
both will be anti-dilutive by fiscal year-end. The fiscal 2010 per unit amounts are cakulated on a fully diluted basis. 
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

Distributable cash 
The first quarter of fiscal 2011 was a period of rapid expansion for Just Energy This expansion took place through the acquisition of Hudson, 

which diversified Just Energy's product line to include specialized offerings for large commercial customers; the expansion of Hudson's 

proven broker network to seven new states and five new provinces; the launch of the Momentis network marketing division in Ontario and 

New York; as well as spending in anticipation of entry into Massachusetts and two new utility territories in New York. In addition, NHS 

committed expenditures to facilitate its expansion into Union Gas territory in Ontario and its rollout of furnace and air conditioner offerings. 

This expansion had two impacts on the quarter Firstly general and administrative costs increased to absorb the costs of this expansion. 

Secondly quarterly customer additions reached the highest levels seen in the history of Just Energy The majority of these additions were 

large commercial customers, which is a market segment not previously pursued. As with past expansions, management believes that the 

acquisition of Hudson and these expenditures will build a more diversified and profitable base for Just Energy's future. 

Distributable cash after gross margin replacement for the three months ended June 30, 2010, was 333,8 million (30,24 per unit), down 20% 

from $42.2 million (30.37 per unit) in fiscal 2010, While margin was up 19%. it was down on a per unit basis. Margin from the natural 

gas business was significantly reduced as a result of lower per customer consumption due to record warm temperatures across Just Energy's 

key markets. 

The higher gross margins in the year were offset by increased general and administrative costs, largely due to the expansions noted above, 

interest charges and higher bad debt expense. Over the prior year comparable quarter, increased general and administrative costs of 87% 

were noted, of which S8.3 million or 61 % related to incremental Universal, Hudson and Momentis costs not incurred last year The 

remaining increase was to accommodate the numerous areas of expansion noted above. Interest costs relate primarily to the JEEC and JEIF 

convertible debentures, which relate to the Hudson and Universal acquisitions, funding for water heater purchases and debt associated with 

TGF. Bad debt expense increased in the first quarter of fiscal 2011 compared to 2010, due to the increased sales in those markets where the 

Fund bears the credit risk and the continued weak economic conditions in the U.S, markets. Overall, bad debt percentage of relevant sales 

was within the target range at 2,8%, equal to that of the prior quarter 

Just Energy spent 318.3 million in marketing expenses for the quarter to maintain its current level of gross margin, which represents 66% 

of the total marketing expense, excluding the amortization of contract initiation costs. A further $9.4 million was spent to increase future 

gross margin, reflecting the 116,000 net RCE additions through marketing to date for fiscal 2011. Management's estimate of the future 

contracted gross margin increased to $1,501.1 million from $1,204.3 million at March 3 1 , 2010, and $1,003.2 million a year earlier. 

Management's estimate of the future embedded gross margin is as follows: 

(millions of dollars) 

Canada (CAD$) 

United States (US$) 

Total (CADS) 

Distributable cash after all marketing expenses amounted to $24.4 million ($0.18 per unit) forthef irst quarter of fiscal 2011, a decline of 

32% from $36.1 million ($0.32 per unit) in the prior year comparable quarter The decrease is due to the higher gross margin being more 

than offset by the increased expenditures noted above. There were higher marketing costs associated with the significant increase in net 

customer additions quarter over quarter The payout ratio after deduction of all marketing expenses for the current quarter was 173% 

versus 97% in fiscal 2010. Management anticipates that the payout ratio for fiscal 2011 will be less than 100% (excluding any Special 

Distributions for tax purposes), which is as it has been in past years. 

For further information on the changes in the gross margin, please refer to "Sales and gross margin - seasonally adjusted" on page 1B, and 

"General and administrative expenses", "Marketing expenses", "Bad debt expense" and "Interest expense" are further clarified on 

pages 24 to 26. 

$ 

s 

June 30. 
2010 

757.5 

698,5 

1,501.1 

$ 

$ 

June 30, 
2009 

675.8 

284.7 

1,003,2 

% increase 

12% 

145% 

50% 
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Fiscal 2011 

$ 25,727 
275,309 
42.277 
(16,550) 
233,032 

Fiscal 201D 

$ 37,795 
102,627 
35.014 

2,781 
67,613 

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

Discuss ion o f d i s t r i b u t i o n s 

For the three months ended June 30 

(thousands of dollars) 

Cash flow from operations' (A) 

Net income (B) 

Total distributions (C) 

Excess (shortfall) of cash flows from operating activities over distributions paid (A-C) 

Excess of net income over distributions paid (B-C) 

' Includes non-cash working capital balances-

Net income includes non-cash gains and losses associated with the changes in the current market value of Just Energy's derivative instruments. 

These instruments form part of the Fund's requirement to purchase commodity according to estimated demand and, as such, changes in 

value do not impact the distribution policy or the long-term financial performance of the Fund. The change in fair value associated with these 

derivatives, included in the net income for the first quarter of fiscal 2011, was a gain of $314.4 million versus $87.9 million for the same period 

last year. 

The Fund has, in the past paid out distributions that were higher than both financial statement net income and operating cashflow. In the view 

of management, the non-GAAP measure, distributable cash, is an appropriate measure of the Fund's ability to distribute funds, as the cost of 

carrying the incremental working capital necessary for the grovrth of the business has been deducted in the distributable cash calculaton. 

Further, investment in the addition of new customers intended to increase cash flow is expensed in the financial statements while the original 

customer base was capitalized. Management believes that the current level of distributions will be sustainable in the foreseeable future. 

The timing differences beUveen distributions and cash flow from operations created by the cost of carrying incremental working capital due 

to business seasonality and expansion are funded by the operating credit facility 

S t a n d a r d i z e d D i s t r i b u t a b l e Cash a n d Cash A v a i l a b l e f o r D i s t r i b u t i o n 

For the three months ended June 30 

(thousands o f dollars, except per unit amounts) 

Fiscal 2011 Fiscal 2010 

Reconciliation to statements of cash f low 

Cash inflow from operations 

Capital expenditures' 

Standardized Distributable Cash 

Adjustments to Standardized Distributable Cash 

Change in non-cash working capitaP 

Tax impact on distributions to Class A preference shareholders^ 

Other 

Capital expenditures' 

Cash Available for Distribution 

$ 

$ 

25.727 $ 
(9,607) 
16,120 

(3.648) 
538 

1,785 
9,607 

24,402 $ 

0.12 
0.11 

262% 

; 37,795 
(7,406) 
30,389 

(2,246) 
538 

-
7,406 

36,087 

0.27 
0.27 

115% 

Standardized Distributable Cash - per unit basic 

Standardized Distributable Cash - per unit diluted 

Payout ratio based on Standardized Distributable Cash 

' The vast majority of capital expenditures ir the first quarter of fiscal 2010 related to the purchase of water heaters for subsequent rental. These expenditures 
expand the productive capacity of the business. Effective January 2010, water heater capital purchases are financed through separate financing secured by the 
water heaters and assodated contracts- All other capital expenditures were funded by the credit facility. 

^ Change in non-cash working capital is excluded from the calculation of Cash Available for Distribution as the Fund has a J250.0 million credit facility which is 
available for use to fund working capital requirements. This eliminates the potential impact of timing distortions relating to the respective items. 

' This amount indudes payments to the nolders of Class A preference shares and is equivalent to distributions. The number of Class A preference shares 
outstanding is induded in the denominator of any per unit calculation. 
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

In accordance with the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants ("CICA") July 2007 interpretive release, Standardized Distributable 

Cash in Income Trusts and other Flow-Through Entities, the Fund has presented the distributable cash calculation to conform to this guidance. 

In summary, for the purposes of the Fund, Standardized Distributable Cash is defined as the periodic cash flows from operating activities, 

including the effects of changes in non-cash working capital less total capital expenditures as reported in the GAAP financial statements. 

Financing strategy 

The Fund's $250,0 million credit facility will be sufficient to meet the Fund's short-term working capital and capital expenditure requirements. 

Working capital requirements can vary widely due to seasonal fluctuations and planned U.S.-related growth. In the long term, the Fund may 

be required to access the equity or debt markets in order to fund significant acquisitions, NEC entered into an agreement with Home Trust 

Company to separately finance its water heaters. See page 23 for further discussion on this financing. TGF has a separate credit facility 

debenture and term loan for their funding requirements, which are detailed on page 29. 

Productive capacity 

Just Energy's business primarily involves the sale of natural gas and/or electricity to residential and commercial customers under long-term, 

fixed-price and price-protected contracts. In addition, through NHS, the Fund sells and rents high efficiency and tankless water heaters and 

other HVAC products. TGF, an ethanol producer, operates an ethanol facility in Belle Plaine, Saskatchewan. The Fund's productive capacity is 

primarily determined by the gross margin earned from the contract price and the related supply cost on energy contracts. Also included is 

the gross margin earned on water heater rentals and ethanol sales after deducting production-related costs. 

The maintenance of the productive capacity of Just Energy is achieved through the retention of existing customers and the addition of new 

customers to replace those that have not been renewed. The productive capacity is maintained and grows through independent contractors 

and Hudson broker channels, call centre renewal efforts, Internet marketing and various mall campaigns. The Fund has entered into an 

agreement with Momentis under which their independent representatives will market natural gas and electricity contracts on behalf of 

Just Energy Momentis is a network marketing entity Management believes that this arrangement will further expand the productive 

capacity of the energy business. 

Effectively all of the residential marketing costs related to energy customer contracts are expensed immediately but fall into two categories. 

The first represents marketing expenses to maintain gross margin at pre-existing levels and, by definition, maintain productive capacity 

The second category represents marketing expenditures to add new margin which, therefore, expands productive capacity The Hudson 

commercial marketing expenses are primarily capitalized and amortized over the remaining life of the customer contract. 

The vast majority of capital expenditures incurred by Just Energy relate to the purchase of water heaters which are subsequently rented on a 

long-term basis under customer contracts. These capital expenditures are funded by non-recourse borrowings which have as security the 

water heaters and the rental contracts. As such, these capital expenditures increase the productive capacity of the Fund. 
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

Summary of quarterly results 
(thousands of dollars, except per unit amounts) 

Sales (seasonally adjusted) 
Gross margin (seasonally adjusted) 
General and administrative expense 
Net income (loss) 
Net income (loss) per unit- basic 
Net income (loss) per unit - diluted 
Adjusted EBITDA 
Amount available for distribution 

After gross margin replacement 
After marketing expense 

Payout ratio 
After gross margin replacement 
After marketing expense 

Sales (seasonally adjusted) 
Gross margin (seasonally adjusted) 
General and administrative expense 
Net income (loss) 
Net income (loss) per unit- basic 
Net income (loss) per unit - diluted 
Adjusted EBITDA 
Amount available for distribution 

After gross margin replacement 
After marketing expense 

Payout ratio 
After gross margin replacement 
After marketing expense 

' Indudes a one-time Spedal Distribution of $26.7 million in the third quarter of fiscal 2010 and J 18.6 million in the third quarter of fiscal 2009. 

The Fund's results reflect seasonality, as consumption is greatest duhng the third and fourth quarters (winter quarters). While year over year 
quarterly comparisons are relevant, sequential quarters will vary materially The main impact of this will be higher distributable cash with a 
lower payout ratio in the third and fourth quarters, and lower distributable cash with a higher payout ratio in the first and second quarters, 
excluding any Special Distribution. 

Ql 
fiscal 2011 

639,997 

88.933 

29,272 

275.309 

2.05 

1.85 

31,282 

33,783 

24.402 

125% 

173% 

01 
Fiscal 2010 

432,565 

74,769 

15,617 

102,627 

0.92 

0.91 

30,182 

42,219 

36,087 

83% 

97% 

04 
fiscal 2010 

$ 694,788 

121,872 

22,405 

(79,211) 

(0.59) 

(0.59) 

108,961 

66,023 

58,359 

63% 

7 1 % 

04 
Fiscal 2009 

$ 589,948 

106,143 

18,150 

(168,621) 

(1,57) 

(1.57) 

104,614 

72,244 

62,515 

48% 

56% 

03 
fiscal 2010 

$ 654,686 

121,722 

24,767 

97,390 

0.73 

0.73 

60,563 

69.455 

61,242 

98%' 

1 1 1 % ' 

Q3 
Fiscal 2009 

$ 510,801 

87,554 

14,753 

(49,094) 

(0,44) 

(0,44) 

60,822 

57,475 

48,162 

93%^ 

111%' 

Q2 
fiscal 2010 

$ 562,133 

107,519 

25,634 

110,690 

0.83 

0.82 

36,598 

52.303 

41.345 

82% 

104% 

02 
Fiscal 2009 

$ 386.158 

61,793 

13,236 

(923,990) 

(8.33) 

(8,33) 

17,024 

34,755 

28,394 

100% 

122% 
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

Analysis of the first quarter 

The 48% increase in seasonally adjusted sales compared to the prior year comparable quarter is mainly attributable to the sales generated 

by both the Universal and Hudson customers that were acquired on July 1, 2009, and May 1, 2010, respectively Strong net growth in 

customers added through marketing, primarily in the U.S., has also increased sales. The customer base has increased by 34% since the fiscal 

2010 year-end and 70% from June 30, 2009. Just Energy now has over three million RCEs. 

Gross margin increased by 19% in the first quarter of fiscal 2011 to $88.9 million, up from $74.8 million in the same period last year. In 

fiscal 2011, the customer additions also include both Universal and Hudson (two months only) which were not acquired at this time last 

year The increased customer additions and higher margin per new customer were partlallyoffset by a 12%-stronger Canadian dollar and 

sharply lower per customer gas consumption due to unusually warm weather General and administrative expense was $29.3 million for the 

quarter, an increase of 87% over the $15.6 million reported forthe same period last year, due to inclusion of costs for Universal and 

Hudson as well as significant expenditures targeted at further expanding Just Energy's business footprint and product offerings. 

The distributable cash after customer gross margin replacement was $33,8 million, down 20% from $42.2 million in the prior year 

comparable quarter The increased gross margin was offset by increased general and administrative expense, interest charges and bad debt 

expense versus the prior year comparable quarter 

After the deduction of all marketing expenses, distributable cash totalled S24.4 million, a decrease of 32% from $36,1 million in the first 

quarter of fiscal 2010. Distributions for the quarter were $42.3 million, an increase of 2 1 % over the same period last year The payout ratio 

after payment of all marketing costs for the first quarter of fiscal 2011 was 173% versus 97% for the same period last year. Management 

anticipates that the payout ratio for fiscal 2011 will be less than 100% (excluding any tax-driven Special Distributions), which is as it hasbeen 

in past years. 

Gas a n d e lec t r i c i t y m a r k e t i n g 

Sales and gross margin - per financial statements 

For the three months ended June 30 

(thousands of dollars) 

Sales 

Gas 

Electricity 

Canada United States 

$ 129,715 

160,629 

S 290,344 

73,048 

224,914 

Fiscal 2011 

Total 

$ 202.763 

385,543 

Canada United States 

$ 297,962 $ 588,306 $ 

149,697 

123,491 

273,188 

50,434 

75,388 

Fiscal 2010 

Total 

$ 200,131 

198.879 

$ 125,822 $ 399.010 

Increase 6% 137% 4 7 % 

Gross margin 

Gas 

Electricity 

Canada United States 

12,131 

25,996 

5,284 

36,770 

Fiscal 2011 

Total Canada United States 

17,415 

62,766 

22,714 

19,639 

10,694 

13,028 

Fiscal 2010 

Total 

33,408 

32,667 

$ 38,127 $ 42,054 $ 80.181 $ 42,353 $ 23,722 $ 66,075 

Increase (Decrease) (10)% 77% 2 1 % 

Canada 

Sales were $290.3 million for the three months ended June 30, 2010, an increase of 6% from the prior year comparable period. Gross 

margin was $38.1 million for the first quarter of 2011. down 10% from the first quarter of fiscal 2010, 

Uni ted States 

Sales and gross margin in the U.S. were $298.0 million and $42.1 million for the first quarter of 2011, an increase of 137% and 77%, 

respectively from the same period last year 
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

Sales and gross margin - seasonally adjusted' 

For the three months ended June 30 

(thousands of dollars) 

Sales 

Gas $ 

Adjustments' 

Fiscal 2011 Fiscal 2010 

Canada United States Total Canada United States Total 

Electricity 

129.715 

30,704 

160,419 

160.629 

321.048 

5 73,048 

(391) 

72,657 

224.914 

$ 297,571 

$ 202,763 

30.313 

233,076 

385,543 

$ 618.619 

$ 149,697 

33.555 

183.252 

123.491 

$ 306,743 

s 

$ 

50,434 

-

50,434 

75,388 

125,822 

S 200,131 

33,555 

233.686 

198.879 

$ 432.565 

Increase 

Gross margin 

Gas 

Adjustments' 

Electricity 

5% 137% 43% 

Fiscal 2011 Fiscal 2010 

Canada United States 

$ 12,131 $ 

8,084 

5,284 

352 

20,215 

25,996 

5,636 

36,770 

$ 46,211 $ 42,406 $ 

Total 

17,415 

8,436 

25,851 

62.766 

88.617 

Canada United States Total 

22,714 

8,694^ 

31,408 

19,639 

51,047 

$ 10,694 $ 33,408 

8,694 

10,694 

13,028 

42,102 

32,667 

S 23,722 $ 74.769 

Increase (Decrease) ___ 

' For Ontario. Manitoba, Quebec and Michigan gas markets. 

(9)% 79% 19% 

On a seasonally adjusted basis, sales increased by 4 3 % in the first quarter of fiscal 2011 to $618.6 million, as compared to $432.6 million in 

fiscal 2010. Gross margins were $88,6 million for the three months ended June 30, 2010. up 19% from the prior year comparable quarter. 

Canada 

Seasonally adjusted sales were $321,0 million for the quarter, up 5% from $306.7 million in fiscal 2010, Seasonally adjusted gross margins 

were $46.2 million in the first quarter of fiscal 2011, a decrease of 9% from $51.0 million in the same period last year 

Gas 

Canadian gas sales were $160.4 million, a decrease of 12% from $183,3 million in the first quarter of fiscal 2010. In the first quarter of fiscal 

2011, total customer delivered volumes were down 37% from the prior year comparable quarter due to extremely warm temperatures across 

all key gas markets and a 2% decrease in flowing customers. Gross margin totalled $20.2 million, down 36% from the first quarter of fiscal 

2010, reflecting lower consumption and losses on the sale of excess gas at much lower spot prices than had been contracted originally 

The table that follows highlights the extent of the adverse impact of warm weather on gas consumption in the quarter: 

Heating 
degree 
days-

Ql 
fiscal 2011 

Heating 
degree 
days-

Q1 
fiscal 2010 % decrease 

Heating 
degree 
days-

30-year 
average % decrease 

Toronto 

New York 

Chicago 

672 

347 
475 

971 

511 

701 

(31)% 

(32)% 

(32)% 

990 

547 

649 

(32)% 

(37)% 

(27)% 

After the allowance for balancing and inclusive of acquisitions, realized average gross margin per customer ("GM/RCE") for the three 

months ended June 30, 2010, amounted to $137/RCE, compared to 3195/RCE forthe prioryear comparable quarter This was due to the 

lower consumption and balancing losses. The GM/RCE value includes an appropriate allowance for the bad debt expense in Alberta. 
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

Electricity 

Electricity sales were $16D.6 million for the quarter, an increase of 30% from the first quarter of fiscal 2010. The sales growth is attributable 

to a 33% increase in total consumption largely due to the acquired Universal customers. Gross margin increased by 32% for the current 

quarter to $26.0 million versus $19.6 million for the prioryear comparable period. Gross margin growth is consistent with the consumption 

increases and continued higher margin per customer due to the growth of the JustGreen program. 

Average gross margin per customer after all balancing and including acquisitions for the quarter ended June 30, 2010, in Canada amounted 

to $142/RCE, a slight increase from 5141/RCE in the prioryear comparable quarter The GM/RCE value includes an appropriate allowance 

for the bad debt expense in Alberta. 

United States 

Sales for the first three months of fiscal 2011 were $297,6 million, an increase of 137% from $125.8 million in the prioryear comparable 

quarter Seasonally adjusted gross margin was $42,4 million, up 79% from $23.7 million in the same quarter last year. 

Gas 

For the first quarter of fiscal 2011, gas sales and gross margin in the U,S. totalled $72,7 million and $5.6 million, respectively, versus $50,4 million 

and $10.7 million in fiscal 2010. Despite an increased numberof customers due to successful marketing and the Hudson acquisition, gross margin 

declined by 47% due to a sharp decline in per customer consumption basedon the record warm weather noted above and third party losses on 

the sale of the resultant excess gas. as well as a 12% strengthening of the Canadian dollar exchange rate. Just Energy's ability to mitigate weather 

effects is limited by utilities' requirements to deliverfixed amounts of gas regardless of weather, particularly in Michigan. Average realized gross 

margin after all balandng costs for the three months ended June 30, 2010, was $82/RCE, a decrease of 70% over the prioryear comparable 

period average of $274/RCE. This is due to sharply lower per customer consumption, losses on the sale of excess gas and the inclusion of lower 

margin Hudson customers for two months. The GM/RCE value includes an appropriate allowance for the bad debt expense in Illinois. 

£/ectric/ry 

U.S. electricity seasonally adjusted sales and gross margin for the quarter were $224.9 million and $36.8 million, respectively versus the 

prior comparable quarter of fiscal 2010, In which sales and gross margin amounted to $75.4 million and 313,0 million, respectively Sales 

and margins increased as a result of a 297% increase in customers year over year due to the Hudson acquisition and strong marketing 

growth. The two months of the Hudson purchase added 3111.5 million in sales and $13.7 million of gross margin to the U.S. electricity 

results. Total customer demand Increased by 261 %, which is consistent with the growth in the customer base. 

Average gross margin percustomer for electricity during the current quarter decreased to $144/RCE, compared to $176/RCE in the prior 

year comparable period, as a direct result of unfavourable movements in exchange rates and lower margins per RCE for the Hudson 

commercial customers. The GM/RCE value for Texas includes an appropriate allowance for the bad debt expense. 
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

C u s t o m e r a g g r e g a t i o n 

Long-term customers 

Natural gas 

Canada 

United States 

Total gas 

Electricity 

Canada 

United States 

Total electricity 

Combined 

April!. 
2010 

734.000 

408.000 

1,142,000 

760.000 

391.000 

1,151,000 

2,293,000 

Additions 

12.000 

108,000 

120,000 

26,000 

115,000 

141,000 

261,000 

Acquired 

-
81,000 

81,000 

-
579,000 

579,000 

660,000 

Attrition 

(21,000) 

(32,000) 

(53,000) 

(18,000) 

(33,000) 

(51,000) 

(104,000) 

Failed 
to renew 

(16,000) 

(1,000) 

(17,000) 

(11,000) 

(13,000) 

(24,000) 

(41,000) 

June 30, 
2010 

709,000 

564,000 

1,273,000 

757,000 

1,039,000 

1,796,000 

3,069,000 

% increase 
(decrease) 

(3)% 

38% 

1 1 % 

-
166% 

56% 

34% 

As part of the Hudson acquisition. Just Energy acquired 660,000 customers with similar profiles to our existing book of customers. Another 

48,000 RCEs acquired with Hudson are variable and short term in nature and have not been included in the long-term customer 

aggregation reported above. 

Gross customer additions for the quarter were 921,000, comprised of 660,000 customers acquired with Hudson and 261,000 added through 

marketing. Of the customers added through marketing, 174,000 were large commercial customers, showing the immediate positive impact 

of both Hudson's broker channel and Just Energy's internal efforts to expand its share of the commercial market. Net customer additions 

through marketing for the quarter were 116,000 (exduding the 660,000 customers acquired with Hudson). For the same quarter last year, 

there were 11,000 net customer additions through marketing. Overall, there has been a 34% increase in total customers during the quarter 

and a 70% increase over the past 12 months, 

For the three-month period ended June 30, 2010, total gas customer numbers increased by 11 % from the fourth quarter of last year, 

reflecting solid growth in the U.S. and the Hudson acquisition. 

Total electricity customers were up 56% as at June 3D, 2010, from the year ended March 31 , 2010. The Hudson acquisition was responsible 

for the vast majority of this growth but solid additions from marketing were made, particularly in Texas, 

Jus tGreen 

Sales of the JustGreen products continue to support and reaffirm the strong demand for green energy products in all markets. The 

JustGreen program allows customers to choose to purchase units of green energy in the form of renewable energy or carbon offsets, in an 

effort to reduce greenhouse gas emissions. When a customer purchases a unit of green energy it creates a contractual obligation for 

Just Energy to purchase a supply of green energy at least equal to the demand created by the customer's purchase. A review was 

conducted by Grant Thornton LLP of Just Energy's Renewable Energy and Carbon Offsets Sales and Purchases report for the period from 

January 1, 2009, through December 31 , 2009, validating the matching of the Fund's renewable energy and carbon offset purchases with 

customer contracts. 

The Fund currently sells JustGreen gas in the eligible markets of Ontario, British Columbia, Alberta, Michigan, New York, Ohio and Illinois, 

and JustGreen electricity in Ontario, Alberta, New York and Texas. JustGreen sales will expand into the remaining markets over the coming 

quarters. Of all the customers who contracted with Just Energy in the quarter, 49% took JustGreen for some or all of their energy needs. 

On average, these customers elected to purchase 89% of their consumption as green supply 

Asof the quarter ended June 30, 2010, green supply now makes up 3% of our overall gas portfolio, up from 1 % in the first quarter of last 

year JustGreen supply makes up 6% of our electricity portfolio, up from 4% from the same period last year 
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Trailing 
12-month 

attrition 
fiscal 2011 

1 1 % 

28% 

13% 

14% 

Targeted 
attrition 

fiscal 2011 

10% 

30% 

10% 

20% 

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

Attrition 
Natural gas 

The trailing 12-month natural gas attrition rate in Canada was 1 1 % , slightly above management's target of 10%. In the U.S., gas attrition 

for the trailing 12 months was 28%, below management's annual target of 30%. This reflects a small improvement in the U.S., and 

management is optimistic that further improvements will be seen as the U.S. economy strengthens and should commodity prices continue 

to rise. 

Electricity 

The trailing 12-month electricity attrition rate in Canada for the quarter was 13%, above management'starget of 10%. Electricity attrition 

in the United States was 14% for the trailing 12 months, below management's target of 20%. 

Natural gas 

Canada 

United States 

Electricity 

Canada 

United States 

Fai led t o r e n e w 

The Just Energy renewal process is a multi-faceted program that aims to maximize the number of customers who choose to renew their 

contract prior to the end of their existing contract term. Efforts begin up to 15 months in advance to allow a customer to renew for an 

additional four or five years. 

The trailing 12-month renewal rate for all Canadian gas customers was 62%, below management's target of 70%, In the Ontario gas 

market, customers who do not positively elect to renew or terminate their contract receive a one-year fixed price for the ensuing year Of 

the total Canadian gas customers renewed in the first quarter of fiscal 2011, 34% were renewed for a one-year term. The Canadian gas 

market lagged the 2011 target of 70%, largely due to the current high spread between the Just Energy five-year price and the utility spot 

price. Management will continue to focus on increasing renewals, and a return to rising market pricing should result in an increase in 

Canadian gas renewal rates to target levels. 

The electricity renewal rate for Canadian customers was 70% for the trailing 12 months, which is at the targeted level. There has been solid 

demand for JustGreen products from renewing Canadian electricity customers. 

In the U.S. markets. Just Energy currently has only Illinois, Indiana and New York gas customers up for renewal. Gas renewals for the U.S. 

were 69%, below our target of 75%, on a very limited number of renewals. Again, the high spread between the Just Energy five-year price 

and utility floating-rate prices has impacted renewals. 

During the quarter. Just Energy had both Texas and New York electricity customers up for renewal. The electricity renewal rate was 83%, 

better than our target rate of 75%, 

Natural gas 

Canada 

United States 

Electricity 

Canada 

United States 

Trailing 
12-month 
renewals 

fiscal 2011 

62% 

69% 

70% 

83% 

Targeted 
renewals 

fiscal 2011 

70% 

75% 

70% 

75% 

JUST ENERC3Y INCOME FUND » FIRST QUARTER REPORT 2011 



Canada -
gas 

22% 

23% 

2 1 % 

15% 

14% 

5% 

Canada -
electricity 

16% 

23% 

26% 

16% 

12% 

7% 

U.S.-
gas 

12% 

17% 

27% 

13% 

22% 

9% 

u,s.-
electridty 

6% 

9% 

10% 

25% 

38% 

12% 

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

Gas and electricity contract renewals 

This table shows the percentage of customers up for renewal in each of the following years: 

Remainder of 2011 

2012 

2013 

2014 

2015 

Beyond 2015 

Total 100% 100% 100% 100% 

Just Energy continuously monitors its customer renewal rates and continues to modify its offering to existing customers in order to maximize 

the number of customers who renew their contracts. 

Gross nnargin earned through new marketing efforts 
Annual gross margin per customer for new and renewed customers 

The table below depicts the annual margins on contracts of residential customers signed in the quarter This table reflects ail margin earned 

on new additions and renewals, including "brown" commodity and JustGreen. Customers added through marketing were at or above the 

margins of customers lost through attrition or failure to renew. Renewing customers were at lower margins, largely due to lesser take-up 

of JustGreen on renewal. Sales of the JustGreen products remained very strong, with approximately 49% of ail customers added in the 

past quarter taking some or all green energy supply Those who purchased the JustGreen products elect on average to take 89% of their 

consumption as green supply A 100% JustGreen electricity customer in Ontario generates annual margins of approximately 3182, much 

higher than the "brown" margins realized. For large commercial customers, the average gross margin for new customers added was 

$67 per RCE. These customers equal, by definition, more than 15 RCEs. The aggregation cost of these customers is commensurately lower 

per RCE than a residential customer. 

Annual gross margin per customer' 
Fiscal 2011 

Residential and small commercial customers added in the quarter 

Canada-gas $ 199 

Canada - electricity 169 

United States - gas 272 

United States - electricity 256 

Customers renewed in the quarter 

Canada - gas 131 

Canada - electricity 108 

United States-gas 203 

United States - electricity 200 

Large commercial customers added in the quarter 67 

Customers lost in the quarter 

Canada-gas 195 

Canada - electricity 150 

United States - gas 208 

United States - electricity 222 

'Customer sales price less cost of associated supply and allowance for bad debt and U.S. working capital. 
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H o m e services d i v i s i o n (NHS) 

NHS was acquired on July 1, 2009, as part of the Universal acquisition. On July 2, 2009, NHS acquired Newten Home Comfort Inc. and on 

September 30, 2009. acquired substantially ail of the assets of NHCLP (see page 11 for additional information). NHS provides Ontario 

residential customers with long-term water heater rental programs, offering conventional tanks, power vented tanks and tankless water 

heaters in a variety of sizes, in addition to the new offering of furnaces and air conditioners, NHS continues to ramp up its operations and. 

as at June 30. 2010, had a cumulative installed base of 87,400 water heaters, 500 furnaces and 100 air conditioners in residential homes, 

NHS earns revenue from its installed base. 

Management's strategy for NHS is to self-fund the business through its growth phase, building value within the customer base. This way 

NHS will not require cash from Just Energy's core operations nor will Just Energy rely on NHS cash flow to fund distributions. The result 

should be a very valuable asset, which will generate excellent cash returns upon repayment of the HTC financing. 

The first quarter of 2011 saw significant geographic and product expansions for NHS. The division has begun marketing its products in 

Union Gas territory in Ontario, expanding its reach to the entire province. It also rolled out an offering of furnace and air conditioner rental 

and sales. These expansions were funded by increased general and administrative costs but are expected to substantially increase the 

growth and profitability of NHS in the future. 

As NHS is a high growth, relatively capital-intensive business. Just Energy management believes that, in order to maintain stability of 

distributions, separate non-recourse financing of this capital is appropriate. On January 18, 2010, NEC announced that it had entered into 

a long-term financing agreement with HTC for the funding of the water heaters for NHS, Under the agreement. NHS receives funds 

equal to the amount of the five-year cash flow of the water heater contract discounted at an agreed upon rate. HTC is then paid an 

amount that is equal to the customer rental payments on the water heaters for the next five years. The initial funding received up to 

June 30, 2010, was $70.9 million. 

Selected financial in format ion 

(thousands of dollars, except where indicated) 
Three months ended 

June 30. 2010 

Sales per financial statements $ 4,441 

Cost of sales 1,609 

Gross margin 2,832 

Selling expenses 814 

General and administrative expense 2,885 

Interest expense 1,341 

Capital expenditures 8,154 

Amortization 467 

Total number of water heaters installed 10,400 

Results of operations 

Just Energy has owned NHS since July 1. 2009. and therefore, has no comparative results for the same period last year For the quarter ended 

June 30, 2010, NHS had sales of $4,4 million and gross margin of $2.8 million. The cost of sales for the quarter was $1.6 million and 

represents the amortization of the installed water heaters for the customer contracts signed to date. Selling expenses for the first quarter of 

fiscal 2011 were $0,8 million and include the amortization of commission costs paid to the independent agents, automobile fleet costs, 

advertising and promotion, and telecom and office supplies expenses. General and administrative costs, which relate primarily to administrative 

staff compensation and warehouse expenses, amounted to $2,9 million forthe three months ended June 30, 2010. The high level of general 

and administrative costs relative to past quarters was largely due to the expansion into Union Gas territory and the rollout of furnace and air 

conditioner offerings. 

Capital expenditures, including installation costs, amounted to 38.2 million. Amortization costs were $0.5 million for the current year and 

include not only the depreciation on capital assets noted above but also the amortization of the water heater contracts and customer 

relationships acquired in the purchases of Universal and Newten Home Comfort Inc, 

The growth of NHS has been rapid and, combined with the HTC financing, is expected to be self-sustaining on a cash flow basis. 
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E t h a n o l d i v i s i o n (TGF) 

TGF continues to remain focused on improving plant production and the runtime of the Belle Plaine wheat-based ethanol facility For the 

quarter ended June 30, 2010, the plant achieved an average production capacity of 62%. The Phase 1 grain-milling upgrade has allowed 

the plant to achieve daily milling rates exceeding nameplate capacity from time to time. However, extreme rain limited the ability of the 

plant to source grain supply and it was forced to reduce production levels or shut down for 19 days. Plant capacity was close to 80% on the 

days when the plant was in production. Ethanol prices continue to be depressed and were, on average, $0.57 per litre for the quarter but 

are expected to increase slightly during the fiscal year Wheat prices are projected to increase in the near term from the average this quarter 

of $168 per metric tonne. 

The ethanol division has separate non-recourse financing in place such that capital requirements and operating losses will not impact 

Just Energy's core business and its ability to pay distributions. 

Ethanol division 

Selected financial informat ion 

(thousands of dollars) 

Three months ended 
June 30, 2010 

Sales perfinancial statements S 16,806 

Cost of sales 19,452 

Gross margin (2.646) 

General and administrative expense 2.334 

Interest expense 1.707 

Capital expenditures 114 

Amortization 296 

Results of operations 

Just Energy has owned 66.7% of TQF since July 1, 2009, and therefore, has no comparable results for the same period last year During 

the first quarter of fiscal 2011. TGF had sales of $16.8 million and realized gross margin of $(2.6) million. The negative gross margin was 

a result of high production costs due to plant inefficiency and low ethanol and DDG prices. During the quarter, the plant produced 

23.2 million litres of ethanol and 23,060 metric tonnes of DDG. Forthe three months ended June 30, 2010, TGF incurred $2.3 million in 

general and administrative expenses and $1.7 million in interest charges. Capital expenditures for the quarter, including installation costs, 

amounted to $0.1 million, 

TGF receives a federal subsidy related to an agreement signed on February 17, 2009. based on the volume of ethanol produced. From 

July 1, 2009 to March 31. 2010, the subsidy was ten cents per litre on ethanol produced. Through fiscal 2011, this subsidy will be 

nine cents per litre on ethanol produced. This amount declines over time to five cents per litre of ethanol produced in fiscal 2015, the last 

year of the agreement. 

TGF has seen improved results since quarter end due to the grain-milling upgrade, improved ethanol and DDG prices. 

Ove ra l l c o n s o l i d a t e d resu l ts 

General and administrative expenses 

General and administrative costs were $29,3 million for the three months ended June 30, 2010, representing an 87% increase from 

$15.6 million in the first quarter of fiscal 2010. The current-year expense includes Universal and two months of Hudson, both of which 

were acquired after the comparable quarter of last year These acquisitions were responsible for 57% of the increase in expense. The 

remaining increase was to accommodate the numerous areas of expansion undertaken by the Fund during the quarter which should result 

in higher margin and distributable cash in future periods. Other factors include the U.S. exchange rate impact on U.S, dollar denominated 

costs and an increase in collection costs. 

Market ing expenses 

Marketing expenses, which consist of commissions paid to independent sales contractors, brokers and independent representatives for 

signing new customers, as well as an allocation of corporate costs, were 329.8 million, an increase of 54% from 319.4 million in the first 

quarter of fiscal 2010. New customers signed by our marketing sales force were 261,000 in the first quarter of fiscal 2010, up 169% 

compared to 97.000 customers added through our sales offices in the first quarter of fiscal 2010. The increase in the current-quarter 

expense reflects the growth in customer additions and the impact of the higher U.S. dollar on our U.S.-based marketing costs and lower 

aggregation cost per customer 
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Fiscal 3011 

$ 158/RCE 

75/RCE 

84/RCE 

124/RCE 

118/RCE 

119/RCE 

95/RCE 

43/RCE 

Fiscal 2010 

3 209/RCE 

199/RCE 

202/RCE 

162/RCE 

161/RCE 

161/RCE 

176/RCE 

37/RCE 

Marketing expenses to maintain gross margin are allocated based on the ratio of gross margin lost from attrition as compared to the gross 

margin signed from new and renewed customers during the fiscal year Marketing expenses to maintain gross margin were 318.3 million, 

an increase of 38% from $13.3 million in the prior year comparable quarter 

Marketing expenses to add new gross margin are allocated based on the ratio of net new gross margin earned on the customers signed, 

less attrition, as compared to the gross margin signed from new and renewed customers during the period. Marketing expenses to add 

new gross margin in the first quarter totalled $9.4 million, an increase from $6.1 million in the prior year comparable period. This increase is 

the result of the increase in the net customer additions of 116,000 in fiscal 2011 versusthe 11,000 net customers added through our sales 

offices during the first quarter of fiscal 2010. 

Marketing expenses included in distributable cash exclude amortization related to the contract initiation costs for Hudson and NHS. For the 

three months ended June 30, 2010, the amortization amounted to $2.1 million. 

The quarterly actual aggregation costs per customer, including Hudson, were as foilows: 

Natural gas 

Canada 

United States 

Total gas 

Electricity 

Canada 

United States 

Total electricity 

Al l customers 

Renewals 

The aggregation costs above are those included within the quarterly results. Commercial contracts (174,000 out of 261,000 aggregated) 

pay further commission averaging $30 per year for each additional year that the customer flows. Assuming an average life of three years, 

this would add approximately $45 to the fiscal 2011 average of all customers above. 

Aggregation costs per customer were down significantly during the quarter The marketing success of the commercial division resulted in 

record gross customer additions of 261,000, up from 97,000 in the first quarter of fiscal 2010. Due to the large gross addition increase, the 

fixed portions of the marketing costs were spread across far more additions. Including an estimate for the lifetime commission cost for 

commercial customers, the average cost per customer of $148 was down 16% from the average of $178 in fiscal 2010. 

Unit based compensation 

Compensation in the form of units (non-cash) granted by the Fund to the directors, officers, full-time employees and service providers of 

its subsidiaries and affiliates pursuant to the 2001 unit option plan, the 2004 unit appreciation rights plan and the directors' deferred 

compensation plan amounted to $1.1 million for the first quarter of fiscal 2011, an increase from the $0,7 million paid in the first quarter of 

fiscal 2010. The increase relates primarily to additional fully paid unit appreciation rights awarded to the senior management of the Fund. 

Bad debt expense 

In Illinois, Alberta, Texas, Pennsylvania, Maryland and California, Just Energy assumes the credit risk associated with the collection of all 

customer accounts. In addition, for commercial direct-billed accounts in B.C., New York and Ontario, the Fund is responsible for the bad 

debt risk. Credit review processes have been established to manage the customer default rate. Management factors default from credit risk 

into its margin expectations for all of the above-noted markets. 

Bad debt expense for three months ended June 30, 2010. increased by 50% to $5.7 million versus $3,8 million expensed in the prioryear 

comparable quarter The bad debt expense increase was entirely related to the 84% increase in total revenues for the quarter in the 

markets where Just Energy assumes the risk for accounts receivable collections, which now also includes incremental Hudson customers. 

Management integrates its default rate for bad debts within its margin targets and continuously reviews and monitors the credit approval 

process to mitigate customer delinquency 
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Forthe first quarter, bad debt expense represents 2.8% of $207.0 million in revenues, within the Fund's 2% to 3% target range. This was 

equal to the level reported in the fourth quarter of 2010 and down from the 3.4% reported a year earlier Higher credit losses have been 

experienced in Texas but have been offset by improvements in Illinois and Alberta and lower default rates for acquired Hudson commercial 

customers. Management has taken an aggressive position with regards to returning customers to utility default sen/ices or disconnecting 

delinquent customers to ensure that bad debt expense is managed through the high-consumption electricity and gas periods. 

For each of Just Energy's other markets, the LDCs provide collection services and assume the risk of any bad debt owing from Just Energy's 

customers for a regulated fee. 

Interest expense 

Total interest expense for the three months ended June 30, 2010, amounted to $9.5 million, an increase from $0.5 million in the first 

quarter of fiscal 2010. The large increase in costs for the quarter primarily relates to the Interest expense for the JEEC and JEIF convertible 

debentures associated with the Universal and Hudson acquisitions, as well as interest costs associated with the TGF debt. 

Foreign exchange 

Just Energy has an exposure to U.S. dollar exchange rates as a result of its U.S. operations and any changes in the applicable exchange rate 

may result in a decrease or increase in other comprehensive income (loss). For the quarter, a foreign exchange unrealized gain of 314.9 million 

was reported in other comprehensive income (loss) versus an unrealized gain of $18.2 million reported in the same period last year 

Overall, a stronger U.S. dollar increases sales and gross margin but this is partially offset by higher operating costs denominated in U.S, dollars. 

The Fund retains sufficient funds in the U.S. to support ongoing growth and surplus cash is repatriated to Canada. U.S. cross border cash 

flow is forecasted annually and hedges for cross border cash flow are entered into when it is determined that any surplus U.S, cash is not 

required for new acquisition opportunities. 

Class A preference share distributions 

The remaining holderof the Just Energy Corp. ("JEC") Class A preference shares (which are exchangeable into units on a 1;1 basis) is entitled 

to receive, on a quarterly basis, a payment equal to the amount paid or payable to a Unitholder on an equal number of units. The total 

amount paid for the three months ended June 30, 2010, including tax amounted to $1,6 million, which is unchanged from the comparable 

period of fiscal 2010. The distributions on the Class A preference shares are reflected in the Consolidated Statements of Unitholders' 

Deficiency in the Fund's consolidated financial statements, net of tax. 

Provision for income tax 

For the three months ended June 30 

(thousands of dollars) 

Fiscal 2011 Fiscal 2010 

Current income tax recovery S (1,002) 3 (40) 

Amount credited to Unitholders' equity 538 538 

Future tax expense 19,824 9,805 

Provision for income tax $ 19,360 $ 10,303 

The Fund recorded a current income tax recovery of $1.0 million forthe first quarter of fiscal 2011 versus a recovery of $0.04 million In the 

same period last year The change is mainly attributable to a U.S. income tax recovery generated by operating losses incurred by the U.S. 

entities in this quarter 

Also included in the income tax provision is an amount relating to the tax impact of the distributions paid to the Class A preference 

shareholders of JEC. In accordance with EIC 151. "Exchangeable Securities Issued by Subsidiaries of Income Trusts", all Class A preference 

shares are included as part of Unitholders' equity and the distributions paid to the shareholders are included as distributions on the 

Consolidated Statements of Unitholders' Deficiency net of tax. For the three months ended June 30, 2010, the tax impact of these 

distributions, based on a tax rate of 33%, amounted to $0.5 million, which is unchanged from the amount in fiscal 2010, 

As noted in the Fund's 2010 Annual Report, the Fund will convert to a taxable Canadian corporation after 2010 (the "Conversion"), and a 

future tax recovery of $122,0 million was recorded in fiscal 2010 to recognize the significant temporary differences attributed to mark to 

market losses from financial derivatives which are expected to be realized subsequent to 2010. During this quarter, these mark to market 

losses declined as a result of a change in fair value of the derivative instruments, and as a result, a future tax expense of $19.8 million has 

been recorded for this period. 

JUST ENERGY INCOME FUND » FIRST QUARTER REPORT 2011 



MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

After the Conversion at the commencement of the first quarter of calendar 2011, the Fund will be taxed as a taxable Canadian corporation 

from that date onwards. Therefore, the future tax asset or liability assodated with Canadian liabilities and assets recorded on the 

Consolidated Balance Sheets as at that date will be realized over time as the temporary differences between the carrying value of assets in 

the consolidated financial statements and their respective tax bases are realized. Current Canadian income taxes will be accrued at that time 

to the extent that there is taxable income in the Fund or its underlying operating entities. 

The Fund follows the liability method of accounting for income taxes. Under this method, income tax liabilities and assets are recognized for the 

estimated tax consequences attributable to the temporary differences between the carrying value of the assets and liabilities on the consolidated 

financial statements and their respective tax bases, using substantively enacted income tax rates. A valuation allowance is recorded against a 

future income tax asset if it is not anticipated that the asset will be realized in the foreseeable future. The effect of a change in the income tax 

rates used in calculating future income tax liabilities and assets is recognized in income during the period in which the change occurs. 

Liquidity and capital resources 
Summary of cash f lows 

For the three months ended June 30 

(thousands of dollars) 

Fiscal 2011 Fiscal 2010 

Operating activities $ 25,727 $ 37,795 

Investing activities (263,586) (7,406) 

Financing activities, excluding distributions 303,669 (11,196) 

Effect of foreign currency translation A.547 (1,099) 

Increase in cash before distributions 70,357 18,094 

Distnbutions (cash payments) (36,061) (31,977) 

Increase (decrease) in cash 34,296 (13.883) 

Cash - beginning of period 60,132 59,094 

Cash-end of period $ 94,428 $ 45.211 

Operat ing activities 

Cash flow from operating activities for the three months ended June 30. 2010, was $25.7 million, a decrease from $37,8 million in the prior 

year comparable quarter The decrease relates to strong net income growth offset by increased amortization, taxes and unrealized income 

related to the financial instruments recorded in the quarter 

Investing activities 

The Fund purchased capital assets totalling 39.6 million during the quarter, an increase from $7.4 million in the same period last year In 

fiscal 2011, Just Energy's capital spending related to the water heater business, costs related to a new call center in Texas and purchases of 

office equipment and IT software. 

Financing activities 

Financing activities, excluding distributions, relate primarily to debentures issued to fund the Hudson acquisition and a decrease in the 

operating line for working capital requirements. During the three months ended June 30, 2010, Just Energy entered into an agreement 

with a syndicate of underwriters for $330 million of convertible debentures to fund the Hudson acquisition. The Fund also repaid a total of 

$49.0 million against the credit facility versus $19.0 million repaid in thefirst quarter of fiscal 2009, On July 1, 2009, in connection with the 

acquisition of Universal, Just Energy increased its credit facility from 3170 million to $250 million. As part of the increase in the credit facility 

Soci^t^ G6n6rale and Alberta Treasury Branches joined Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce, Royal Bank of Canada, National Bank of 

Canada and Bank of Nova Scotia as the syndicate of lenders thereunder As Just Energy continues to expand in the United States markets, 

the need to fund working capital and security requirements will increase, driven primarily by the number of customers aggregated and, to a 

lesser extent, by the number of new markets. Based on the markets in which Just Energy currently operates and others that management 

expects the Fund to enter, funding requirements will be supported through the credit facility 
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The Fund's liquidity requirements are driven by the delay from the time that a customer contract is signed until cash flow is generated. For 

residential customers, approximately 60% of an independent sales contractor's commission payment is made following reaffirmation or 

verbal verification of the customer contract with most of the remaining 40% being paid after the energy commodity begins flowing to the 

customer For commercial customers, commissions are either paid as the energy commodity flows throughout the contract or annually paid 

upfront once the customer's commodity begins to flow. 

The elapsed period between the times when a customer is signed to when the first payment is received from the customer varies with each 

market. The time delays per market are approximately two to nine months. These periods reflect the time required by the various LDCs to 

enrol, f low the commodity, bill the customer and remit the first payment to Just Energy In Alberta and Texas, Just Energy receives payment 

directly from the customer. 

Distributions {cash payments) 

Investors should note that due to the institution of a distribution reinvestment program ("DRIP") on December 20, 2007, a portion of 

distributions declared are not paid in cash. This program was suspended on December 1, 2008, with the commencement of the normal course 

issuer bid and was re-instituted on March 31, 2009. Underthe program, Unitholders can eleato receive their distributions in units at a 2% 

discount to the prevailing market price rather than the cash equivalent During the first quarter, the Fund made cash distributions to its 

Unitholders and the Class A preference shareholder in the amount of $36.1 million, compared to $32.0 million in fiscal 2010, 

Just Energy will continue to utilize its cash resources for expansion into new markets and growth in its existing energy marketing customer base, 

JustGreen products and home sen/ices division, and also to make accretive acquisitions of customers as well as distributions to its Unitholders, 

At the end of the quarter, the annual rate for distributions per unit was 31.24. The Fund intends to make distributions to its Unitholders, 

based upon cash receipts of the Fund, excluding proceeds from the issuance of additional Fund units, adjusted for costs and expenses of 

the Fund. The Fund's intention is for Unitholders of record on the 15th day of each month to receive distributions at the end of the month. 

C o n s o l i d a t e d Balance Sheets as a t June 3 0 , 2 0 1 0 , c o m p a r e d t o M a r c h 3 1 , 2 0 1 0 

Cash increased from $60.1 million asat March 31 , 2010, to 394.4 million. Restricted cash, which includes cash collateral posting related to 

supply procurement and credit support for Universal, Commerce and TGF entities, has decreased to 314.5 million on June 30. 2010. from 

$18,7 million. The utilization of the credit facility decreased from $57.5 miilion to $36.5 million as a result of higher cash receipts due to the 

Universal and Hudson acquisitions and strong customer additions in the past fiscal year Working capital requirements in the U.S. and 

Alberta result from the timing difference between customer consumption and cash receipts. For electricity, working capital is required to 

fund the lag between settlements with the suppliers and settlements with the LDCs. 

The decrease in accounts receivable from $348.9 million to $325.9 million is primarily attributable to the decrease in revenue associated 

with the period of lower gas consumption in the first quarter of 2011 in comparison to the fourth quarter of 2010. Accounts payable and 

accrued liabilities have increased from $227.0 million to $308.4 million related to added consumption as a result of the Universal and 

Hudson customers acquired and strong net additions in fiscal 2010. 

Gas in storage has increased from 34.1 million to 338.4 million for the first quarter of fiscal 2011. The increased balance reflects injections 

into storage for the expanding U.S. customer base, which occur from April to November 

At the end of the first quarter, customers in Ontario, Quebec and Michigan had delivered more gas to LDCs than was supplied to customers 

for their use. Since Just Energy is paid for this gas when delivered, yet recognizes revenue when the gas is consumed by the customer, 

the result on the Consolidated Balance Sheets is the deferred revenue amount of $25.2 million and gas delivered in excess of consumption of 

$21.3 million. Forthe markets in which Hudson operates, inventory balances result in unbilled revenues of $21.0million. At March 31, 2010, 

Just Energy had unbilled revenues amounting to 320.8 million and accrued gas accounts payable of $15.1 million. 

Contract initiation costs relate to the commissions paid by both Hudson and NHS for contracts sold and will be amortized over the life of 

the contract. The balance increased to 328,3 million from $5.6 million at the end of last fiscal year due mainly to the Hudson acquisition, 

since the March 31 , 2010 balance relates to contract initiation costs for NHS only 

The other assets and other liabilities relate entirely to the fair value of the financial derivatives. The mark to market gains and losses can 

result in significant changes in net income and, accordingly Unitholders' equity from quarter to quarter due to commodity price volatility. 

Given that the Fund has purchased this supply to cover future customer usage at fixed prices, management believes that these non-cash 

quarteriy changes are not meaningful. 
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Fiscal 2011 

S 36,500 

40,927 

37,001 

10,000 

83,731 

70,949 

282,478 

Fiscal 2010 

$ 57,500 

41,313 

37,001 

10,000 

83,417 

65,435 

-

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

Intangible assets include the acquired customer contracts as well as other intangibles such as brand, broker network and information 

technology systems primarily related to the Hudson and Universal purchases. The total intangible asset and goodwill balances increased to 

$644.6 million and $222.8 million, respectively, from $340.6 million and $177.9 million asat March 31 , 2010. 

Long-term debt excluding the current portion has increased to $496.5 million in thefirst quarter from $231.8 million and is detailed below. 

Long-term debt and financing 
Asat June 30 

(thousands of dollars) 

Original credit facility 

TGF credit facility 

TGF debentures 

TGF term Loan 

JEEC convertible debentures 

NEC HTC financing 

JEIF convertible debentures 

Original credit facil ity 

On July 1, 2009, in connection with the acquisition of Universal, Just Energy increased its credit facility from $170 million to $250 million. 

As part of the increase in the credit facility Society G6n6rale and Alberta Treasury Branches joined Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce, 

Royal Bank of Canada, National Bank of Canada and Bank of Nova Scotia as the syndicate of the lenders thereunder Under the new terms 

of the credit facility effective July 1, 2009, Just Energy is able to make use of Bankers' Acceptances and LIBOR advances at stamping fees of 

4.0%, prime rate advances at Canadian prime and U.S. prime plus 3.0%, and letters of credit at 4.0%. Just Energy's obligations under the 

credit facility are supported by guarantees of certain subsidiaries and affiliates and secured by a pledge of the assets of Just Energy and the 

majority of its operating subsidiaries and afliliates. Just Energy is required to meet a number of financial covenants under the credit facility 

agreement. As at June 30, 2010 and 2009, all of these covenants have been met. 

TGF credit facil ity 

A credit facility of up to $50.0 million was established with a syndicate of Canadian lenders led by Conexus Credit Union and was arranged 

to finance the construction of the ethanol plant in 2007, The facility was further revised on March 18, 2009, and was converted to a fixed 

repayment term of ten years commencing March 1, 2009, which includes interest costs at a rate of prime plus 2%, with principal repayments 

commencing on March 1, 2010. The credit facility is secured by a demand debenture agreement, a first priority security interest on all 

assets and undertakings of TGh and a general security interest on all other current and acquired assets of TGF. The credit facility includes 

certain financial covenants, the more significant of which relate to current ratio, debt to equity ratio, debt service coverage and minimum 

shareholders' equity The lenders have deferred compliance with the financial covenants until April 1, 2011. Thefacility was further revised 

on March 31 , 2010, postponing the principal payments due for April 1 to June 1, 2010, and to amortize them over the six-month period 

commencing October 1, 2010, and ending March 31 , 2011. 

TGF debentures 

A debenture purchase agreement with a number of private parties providing for the Issuance of up to $40.0 million aggregate principal 

amount of debentures was entered into in 2006. The interest rate is 10.5% per annum, compounded annually and payable quarterly 

Interest is to be paid quarterly with quarterly principal payments commencing October 1, 2009, in the amount of $1.0 million per quarter 

The agreement includes certain financial covenants, the more significant of which relate to current ratio, debt to capitalization ratio, debt 

sen/ice coverage, debt to EBITDA and minimum shareholders' equity. The lender has deferred compliance with the financial covenants 

until April 1, 2011. On March 31 , 2010, TGF entered into an agreement with the holders of the debentures to defer scheduled prindpal 

payments owing underthe debenture until April 1, 2011. 

TGF term/operat ing facilities 

TGF also maintains a working capital facility for $10.0 million with a third party lender bearing interest at prime plus 1 % due in full on 

December 3 1 , 2010. This facility is secured by liquid investments on deposit with the lender In addition, TGF has a working capital 

operating line of $7,0 million bearing interest at prime plus 1 %, of which $3.2 million was drawn via overdraft and is included in bank 

indebtedness, and $3.4 million of letters of credit have also been issued. 
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JEEC convertible debentures 

In conjunction with the acquisition of Universal on July 1, 2009, JEEC also assumed the obligations of the convertible unsecured 

subordinated debentures issued by Universal in October 2007 which have a face value of $90 million. The JEEC convertible debentures 

mature on September 30, 2014, unless converted prior to that date, and bear interest at an annual rate of 6% payable semi-annually on 

March 31 and September 30 of each year Each 31,000 principal amount of the JEEC convertible debenturesisconvertibleat any time prior 

to maturity or on the date fixed for redemption, at the option of the holder, into approximately 29.3 units of the Fund, representing a 

conversion price of $34,09 per Exchangeable Share. 

The JEEC convertible debentures are not redeemable prior to October 1, 2010. On and after October 1, 2010, but prior to September 30, 

2012, the JEEC convertible debentures are redeemable, in whole or in part, at a price equal to the principal amount thereof, plus accrued and 

unpaid interest, at the Fund's sole option on not more than 60 days' and not less than 30 days' prior notice, provided that the current market 

price on the date on which notice of redemption is given is not less than 125% of the conversion price. On and after September 30, 2012, 

but prior to the maturity date, the JEEC convertible debentures are redeemable, in whole or in part, at a price equal to the principal amount 

thereof, plus accrued and unpaid Interest, at the Fund's sole option on not more than 60 days' and not less than 30 days' prior notice, 

NEC financing 

On January 18, 2010, NEC announced that it had entered into a long-term financing agreement for the funding of new and existing rental 

water heater contracts for NHS. Pursuant to the agreement, NHS will receive financing of an amount equal to the net present value of the 

first five years of monthly rental income, discounted at the agreed upon financing rate of 7.99% and, as settlement, is required to remit an 

amount equivalent to the rental stream from customers on the water heater contracts for the first five years. The financing agreement is 

subject to a holdback provision, whereby 3% of the outstanding balance of the funded amount is deducted and deposited into a reserve 

account in the event of default. Once all of the obligations of NHS are satisfied or expired, the remaining funds in the reserve account will 

immediately be released to NHS. NEC is required to meet a number of covenants underthe agreement and, as at June 30, 2010, all of 

these covenants have been met. 

JEIF convertible debentures 

On May 7, 2010, Just Energy completed the acquisition of all of the equity interests of Hudson Parent Holdings, LLC and Hudson Energy Corp. 

(collectively "Hudson") with an effective date of May 1, 2010. Just Energy entered into an agreement with a syndicate of underwriters for 

3330 million of convertible extendible unsecured subordinated debentures. The debentures bear interest at a rate of 6,0% per annum 

payable semi-annually in arrears on June 30 and December 31 of each year, with maturity on June 30, 2017. Each $1,000 of principal 

amount of the debentures is convertible at any time prior to maturity or on the date fixed for redemption, at the option of the holder, into 

approximately 55,6 units of the Fund, representing a conversion price of $18 per unit. 

The debentures are not redeemable prior to June 30, 2013, except under certain conditions after a change of control has occurred. On or 

after June 30, 2013, but priorto June 30, 2015. the debentures maybe redeemed by the Fund, in whole or in part, on not more than 

60 days' and not less than 30 days' prior notice, at a redemption price equal to the principal amount thereof, plus accrued and unpaid 

Interest, provided that the current market price on the date on which notice of redemption is given is not less than 125% of the conversion 

price. On and after June 30, 2014, and prior to the maturity date, the debentures may be redeemed by the Fund, in whole or in part, at a 

redemption price equal to the principal amount thereof, plus accrued and unpaid interest. 
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

Contractual obligations 
in the normal course of business, the Fund is obligated to make future payments for contracts and other commitments that are known 

and nc>n-cancellable. 

Payments due by period 

(thousands of dollars) 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities and 

unit distribution payable 

Bank indebtedness 

Long-term debt 

Interest payments 

Property and equipment lease agreements 

EPCOR billing, collections and supply commitments 

Grain production contracts 

Gas and electricity supply purchase commitments 

Total 

$ 321,647 

7,853 
615,377 
194,074 
31,156 
16,345 
52,466 

3,936,299 

$5,175,217 

$ 321,647 
7,853 

65,109 
29,592 
6,495 
8,653 

30,736 
1,397,493 

$ 1.867,578 

$ 
-

102,235 

63,451 
12,535 
7,692 

21,334 
2,017,737 

$ 2,224,984 

3 
-

118,033 
50,175 
6,616 

-
396 

510,211 

$ 685,431 

$ 
-

330.000 
50,856 
5,510 

-
-

10,858 

S 397,224 

Other obligations 

In the opinion of management, the Fund has no material pending actions, claims or proceedings that have not been included in either its 

accrued liabilities or the financial statements. In the norma! course of business, the Fund could be subject to certain contingent obligations 

that become payable only if certain events were to occur The inherent uncertainty surrounding the timing and financial impact of any 

events prevents any meaningful measurement, which is necessary to assess any material impact on future liquidity. Such obligations include 

potential judgments, settlements, fines and other penalties resulting from actions, claims or proceedings. 

Transact ions w i t h re la ted pa r t i es 

The Fund does not have any material transactions with any individuals or companies that are not considered Independent to the Fund or 

any of its subsidiaries and/or affiliates. 

Cr i t ica l a c c o u n t i n g es t ima tes 

The consolidated financial statements of the Fund have been prepared in accoidance with Canadian GAAP. Certain accounting policies 

require management to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues, cost of sales, 

marketing and general and administrative expenses. Estimates are based on historical experience, current information and various other 

assumptions that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. The emergence of new information and changed circumstances 

may result in actual results or changes to estimated amounts that differ materially from current estimates. 

The following assessment of critical accounting estimates is not meant to be exhaustive. The Fund might realize different results from the 

application of new accounting standards promulgated, from time to time, by various rule-making bodies. 

Unbilled revenues/Accrued gas accounts payable 

Unbilled revenues result when customers consume more gas than has been delivered by Just Energy to the LDCs. These estimates are stated 

at net realizable value. Accrued gas accounts payable represents Just Energy's obligation to the LDC with respect to gas consumed by 

customers in excess of that delivered. This obligation is also valued at net realizable value. This estimate is required for the gas business unit 

only since electricity is consumed at the same time as delivery. Management uses the current average customer contract price and the 

current average supply cost as a basis for the valuation. 

Gas delivered in excess of consumption/Deferred revenues 

Gas delivered to LDCs in excess of consumption by customers is valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Collections from LDCs 

in advance of their consumption results in deferred revenues which are valued at net realizable value. This estimate is required for the gas 

business unit only since electricity is consumed at the same time as delivery. Management uses the current average customer contract price 

and the current average supply cost as a basis for the valuation. 
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

Allowance for doubt fu l accounts 

Just Energy assumes the credit risk assodated with the collection of customers' accounts in Alberta, Illinois, Texas, Pennsylvania, Maryland 

and California. In addition, for large direct-billed accounts in B.C. and Ontario, the Fund is responsible for the bad debt risk. Management 

estimates the allowance for doubtful accounts in these markets based on the financial conditions of each jurisdiction, the aging of the 

receivables, customer and industry concentrations, the current business environment and historical experience. 

Goodwil l 

In assessing the value of goodwill for potential impairment, assumptions are made regarding Just Energy's future cash flow. If the estimates 

change in the future, the Fund may be required to record impairment charges related to goodwill. An impairment review of goodwill was 

performed during fiscal 2010 and, as a result of the review, it was determined that no impairment of goodwill existed at June 30, 2010. 

Fair v a l u e o f d e r i v a t i v e f i n a n c i a l i n s t r u m e n t s a n d r isk m a n a g e m e n t 

The Fund has entered into a variety of derivative financial instruments as part of the business of purchasing and selling gas, electricity and 

JustGreen. Just Energy enters into contracts with customers to provide electricity and gas at fixed prices and provide comfort to certain 

customers that a specified amount of energy will be derived from green generation. These customer contracts expose Just Energy to 

changes in market prices to supply these commodities. To reduce the exposure to the commodity market price changes. Just Energy uses 

derivative financial and physical contracts to secure fixed-price commodity supply to cover its estimated fixed-price delivery or green 

commitment obligations. 

The Fund's business model's objective is to minimize commodity risk other than consumption changes, usually attributable to weather 

Accordingly, it is Just Energy's policy to hedge the estimated fixed-price requirements of its customers with offsetting hedges of natural gas 

and electricity at fixed prices for terms equal to those of the customer contracts. The cash flow from these supply contracts is expected to 

be effective in offsetting the Fund's price exposure and serves to fix acquisition costs of gas and electricity to be delivered under the fixed-

price or price-protected customer contracts. Just Energy's policy is not to use derivative instruments for speculative purposes. 

Just Energy's expansion in the U.S, has introduced foreign exchange-related risks. Just Energy will enter into foreign exchange forwards in 

order to hedge the exposure to fluctuations in cross border cash flows. 

The financial statements are in compliance with Section 3855 of the CICA Handbook, which require a determination of fair value for all 

derivative financial instruments. Up to June 30, 2008, the financial statements also applied Section 3865 of the CICA Handbook, which 

permitted a further calculation for qualified and designated accounting hedges to determine the effective and ineffective portions of the 

hedge. This calculation permitted the change in fair value to be accounted for predominately in the Consolidated Statements of 

Comprehensive Income. Asof July 1, 2008, management decided that the increasing complexity and costs of maintaining this accounting 

treatment cJutweighed the benefits. This fair value (and when it was applicable, the ineffectiveness) is determined using market information 

at the end of each quarter Management believes the Fund remains economically hedged operationally across all jurisdictions. 

Pre ference shares o f JEC a n d t r u s t u n i t s 

Asat August n , 2010, there were 5,263,728 Class A preference shares of JEC outstanding and 125.443,218 units of the Fund outstanding. 

JEEC Exchangeab le Shares 

A total of 21,271,804 Exchangeable Shares of JEEC were issued on July 1, 2009, forthe purchase of Universal. JEEC shareholders have voting 

rights equivalent to the Fund's Unitholders and their shares are exchangeable on a 1:1 basis. As at August 11, 2010, 17,058,604 shares had 

been converted and there were 4,213,200 Exchangeable Shares outstanding. 

Taxab i l i t y o f d i s t r i b u t i o n s 

Cash and unit distributions received in calendar 2009 were 100% allocated to other income. Additional information can be found on our 

website at www.justenergycom. Management estimates the distributions for calendar 2010 to be allocated in a similar manner to that of 2009, 
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

Recent ly issued a c c o u n t i n g s t a n d a r d s 

The following are new standards, not yet in effect, which are required to be adopted by the Fund on the effective date: 

Business Combinations 

In October 2008, the CICA issued Handbook Section 1582, Business Combinations ("CICA 1582"), concurrently with CICA Handbook 

Section 1601, Consolidated Financial Statements ("CICA 1601"), and CICA Handbook Section 1602. Non-controlling Interest ("CICA 1602"). 

CICA 1582, which replaces CICA Handbook Section 1581, Business Combinations, establishes standards for the measurement of a business 

combination and the recognition and measurement of assets acquired and liabilities assumed. CICA 1601. which replaces CICA Handbook 

Section 1600. carries forward the existing Canadian guidance on aspects of the preparation of consolidated financial statements 

subsequent to acquisition other than non-controlling interests. CICA 1602 establishes guidance for the treatment of non-controlling 

interests subsequent to acquisition through a business combination. These new standards are effective for fiscal years beginning on or after 

January 1, 2011. The Fund has not yet determined the impact of these standards on its consolidated financial statements. 

International Financial Reporting Standards 

in February 2008, CICA announced that GAAP for publicly accountable enterprises will be replaced by IFRS for fiscal years beginning on or 

after January 1, 2011. IFRS uses a conceptual framework similar to G/WP but there are significant differences on recognition, measurement 

and disclosures. 

Just Energy will transition to IFRS effective April 1, 2011, and intends to issue its first interim financial statements under IFRS for the three-

month period ending June 30, 2011, and a complete set of finandal statements under IFRS for the year ending March 31 , 2012. 

Based on the initial assessment of the differences between Canadian GAAP and IFRS relevant to the Fund, an internal project team was 

assembled and a conversion plan was developed in March 2009 to manage the transition to IFRS, Project status reporting is provided to 

senior executive management and to the Audit Committee on a regular basis. 

Our project consists of three phases; IFRS diagnostic assessment, solution development, and implementation. The diagnostic phase, which 

was completed in 2009, involved a high-level review and the identification of major accounting differences between current Canadian 

GAAP and IFRS applicable to Just Energy The Fund has also completed Phase 2, the solution development phase, which includes the 

substantial completion of all policy papers which have been discussed with the external auditors. The IFRS project team is currently engaged 

in the implementation phase, which is the final phase of the project. This phase involves approval of the accounting policy choices, 

completing the collection of data required to prepare the financial statements, implementing changes to systems and business processes 

relating to financial reporting, key personnel training and the monitoring of standards currently being amended by the International 

Accounting Standards Board ("lASB"). Just Energy has also analyzed the IFRS financial statement presentation and disclosure requirements. 

These assessments will continue to be analyzed and evaluated throughout the implementation phase of the Fund's project. 

The initial assessment phase determined that the areas with the highest potential to impact the Fund include, but are not limited to, 

the following: 

IAS 16: Property Plant and Equipment 

IAS 16 reinforces the requirement under Canadian G/\AP that requires that each part of property plant and equipment that has a cost that 

is significant in relation to the overall cost of the item should be depreciated separately The Fund will adopt this revised accounting policy 

with respect to the componentization of the ethanol plant on transition to IFRS. The carrying value of the ethanol plant and corresponding 

depreciation expense will differ upon transition to IFRS, but the impact is not expected to be material. 

IAS 36: Impairment o f Assets 

\AS 36 uses a one-step approach to both testing and measuring Impairment, with asset carrying values compared directly with the higher of 

fair value less costs to sell and value in use (which uses discounted future cash flows). Canadian G/VAP, however, uses a two-step approach 

to impairment testing, first comparing asset carrying values with undiscounted future cash flows to determine whether impairment exists, 

and then measuring any impairment by comparing asset carrying values with fair values. The Fund does not expect any material impairment 

upon transition to IFRS, 

IAS 12: Income Taxes 

IAS 12 is largely similar to the Canadian standard. Any impact to the Fund will depend primarily on other adjustments made upon transition 

to IFRS which will likely have a corresponding effect on income tax balances. 
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

IAS 39: Financial Instruments - Recognition and Measurement 

The Fund enters into fixed-term contracts with customers to provide electricity and gas at fixed prices. These customer contracts expose the 

Fund to changes in market prices of electricity/gas and consumption. To reduce the exposure to movements in commodity prices arising 

from the acquisition of electricity and gas at floating rates, the Fund routinely enters into derivative contracts. Under Canadian GAAP, all 

supply contracts are re-measured to fair value at each reporting date. The requirements for normal purchase and normal sale exemption 

(own-use exemption) are similar under Canadian GAAP and IFRS; however, several small differences exist. There is no specific guidance 

in either Canadian GAAP or IFRS with respect to eligibility of the own-use exemption of energy supply contracts entered into by energy 

retailers. The Fund is currently in the process of determining which type of supply contracts and which specific markets of the Fund meet 

the requirement for the own-use exemption under IFRS, If the own-use exemption does not apply the amounts will be marked to market. 

IFRS 2: Share-Based Payments 

Under IFRS, when stock option awards vest gradually each tranche is to be considered as a separate award; whereas, under Canadian GAAP, 

the gradually vested tranches are considered as a single award. This change in treatment will result in expenses relating to share-based 

payments being recognized over the expected term of each vested tranche. IFRS also requires the Fund to estimate forfeitures up front 

in the valuation of stock options; whereas, under Canadian GAAP, they can be recorded up front or as they occur Currently the Fund 

accounts for forfeitures as they occur The Fund is in the process of determining the impact of such an adjustment on the opening 

balance sheet as at the transition date. 

The Fund has analyzed the optional exemptions available under IFRS 1; First-Time Adoption of International Financial Reporting. IFRS 

generally require an entity to apply standands on a retrospective basis; however, IFRS 1 provides both mandatory exceptions and optional 

exemptions from this general requirement. First-time adoption exemptions relevant to the Fund are discussed below. 

Business combinations 

Under this exemption, the Fund may elect not to retrcispectively apply IFRS 3 to past business combinations. The standard may be 

prospectively applied from the date of the opening IFRS balance sheet. The Fund intends to use this exemption. 

Share-based payment transactions 

The Fund may elect to not apply IFRS 2 to equity instruments that were granted on or before November 7, 2002, or which vested before the 

company's date of transition to IFRS. The Fund may also elect to not apply IFRS 2 to liabilities arising from share-based payment transactions 

which settled before the date of transition to IFRS. The Fund intends to apply these exemptions. 

Cumulative translation adjustment 

The exemption permits the Fund to reset the cumulative translation adjustment to zero by recognizing the full amount in the retained 

earnings of the opening IFRS balance sheet. The Fund is currently assessing whether it will use this exemption. 

Borrowing costs 

The exemption allows the Fund to adopt IAS 23. which requires the capitalization of borrowing costs on all qualifying assets, prospectively 

from the date of the opening IFRS balance sheet. The Fund intends to use this exemption. 

Until the Fund has prepared a full set of annual financial statements under IFRS, we will not be able to determine or precisely quantify all of 

the impacts that will result from converting to IFRS, 

The expected transitional adjustments, changes in accounting policies and subsequent accounting may result in other business impacts, such 

as impacts on the debt covenants and capital requirements disclosure. Based on the work completed to date, the transition is expected to 

have minimal impact on information technology and internal controls over financial reporting of the Fund. However, the Fund will continue 

to access these areas as the project progresses. 
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Legal proceedings 
Just Energy's subsidiaries are party to a number of legal proceedings. Just Energy believes that each such proceeding constitutes a routine 
legal matter incidental to the business conducted byJust Energy and that the ultimate disposition of the proceedings wilt not have a 
material adverse effect on its consolidated earnings, cash flows or financial position. 

In addition to the routine legal proceedings of Just Energy the State of California has filed a number of complaints to the Federal 
Regulatory Energy Commission ("FREC") against many suppliers of electricity, including Commerce Energy Inc. ("CEI"), with respect to 
events stemming from the 2001 energy crises in California. Pursuant to the complaints, the State of California is challenging the FREC's 
enforcement of its market-based rate system. Although CEI did not own generation, the State of California is claiming that CEI was unjustly 
enriched by the run-up in charges caused by the alleged market manipulation of other market participants. On March 18, 2010, the 
Administrative Law Judge in the matter granted a motion to strike the claim for all parties in one of the complaints, holding that California 
did not prove that the reporting errors masked the accumulation of market power. California has appealed the decision. CEI continues to 
vigorously contest this matter and it is not expected to have a material impact on the financial condition of the Fund. 

Controls and procedures 
During the most recent interim period, there have been no changes in the Fund's policies and procedures that comprise its internal 
control over financial reporting that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Fund's internal control over 
financial reporting, 

Limitation on scope of design 
Section 3.3(1} of National Instrument 52-109. "Certification of Disclosure in Issuer's Annual and Interim Filings", states that the Fund may 
limit its design of disclosure controls and procedures and internal controls over finandal reporting for a business that it acquired not more 
than 365 days before the end of the financial period to which the certificate relates. Under this section, the Fund's CEO and CFO have 
limited the scope of the design, and subsequent evaluation, of disclosure controls and procedures and internal controls over financial 
reporting to exclude controls, policies and procedures of the Hudson subsidiaries acquired on May 1, 2010. 

Summary financial information pertaining to the Hudson acquisition that was included in the consolidated financial statements of the Fund 
as at June 30, 2010, is as follows (thousands of dollars): 

lotaJ_ 

Sales' 3 117,477 
Net income' 5.092 
Current assets 141,299 
Non-current assets 381,738 
Current liabilities 178,382 

Non-current liabilities 39,271 

' Results from May 1. 2010 to June 30,2010. 

Corporate governance 

Just Energy is committed to transparency in our operations and our approach to governance meets all recommended standards. Full disclosure 
of our compliance with existing corporate governance rules is available on our website at www.justenergycom and is included in the Fund's 
May 27, 2010 management proxy circular Just Energy actively monitors the corporate governance and disclosure environment to ensure 
timely compliance with current and future requirements. 
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Outlook 

The past five years have seen a significant geographic diversification of Just Energy's customer base. For the first time, this quarter ended 

with more customers in the United States than in Canada. This diversification protects the Fund against overexposure to any one regulatory 

jurisdiction and, to a degree, weather variance. Recent quarters have seen a further diversification effort in the form of marketing channels. 

The acquisition of Hudson is a major step in broadening Just Energy's access to the large commercial market. While the Fund does not 

want to be exposed to industrial volumes due to their Inherent volatility and credit exposure, large commercial customers such as hospitals, 

universities and school boards are both underserved by deregulated suppliers and potentially profitable. While the margin per RCE of these 

customers is lower than a residential customer, so is the customer acquisition cost. The result is the same quick payback and high return on 

investment that Just Energy has been known for. 

Hudson utilized a well-established broker network to access the commercial market. Just Energy had not previously utilized brokers. The 

results in the first quarter were record customer additions supported by 174,000 large commercial RCE additions. Management anticipates 

that this trend will continue and commercial customers will be a growing portion of Just Energy's customer base. In addition to this broker 

channel. Just Energy is building a commercial sales team which is seeing solid early results. 

Just Energy has committed expenditures toward a number of other expansions which management believes will contribute to higher 

distributable cash in the future. 

During the quarter, the Hudson broker network was expanded to five provinces and seven states in which they did not previously operate. 

In Ontario, more than 40 brokers have already been enrolled in the network. Just Energy also invested to prepare for its entry into 

Massachusetts and two new utility territories in New York. 

Further expansion has been undertaken through NHS. During the quarter, NHS expanded into Ontario's Union Gas territory and rolled out 

an offering of furnaces and air conditioners. This fast-growing water heater and HVAC rental and sales operation has created substantial 

long-term value for the Fund and, with these expansions, management believes that its rapid growth will continue. 

Similarly the JustGreen program represents new products that broaden our prospective market. Many purchasers of JustGreen would not 

otherwise purchase gas or electricity from a door-to-door salesperson. 

The quarter saw the first results of the launch of the Fund's Momentis network marketing operation. Momentis Independent 

representatives will market natural gas and electricity contracts on behalf of Just Energy This is the first time the Fund has utilized the 

network marketing channel. 

On June 29, 2010, the Fund received approval by its Unitholders for the plan to reorganize the income trust structure into a high-dividend 

paying corporation, and subsequently received the approval of the Court of Queen's Bench of Alberta on June 30. 2010. Upon completion 

of the reorganization, the Board intends to Implement a dividend policy whereby monthly dividends will be initially set at $0.1033 per share 

($1,24 annually) equal to the current distributions paid to Just Energy's Unitholders, 

The federal government's announcement on October 3 1 , 2006, of the pending imposition of a tax on income trusts effective January 1, 

2011, caused Just Energy to analyze options which would maximize Unitholder value for the long term. The conclusion of the analysis was 

that conversion to a high-dividend yield corporation was the optimal option available to the Fund, The proposed reorganization offers a 

numberof benefits: 

• The unique nature of Just Energy as a growth company with high return on invested capital allows it to pay both a substantial yield and 

continue to grow. This remains true regardless of whether Just Energy is an income fund or a corporation. 

• The receipt of $1,24 per year in dividends will result In a substantially higher after-tax cash yield to shareholders than that of $1.24 in 

distributions for most taxable Canadian Unitholders. 

• It is anticipated that, as a corporation, Just Energy will have greater access to capital markets to the extent that issuance of equity 

should be required for growth through acquisition. 
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• Limitations under the proposed tax on undue expansion of trusts and foreign ownership limitations on trusts will no longer apply to 

Just Energy 

• The high-dividend yield as a corporation combined with Just Energy's growth prospects is expected to focus market attention on the 

value of Just Energy shares, 

• It is anticipated that the reorganized structure of the Fund as a dividend-paying corporation will attract new Investors, including 

non-resident investors, and provide, in the aggregate, a more active and attractive market for the new Just Energy shares than currently 

exists for the units. 

• As a corporation. Just Energy will be managed by the same experienced team of professionals. 

In anticipation of need for conversion, the Fund has not increased its rate of distribution since early 2008 despite substantial growth in its 

business. Distributions have been maintained byJust Energy at $0.1033 per month (31.24 annually) supplemented by annual Special 

Distributions (30.20 payable January 31 , 2010, being the most recent). The decision not to continue distribution increases and the 

continued grovtrth of Just Energy have given the Fund the flexibility to continue to pay a dividend equal to the current monthly distributions 

following the reorganization. This ability makes full allowance for the payment of tax by Just Energy and does not rely on a merger with tax 

loss-bearing companies. 

Sales of the JustGreen products have been very strong with approximately 49% of all customers added in the current quarter taking 89% 

of green energy supply Although currently a small component of the overall customer book (3% of gas customers and 6% of electricity 

customers), continued sales of JustGreen products at these levels will alter the economics of Just Energy as green customers generate higher 

per customer margins than the past five-year fixed rate customers. As these new green customers become a higher and higher percentage 

of the overall Just Energy customer base, the results should be higher margins per customer and improved renewal rates. 

The Fund intends to continue its geographic expansion into new markets in the United States through both organic growth and focused 

acquisitions. Just Energy intends to begin marketing in Pennsylvania in the third quarter of fiscal 2011, The Fund is actively reviewing a 

number of further possible acquisitions. Just Energy continues to monitor the progress of the deregulated markets in various jurisdictions. 
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS 
(Unaudited - thousands of dollars) 

ASSETS 
CURRENT 

Cash 
Restricted cash 
Accounts receivable 
Gas delivered in excess of consumption 
Gas in storage 
Inventory 
Unbilled revenues 
Prepaid expenses and deposits 
Current portion of future income tax assets 
Other assets - current (Note l la) 

FUTURE INCOME TAX ASSETS 
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 
CONTRACT INITIATION COSTS 
INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Note 6) 
GOODWILL 
LONG-TERM RECEIVABLE 
OTHER ASSETS - LONG TERM (Nate 11a) 

June 30, 
2010 

$ 94,428 

14,530 

325,875 

21,325 

38,386 

4,636 

20,978 

24,543 

14.940 

1,637 

561,278 

88,484 

226,593 

28,330 

644,562 

222,765 

3.898 

4,674 

S 1,780,584 

March 31, 
201Q 

$ 60,132 

18,650 

348,892 

7,410 

4,058 

6,323 

20,793 

20,038 

29,139 

2,703 

518,138 

85,197 

218,616 

5,587 

340,629 

177,887 

2,014 

5,027 

$ 1,353,095 

LIABILITIES 
CURRENT 

Bank indebtedness 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 
Unit distribution payable 
Corporate taxes payable 
Current portion of future income tax liabilities 
Deferred revenue 
Accrued gas accounts payable 
Current portion of long-term debt (Note 7) 
Other liabilities - current (Note 1 la) 

LONG-TERM DEBTfiVote ?; 
DEFERRED LEASE INDUCEMENTS 
OTHER LIABILITIES-LONG TERM fWote??a) 

NON-CONTROLLING INTEREST 

UNITHOLDERS' DEFICIENCY 
Deficit 
Accumulated other comprehensive income (Note 9) 

(982,006) (1,201,729) 
Unitholders' capital 664,717 659,118 
Equity component of convertible debenture (Note 7e) 33,914 
Contnbuted surplus 19,933 18,832 

$ 7,853 

308,412 

13,235 

2,838 

9,513 

25,202 

1,414 

65,108 

597,753 

1,031,328 

496,478 

1,898 

496,292 

2,025,996 

18,030 

$(1,190,128) 

208,122 

$ 8,236 

226,950 

13,182 

6,410 

6,776 

7,202 

15,093 

62,829 

685,200 

1,031,878 

231,837 

1,984 

590,572 

1,856,271 

20,603 

$(1,423,698) 

221,969 

Unitholders'deficiency (263,442) (523,779) 

$1,780,564 $1.353,095 

Commitments (Note 14} Contingencies fiVote IS) 

See accompanying notes to consolidated finandal statements 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS 
For the three months ended June 30 

(Unaudited - thousands of dollars, except per unit amounts) 

SALES 

COST OF SALES 

GROSS MARGIN 

EXPENSES 

General and administrative expenses 

Marketing expenses 

Bad debt expense 

Amortization of intangible assets and related supply contracts 

Amortization of property, plant and equipment 

Unit based compensation 

Capital tax expense 

INCOME (LOSS) BEFORE THE UNDERNOTED 

INTEREST EXPENSE (Note 7) 

CHANGE IN FAIR VALUE OF DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS (Notella) 

OTHER INCOME 

INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAXES 

PROVISION FOR INCOME TAXES (NoteS) 

NON-CONTROLLING INTEREST 

NET INCOME 

2010 2009 

$ 609,684 

529,187 

80,497 

29,272 

29,758 

5,749 

27,172 

1,920 

1,075 

133 

95.079 

(14.582) 

9.480 

(314,376) 

(1,782) 

292,096 

19,360 

(2,573) 

$ 275,309 : 

$ 399,010 

332,935 

66,075 

15,617 

19,385 

3,829 

594 
1,194 

657 
80 

41,356 

24,719 

480 
(87.880) 

(756) 

112,875 

10,303 

(55) 

( 102,627 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements 

Income per unit (Note 12) 

Basic $ 2.05 $ 0.92 

Diluted $ 1.85 3 0.91 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF UNITHOLDERS' DEFICIENCY 
For the three months ended June 30 

(Unaudited - thousands of dollars) 

201O 2009 

ACCUMULATED DEFICIT 

Accumulated deficit, beginning of period 

Net income 

Accumulated deficit, end of period 

DISTRIBUTIONS 

Distributions, beginning of period 

Distributions and dividends on Exchangeable Shares 

Class A preference share distributions - net of income taxes of $538 (2009 - 3538) 

Distributions, end of period 

DEFICIT 

ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (Note9) 

Accumulated other comprehensive income, beginning of period 

Other comprehensive loss 

Accumulated other comprehensive income, end of period 

UNITHOLDERS' CAPITAL (Note W) 

Unitholders' capital, beginning of period 

Trust units exchanged 

Trust units issued on exercise/exchange of unit compensation 

Distribution reinvestment plan 

Exchangeable Shares exchanged 

Unitholders' capital, end of period 

EQUITY COMPONENT OF CONVERTIBLE DEBENTURE (Note 7e) 

CONTRIBUTED SURPLUS (Note 10b) 

Unitholders' deficiency, end of period 

See accompanying notes to consolidated finandal statements 

(480,931) 

275,309 

$ (712.427) 

102,627 

(205,622) (609,800) 

(942,767) (757,850) 

(40,646) (33,383) 

(J_,09_3_) (1.093) 

(984,506) (792.326) 

(1,190,128) 

221,969 

(13,847) 

208,122 

659,118 

4,768 

-
5,599 

(4,768) 

664,717 

33,914 

19,933 

$ (263,442) 

(1,402,126) 

364,566 

(31,084) 

333,482 

398.454 

-
197 

2,464 

-
401,115 

-. 
15,151 

$ (652,378) 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
For the three months ended June 30 

(Unaudited - thousands of dollars) 

2010 2009 

NET INCOME 

Unreall2ed gain on translation of self-sustaining operations 

Amortization of deferred unrealized gain on discontinued hedges - net of income taxes 

of $6,259 (2009 - $9,805) (Note 1 la) 

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS 

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements 

$ 275.309 

14,876 

(28,723) 

(13,847) 

S 261,462 

$ 

3 

102,627 

18,246 

(49,330) 

(31,084) 

71,543 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 
For the three months ended June 30 

(Unaudited - thousands of dollars) 

Net in f low (outf low) of cash related t o the fo l lowing activities 

OPERATING 

Net income 

Items not affecting cash 

Amortization of intangible assets and related supply contracts 

Amortization of property plant and equipment 

Amortization of contract Initiation costs 

Unit based compensation 

Non-controlling interest 

Future income taxes 

Financing charges, non-cash portion 

Other 

Change in fair value of derivative instruments 

Adjustments required to reflect net cash receipts from gas sales 

Changes in non-cash working capital 

Cash inf low f rom operations 

FINANCING 

Distributions and dividends paid to Unitholders and holders of Exchangeable Shares 

Distributions to Class A preference shareholders 

Tax impact on distributions to Class A preference shareholders 

Decrease in bank indebtedness 

Issuance of long-term debt 

Repayment of long-term debt 

Restricted cash 

INVESTING 

Purchase of property, plant and equipment 

Purchase of other intangible assets 

Acquisitions (Note S) 

Proceeds of long-term receivable 

Contract initiation costs 

Effect of foreign currency translation on cash balances 

NET CASH INFLOW (OUTFLOW) 

CASH, BEGINNING OF PERIOD 

CASH, END OF PERIOD 

2010 2009 

$ 275,309 $ 102,627 

27,172 

1,920 

2,088 

1,075 

(2,573) 

19,824 

1,024 

2,180 

(314,376) 

(261,666) 

8,436 

3,648 

25,727 

(34.968) 

(1.631) 

538 

(383) 

349,197 

(49,386) 

4,241 

267.608 

(9.607) 

(362) 

(253,071) 

3,128 

(3,674) 

(263,586) 

4,547 

34,296 

60,132 

594 

1,194 

-
657 

(55) 

9,805 

-
(87) 

(87,880) 

. <^^f^7?.) 
8,694 

2,246 

37,795 

(30,884) 

(1,631) 

538 

_ 
7,526 

(19,000) 

278 

(43,173) 

(7,406) 

-
-
-
-

(7,406) 

(1,099) 

(13,883) 

59,094 

$ 94,428 3 45,211 

Supplemental informat ion 

Interest paid 

Income taxes paid 
S 
s 

3,672 

2,456 

3 
$ 

439 

977 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the three months ended June 30, 2010 

(thousands of dollars, except where indicated and per unit amounts) 

NOTE 1 INTERIM FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

The unaudited interim consolidated financial statements do not conform in all respects to the requirements of Canadian Generally 

Accepted Accounting Principles ("GAAP") for annual financial statements and should therefore be read in conjunction with the 

audited consolidated financial statements and notes thereto included in the Fund's annual report for fiscal 2010. The unaudited 

interim consolidated financial statements have been prepared by management in accordance with Canadian GAAP applicable 

to interim consolidated financial statements and follow the same accounting policies and methods in their application as the most 

recent annual financial statements, except as described in Note 3. 

NOTE 2 ORGANIZATION 

Just Energy Income Fund ("Just Energy", the "Fund" or "JEIF"), formerly known as Energy Savings Income Fund, changed its 

name effective June 1, 2009, 

Just Energy is an open-ended, limited-purpose trust established under the laws of the Province of Ontario to hold securities and to 

distribute the income of its directly or indirectly owned operating subsidiaries and affiliates: Just Energy Ontario L.R ("JE Ontario"), 

Just Energy Manitoba L.P ("JE Manitoba"), Just Energy Quebec L.P ("JE Quebec"), Just Energy (B.C.) Limited Partnership ("JE B.C."). 

Just Energy Alberta L.R ("JE Alberta"), Alberta Energy Savings L.R ("AESLP"), Just Energy Illinois Corp. ("JE Illinois"), Just Energy 

New York Corp, ("JENYC"), Just Energy Indiana Corp. ("JE Indiana"), Just Energy Texas L.P ("JE Texas"), Just Energy Exchange 

Corp. ("JEEC"), Universal Energy Corp. ("UEC"), Universal Gas and Electric Corporation ("UG&E"), Commerce Energy, Inc. 

("Commerce" or "CEI"), National Energy Corp. ("NEC") operating under the trade name of National Home Services ("NHS"). 

Momentis Canada Corp, and Momentis U.S. Corp. (collectively "Momentis"), Just Energy Massachusetts Corp. ("JE Mass"), 

Just Energy Michigan Corp. ("JE Michigan"), Hudson Energy Sen/ices, LLC ("Hudson" or "HES") and Terra Grain Fuels, Inc. ("TGF"), 

collectively the "Just Energy Group". 

NOTE 3 CHANGES IN SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

(aj S ign i f i can t po l ic ies a d o p t e d f r o m acqu i s i t i ons 

(i) Contract ini t iat ion costs 

Commissions related to obtaining and renewing commercial customer contracts through brokers and independent contractors 

signed under Hudson are recorded as contract initiation costs and amortized in marketing expenses over the remaining life of 

the contract. 

In addition, commissions related to obtaining customer contracts signed under NEC are recorded as contract initiation costs 

and amortized in marketing expenses over the remaining life of the contract. 

(b) Recent ly issued a c c o u n t i n g s tanda rds 

The following are new standards, not yet in effect, which are required to be adopted by the Fund on the effective date: 

(i) Business Combinations 

In October 2008, the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants ("CICA") issued Handbook Section 1582, Business Combinations 

("CICA 1582"), concurrently with CICA Handbook Section 1601, Consolidated Financial Statements ("CICA 1601"), and CICA 

Handbook Section 1602, Non-controlling Interest ("CICA 1602"). CICA 1582, which replaces CICA Handbook Section 1581, 

Business Combinations, establishes standards for the measurement of a business combination and the recognition and 

measurement of assets acquired and liabilities assumed, CICA 1601, which replaces CICA Handbook Section 1600. carries 

forward the existing Canadian guidance on aspects of the preparation of consolidated financial statements subsequent to 

acquisition other than non-controlling interests. CICA 1602 establishes guidance for the treatment of non-controlling interests 

subsequent to acquisition through a business combination. These new standards are effective for fiscal years beginning on or 

after January 1, 2011. The Fund has not yet determined the impact of these standards on its consolidated financial statements, 

(ii) International Financial Reporting Standards 

In February 2008, the CICA announced that GAAP for publicly accountable enterprises will be replaced by International 

Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRS") for fiscal years beginning on or after January 1, 2011. 

Just Energy will transition to IFRS effective April 1, 2011, and intends to issue its first interim consolidated financial statements 

under IFRS for the three-month period ending June 30, 2011, and a complete set of consolidated financial statements under 

IFRS for the year ending March 31,2012. 
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Just Energy has developed a changeover plan which includes diagnostic assessment solution development and implementation 

phases. The Fund has completed the initial assessment and solution development phases. These included certain training 

initiatives, researching and documenting the significant differences between Canadian GAAP and IFRS, assessing the impact on 

the Fund, and a preliminary assessment of the information technology systems. The IFRS team is currently engaged in the 

implementation phase, which is the final phase of the project. 

Significant differences exist which may impact the Fund's financial reporting. Those areas include, but are not limited to, property 

plant and equipment, impairment of assets, accounting for income taxes, financial instruments, employee benefits and the first-

time adoption of IFRS ("IFRS 1"). 

As part of the conversion plan, the Fund is in the process of analyzing the detailed impacts of these identified differences and 

developing solutions to bridge these differences. Although the impact of the adoption of IFRS on the Fund's financial position 

and results of operations is not yet reasonably determinable or estimable, the Fund does expect a significant increase in financial 

statement disclosure requirements resulting from the adoption of IFRS. Just Energy is currently on target with its conversion plan, 

which will be completed by April 1, 2011. 

NOTE 4 SEASONALITY OF OPERATIONS 

Just Energy's operations are seasonal. Gas consumption by customers is typically highest in October through March and lowest in 

April through September. Electricity consumption is typically highest in January through March and July through September 

Electricity consumption is lowest in October through December and April through June. 

NOTE 5 ACQUISITIONS 

(a) A c q u i s i t i o n o f H u d s o n Energy Services, LLC 

On May 7, 2010. Just Energy completed the acquisition of all of the equity interests of Hudson Parent Holdings, LLC and all of the 

common shares of Hudson Energy Corp., thereby indirectly acquiring Hudson Energy Sen/ices, LLC with an effective date of May 1, 

2010. The acquisition was funded by an issuance of 3330 million in convertible debentures issued on May 5, 2010 (see Note7e), 

The acquisition of Hudson was accounted for using the purchase method of accounting. The Fund allocated the purchase price to 

the identified assets and liabilities acquired based on their fair values at the time of acquisition as follows: 

Net assets acquired 

Current assets (Including cash of $24,003) $ 88.696 

Current liabilities (107,817) 

Electricity contracts and customer relationships 200,653 

Gas contracts and customer relationships 26,225 

Broker network 84,400 

Brand 11,200 

Information technology system development 17,954 

Contract initiation costs 20,288 

Other Intangible assets 6,545 

Goodwill 30,946 

Property, plant and equipment 2,559 

Unbilled revenue 15,092 

Notes receivable - long term 1,312 

Security deposits - long term 3,544 

Other assets - current 124 

Other assets - long term 100 

Other liabilities - current (74,683) 

Other liabilities - long term (40,719) 

3 286,419 

Consideration 

Purchase price $ 285,343 

Transaction costs 1,076 

$ 256,419 

Goodwill associated with the Hudson acquisition is part of the U.S, gas and electricity marketing segment. 
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All contracts and intangible assets, excluding brand, are amortized over the average remaining life at the time of acquisition. 

The gas and electricity contracts and customer relationships are amortized over periods of 30 months and 35 months, respectively 

Other intangible assets, excluding brand, are amortized over periods ranging from three to five years. The brand value is considered 

to be indefinite and, therefore, not subject to amortization. The purchase price allocation is considered preliminary and. as a result, 

it may be adjusted during the 12-month period following the acquisition. 

(b) A c q u i s i t i o n o f Un i ve rsa l Energy G r o u p L td . 

On July 1, 2009, Just Energy completed the acquisition of all of the outstanding common shares of Universal Energy Group Ltd. 

("Universal") pursuant to a plan of arrangement (the "Arrangement"). Under the Arrangement, Universal shareholders 

received 0.58 of an exchangeable share ("Exchangeable Share") of JEEC, a subsidiary of Just Energy for each Universal common 

share held. In aggregate, 21,271,804 Exchangeable Shares were issued pursuant to the Arrangement. Each Exchangeable Share is 

exchangeable for a trust unit on a one for one basis at any time at the option of the holder, and entitles the holder to a monthly 

dividend equal to 66 V3% of the monthly distribution paid by Just Energy on a trust unit. JEEC also assumed all the covenants 

and obligations of Universal in respect of Universal's outstanding 6% convertible unsecured subordinated debentures. 

The acquisition of Universal was accounted for using the purchase method of accounting. The Fund allocated the purchase price 

to the identified assets and liabilities acquired based on their fair values at the time of acquisition as follows: 

Net assets acquired 

Working capital (including cash of 310,319) $ 63,614 

Electricity contracts and customer relationships 229,586 

Gas contracts and customer relationships 243,346 

Water heater contracts and customer relationships 22,700 

Other intangible assets 2,721 

Goodwill 77,494 

Property, plant and equipment 171,693 

Future tax liabilities (50,475) 

Other liabilities - current (164,148) 

Other liabilities - long term (140,857) 

Long-term debt (183,079) 

Non-controlling interest (22,697) 

S 249,898 

Consideration 

Transaction costs $ 9,952 

Exchangeable Shares 239,946 

$ 249,898 

Non-controlling interest represents 33.3% ownership of TGF held by EllisDon Corporation. 

All contracts and intangible assets are amortized over the average remaining life at the time of acquisition. The gas and electricity 

contracts and customer relationships are amortized over periods ranging from eight to 57 months. The water heater contracts and 

customer relationships are amortized over 174 months and the intangible assets are amortized over six months. An adjustment in the 

amountof $10,700 was made to increase goodwill and decrease working capital during the three months ended June 30, 2010. 

The purchase price for this acquisition is final and no longer subject to change. 

(c) N e w t e n H o m e C o m f o r t Inc. 

On July 2, 2009, NEC, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Fund, acquired Newten Home Comfort Inc., an arm's length third party 

that held a 20% interest in Newten Home Comfort L.R for $3.2 million, of which $520 was paid in cash and determined to be the 

purchase price consideration. The purchase price consideration excludes contingent payments to the 20% interest holders 

that will become payable in July 2012 based on the number of completed water heater installations. Any contingent payments 

made will result in an increase to the balance of goodwill generated by the acquisition. 
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NOTE 6 INTANGIBLE ASSETS 

As at June 30, 2010 

Gas contracts and customer relationships 

Electricity contracts and customer relationships 

Water heater contracts and customer relationships 

Broker network 

Brand 

Information technology system development 

Other intangible assets 

s 

$ 

$ 

Cost 

261,627 

456,760 

23,081 

88,454 

11,738 

19,788 

9,429 

870,877 

Cost 

228,827 

245,617 

23,081 

2,982 

Accumulated 
amortization 

S 88,483 

129,690 

1,626 

2,948 

-
698 

2,870 

$ 226,315 

Accumulated 
amortization 

$ 63,484 

92,779 

1,218 

2,397 

Net hook 
value 

$ 173,144 

327,070 

21,455 

85,506 

11,738 

19,090 

6,559 

$ 644,562 

Net book 
vslue 

$ 165,343 

152,838 

21,863 

585 

As at March 31, 2010 

Gas contracts and customer relationships 

Electricity contracts and customer relationships 

Water heater contracts and customer relationships 

Other intangible assets 

$ 500,507 $ 159,878 $ 340,629 

NOTE 7 LONG-TERM DEBT A N D FINANCING 

Credit fadlity (a) 

TGF credit facility (b)(i) 

TGF debentures (b){ii) 

TGF term/operating facilities (b)(iii) 

JEEC convertible debentures (c) 

NEC financing (d) 

JEIF convertible debentures (e) 

Less: current portion 

June 30, 
2010 

$ 36,500 

40,927 

37,001 

10,000 

83,731 

70,949 

282,478 

561,586 

(65,108) 

$ 496,478 

March 31, 
2010 

$ 57,500 

41,313 

37,001 

10,000 

83,417 

65,435 

-
294,666 

(62,829) 

$ 231,837 

The following table details the interest expense. Interest is expensed at the effective interest rate. 

Credit facility (a) 

TGF credit facility (b)(i) 

TGF debentures (b)(ii} 

TGF term/operating facilities (b){iii) 

JEEC convertible debentures (c) 

NEC finandng (d) 

JEIF convertible debentures (e) 

$ 

June 30, 
2010 

967 

447 

950 

311 

1,664 

1,341 

3,800 

$ 

June 30, 
2009 

480 

$ 9,480 3 480 
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(a) Just Energy holds a $250 million credit facility to meet working capital requirements. The syndicate of lenders includes Canadian 

Imperial Bank of Commerce, Royal Bank of Canada, National Bank of Canada. Bank of Nova Scotia, Soci^t6 G^n^rale and 

Alberta Treasury Branches. The repayment of the facility is due on October 29, 2011. 

Interest is payable on outstanding loans at rates that vary with Bankers' Acceptances, LIBOR, Canadian bank prime rate or 

U.S. prime rate. Under the terms of the operating credit facility Just Energy is able to make use of Bankers' Acceptances and 

LIBOR advancesat stamping fees of 4.0%, prime rate advances at bank prime plus 3.0%. and letters of credit at 4.0%. Asat 

June 30, 2010, the Canadian prime rate was 2.5% and the U.S. prime rate was 3.25%, As at June 30. 2010, Just Energy 

had drawn $36,500 (March 3 1 , 2010-$57,500) against the fadlity and total lettersof credit outstanding amounted to 

$68,426(fvlarch31,2010-$49,444), Asof June 30, 2010, Just Energy has $145,074 of the fadlity remaining for future 

working capital and security requirements. Just Energy's obligations under the credit facility are supported by guarantees of 

certain subsidiaries and affiliates and secured by a pledge of the assets of Just Energy and the majority of its operating 

subsidiaries and affiliates. Just Energy Is required to meet a number of financial covenants under the credit facility agreement. 

As at June 30, 2010 and 2009. all of these covenants have been met, 

(b) In connection with the acquisition of Universal on July 1, 2009. the Fund acquired the debt obligations of TGF, which is 

currently comprised of the following separate facilities: 

(i) TGF credit facility 

A credit facility of up to $50,000 was established with a syndicate of Canadian lenders led by Conexus Credit Union and 

was arranged to finance the construction of the ethanol plant in 2007. The facility was revised on March 18, 2009, 

and was converted to a fixed repayment term of ten years commencing March 1. 2009, which includes interest costs at a 

rate of prime plus 2% with prindpal repayments scheduled to commence on March 1, 2010, The credit fadlity is secured 

by a demand debenture agreement, a first priority security interest on all assets and undertakings of TGF and a general 

security interest on all other current and acquired assets of TGF. As a result, the fadlity is fully classified as a current 

obligation. The credit facility includes certain financial covenants, the more significant of which relate to current ratio. 

debt to equity ratio, debt service coverage and minimum shareholders' equity. The lenders have deferred compliance with 

the financial covenants until April 1, 2011, Thefacility was further revised on April 5, 2010, to postpone the prindpal 

payments due for April 1 to June 1, 2010, and to amortize them over the six-month period commencing October 1, 2010, 

and ending March 1, 2011. As at June 30, 2010, the amount owing under this facility amounted to $40,927, 

(ii) TGF debentures 

A debenture purchase agreement with a number of private parties providing for the issuance of up to $40,000 aggregate 

principal amount of debentures was entered into in 2006. The interest rate Is 10.5% per annum, compounded annually 

and payable quarterly Quarterly principal payments commenced October 1, 2009, in the amountof $1,000 per quarter The 

agreement includes certain financial covenants, the more significant of which relate to current ratio, debt to capitalization 

ratio, debt sen/ice coverage, debt to EBITDA, and minimum shareholders' equity. The lender has deferred compliance with 

the financial covenants until April 1, 2011, On April 5, 2010, TGF entered into an agreement with the holders of the 

debenture to defer scheduled prindpal payments owing under the debenture until April 1, 2011, Asat June 30, 2010, the 

amount owing under this debenture agreement amounted to $37,001. 

(iii) TGF term/operating facilities 

TGF maintains a term loan for $10,000 with a third party lender bearing interest at prime plus 1 % due in full on 

December 31 , 2010, This facility is secured by liquid investments on deposit with the lender As at June 30, 2010, the 

amount owing underthe facility amounted to $10,000, 

(iv) TGF has a working capital operating line of $7,000 bearing interest at a rate of prime plus 1 % of which $3,850 was 

drawn via overdraft, in addition, total letters of credit issued amounted to $250, 
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(c) In conjunction with the acquisition of Universal on July 1, 2009, JEEC also acquired the obligations of the convertible unsecured 

subordinated debentures (the "JEEC convertible debentures") Issued by Universal in Oaober 2007, These instruments have a 

face value of $90,000 and mature on September 30, 2014, unless converted prior to that date, and bear interest at an annual 

rate of 6% payable semi-annually on March 31 and September 30 of each year Each $1,000 principal amount of the JEEC 

convertible debentures is convertible at any time prior to maturity or on the date fixed for redemption, at the option of the 

holder, into approximately 29,3 Exchangeable Shares of JEEC, representing a conversion price of $34,09 per Exchangeable 

Share, During the period, interest expense amounted to $1,664, 

The JEEC convertible debentures are not redeemable prior to October 1, 2010, On and after October 1, 2010, but prior to 

September 30, 2012, the JEEC convertible debentures are redeemable, in whole or in part, at a price equal to the prindpal 

amount thereof, plus accrued and unpaid interest, at the Fund's sole option on not more than 60 days' and not less than 

30 days' prior notice, provided that the current market price on the date on which notice of redemption is given is not less 

than 125% of the conversion price. On and after September 30, 2012, but prior to the maturity date, the JEEC convertible 

debentures are redeemable. In whole or in part, at a price equal to the prindpal amount thereof, plus accrued and unpaid 

interest, at the Fund's sole option on not more than 60 days' and not less than 30 days' prior notice, 

(d) On January 18, 2010, NEC entered into a long-term financing agreement for the funding of new and existing rental water 

heater contracts. Pursuant to the agreement, NEC receives financing of an amount equal to the present value of the first five 

years of monthly rental income, discounted at the agreed upon finandng rate of 7,99% and, at settlement it is required to remit 

an amount equivalent to the rental stream from customers on the water heater contracts for the first five years. As security for 

performance of the obligation, NEC has pledged the water heaters subject to the financed rental agreement as collateral. 

The financing agreement is subject to a holdback provision, whereby 3% of the outstanding balance of the funded amount is 

deducted and deposited into a reserve account in the event of default. Once all obligations of NEC are satisfied or expired, the 

remaining funds in the reserve account will immediately be released to NEC, 

NEC has $70,949 owing under this agreement, including $2,266 relating to the holdback provision as at June 30, 2010. The 

company is required to meet a number of covenants underthe agreement. As at June 30, 2010, all of these covenants have 

been met. 

(e) In order to fund the acquisition of Hudson effective May 1, 2010, Just Energy entered into an agreement with a syndicate 

of undenA'riters for $330 million of convertible extendible unsecured subordinated debentures (the "JEIF convertible 

debentures"). The JEIF convertible debentures bear interest at a rate of 6,0% per annum payable semi-annually in arrears on 

June 30 and December 31 , with a maturity date of June 30, 2017, Each $1,000 principal amount of the JEIF convertible 

debentures Is convertible at any time prior to maturity or on the date fixed for redemption, at the option of the holder, into 

approximately 55.6 units of the Fund, representing a conversion price of $18 per unit. During the period, interest expense 

amounted to $3,800, 

The JEIF convertible debentures are not redeemable prior to June 30. 2013, except under certain conditions after a change of 

control hasoccured. On or after June 30, 2013, but priorto June 30, 2015, the JEIF convertible debentures may be redeemed 

by the Fund, in whole or in part, on not more than 60 days' and not less than 30 days' prior notice, at a redemption price 

equal to the principal amount thereof, plus accrued and unpaid interest, provided that the current market price (as defined 

herein) on the date on which notice of redemption is given is not less than 125% of the conversion price. On and after 

June 30, 2015, and priorto maturity, the JEIF convertible debentures may be redeemed by the Fund, in whole or in part, at a 

redemption price equal to the principal amount thereof, plus accrued and unpaid interest. 

The Fund may at its own option, on not more than 60 days' and not less than 40 days' prior notice, subject to applicable 

regulatory approval and provided that no event of default has occurred and is continuing, elect to satisfy its obligation to repay 

all or any portion of the principal amount of the JEIF convertible debentures that are to be redeemed or that are to mature, 

by issuing and delivering to the holders thereof that number of freely tradable units determined by dividing the principal 

amount of the JEIF convertible debentures being repaid by 95% of the current market price on the date of redemption or 

maturity as applicable. 

The conversion feature of the JEIF convertible debentures has been accounted for as a separate component of Unitholders' 

defidency in the amount of $33,914. The remainder of the net proceeds of the JEIF convertible debentures of 3281,770 has 

been recorded as long-term debt, which will be accreted up to the face value of 3330,000 over the term of the JEIF convertible 

debentures using an effective interest rate of 8.8%. If the JEIF convertible debentures are converted into common shares, the 

value of the conversion will be reclassified to share capital along with the principal amount converted. 
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NOTE 8 I N C O M E TAXES 

The Fund recorded a current incometaxrecovery of $1,0 million forthe first quarter of fiscal 2011 versus a recovery of $0.04 million 

in the same period last year. The change is mainly attributable to a U.S. income tax recovery generated by operating losses 

incurred by the U.S. entities in this quarter 

Current income tax recovery 

Amount credited to Unitholders' equity 

Future tax expense 

Provision for income tax 

Ql 
fiscal 2011 

$ (1,002) 

538 

19,824 

$ 19,360 

$ 

3 

01 
fiscal 2010 

(40) 

538 

9,805 

10,303 

NOTE 9 ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

for t / ie three months ended June 30, 2010 

Balance, beginning of period 

Unrealized foreign currency translation adjustment 

Amortization of deferred unrealized gain on discontinued hedges • 

net of income taxes of 36,259 

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
adjustment 

$ 28,584 

14,876 

_ 

$ 43,460 

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
adjustment 

$ 1,958 

18,246 

_ 

$ 20,204 

$ 

$ 

3 

$ 

Cash flow 
hedges 

193,385 

-

(28,723) 

164,662 

Cash flow 
hedges 

362,608 

-

(49.330) 

313.278 

$ 

$ 

3 

$ 

Total 

221,969 

14,876 

(28,723) 

208,122 

Total 

364,566 

18,246 

(49,330) 

333,482 

For the three months ended June 30, 2009 

Balance, beginning of period 

Unrealized foreign currency translation adjustment 

Amortization of deferred unrealized gain on discontinued hedges • 

net of income taxes of $9,805 

NOTE 10 UNITHOLDERS' CAPITAL 

(a) Trust u n i t s o f t h e Fund 

An unlimited number of units may be issued. Each unit is transferable, voting and represents an equal undivided beneficial interest 

in any distributions from the Fund whether of net income, net realized capital gains or other amounts, and in the net assets of the 

Fund in the event of termination or winding-up of the Fund. 

The Fund intends to make distributions to its Unitholders based on the cash receipts of the Fund, exduding proceeds from the 

issuance of additional Fund units, adjusted for costs and expense of the Fund, amounts which may be paid by the Fund in 

connection with any cash redemptions or repurchases of units and any other amount that the Board of Directors considers 

necessary to provide for the payment of any costs which have been or will be incurred in the activities and operations of the Fund, 

The Fund's intention is for Unitholders of record on the 15th day of each month to receive distributions at the end of the month, 

excluding any Spedal Distributions, 

Class A preference shares of Just Energy Corp. 

The terms of the unlimited Class A preference shares of Just Energy Corp, ("JEC") are non-voting, non-cumulative and exchangeable 

into trust units in accordance with the JEC shareholders' agreement as restated and amended, with no priority on dissolution. 

Pursuant to the amended and restated Declaration of Trust which governs the Fund, the holders of Class A preference shares are 

entitled to vote in all votes of Unitholders as If they were the holders of the number of units that they would receive if they 

exerdsed their shareholder exchange rights. Class A preference shareholders have equal entitlement to distributions from the Fund 

as Unitholders, 
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Exchangeable Sharesof JEEC 

On July 1, 2009, Just Energy completed the acquisition of all the outstanding common shares of Universal pursuant to the 

Arrangement, Under the Arrangement, Universal shareholders received 0.58 of an Exchangeable Share of JEEC for each Universal 

common share held. In aggregate, 21,271,804 Exchangeable Shares were issued pursuant to the Arrangement. Each Exchangeable 

Share is exchangeable for a trust unit on a one for one basis at any time at the option of the holder, and entitles the holder to a 

monthly dividend equal to 66 %% of the monthly distribution paid by Just Energy on a trust uni t 

JEEC owns 66 2^% of the issued and outstanding shares in the capital of TGF (Canada), Pursuant to the terms of a unanimous 

shareholders' agreement in respect of TGF, if all of the assets and the undertaking of TGF in connection with its Belle Plaine fadlity 

are not sold by November 30, 2010, the other shareholder of TGF may elect on such date to require JEEC to purchase such 

shareholder's TGF shares (the "Put Shares"), A portion of the purchase price for the Put Shares shall be paid by the issuance of 

that number of Exchangeable Shares equal to the quotient of (i) $10 million, less the cumulative amount of all dividends and 

other distributions paid in cash to the shareholder on the Put Shares from April 15, 2009 to January 3, 2011; and (ii) the volume 

weighted average trading price of the JEEC Exchangeable Shares on the TSX for the month of December 2010, delivered annually 

in three equal installments commencing January 2, 2011. 

Issued and outstanding 

Trust units 

Balance, beginning of period 

Unit based awards exercised/exchanged 

Distribution reinvestment plan 

Exchanged from Exchangeable Shares 

Balance, end of period 

Class A preference shares 

Balance, unchanged during period 

Exchangeable Shares 

Balance, beginning of period 

Exchanged into units 

Balance, end of period 

Unitholders' capital, end of period 

Ql 
fisca_l2010 

Units/Shares 

Ql 
fiscal 2009 

Units/Shares 

124,325,307 $ 593,075 106,138,523 $ 385,294 

14,590 197 

443,218 5,599 221,775 2,464 

422,673 4,768 ^ _ _ -

125,191,198 603,442 106,374,888 387,955 

5,263,728 13.160 5,263,728 13,160 

4,688,172 

(422,673) 

52,883 

(4,768) 

4,265,499 48,115 

134,720,425 $ 664,717 111,638,616 $ 401,115 

Distr ibution reinvestment program 

Underthe Fund's distribution reinvestment program ("DRIP"), Unitholders holding a minimum of 100 units can elect to receive 

their distributions (both regular and spedal) in units rather than cash at a 2% discount to the simple average closing price of the 

units for five trading days preceding the applicable distribution payment date, providing the units are issued from treasury and 

not purchased on the open market 

Units issued 

During the three months ended June 30, 2010, the Fund issued 422,673 units relating to the exchange of Exchangeable Shares 

ofJEEC, 

<b] C o n t r i b u t e d su rp lus 

Amounts credited to contributed surplus include unit based compensation awards, unit appreciation rights and deferred unit 

grants. Amounts charged to contributed surplus are awards exercised during the period. 

Contributed surplus 

Balance, beginning of period 

Add: Unit based compensation awards 

Non-cash deferred unit grant distributions 

Less: Unit based awards exercised 

Balance, end of period 

2010 2009 

s 18,832 
1,075 

26 

3 14.671 
657 
20 

(197) 

$ 19,933 $ 15,151 

Total amounts credited to Unitholders' capital in respect of unit options and deferred unit grants exercised or exchanged during 

the three months ended June 30, 2010, amounted to nil (2009-$197). 
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NOTE 11 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

(a) Fair v a l u e 

The Fund has a variety of gas and electricity supply contracts that are captured under CICA Handbook Section 3855, Financial 

Instruments - Measurement and Recognition, Fair value is the estimated amount that Just Energy would pay or receive to dispose 

of these supply contracts In an arm's length transaction between knowledgeable, willing parties who are under no compulsion to 

act. Management has estimated the value of electridty, unforced capacity heat rates, heat-rate options, renewable and gas swap 

and forward contracts using a discounted cash flow method, which employs market forward curves that are either directly 

sourced from third parties or are developed internally based on third party market data. These curves can be volatile, thus leading 

to volatility in the mark to market with no impact to cash flows. Gas options have been valued using the Black option value model 

using the applicable market forward curves and the implied volatility from other market traded gas options. 

Effective July 1, 2008, the Fund ceased the utilization of hedge accounting. Accordingly all the mark to market changes on the Fund's 

derivative instruments are recorded on a single line on the Consolidated Statements of Operations. Due to the commodity volatility and 

size of the Fund, the quarteriy swings in mark to market on these positions will increase the volatility in the Fund's earnings. 

The following tables illustrate losses (gains) related to the Fund's derivative finandal instruments classified as held-for-trading 

recorded against other assets and other liabilities, with their offsetting values recorded in change in fair value of derivative 

instruments for the three months ended June 30, 2010: 

Change in fair value of derivative Instruments 

Canada 

Fixed-for-floating electricity swaps (i) 

Renewable energy certificates (ii) 

Verified emission-reduction credits (iii) 

Options (iv) 

Physical gas fonA'ard contracts (v) 

Transportation forwarcl contracts (vi) 

United States 

Fixed-for-floating electricity swaps (vii) 

Physical electricity forwards (viii) 

Unforced capadty forward contracts (ix) 

Unforced capadty physical contracts (x) 

Renewable energy certificates (xi) 

Verified emission-reduction credits (xii) 

Options (xiii) 

Physical gas forward contracts (xiv) 

Transportation fonward contracts (xv) 

Heat-rate swaps (xvi) 

Fixed finandal swaps (xvii) 

Foreign exchange forward contracts 

Other 

Amortization of deferred unrealized gains on discontinued hedges 

Amortization of derivative financial instruments related to acquisitions 

Change In fair value of derivative instruments 

For the three For the three 
months ended months ended 

June 30, June 30. 
2010 2010 (USS) 

For the three For the three 
months ended months ended 

June 30. June 30, 
2009 2009 (USi) 

$ (138,841) 

143 

-
837 

(83,628) 

(13,349) 

(24,244) 

(22,682) 

160 

643 

680 

2 

(180) 

(30,634) 

(156) 

3,058 

(7,366) 

277 

(34,573) 

35,477 

$ (314,376) 

n/a $ 

n/a 

n/a 

n/a 

n/a 

n/a 

(23,518) 

(21,962) 

155 

626 

661 

2 

(175) 

(29,811) 

(152) 

2,975 

(7,161) 

n/a 

n/a 

n/a 

$ 

31,147 

(254) 

-
792 

(9,811) 

3,256 

(3,601) 

(22,180) 

(2,640) 

-
412 

209 

1,303 

(26,286) 

(83) 

(1,464) 

(399) 

854 

(59,135) 

(87,880) 

n/a 

n/a 

n/a 

n/a 

n/a 

n/a 

(3,197) 

(19,689) 

(2,344) 

-
366 

186 

1,156 

(23,333) 

(74) 

(1,299) 

(355) 

n/a 

n/a 

n/a 
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The following table summarizes certain aspects of the financial assets and liabilities recorded in the financial statements as at 

June 30, 2010: 

Canada 

Fixed-for-floating electridty swaps (i) 

Renewable energy certificates (ii) 

Verified emission-reduction credits (iii) 

Options (iv) 

Physical gas forward contracts (v) 

Transportation fonAfard contracts (vi) 

United States 

Fixed-for-floating electricity swaps (vii) 

Physical electricity forwards (viii) 

Unforced capacity fonward contracts (ix) 

Unforced capadty physical contracts (x) 

Renewable energy certificates (xi) 

Verified emission-reduction credits (xii) 

Options (xiii) 

Physical gas fonward contracts (xiv) 

Transportation fonward contracts (xv) 

Heat-rate swaps (xvi) 

Fixed financial swaps (xvii) 

As at June 30. 2010 

The following table summarizes certain aspects of the financial assets and liabilities recorded in the financial statements as at 

March 31 , 2010: 

Other 
assets 

(current) 

374 

300 

2 

155 

-
14 

_ 
1 

428 

156 

64 

_ 
-
-

32 

111 

-
1,637 

Other 
assets 

(long term) 

$ 335 

529 

7 

182 

~ 
404 

„ 

-
149 

102 

98 

-
-
-
-

2,868 

-
$ 4,674 

Other 
liabilities 
(current) 

$ 169,507 

31 

_ 
-

201,098 

2,303 

45,991 

67,840 

438 

1,034 

1,280 

176 

1,095 

83,554 

1,377 

1,448 

20,581 

$ 597,753 

Other 
liabilities 

(long term) 

$ 149,844 

138 

-
-

155,508 

4,264 

36,642 

60,063 

126 

469 

1,291 

470 

633 

65,056 

2,189 

-
19,599 

$ 496,292 

Other Other 
assets assets 

(current) (long term) 

Other Other 
liabilities liabilities 
(current) (long term) 

Canada 

Fixed-for-floating electricity swaps (i) 

Renewable energy certificates (ii) 

Verified emission-reduction credits (iii) 

Options (iv) 

Physical gas forward contracts (v) 

Transportation forward contracts (vi) 

United States 

Fixed-for-floating electricity swaps (vii) 

Physical electridty fonA-ards (viii) 

Unforced capacity fonvard contracts (ix) 

Unforced capadty physical contracts (x) 

Renewable energy certificates (xi) 

Verified emission-reduction credits (xii) 

Options (xiii) 

Physical gas forward contracts (xiv) 

Transportation forward contracts (xv) 

Heat-rate swaps (xvi) 

Fixed finandal swaps (xvii) 

Foreign exchange fonward contracts 

As at March 3 1 , 2010 

3 244,563 3 212,920 

350 

2 

757 

-
-

_ 
-

523 

33 

107 

-
-
-
-

621 

7 

416 

-
-

_ 
-

102 

146 

130 

-
-
-
-

30 

-
-

237,145 

11,060 

31,291 

38,015 

445 

731 

918 

167 

912 

96,938 

1,265 

139 

-
-

203,088 

8,439 

30,464 

39,035 

9 

-
945 

447 

915 

75,142 

2,262 

654 

277 

3,605 

21,720 16,767 

$ 2,703 $ 5,027 $ 685,200 $ 590,572 
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The following table summarizes financial instruments classified as held-for-trading as at June 30, 2010: 

Contract type 

Canada 

(i) Fixed-for-floating 

electricity swapŝ  

(ii) Renewable energy 

certificates 

(iii) Verified err̂ ission-

reduction credits 

(iv) Options 

(v) Physical gas 

forward contracts 

(vi) Transportation 

forward contracts 

United States 
(vii) Fixed-for-floating 

electricity swaps' 

(viii) Physical electricity 

forwards 

(ix) Unforced capacity 

forward contracts 

(x) Unforced capadty 

physical contracts 

(xi) Renewable energy 

certificates 

(xii) Verified emission-

reduction credits 

(xiii) Options 

(xiii) Heat-rate options 

(xiv) Physical gas 

forward contracts 

(xv) Transportation 

forward contracts 

(xvi) Heat-rate swaps 

(xvii) Fixed finandal swaps 

Notional 
volume 

COODI-llS 

MWh 

10-90,000 

MWh 

2,000-100,000 

tonnes 

45-^0,500 

GJ/month 

3-15,191 

GJ/day 

7-465,000 

GJ/day 

0.10-34 

MWh 

1-40 

MWh 

5-35 

MWCap 

2-150 

MWCap 

2,000-160,000 

MWh 

10,000-50,000 

tonnes 

5-37,500 

mmBTU/day 

1,600 

MWh 

5-11,106 

mmBTU/day 

15-15.000 

mmBTU/day 

1-30 

MWh 

100-21.561 

mmBTU/day 

Total 
remaining 

volume 

11,815,179 

MWh 

1,265,368 

MWh 

605,000 

tonnes 

4,775,620 

GJ 

141,353.627 

GJ 

72,413,923 

GJ 

6,993,028 

MWh 

7,121,830 

MWh 

1,075 

MWCap 

2,697 

MWCap 

2.832.265 

MWh 

615.000 

tonnes 

5,378,990 

mmBTU 

147,200 

MWh 

46,193,941 

mmBTU 

39,252,865 

mmBTU 

3.728.117 

MWh 

46,239.222 

mmBTU 

Maturity date 

July31,2010-

October31,2016 

December 31, 2010-

December 31, 2014 

December31, 2010-

December 31,2014 

July31,2010-

February 28, 2014 

July31.2010-

November30, 2015 

July31,2010-

May31,2015 

Jul/31.2010-

)une30, 2015 

July31, 2010-

January31,2015 

July31, 2010-

November 3D, 2012 

July31,2D10-

May31,2014 

December31,2010-

December31, 2015 

December31,2010-

December31,2D14 

July 31, 2010-

December31,2014 

July 1, 2010-

September30, 2010 

July 1, 2010-

July31,2014 

July 1, 2010-

March31,2015 

Ju]y31,2D10-

May31,2Q15 

July31,2010-

April30, 2D15 

Fixed price 

$28,75-5128.13 

J3,OO-t26,00 

J6,0O-J11,50 

J5.35-J12,40 

$3,51-J1O,00 

$0,01-11.57 

$25,55-1145,58 

(U5524,00-$136.75) 

$22,25-512456 

(US$20.90-$117,00) 

53,194-18.517 

(US$3,000-58,000) 

11.490-$ 14,0 53 

(USll.400-$13,200) 

$1,70-$26,62 

(US$1.60-$25-00) 

$6,76-$9,32 

(US$6-35-$8,75) 

$8.25-$ 14,69 

(US$7.75-$13-80) 

S73.71-$75,33 

(US569,24-570.76) 

$4,79-512,65 

(US$4,50-511,88) 

$0.0027-50,6388 

(US5O,OO25-50,60OO) 

$28,74-589.93 

(US$27,0D-$83.53) 

$4.39-$9,16 

(US$4.12-$8,60) 

Fair value 
favourable 

(unfavourable) 

($318,642) 

$660 

$9 

$337 

(J356.606) 

(56,149) 

($82,633) 

(US(57?,619)) 

($127,902) 

(05(5120,141)) 

$13 

(US$12) 

($1,245) 

(US($1,169)) 

($2,409) 

(US(52,263)) 

($646) 

(US($607)) 

($1,834) 

(US($ 1,723)) 

$106 

(US5100) 

(5148,610) 

(US(5139.592)) 

($3,534) 

(US($3.320)) 

$1,531 

(US51,438) 

(540,180) 

(US(537,742)) 

Notional 
value 

$844,770 

$8,031 

$5,836 

59,043 

51,074,275 

$53,206 

5465,338 

(USJ437,1D1) 

3473,649 

(US$444,908) 

55,986 

(US55,625) 

$18,138 

(US$17,037) 

$17,627 

(US$16,557) 

$4,999 

(US$4,696) 

$8,757 

(US$a,226) 

5390 

(US 53 66) 

$419,217 

(US$393,779) 

($31,034) 

(US($29.1S1)) 

$184,274 

(US$173,092) 

$312,113 

(US$293,174) 

' The electricity fixed-for-floating contracts related to the Province of Alberta are predominantly load-following, and scxne contracts in Ontario, wherein 
the quantity of electridty contained in the supply contract "follows" the usage of customers designated by the supply contract. Notional volumes 
associated with these contracts are estimates and subject to change with customer usage requirements. There are also load shaped fixed-for-floating 
contracts in the rest of Just Energy's electricity markets wherein the quantity of electricity is established but varies throughout the term of the contracts. 

The estimated amortization of deferred gains and losses reported in accumulated other comprehensive Income that Is expected to 

be amortized to net income within the next 12 months is a gain of $106,833, 

These derivative finandal instruments create a credit risk for Just Energy since they have been transacted with a limited number of 

counterparties. Should any counterparty be unable to fulfill its obligations under the contracts. Just Energy may not be able to 

realize the other asset balance recognized in the consolidated finandal statements. 

52 JUST ENERGY INCOME FUND H FIRST QUARTER REPORT 2Q11 



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

In Illinois, Texas, Pennsylvania. Maryland, California, New York (small portion of direct-billed customers). New Jersey and Alberta, 

Just Energy assumes the credit risk assodated with cash collection from its customers. Credit review processes have been put In 

place for these markets where Just Energy has credit risk to manage the customer default rate. If a significant number of 

customers were to default on their payments, it could have a material adverse effect on Just Energy's operations and cash flow. 

Management factors default from credit risk in its margin expectations for these markets-

Fair value ("FV") hierarchy 

Level 1 

The fair value measurements are classified as Level 1 in the FV hierarchy if the fair value is determined using quoted, unadjusted 

market prices. Just Energy values its cash, restricted cash, accounts receivable, bank indebtedness, accounts payable and accrued 

liabilities, unit distribution payable, and long-term debt under Level 1, 

Level 2 

Fair value measurements which require inputs other than quoted prices in Level 1, either directly or indirectly, are classified as 

Level 2 in the FV hierarchy This could include the use of statistical techniques to derive the FV curve from obsen/able market 

prices. However, in order to be classified under Level 2, inputs must be substantially observable in the market Just Energy values 

its New York Mercantile Exchange ("NYMEX") financial gas fixed-for-floating swaps under Level 2, 

Level 3 

Fair value measurements which require unobservable market data or use statistical techniques to derive forward cun/es from 

obsen/able market data and unobservable inputs are classified as Level 3 in the FV hierarchy For the electricity supply contracts, 

Just Energy uses quoted market prices as per available market forward data and applies a price-shaping profile to calculate the 

monthly prices from annual strips and houriy prices from block strips for the purposes of mark to market calculations. The profile 

is based on historical settlements with counterparties or with the system operator and is considered an unobservable input for the 

purposes of establishing the level in the hierarchy For the natural gas supply contracts. Just Energy uses three different market 

obsen/able curves: (i) commodity (predominately NYMEX), (ii) basis, and (iii) foreign exchange, NYMEX curves extend for over five 

years (thereby covering the length of Just Energy's contracts); however, most basis cun/es only extend 12 to 15 months into the 

future. In order to calculate basis curves for remaining years. Just Energy uses extrapolation which leads to natural gas supply 

contracts to be classified under Level 3. 

Wote on fair value measurement input sensitivity 

The main cause of changes in fair value of derivative instruments are changes in the forward cun/e prices used for the fair value 

calculations. Just Energy provides a sensitivity analysis of these fonward curves under the commodity price risk section of this note. 

Other Inputs, induding volatility and correlations, are driven off of historical settlements. 

The following table illustrates the classification of finandal assets/(liabilities) in the FVhierarchy asat June 30, 2010: 

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

Financial assets 

Trading assets $ 108,958 $ - $ 

Loans and receivables 329,773 

Derivative finandal assets - - 6,311 

Total 

Finandal liabilities 

Derivative financial liabilities 

Other financial liabilities 

Total net derivative liabilities 

(40.180) (1,053,865) 

(891,086} 

E 108,958 

329,773 

6,311 

(1,094,045) 

(891,086) 

$ (452,355) $ (40,180) 3(1,047,554) $(1,540,089) 
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The following table illustrates the changes in net fair value of financial assets (liabilities) dassified as Level 3 In the FV hierarchy for 

the three months ended June 30, 2010: 

June 30. 2010 

Opening balance, Apri l 1, 2010 3(1,229,555) 

Total gain (loss) - net income 491,469 

Purchases (107,906) 

Sales (2,721) 

Settlements (198,841) 

Transfer out of Level 3 --_ 

Closing balance, June 30, 201Q $(1,047,554) 

(b) C lass i f i ca t ion o f f i nanc ia l assets a n d l iab i l i t ies 

The following table represents the fair values and carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value or 

amortized cost: 

Cash and restricted cash 

Accounts receivable 

Long-term receivable 

Other assets 

Bank indebtedness, accounts payable and accrued liabilities and unit distribution payable 

Long-term debt 

Other liabilities 

Interest expense on financial liabilities not held-for-trading 

The carrying value of cash, restricted cash, accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued liabilities and unit distribution 

payable approximates their fair value due to their short-term liquidity. 

The carrying value of long-term debt approximates its fair value as the interest payable on outstanding amounts is at rates that 

vary with Bankers' Acceptances, LIBOR, Canadian bank prime rate or U,S- prime rate, with the exception of the JEIF and JEEC 

convertible debentures which are fair valued based on market value, 

(cj M a n a g e m e n t o f r isks a r i s i ng f r o m f i nanc ia l i n s t r u m e n t s 

The risks associated with the Fund's financial Instruments are as follows: 

(i) Market risk 

Market risk is the potential loss that may be incurred as a result of changes in the market or fair value of a particular instrument 

or commodity- Components of market risk to which the Fund is exposed are discussed below: 

Foreign currency risk 

Foreign currency risk is created by fluctuations in the fair value or cash flows of financial instruments due to changes in foreign 

exchange rates and exposure as a result of investment in U.S, operations, 

A portion of Just Energy's earnings is generated in U,S. dollars and is subject to currency fluctuations. The performance of the 

Canadian dollar relative to the U.S. dollar could positively ot negatively affect Just Energy's earnings. Due to its growing 

operations in the U.S. and its recent acquisition of Hudson, Just Energy expects to have a greater exposure to U.S, fluctuations 

in the future than in prior years. 

The Fund may, from time to time, experience losses resulting from fluctuations in the values of its foreign currency transactions, 

which could adversely affect operating results. 

AsatJune30, 2010 

Carrying 
amount 

$ 108,958 

325,875 

3,898 

6,311 

329,500 

561,586 

1,094,045 

Fair value 

$ 108,958 

325,875 

3,898 

6,311 

329,500 

606,302 

1,094,045 

For the three months 

2010 

$ 9,480 

ended June 30 

2009 

$ 480 
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With respect to translation exposure, as at June 30, 2010, if the Canadian dollar had been 5% stronger or weaker against the 

U,S, dollar, assuming that all the other variables had remained constant, net income for the three months ended June 30, 2010, 

would have been $2,756 higher/lower and other comprehensive income would have been $1,974 lower/higher 

Interest rate risk 

Just Energy is also exposed to interest rate fluctuations assodated with its floating-rate credit fadlity. Just Energy's current 

exposure to interest rates does not economically warrant the use of derivative instruments. The Fund's exposure to interest 

rate risk is relatively immaterial and temporary in nature. The Fund does not currently believe that this long-term debt exposes 

it to material financial risks but it has set out parameters to actively manage this risk within its Risk Management Policy 

A 1 % increase (decrease) in interest rates would have resulted in a decrease (increase) in income before income taxes for the 

three months ended June 30, 2010, of approximately $248. 

Commodity price risk 

Just Energy is exposed to market risks associated with commodity prices and market volatility where estimated customer 

requirements do not match actual customer requirements. Management actively monitors these positions on a daily basis in 

accordance with its Risk Management Policy. This policy sets out a variety of limits Including, most importantly thresholds for 

open positions in the gas and electricity portfolios; should any of the limits be exceeded, they are dosed expeditiously or 

express approval to continue to hold is obtained. Just Energy's exposure to market risk is affected by a number of factors, 

induding accuracy of estimation of customer commodity requirements, commodity prices, volatility and liquidity of markets. 

Just Energy enters into derivative instruments in order to manage exposures to changes in commodity prices. The derivative 

instruments that are used are designed to fix the price of supply for estimated customer commodity demand in Canadian 

dollars and thereby fix margins, such that Unitholder distributions can be appropriately established. Derivative instruments are 

generally transacted over the counter The inability or failure of Just Energy to manage and monitor the above-market risks 

could have a material adverse effect on the operations and cash flow of Just Energy 

Commodity price sensitivity - a l l derivative f inancial instruments 

As at June 30, 2010. if the energy prices induding natural gas, electricity, green natural gas credits and green electricity 

certificates had risen (fallen) by 10%, assuming that all the other variables had remained constant, income before taxes for the 

year ended June 30, 2010, would have increased (decreased) by 3239,229 ($238,327) primarily as a result of the change 

in the fair value of the Fund's derivative instruments. 

Commodity price sensitivity - Level 3 derivative financial instruments 

/\s at June 30, 2010, if the energy prices including natural gas, electricity, green natural gas credits and green electridty 

certificates had risen (fallen) by 10%, assuming that all the other variables had remained constant, income before taxes for the 

year ended June 30, 2010, would have increased (decreased) by $214,174 ($213,342) primarily as a result of the change 

in the fair value of the Fund's derivative instruments. 

Changes in energy prices will not significantly impact the Fund's gross margin, 

(ii) Credit risk 

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument fails to discharge an obligation and causes financial loss to 

another party Just Energy is exposed to credit risk in two specific areas: customer credit risk and counterparty credit risk. 

Customer credit risk 

In Alberta, Texas, Illinois, Pennsylvania, California, Maryland, New York and New Jersey Just Energy has customer credit risk 

and, therefore, credit review processes have been implemented to perform credit evaluations of customers and manage 

customer default. If a significant number of customers were to default on their payments, it could have a material adverse 

effect on the operations and cash flows of Just Energy Management factors default from credit risk In its margin expectations 

for all the above markets. 
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As at June 30, 2010, accounts receivable from the above markets with a carrying value of 322,124 (March 31 , 2010 - $20,239) 

were pastduebut not doubtful, Asat June 30, 2010, the aging of the accounts receivable from the above markets was as follows: 

Current J 129,516 

1-30 days 12,977 

31-60 days 5,654 

61-90 days 3,493 

Over 90 days 19,901 

$ 171.541 

Forthe three months ended June 30, 2010, changes in the allowance for doubtful accounts were as follows: 

Balance, beginning of period $ 17,519 

Provision for doubtful accounts 5,743 

Bad debts written off (4,647) 

Others (212) 

Balance, end of period $ 18,403 

For the remaining markets, the local distribution companies ("LDCs"} provide collection services and assume the risk of any bad 

debts owing from Just Energy's customers for a fee. Management believes that the risk of the LDCs failing to deliver payment to 

Just Energy is minimal. There is no assurance that the LDCs that provide these sen/ices will continue to do so In the future. 

Counterparty credit risk 

Counterparty credit risk represents the loss that Just Energy would incur if a counterparty fails to perform under its contractual 

obligations. This risk would manifest Itself in Just Energy replacing contracted supply at prevailing market rates, thus impacting 

the related customer margin. Counterparty limits are established within the Risk Management Policy. Any exception to these 

limits requires approval from the Board of Directors of JEC. The Risk Office and Risk Committee monitor current and potential 

credit exposure to individual counterparties and also monitor overall aggregate counterparty exposure. However, the failure of 

a counterparty to meet its contractual obligations could have a material adverse effect on the operations and cash flows of 

Just Energy 

As at June 30, 2010, the maximum counterparty credit risk exposure amounted to $177,852, representing the risk relating to 

its derivative financial assets and accounts receivable, 

(til) Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the potential inability to meet financial obligations as they fall due. The Fund manages this risk by monitoring 

detailed weekly cash flow forecasts covering a rolling six-week period, monthly cash forecasts for the next 12 months, and 

quarteriy forecasts for the following two-year period to ensure adequate and effident use of cash resources and credit fadlities. 

The following are the contractual maturities, excluding interest payments, reflecting undiscounted disbursements of the Fund's 

finandal liabilities as at June 30, 2010: 

Accounts payable and 

accrued liabilities and 

unit distribution payable 

Bank indebtedness 

Long-term debt 

Derivative instruments: 

Cash outflow 

Total 

Carrying 
amount 

$ 321,647 

7,853 

561,586 

1,094,045 

$ 1,985,131 

Contractual 
cash flows 

$ 321,647 

7,853 

615,377 

3,936,299 

$4,881,176 

Less than 
1 year 

$ 321,647 

7,853 

65,109 

1,397,493 

$1,792,102 

1-3 years 

$ 
-

102,235 

2,017,737 

$2,119,972 

4-5 years 

$ 
-

118,033 

510,211 

$ 628,244 

After 
5 years 

$ 
-

330,000 

10,858 

$ 340,858 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

Inaddition to the amounts noted above, at June 30, 2010, net interest payments over the life of the long-term debt and bank 

credit facility are: 

Less than 
1 year 1 -3 years 

Interest payments 

4-5 years 
After 

5 years 

$ 29,592 $ 63,451 $ 50,175 $ 50,856 

(iv) Supplier risk 

Just Energy purchases the majority of the gas and electridty delivered to its customers through long-term contracts entered 

into with various suppliers. Just Energy has an exposure to supplier risk as the ability to continue to deliver gas and electridty to 

its customers is reliant upon the ongoing operations of these suppliers and their ability to fulfill their contractual obligations. 

Just Energy has discounted the fair value of its finandal assets by $2,959 to accommodate for its counterparties' risk of default. 

NOTE 12 INCOME PER UNIT 

Basic income per unit 

Net income available to Unitholders 

Weighted average number of units outstanding 

Weighted average number of Class A preference shares 

Weighted average number of Exchangeable Shares 

Basic units and shares outstanding 

Basic Income per unit 

Ql 
fiscal 2010 

275,309 

124.818,132 

5.263,728 

4,340,387 

134,422,247 

Ql 
fiscal 2009 

102,627_ 

106,198,000 

5,264,000 

2.05 $ 

111,462,000 

0,92 

Diluted income per unit 

Net income available to Unitholders 

Adjusted net income for dilutive impact of convertible debentures 

Adjusted net income 

Basic units and shares outstanding 

Dilutive effect of: 

Unit appreciation rights 

Deferred unit grants 

Convertible debentures 

Units outstanding on a diluted basis 

Diluted income per unit 

275,309 3 

3,925 

279,234 

134,422,247 

2,701,377 

84,211 

13_^940,519 

151,148,354 

102,627 

102,627 

111,462,000 

1,382,000 

63,000 

112,907,000 

1.S5 3 0.91 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOUDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTE 13 REPORTABLE BUSINESS SEGMENTS 

Just Energy operates in two reportable geographic segments - Canada and the United States. Reporting by geographic region is 

in line with Just Energy's performance measurement parameters. The gas and electricity business segments have operations in 

both Canada and United States, 

Just Energy evaluates segment performance based on geographic segments and operating segments. In the prior year comparative 

period, ethanol and home sen/ices divisions are not Induded as both were acquired on July 1, 2009, under the Universal acquisition. 

The following tables present Just Energy's results by geographic segments and operating segments: 

Gas and electricity marketing Ethanol Home services 

June 30,2010 

Sales - gas 

Sales - electricity 

Ethanol 

Home services 

sales 

Gross margin 

Amortization of property, plant and equipment 

Amortization of intangible assets 

Other operating expenses 

LOSS before the undernoted 

interest expense 

Change in fair value of derivative instruments 

Other income (loss) 

Non-controlling interest 

provision for income tax 

Net income (loss) 

$ 

$ 

S 

$ 

Canada 

129,846 

160,629 

-
-

290,475 

38,257 

(1,346) 

(11.336) 

(30.658) 

(5,083) 

6,316 

(234,240) 

(2,635) 

-
14,408 

211,068 

Un 

$ 

s 
$ 

$ 

ited States 

73,048 $ 

224,914 

-
-

297,962 $ 

42,054 $ 

(210) 

(15,437) 

(28,911) 

(2.504) 

116 

(80,136) 

859 

-
4,952 

71.705 $ 

Canada 

-
-

16,806 

-

16,806 

(2,646) 

(296) 

-
(2,334) 

(5.276) 

1,707 

-
(6) 

(2,573) 

-

(4,404) 

$ 

* 
$ 

$ 

Canada 

-
-
-

4,441 

4,441 

2,832 

(68) 

(399) 

(4.084) 

(1.719) 

1,341 

-
-
-

(3.060) 

Consolidated 

s 

$ 

$ 

$ 

202,894 

385,543 

16,806 

4,441 

609,684 

80,497 

(1,920) 

(27,172) 

(65,987) 

(14,582) 

9,480 

(314,376) 

(1,782) 

(2,573) 

19,360 

275,309 

Additions to property plant and equipment 

Total goodwill 

Total assets 

$ 451 

$ 160,536 

$ 677,335 

$ 888 

$ 62,229 

$ 850,548 

$ 114 

$ 

$ 156,790 

s 

s 

8,154 

-

95,911 

$ 9,607 

$ 222.765 

$ 1,780,584 
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June 30, 2009 

Sales-gas 

Sales-electridty 

Sales 

Gross margin 

Amortization of gas contracts 

Amortization of electridty contracts 

Amortization of property plant and equipment 

Other operating expenses 

Income before the undernoted 

Interest expense 

Change In fair value of derivative instruments 

Other income 

Non-controlling interest 

Provision for income taxes 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

Gas and electridty marketing 

$ 

$ 

$ 

Canada 

149,697 

123,491 

273,188 

42,353 

283 

-
1,126 

22,045 

18,899 

416 

(8,275) 

(745) 

(55) 

287 

United States 

S 

$ 

$ 

50,434 

75,388 

125,822 

23,722 

-
311 

68 

17,523 

5,820 

64 

(79,605) 

(11) 

-
10,016 

Consolidated 

$ 

$ 

$ 

200,131 

198,879 

399,010 

66,075 

283 

311 

1,194 

39,568 

24.719 

480 

(87,880) 

(756) 

(55) 

10,303 

Net income 

Additions to property, plant and equipment 

Total goodwill 

Total assets 

$ 

$ 

3 

3 

27,271 

7,307 

94,576 

313,888 

$ 

$ 

$ 

3 

75,356 

99 

20,732 

143,823 

$ 

$ 

3 

3 

102,627 

7,406 

115,308 

457,711 

NOTE M C O M M I T M E N T S 

Commitments for each of the next five years and thereafter are as follows: 

2011 

2012 

2013 

2014 

2015 

Thereafter 

Grain 
production 

contracts 

$ 30,736 

19,631 

1,703 

396 

-
-

Master Services 
Agreement 

with EPCOR 

$ 8,653 

7,692 

-
-
-
-

Long-term 
gas and 

electricity 
contracts 

with various 
suppliers 

$1,397,493 

1,259,688 

758,049 

382.702 

127.509 

10.858 

Premises and 
equipment 

leasing 

3 6,495 

7,046 

5.489 

3.871 

2,745 

5.510 

$ 31,156 $ 52,466 $ 16,345 $3,936,299 

Just Energy is also committed under long-term contracts with customers to supply gas and electricity. These contracts have various 

expiry dates and renewal options. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTE 15 CONTINGENCIES 
The State of California has filed a number of complaints to the Federal Regulatory Energy Commission ("FREC") against many 
suppliers of electridty, including Commerce, a subsidiary of the Fund, with respect to events stemming from the 2001 energy 
crises in California, Pursuant to the complaints, the State of California is challenging the FREC's enforcement of its market-based 
rate system. Although Commerce did not own generation, the State of California Is daiming that Commerce was unjustly 
enriched by the run-up caused by the alleged market manipulation by other market partidpants. The proceedings are currently 
ongoing. On March 18, 2010, the Administrative Law Judge granted the motion to strike for all parties in one of the complaints, 
holding that California did not prove that the reporting errors masked the accumulation of market power California has appealed 
the dedsion. 

At this time, the likelihood of damages or recoveries and the ultimate amounts, if any with respect to this litigation is not 
determinable," however, an estimated amount has been recorded in these consolidated financial statements as at June 30, 2010. 

NOTE 16 COMPARATIVE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
Certain figures from the comparative consolidated financial statements have been reclassified from statements previously 
presented to conform to the presentation of the current period's consolidated financial statements. 
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HIGHLIGHTS FOR THE THREE MONTHS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2010, INCLUDED: 

Gross cuslomer additions of 254,000, the second highest 
quarterly total in the history of Just Energy, up 81 % 
from 140,000 in the second quarter of fiscal 2010. 

Distributable cash after gross margin replacement of 
$53.4 million ($0.39 per unit), up 2% year over year 
(0% per unit). 

Net customer additions of 92,000, up from 36,000 
net additions in the second quarter of fiscal 2010. 

Distributable cash after all marketing expenses of 
$45.8 million ($0.33 per unit), up 11% (8% per unit). 

Sales (seasonally adjusted) of $748.5 million, up 33% 
year over year. 

Adjusted EBITDA of $39.4 million, up 8% per unit from 
$36.6 million year over year. 

Gross margin (seasonally adjusted) of $115.4 million, 
up 7% year over year (5% per unit). 

General and administrative costs flat year over year 
despite a 38% increase in customers and the inclusion 
of Hudson Energy Services. 

Net loss of $154.5 million ($1.12 per unit), which 
includes the impact of the non-cash mark to market 
loss on future supply positions, Prior year net income 
was $110.7 million ($0.82 per unit) due to a favourable 
mark to market adjustment. 

Continued strong JustGreen product sales, with 38% 
of new residential customers taking an average of 
91% JustGreen supply. 
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MESSAGE FROM THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER 

Fellow Unitholders, 
I am very pleased to review the results for the second quarter, which has been a strong quarter for Just Energy (the "Fund"), The key to our 
success for the quarter and the key driver of our future financial results has been our ability to expand our marketing across multiple sales 
channels. This was evidenced in solid customer additions in the residential market and a second consecutive quarter of strong additions 
through our Commercial Energy division. 

Just Energy has always been a marketing-driven company During the past three years, the key to our ability to meet our growth 
guidance has been our ability to grow customer margins and expand the market segments in which we can provide services to 
our customers. Facing a relatively saturated Canadian market, our strong U.S. additions resulted in minimal net customer growth. Since 
the acquisition of Hudson Energy and getting access to its commercial customer broker network, the Fund has experienced record levels 
of gross and net customer additions. 

QUARTERLY CUSTOMER ADDITIONS 

(thousands) 
Grass addilions 261 

• Neiadtiiibns 254 

' ^ 0 137 13, 

116 

91 y^ 85 • 92 

q i Q2 Q3 04 01 Q2 03 Q4 Ql Q2 

|-i«al2Q09 FSC3I20I0 Hsw. 2011 

As evidenced in the chart, there has been a significant change in our quarterly marketing results since we entered into the commercial 
market. Total customer additions of 254,000 in the second quarter and 261,000 in thefirst quarter are far higher than the previous record 
of 140,000 added in the second quarter of fiscal 2010, Net customer additions of 116,000 and 92,000 for the first and second quarters, 
respectively, also far outstrip the 36,000 net additions in the second quarter of fiscal 2010, In fact, the net additions in the first two quarters 
of fiscal 2011 have exceeded our total annual customer net additions in both fiscal 2009 and fiscal 2010, 

The first six months of marketing in fiscal 2011 has generated net additions equal to 9% of the Fund's April 1, 2010 total customer count. 
W/ith the Hudson Energy acquisition, the total growth increased to 38% since the beginning of the fiscal year It is important to note that 
the majority of the new customers added only begin flowing in the third quarter of fiscal 2011. 

Second quarter operating performance 

Operating performance in the second quarter improved compared to the weather-impacted results in the first quarter, despite final 
settlements in the Ontario and Michigan markets. Gross margins and distributable cash were in line with our published expectations for the 
second quarter and, as noted above, this was without the benefit of new customers signed over the past six months who will not flow until 
the third or fourth quarter. While the second quarter results reflect the adverse effects of final reconciliation costs from the winter with 
record-warm temperatures on our gas book, gross margins were up 5% per unit and distributable cash after margin replacement was flat 
per unit and up 8% per unit after all marketing expense. 
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$ 748.5 $ 

115.4 

53.4 

45.8 

39.4 

(154.5) 

42.3 

5.44 $ 

0.84 

0.39 

0.33 

0,29 

(1.12) 

0.31 

562,1 

107.5 

52.3 

41,3 

36.6 

110,7 

42,8 

$ 4,19 

0,80 

0.39 

0,31 

0,27 

0,82 

0,32 

MESSAGE FROM THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER 

The tables below detail the operating results of the Fund for the three and six months ended September 30, 2010. 

Far the three months ended September 30 

(millions o f dollar^ except per unit) 

Fiscal 2011 Per unit' Fiscal 2010 Per urit^ 

Sales' 

Gross margin' 

Distributable cash 

After margin replacement 

After marketing expense 

Adjusted EBITDA 

Net income (loss) 

Distributions 

' Seasonally adjusted, 

^The per unit amounts are calculated on an adjusted fully diluted basis for fiscal 2011, removing the impact of the JEEC and JEIF convertible debentures as both 
will be anti-dilutive by fiscal year-end. The fiscal 2010 per unit amounts are calculated on a fully diluted basis. 

For the six months ended September 30 

(millions of dollars, except per unit) 

Sales^ 

Gross margin' 

Distributable cash 

After margin replacement 

After marketing expense 

Adjusted EBITDA 

Net income 

Distributions 

'Seasonally adjusted, 

^The per unit amounts are calculated on an adjusted fully diluted basis for fiscal 2011, removing the impact of the JEEC and JEIF convertible debentures as both 
will be anti-dilutive by fiscal year-end. The fiscal 2010 per unit amounts are calculated on a fully diluted basis. 

Realized margins per customer were weak in the quarter, particularly in the gas markets, which related to the final settlements for the warm 

winter This resulted In a lag between customer growth and margin growth. Overall, our new customer margins remained strong, which 

bodes well for future results. Total embedded margin within our customer book was 31,5 billion, despite a 3% decline in the U,S, dollar 

Two additional bright spots in the quarter were bad debt and attrition. Just Energy bears the bad debt risk on 35% of its total revenue and 

its expense rate peaked at 3,5% in the depths of the recession last year Since then, along with the slow recovery in the U,S. economy, 

losses have steadily declined and totalled 2,5% for the second quarter, which is in the middle of our 2% to 3% target range. Customer 

attrition, which had risen above our 30% target in our U.S. gas markets, has also steadily dedlned, reaching 27% for the trailing 12 months, 

with further reductions likely in the remaining quarters. 

We worked hard to control our general and administrative costs. Despite a 38% increase in the number of customers and the integration of 

the Hudson management team, we held overhead costs flat at $25,5 million year over year This was done through the final realization of 

synergies from the Universal acquisition completed in fiscal 2010 and tight controls on all other spending. 

During the quarter, we committed to make expenditures toward a number of new geographic expansions, which we believe will contribute 

to higher distributable cash in the future. This will result in higher general and administrative costs in future quarters, but the ratio of these 

costs to total customers should continue to dedine. 

The growth of the Commercial Energy division had a number of impacts on operating results. First, margins per residential customer 

equivalents ("RCEs") are lower with these customers but a single customer can equate to hundreds of RCEs. This means lower customer 

care costs per RCE and lower initial aggregation costs. It is our view that the overall customer value of a commercial customer is similar to 

a residential customer based on the lower cost of acquisition and ongoing service. Commercial customers are currently approximately 40% 

of Just Energy's base, and we expect that percentage to increase over time. Second, commercial customers are subject to less weather 

volatility than residential customers, which may mean more predictable results from the natural gas book. Also, commercial customers do 

not ordinarily move, which could lead to lower overall attrition, making book balancing less complex. 
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Fiscal 2011 

$ 1,388.5 i 

204.3 

87.2 

70.2 

70.7 

120,8 

84,5 

Per unit' 

; 10,10 

1.49 

0.63 

0.51 

0.57 

0.88 

0.62 

Fiscal 2010 

$ 994,7 $ 

182,3 

94.5 

77,4 

66.8 

213.3 

77,9 

Per unit^ 

8.04 

1,47 

0-76 

0,63 

0,54 

1.72 

0,53 



MESSAGE FROM THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER 

Jus tGreen 

JustGreen energy sales remained strong in the second quarter Take-up by our new residential customers was 38%, and these customers 

took an average of 91 % of their consumption from green supply Ontario electricity customers who chose a 100% green supply generated 

annual margins of $193/RCE versus $104/RCE for customers selecting brown supply highlighting JustGreen's importance. Currently, 

JustGreen customers make up 11 % of the residential electricity portfolio and 3% of the residential gas portfolio. 

N a t i o n a l H o m e Services 

National Home Services ("NHS") provides Ontario residential customers long-term water heater rental programs that offer conventional 

tanks, power vented tanks and tankless water heaters in a variety of sizes, which Is in addition to the recently added offering of furnaces 

and air conditioners. NHS continues to ramp up its operations and, asat September 30, 2010, had a cumulative installed base of 

99,700 water heaters in Ontario residences, up 80% from the year prior NHS has also installed 1,000 furnaces and 300 air conditioners 

as at September 30, 2010, 

NHS has a debt arrangement whereby it can finance 100% of the cost of all of its water heaters (fully installed). This debt is repaid by the 

first five years of the contractual 15-year rental payment from the customer Once the Home Trust Company ("HTC") financing is repaid, 

NHS will be a valuable, cash-generating asset for Just Energy 

D i s t r i b u t a b l e cash 

Distributable cash after margin replacement was flat year over year largely due to the final reconciliations of the unusually warm winter in 

our key gas markets this year. Electricity margins and cash flow tracked our customer growth. Distributable cash after all marketing was up 

8% per unit for the quarter as lower aggregation costs for commercial customers resulted in lower marketing costs for our margin growth. 

Much of the benefit of our net customer growth in the first two quarters of fiscal 2011 will be seen in the distributable cash growth In the 

third quarter and beyond. 

A d j u s t e d EBITDA 

Adjusted EBITDA was up 8% per unit at $39,4 million in fiscal 2011, up from 336.6 million from the same period last year Our view is 

that Adjusted EBITDA will be the best measure of our operating performance as we move forward as a corporation (as opposed to an 

income trust) in calendar 2011, 

Distributions 
Distributions were $0,31 per unit, on par with those of the prior year The payout ratio was 92% after marketing expense and 79% after 

margin replacement, both lower than fiscal 2010, In past years, the annual payout ratio on normal distributions has been below 100% 

and management's expectation Is that it will again be below 100% for fiscal 2011. 

At the end of this calendar year. Just Energy will convert to a high yield growth company We believe that the investments made in this 

quarter will contribute to that growth as well as supporting our high-dividend yield. The Hudson acquisition is off to an excellent start, 

and we are confident that Just Energy has built an even stronger and more diverse base for our business in the future. 

This quarter has been among the most important in Just Energy's history Your Fund has proven once again that it is not just a reliable 

source of monthly income but also an investment that grows. This unique combination makes Just Energy a solid Investment in challenging 

markets, I want to thank our team for their efforts and thank my fellow Unitholders for their continued support. 

Yours sincerely 

Ken Hartwick 

Chief Executive Officer 
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS ("MD&A") - NOVEMBER 8, 2010 
Overview 
The following discussion and analysis is a review of the financial condition and results of operations of Just Energy Income Fund ("Just Energy", 

the "Fund" or "JEIF") for the three and six months ended September 30, 2010, and has been prepared with all information available up to 

and including November 8, 2010. This analysis should be read in conjunction with the unaudited interim consolidated financial statements 

for the three and six months ended September 30, 2010, as well as the audited consolidated financial statements and related MD&A for 

the year ended March 31, 2010, contained in the Fund's 2010 Annual Report, The financial information contained herein has been 

prepared in accordance with Canadian Generally Accepted Accounting Prindples ("GAAP"), All dollar amounts are expressed in Canadian 

dollars. Quarterly reports, the annual report and supplementary information can be found on our corporate website at www.justenergycom. 

Additional information can be found on SEDAR at www.sedarcom. 

Just Energy is an open-ended, limited-purpose trust established under the laws of the Province of Ontario to hold securities and to distribute 

the income of its directly or indirectly owned operating subsidiaries and affiliates: Just Energy Ontario L.P. ("JE Ontario"), Just Energy 

Manitoba L.P. ("JE Manitoba"), Just Energy Quebec L.P ("JE Quebec"), Just Energy (B.C) Limited Partnership ("JE B,C."), Just Energy Alberta 

L,P, {"JE Alberta"}, Alberta Energy Savings L.R ("AESLP"), Just Energy Illinois Corp, ("JE Illinois"}, Just Energy New York Corp. ("JENYC"), 

Just Energy Indiana Corp. ("JE Indiana"), Just Energy Texas L.P, ("JE Texas"), Just Energy Massachusetts Corp. ("JE Mass"), Just Energy 

Michigan Corp., ("JE Michigan"), Just Energy Exchange Corp. ("JEEC"), Universal Energy Corporation ("UEC"), Universal Gas and Electric 

Corporation ("UGSE"), Commerce Energy Inc, ("Commerce" or "CEI"), National Energy Corp. ("NEC") which operates under the trade 

name of National Home Sen/Ices ("NHS"), Hudson Energy Services, LLC ("Hudson" or "HES"), Momentis Canada Corp. and Momentis U.S. 

Corp, (collectively "Momentis") and Terra Grain Fuels, Inc. ("TGF"), collectively the "Just Energy Group". 

Just Energy's business primarily involves the sale of natural gas and/or electricity to residential and commerdal customers under long-term 

fixed-price, price-protected or variable-priced contracts and green energy products. By fixing the price of natural gas or electridty under 

its fixed-price or price-protected program contracts for a period of up to five years, Just Energy's customers offset their exposure to changes 

in the price of these essential commodities. Just Energy which commenced business in 1997, derives its margin or grciss profit from the 

difference between the fixed price at which it is able to sell the commodities to its customers and the fixed price at which it purchases the 

associated volumes from its suppliers. The Fund also offers green products through its JustGreen program. The electricity JustGreen product 

offers customers the option of having all or a portion of their electricity sourced from renewable green sources such as wind, run of the 

river hydro or biomass. The gas JustGreen product offers carbon offset credits, which will allow customers to reduce or eliminate the carbon 

footprint of their home or business. Management believes that the JustGreen products will not only add to profits but also increase sales 

receptivity and improve renewal rates. 

In addition, through NHS, the Fund sells and rents high efficiency and tankless water heaters and other heating, ventilating and air 

conditioning ("HVAC") products, TGF, an ethanol producer, operates a wheat-based ethanol facility in Belle Plaine, Saskatchewan, Just Energy 

indirectly acquired Hudson, effective May 1, 2010, a marketer of natural gas and electricity that primarily sells to commercial customers. 

Forward-looking information 
This MD&A contains certain forward-looking information pertaining to customer additions and renewals, customer consumption levels, 

distributable cash and treatment under governmental regulatory regimes. These statements are based on current expectations that involve a 

number of risks and uncertainties, which could cause actual results to differ from those antidpated. These risks include, but are not limited 

to, levels of customer natural gas and electricity consumption, extreme weather conditions, rates of customer additions and renewals, 

customer attrition, fluctuations in natural gas and electridty prices, changes in regulatory regimes, decisions by regulatory authorities and 

competition, and dependence on certain suppliers. Additional information on these and other factors that could affect the Fund's 

operations, financial results or distribution levels are included In the Fund's Annual Information Form and other reports on file with 

Canadian security regulatory authorities, which can be accessed on our corporate website at www.justenergycom or through the SEDAR 

website at www.sedarcom. 
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

Key t e r m s 

"Attr i t ion" means customers whose contracts were terminated early or cancelled by Just Energy due to delinquent accounts, 

"Failed to renew" means customers who did not renew expiring contracts at the end of their term. 

"Gross margin per RCE" represents the gross margin realized on Just Energy's customer base, including both low margin customers 

acquired through various acquisitions and gains/losses from the sale of excess commodity supply 

"JEEC convertible debentures" represents the $90 million in convertible debentures issued by Universal in October 2007, JEEC assumed the 

obligations of the debentures as part of the acquisition of Universal Energy Group Ltd. ("UEG") on July 1, 2009. See "Long-term debt and 

financing" on page 31 for further details. 

"JEIF convertible debentures" represents the $330 million in convertible debentures issued by the Fund to finance the purchase of Hudson, 

effective May 1, 2010. See "Long-term debt and finandng" on page 31 for further details. 

"LDC" means a local distribution company; the natural gas or electricity distributor for a regulatory or governmentally defined 

geographic area. 

"RCE" means residential customer equivalent or the "customer", which is a unit of measurement equivalent to a customer using, as 

regards natural gas, 2,815 mMor 106 GJs or 1,000 Therms or 1,025 CCFs) of natural gas on an annual basis and, as regards electricity, 

10 MWh (or 10,000 kWh) of electridty on an annual basis, which represents the approximate amount of gas and electridty, respectively 

used by a typical household In Ontario, 

"Large commerdal customer" means customers representing more than 15 RCEs, 

N o n - G A A P f i nanc ia l measures 

All non-GAAP financial measures do not have standardized meanings prescribed by GAAP and are therefore unlikely to be comparable to 

similar measures presented by other issuers. 

Seasonally adjusted sales and seasonally adjusted gross margin 

Management believes the best basis for analyzing both the Fund's results and the amount available for distribution is to focus on amounts 

actually received ("seasonally adjusted") because this figure provides the margin earned on all deliveries to the utilities. Seasonally adjusted 

sales and gross margin are not defined performance measures under Canadian GAAR Seasonally adjusted analysis applies solely to the gas 

markets and specifically to Ontario, Quebec, Manitoba and Michigan, 

No seasonal adjustment is required for electricity as the supply is balanced daily In the other gas markets, payments for supply by the LDCs 

are aligned with customer consumption. 

Cash Available for Distr ibution 

"Distributable cash after marketing expense" refers to the net Cash Available for Distribution to Unitholders. Seasonally adjusted gross 

margin is the prindpal contributor to Cash Available for Distribution, Distributable cash is calculated by the Fund as seasonally adjusted 

gross margin, adjusted for cash items including general and administrative expenses, marketing expenses, bad debt expense, interest 

expense, corporate taxes, capital taxes and other items. This non-GAAP measure may not be comparable to other income funds. 

"Distributable cash after gross margin replacement" represents the net Cash Available for Distribution to Unitholders as defined above. 

However, only the marketing expenses associated with maintaining the Fund's gross margin at a stable level, equal to that in place at the 

beginning of the period, are deducted. Management believes that this Is more representative of the ongoing operating performance of the 

Fund because It Includes all expenditures necessary for the retention of existing customers and the addition of new margin to replace those 

customers that have not been renewed. This non-GAAP measure may not be comparable to other income funds. 

For reconciliation to cash from operating activities please refer to the "Cash Available for Distribution and distributions" analysis on page 12. 

EBITDA 

"EBITDA" represents earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization. This is a non-GAAP measure which reflects the pre-tax 

profitability of the business. 
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Adjusted EBITDA 

"Adjusted EBITDA" represents EBITDA adjusted to exclude the impact of mark to market gains (losses) arising from Canadian GAAP 
requirements for derivative financial instruments on future supply positions. In addition, the Adjusted EBITDA calculation deducts marketing 
costs sufficient to maintain existing levels of gross margin and maintenance capital expenditures necessary to sustain existing operations. 
This adjustment results in the exclusion of the marketing that Just Energy carried out and the capital expenditures that it had made to add 
to its future productive capacity Management believes this is a useful measure of operating performance for investors. 

Just Energy ensures that customer margins are protected by entering into fixed-price supply contracts. Under Canadian GAAP, the customer 
margins are not marked to market but there is a requirement to mark to market the future supply contracts. This creates unrealized gains 
(losses) depending upon current supply pricing volatility. Management believes that these short-term mark to market non-cash gains (losses) 
do not Impact the long-term financial performance of the Fund and has therefore exduded it from the Adjusted EBITDA calculation. 

Embedded gross margin 
Embedded gross margin is a rolling five-year measure of management's estimate of future contracted gross margin. It is the difference 
between existing customer contract prices and the cost of supply for the remainder of term, with appropriate assumptions for customer 
attrition and renewals. It is assumed that expiring contracts will be renewed at target margin and renewal rates. 

Standardized Distributable Cash 
"Standardized Distributable Cash" is a non-GAAP measure developed to provide a consistent and comparable measurement of distributable 
cash across entities. It Is defined as cash flows from operating activities, as reported in accordance with GAAP, less an adjustment for total 
capital expenditures as reported in accordance with GAAP, and restrictions on distributions arising from compliance with financial covenants 
restrictive at the date of the calculation of Standardized Distributable Cash, 

For reconciliation to cash from operating activities, please refer to the "Standardized Distributable Cash and Cash Available for Distribution" 
analysis on page 15, 

Financial highlights 
For the three months ended September 30 
(thousands of dollars, except where indicated and per unit amounts) 

Sales 

Net income (loss)' 
Adjusted EBITDÂ  
Gross margin (seasonally adjusted)" 
Distributable cash 

After gross margin replacement 
After marketing expense 

Distributions 

General and administrative 
Distributable cash payout ratio' 

After gross margin replacement 
After marketing expense 

' The per unit amounts are calculated using an adjusted fully diluted basis for fiscal 2011, removing the impact of the JEEC and JEIF convertible debentures as 
both will be anti-dilutive by fiscal year-end. The fiscal 2010 per unit amounts are calculated on a fully diluted basis. 

' Net income (loss) indudes the impact of unrealized gains (losses), which represent the mark to market of future commodity supply acquired to cover future 
customer demand. The supply has been sold to customers at fixed prices, minimizing any realizable impact of mark to market gains and losses, 

^Adjusted EBITDA is a more appropriate measure of the performance of the Fund since it excludes the unrealized mark to market gains and losses and deducts 
only marketing costs and capital spending to sustain existing operaliors. See above for more information, 

"See discussion of non-GAAP financial measures on page 6. 

^ Management targets an annual payout ratio after all marketing expenses, exduding any Special Distribution, of less than 100%. 

^ Not a meaningful number 

i 

657,878 

(154,480) 

39,375 

115,356 

53,442 

45,753 

42,312 

25,511 

79% 

92% 

Pe 

$ 

1 

•runit^ 

4.78 

$ (1.12) 

$ 
$ 

$ 

s 
$ 
$ 

0.29 

0.84 

0.39 

0.33 

0.31 

0.19 

=iscal 2011 

Per unit 
change 

48% 

NMF* 

8% 

5% 

., 
8% 

(3)% 

-

J 

434,659 

110,690 

36,598 

107,519 

52,303 

41,345 

42,839 

25,634 

82% 

104% 

Fiscal 2010 

P 

$ 

$ 
$ 
$ 

s 
3 
$ 
$ 

er unit' 

3.24 

0.82 

0-27 

0.80 

0,39 

0.31 

0,32 

0.19 
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For the six months ended September 30 

(thousands of dollars, except where indicated and per unit amounts) 

Sales 

Net income' 

Adjusted EBITDA^ 

Gross margin (seasonally adjusted)* 

Distributable cash 

After gross margin replacement 

After marketing expense 

Distributions 

General and administrative 

Distributable cash payout ratio^ 

After gross margin replacement 

After marketing expense 

^ The per unit amounts are calculated using an adjusted fully diluted basis foi liscal 2011, removing the impact of the JEEC and JElf convertible debentures as 
both will be anti-dilutive by fiscal year-end. The fiscal 2010 per unit amounts are calculated on a fully diluted basis. 

^ Net income (loss) indudes the impact of unrealized gains (losses), which represent the mark to market of future commodity supply acquired to cover future 
customer demand. The supply has been sold to customers at fixed prices, minimizing any realizable impact of mark to market gains and losses. 

^ Adjusted EBITDA is a more appropriate measure of the performance of the Fond since it excludes the unrealized mark to market gains and losses and deducts 
only marketing costs and capital spending to sustain existing operations. See above for more information, 

"See discussion of non-GAAP financial measures on page 6, 

^ Management targets an annual payout ratio after all markjeting expenses, exduding any Special Distribution, of less than 1 QQ%. 

$ 

1,267,562 

120,829 

70,657 

204,289 

87,225 

70,155 

84,589 

54,783 

97% 

121% 

Per unit^ 

$ 
$ 
s 
$ 

s 
$ 
$ 

9.22 

0.88 

0.51 

1.49 

0.63 

0.51 

0.62 

0.40 

Fiscal 2011 

Per unit 
change 

37% 

(49)% 

(6)% 
1 % 

(17)% 

(19)% 

(2)% 

2 1 % 

i 

833,669 

213,317 

66,780 

182,288 

94,522 

77,432 

77,853 

41,251 

82% 

101% 

Fiscal 2010 

Per unit' 

$ 
$ 

$ 
$ 

3 
3 
$ 
$ 

6,74 

1.72 

0.54 

1.47 

0,76 

0.53 

0.63 

0.33 

Reconciliation of net income (loss) to Adjusted EBITDA 
(thousands of dollars) 

Net income (loss) 

Add: 

Interest 

Tax expense (recovery) 

Capital tax 

Amortization 

EBITDA 

Add; 

Change in fair value of derivative instruments 

Marketing expenses to add gross margin 

Less: 

Maintenance capital expenditures 

Adjusted EBITDA 

Forthe 
three months 

ended 
Sept, 30, 

fiscal 2011 

S (154,480) 

12.296 

(46,529) 

26 

40,752 

(147,935) 

181,254 

7,689 

(1,633) 

$ 39,375 

For the 
three months 

ended 
Sept, 30, 

fiscal 2010 

3 110,690 

4,946 

25,786 

48 

24,068 

165,538 

(138,515) 

10,958 

(1,383) 

$ 36,598 

Forthe 
six months 

ended 
Sept, 30, 

fiscal 2011 

$ 120,829 

21,776 

(27,169) 

159 

74,200 

189,795 

(133,122) 

17,070 

(3,086) 

$ 70,657 

For the 
six months 

ended 
Sept. 30, 

fiscal 2010 

$ 213,317 

5,426 

36,089 

128 

25,856 

280,816 

(226,395) 

17,090 

(4,731) 

$ 66,780 
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Acquisit ion of Hudson Energy Services, LLC 
On May 7, 2010, Just Energy completed the acquisition of all of the equity interests of Hudson Parent Holdings, LLC, and all of the common 
shares of Hudson Energy Corp,, thereby indirectly acquiring Hudson Energy Services, LLC. with an effective date of May 1, 2010, 

The acquisition of Hudson was accounted for using the purchase method of accounting. The Fund allocated the purchase price to the 
identified assets and liabilities acquired based on their fair values at the time of acquisition as follows-, 

(thousands of dollars) 

Net assets acquired; 
Current assets (including cash of $24,003) 3 88,696 
Current liabilities (107,817) 
Electricity contracts and customer relationships 200,653 
Gas contracts and customer relationships 26,225 
Broker network 84,400 
Brand 11,200 
Information technology system development 17,954 
Contract initiation costs 20,288 
Other Intangible assets 6,545 
Goodwill 33,574 
Property, plant and equipment 2,559 
Unbilled revenue 15,092 
Notes receivable-long term 1,312 
Security deposits - long term 3,544 
Other assets - current 124 
Other assets - long term 100 
Other liabilities - current (74,683) 
Other liabilities- long term i^^-^''^' 

_ ^ 3 289,047 

Consideration: 
Purchase price $ 287,790 
Transaction costs 1,257 

$ 289,047 

All contracts and intangible assets, excluding brand, are amortized over the average remaining life at the time of acquisition. The gas and 
electricity contracts and customer relationships are amortized over 30 months and 35 months, respectively. Other intangible assets, 
excluding brand, are amortized over periods of three to five years. The brand value is considered to be indefinite and, therefore, not subject 
to amortization. The purchase price allocation is considered preliminary and, as a result, may be adjusted during the 12-month period 
following the acquisition. In the three months ended September 30, 2010, goodwill increased by $2,6 million due to additional transaction 
costs and a change in the working capital calculation which impacted the purchase price. 
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A c q u i s i t i o n o f Un ive rsa l Ene rgy G r o u p L t d . 

On July 1, 2009, Just Energy completed the acquisition of all of the outstanding common shares of Universal Energy Group ("Universal") 

pursuant to a plan of arrangement (the "Arrangement"), Under the Arrangement, the Universal shareholders received 0.58 of an 

exchangeable share ("Exchangeable Share") of JEEC, a subsidiary of Just Energy, for each Universal common share held. In aggregate, 

21,271,804 Exchangeable Shares were issued pursuantto the Arrangement, Each Exchangeable Share is exchangeable for a unit of the 

Fund on a one for one basis at any time at the option of the holder, and entitles the holder to 3 monthly dividend equal to 66^/^% of 

the monthly distribution and/or Special Distribution paid by Just Energy on a unit of the Fund, JEEC also assumed all the covenants and 

obligations of Universal in respect of Universal's outstanding JEEC convertible debentures. On conversion of the JEEC convertible 

debentures, holders will be entitled to receive 0,58 of an Exchangeable Share in lieu of each Universal common share that the holder was 

previously entitled to receive on conversion. 

The acquisition of Universal was accounted for using the purchase method of accounting. The Fund allocated the purchase price to the 

identified assets and liabilities acquired based on their fair values at the time of acquisition as follows; 

(thousands of dollars) 

Net assets acquired: 

Working capital (including cash of 310,319) $ 63,614 

Electricity contracts and customer relationships 229,586 

Gas contracts and customer relationships 243,346 

Water heater contracts and customer relationships 22,700 

Other intangible assets 2,721 

Goodwill 77,494 

Property, plant and equipment 171.693 

Future tax liabilities (50,475) 

Other liabilities - current (164,148) 

Other liabilities - long term (140,857) 

Long-term debt (183,079) 

Non-controlling interest (22,697) 

$ 249,898 

Consideration; 

Transaction costs $ 9,952 

Exchangeable Shares 239.946 

$ 249,898 

All contracts, customer relationships and intangible assets are amortized over the average remaining life at the time of acquisition. The gas 

and electricity contracts, including customer relationships, acquired are amortized over periods ranging from 8 to 57 months. The water 

heater contracts and customer relationships are amortized over 174 months and the other intangible assets are amortized over six months. 

The non-controlling interest represents 33.3% ownership of TGF held by EllisDon Corporation, The purchase price for this acquisition is final 

and no longer subject to change. 

O p e r a t i o n s 

Gas 

In each of the markets that Just Energy operates, it is required to deliver gas to the LDCs for its customers throughout the year Gas customers 

are charged a fixed price for the full term of their contract. Just Energy purchases gas supply in advance of marketing for residential customers 

and is generally concurrent with the execution of a contract for larger commercial customers. The LDC provides historical customer usage to 

enable Just Energy to purchase an approximation of estimated supply. Furthermore, in many markets. Just Energy mitigates exposure to 

customer usage by purchasing options that cover potential differences in customer consumption due to weather variations. The cost of this 

strategy is incorporated in the price to the customer Our ability to mitigate weather effects is limited by utilities' requirements to deliver fixed 

amounts of gas regardless of the weather To the extent that balancing requirements are outside the options purchased. Just Energy bears the 

financial responsibility for fluctuations in customer usage. Volume variances may result in either excess or short supply. Excess supply is sold in 

the spot market resulting in either a gain or loss compared to the weighted average cost of supply. In the case of greater than expected gas 

consumption. Just Energy must purchase the short supply at the market price, which may reduce or increase the customer gross margin 

typically realized. Under some commerdal contract terms, this balancing may be passed onto the customer 
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Ontario, Quebec, British Columbia and Michigan 

In Ontario, Quebec, British Columbia and Michigan, the volumes delivered for a customer typically remain constant throughout the year 

Just Energy does not recognize sales until the customer actually consumes the gas. During the winter months, gas is consumed at a rate 

that is greater than delivery, and in the summer months, deliveries to LDCs exceed customer consumption. Just Energy receives cash from 

the LDCs as the gas is delivered, which is even throughout the year 

Mani toba and Alberta 

In Manitoba and Alberta, the volume of gas delivered is based on the estimated consumption for each month. Therefore, the amount of 

gas delivered in winter months is higher than in the spring and summer months. Consequently, cash received from customers and LDCs will 

be higher in the winter months. 

New York, Illinois, Indiana, Ohio and California 

In New York, Illinois, Indiana, Ohio and California, the volume of gas delivered is based on the estimated consumption and storage 

requirements for each month. Therefore, the amount of gas delivered in winter months is higher than in the spring and summer months. 

Consequently, cash flow received from these states is greatest during the third and fourth (winter) quarters, as cash is normally received 

from the LDCs in the same period as customer consumption. 

Electricity 

Ontario, Alberta, New York, Texas. Illinois, Pennsylvania, New Jersey, Maryland. Michigan, California and Massachusetts 

Just Energy offers a variety of price-protection products to its electricity customers. The product offerings include both fixed-price and 

variable-price long-term and short-term electricity contracts. Customers have the ability to choose an appropriate JustGreen program to 

supplement their electricity contracts, providing an effective method to offset their carbon footprint. In Ontario, New York and Texas, 

Just Energy provides customers with price-protection programs for the majority of their electricity requirements. The customers experience 

either a small balancing charge or credit on each bill due to fluctuations in prices applicable to their volume requirements not covered by a 

fixed price. Just Energy uses historical usage data for all enrolled customers to accurately predict future customer consumption and to help 

with long-term supply procurement decisions. 

Cash flow from electricity operations is greatest during the second and fourth quarters (summer and winter), as electricity consumption is 

typically highest during these periods. 

Consumer (Residential) Energy division 

The sale of gas and electricity to customers of 15 RCEs and less is undertaken by the Consumer Energy division. The marketing of this 

division is primarily done door-to-door through more than 1,100 independent contractors and the recently formed Momentis network 

marketing operation. Approximately two-thirds of Just Energy's customers and energy revenues are generated by the Consumer Energy 

division, which is focused on five-year fixed-price or price-protected offerings of both JustGreen and regular products. To the extent that 

certain markets are better sen/ed by shorter term or enhanced variable rate products, the Consumer Energy independent contractors also 

offer these products. 

Commercial Energy division 

Customers with annual consumption over 15 RCEs are served by the Commercial Energy division. These sales are made through two main 

channels: inside commercial sales representatives, established by Just Energy in its recent expansion Into this channel, and sales through the 

broker channel, using the commercial platform acquired with the Hudson purchase. Commercial customers make up about one-third of Just 

Energy's customer base and energy sales. Products offered to commercial customers can range from standard fixed offerings to "one off" 

offerings, which are tailored to meet the customer's specific needs. These can be either fixed or floating rate or a blend of the two and 

normally have terms of less than five years. Margin per RCE for this division is lower than residential margins, but customer aggregation cost 

and ongoing customer care costs are lower as well on a per RCE basis. Commercial customers tend to have combined attrition and failed to 

renew rates, which are lower than those of residential customers. 

Home Services division 

NEC began operations in April 2008 and operates under the trade name of National Home Services ("NHS"). NHS commenced providing 

Ontario residential customers with a long-term water heater rental program in the summer of 2008, offering high efficiency conventional 

and power vented tanks and tankless water heaters. In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2010, NHS began offering the rental of air conditioners 

and furnaces to Ontario residents. See page 24 for additional information. 

Ethanol division 

Just Energy also owns a 66.7% interest in TGF, a 150-million-litre capacity wheat-based ethanol plant located in Belle Plaine, Saskatchewan. 

The plant produces wheat-based ethanol and high protein distillers dried grain ("DDG"). See page 25 for additional information on TGF 
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Cash Available for Distribution and distributions 

For the three months ended September 30 
(thousands of dollars, except per unit amounts) 

Reconciliation t o statements of cash f l ow 

Cash Inflow from operations 

Add: 

Increase In non-cash working capital 

Other 

Tax impact on distributions to Class A preference 

Cash Available for Distr ibution 

Cash Available for Distr ibution 

Gross margin per financial statements 

Adjustments required to reflect net cash receipts 

Seasonally adjusted gross margin 

Less: 

General and administrative 

Capital tax expense 

Bad debt expense 

Income tax recovery (expense) 

Interest expense 

Other items 

Distributable cash before marketing expenses 

Marketing expenses to maintain gross margin 

Distributable cash after gross margin replace 

Marketing expenses to add new gross margin 

Cash Available for Distr ibution 

Distributions 

Unitholder distributions 

Class A preference share distributions 

Unit appreciation rights and deferred unit grants 

Total distributions 

shareholders 

from gas sales 

ment 

distributions 

Adjusted fully diluted average number of units outstanding^ 

1 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

— 

$ 

$ 

$ 

Hscal 2011 

13,821 

31,863 

(372) 

441 

45,753 

96,829 

18,527 

115,356 

(25,511) 

(26) 

(6,694) 

3,175 

(12.296) 

4.516 

(36,836) 

78,520 

(25,078) 

53,442 

(7,689) 

45,753 

39,807 

1,632 

873 

42,312 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

Per unit 

0.70 

0.84 

0.57 

0.39 

0.33 

0.31 

137.7m 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

Fiscal 2010 

24,708 

16,098 

-
539 

41,345 

81,496 

26,023 

107.519 

(25,634) 

(48) 

(3,856) 

(6,106) 

(4,946) 

1,523 

(39,067) 

68,452 

(16,149} 

52,303 

(10,958) 

41,345 

40,760 

1,632 

447 

42,839 

$ 

$ 

-----

3 

$ 

$ 

$ 

Per unit 

0.61 

0.80 

0.51 

0.39 

0.31 

0.32 

134.3m 

^The per unit amounts are calculated on an adjusted fully diluted basis for fiscal 2011, removing the impact of the JEEC and JEIF convertible debentures as both 
will be anti-dilutive by fiscal year-end. The fiscal 2010 per unit amounts are calculated on a fully diluted basis. 
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Casli Available for Distribution and distributions 
For the six months ended September 30 
(thousands of dollars, except per unit amounts) 

Reconciliation t o statements of cash f low 

Cash inflow from operations 

Add: 

Increase in non-cash working capital 

Other 

Tax Impact on distributions to Class A preference 

Cash Available for Distr ibution 

Cash Available fo r Distr ibution 

Gross margin perfinancial statements 

Adjustments required to reflect net cash receipts 

Seasonally adjusted gross margin 

Less: 

General and administrative 

Capital tax expense 

Bad debt expense 

Income tax recovery (expense) 

Interest expense 

Other items 

Distributable cash before marketing expenses 

Marketing expenses to maintain gross margin 

shareholders 

from gas sales 

Distributable cash after gross margin replacement 

Marketing expenses to add new gross margin 

Cash Available for Distr ibution 

Distributions 

Unitholder distributions 

Class A preference share distributions 

Unit appreciation rights and deferred unit grants 

Total distributions 

distributions 

Adjusted fully diluted average number of units outstanding^ 

— 

S 

$ 

$ 

*,, 

$ 

$ 

s 

Fiscal 2011 

39,548 

28,215 

1,413 

979 

70,155 

177,326 

26,963 

204,289 

(54,783) 

(159) 

(12,443) 

4,177 

(21.776) 

11,287 

(73,697) 

130,592 

(43,367) 

87,225 

(17,070) 

70,155 

79,451 

3,263 

1,875 

84,589 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

Per unit 

1.29 

1.49 

0.95 

0,63 

0.51 

0.62 

137.5m 

$ 

3 

$ 

.A. 

$ 

$ 

$ 

Fiscal 2010 

62,503 

13,852 

-
1,077 

77,432 

147.571 

34.717 

182,288 

(41,251) 

(128) 

(7,685) 

(6,066) 

(5,426) 

2,192 

(58,364) 

123,924 

(29,402) 

94,522 

(17,090) 

77.432 

73,695 

3,263 

895 

77,853 

$ 

$ 

3 

$ 

$ 

$ 

Per unit 

1.19 

1.47 

1.00 

0.76 

0.63 

0.63 

123.7m 

The per unit amounts are calculated on an adjusted fully diluted basis for fiscal 2011, removing the impact of the JEEC and JEIF convertible debentures as both 
will be anti-dilutive by fiscal year-end. The fiscal 2010 per unit amounts are calculated on a fully diluted basis. 
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Distributable cash 
The second quarter of fiscal 2011 showed a continuation of the rapid expansion for Just Energy that was also seen in the first quarter This 

expansion took place through the acquisition of Hudson in the first quarter, which diversified Just Energy's product line to include 

specialized offerings for large commercial customers and the subsequent expansion of the commercial broker network to seven states and 

two new provinces; the launch of the Momentis network marketing division in Ontario, New York and Illinois; new residential launches in 

Massachusetts (May); and two new utility territories in New York (September). In addition. NHS committed expenditures to facilitate its 

expansion into the Union Gas territory in Ontario and its rollout of furnace and air conditioner offerings. 

The second quarter showed a continued positive impact from the commercial expansion. Customer additions were 254,000, the second 

highest quarterly total In the Fund's history, up 8 1 % from the 140.000 added in the second quarter of fiscal 2010. Net additions were 

92,000, up from 36,000 a year earlier The result of this growth and the acquisition of Hudson was a 39% increase in customers, year over 

year Sales increased 33% but the increase in margin was 7%, reflecting final balancing costs of the recent warm winter, a lower U.S. dollar 

exchange rate and relatively lower margins on commercial customers added, which were combined with the variable timing of new 

customers added in the last two quarters. 

Distributable cash after gross margin replacement for the current quarter ended September 30, 2010, was $53.4 million ($0.39 per unit), 

up from $52.3 million (30.39 per unit) in fiscal 2010. The higher gross margin and current tax recovery in the current period were offset by 

increased interest charges and higher bad debt expense. Interest costs relate primarily to the JEEC and JEIF convertible debentures from the 

Hudson and Universal acquisitions, funding for water heater purchases, and debt associated with TGF Bad debt expense increased by 74% 

in thesecondquarter of fiscal 2011 compared to 2010, due to the 1 5 1 % increase In sales in those markets where the Fund bears the credit 

risk and the continued weak economic conditions in the U.S. markets. Overall, bad debt percentage of relevant sales was 2.5%, within the 

target range of 2% to 3%, for the second quarter (down from 2.8% in the prior quarter). 

Just Energy spent $25.1 million in marketing expenses for the quarter to maintain its current level of gross margin, which represents 77% of 

the total marketing expense, excluding the amortization of contract initiation costs. A further $7.7 million was spent to increase future 

gross margin resulting In 92,000 net RCE additions for the quarter General and administrative costs were flat year over year with realization 

of merger synergies offsetting the higher costs associated with the larger customer base. 

Management's estimate of the future embedded gross margin is as follows: 

(millions o f dollars) 
Asat Asal Sept, 2010 vs. Asat Sept. 2010 vs. 

Sept. 30, June 30, June 2010 Sept. 30, Sept. 2009 
2010 2010 variance 2009 variance 

Canada (CAD$) $ 708.8 $ 757.5 (6)% $ 816.6 (13)% 

United States (US$) 778.8 698.5 11 370.5 110 

Total (CADS) 1,510.9 1,501.1 1 1,213.8 24 

Management's estimate of the future contracted gross margin increased slightly to $1,510.9 million from 31,501.1 million at the end of the 

first quarter of fiscal 2011. There was a net increase in margins from the increased customer base, but this was offset by the 3.3% decline 

in U.S. exchange rates during the quarter The margin on commercial customers signed during the quarter was lower than that on new 

residential customers signed and on customers lost to attrition and failure to renew. However, these customers offer the added benefit of 

being subject to less weather-related volatility and lower ongoing service costs due to the higher average size of the customer. 

Distributable cash after all marketing expenses was $45.8 million ($0,33 per unit) for the second quarter of fiscal 2011, an increase of 1 1 % 

from $41.3 million ($0.31 per unit) in the prior comparable quarter The increase is due to the 7% increase in gross margin and lower 

marketing costs to add new gross margin. Although the number of net customers added was 92,000, versus 36,000 a year earlier, the 

blend of commercial versus consumer margins resulted in a smaller increase In embedded gross margin for the quarter The payout ratio 

after deduction of all marketing expenses for the current quarter was 92% versus 104% In fiscal 2010. 

Distributable cash after gross margin replacement for the six months ended September 30, 2010, was 387.2 million ($0.63 per unit), a 

decrease of 17% per unit from $94.5 million ($0.76 per unit) in the prior comparable period. Distributable cash after marketing expenses 

was $70,2 million ($0,51 per unit) for the first six months of fiscal 2011, a decrease of 9% from $77,4 million ($0.63 per unit) for the same 

period last year The main factor in the lower distributable cash was the adverse impact of the record warm winter temperatures on gas 

consumption and lower associated profit recognized largely in the first quarter The payout ratio after all marketing expenses for the 

six-month period of fiscal 2011 was 121% versus 101% forthe six months ended September 30, 2009. Management anticipates that the 

payout ratio for fiscal 2011 will be less than 100% (excluding any Special Distributions for tax purposes), as it has been in past years. 

For further information on the changes in the gross margin, please refer to "Sales and gross margin - Seasonally adjusted" on page 19 and 

"General and administrative expenses", "Marketing expenses", "Bad debt expense" and "Interest expense", which are further clarified on 

pages 26 to 28. 

JUST ENERGY INCOME FUND » SECOND QUARTER REPORT 2011 



MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

Discussion of distributions 

(thousands of dollars) 

For the 
three months 

ended 
Sept. 30, 

fiscal 2011 

$ 13,821 

(154,480) 

42,312 

(28,491) 

(196,792) 

For the 
three months 

ended 
Sept. 30, 

fiscal 2010 

$ 24,708 

110,690 

42,839 

(18,131) 

67.851 

For the 
six months 

ended 
Sept. 30, 

fiscal 20n 

$ 39,548 

120,829 

84,589 

(45,041) 

36,240 

For the 
six months 

ended 
Sept. 30, 

fiscal 2010 

3 62,503 

213,317 

77,853 

(15,350) 

135.464 

Cash flow from operations' (A) 
Net income (loss) (B) 
Total distributions (C) 
Shortfall of cash flows from operating activities over distributions paid (A-C) 
Excess (deficiency) of net income (loss) over distributions paid (B-C) 

' Includes non-cash working capital balances. 

Net income (loss) includes non-cash gains and losses associated with the changes in the current market value of Just Energy's derivative 
instruments. These instruments form part of the Fund's requirement to purchase commodity according to estimated demand and, as such, 
changes in value do not impact the distribution policy or the long-term financial performance of the Fund. The change In fair value 
associated with these derivatives, included in the net income (loss) for the three and six months ended September 30, 2010, was a loss of 
$181,3 million and a gain of $133,1 million, respectively. 

The Fund has, in the past, paid out distributions that were higher than both financial statement net income and operating cash flow. In the 
view of management, the non-GAAP measure, distributable cash, is an appropriate measure of the Fund's ability to distribute funds, as the 
cost of carrying incremental working capital necessary for the growth of the business has been deducted In the distributable cash calculation. 
Furthermore, Investment in the addition of new customers intended to increase cash flow is expensed in the financial statements while the 
original customer base was capitalized. Management believes that the current level of distributions is sustainable in the foreseeable future. 

The timing differences between distributions and cash flow from operations created by the cost of carrying incremental working capital due 
to business seasonality and expansion are funded by the operating credit facility. 

Standardized Distributable Cash and Cash Available for Distribution 

(thousands of dollars, except per unit amounts) 

For the 
three months 

ended 
Sept. 30, 

fiscal 2011 

Forthe 
three months 

ended 
Sept. 30, 

fiscal 2010 

Forthe 
six months 

ended 
Sept. 30, 

fiscal 2011 

For the 
six months 

ended 
Sept. 30, 

fiscal 2010 

Reconciliation to statements of cash flow 
Cash inflow from operations 
Capital expenditures^ 

Standardized Distributable Cash 

Adjustments to Standardized Distributable Cash 
Change in non-cash working capitaP 

Tax impact on distributions to Class A preference shareholders^ 
Other 
Capital expenditures' 

Cash Available for Distribution 

13,821 
(10,785) 

24,708 
(12,477) 

39,548 

(20,392) 

62,503 

(19,883) 

3,036 12,231 19,156 42,620 

$ 

31,863 

441 

(372) 

10,785 

45,753 3 

0.01 

0.01 

NMF^ 

16,098 

539 

-
12,477 

41,345 3 

0.09 

0.09 

350% 

28,215 

979 

1,413 

20,392 

i 70,155 3 

0.13 

0.12 

469% 

13,852 

1,077 

-
19,883 

; 77,432 

0.35 

0.35 

183% 

Standardized Distributable Cash - per unit basic 
Standardized Distributable Cash - per unit diluted 
Payout ratio based on Standardized Distributable Cash 

' The vast majority of capital expenditures in the first six months of fiscal 2011 and 2010 related to the purchase of water heaters for subsequent rental. These 
expenditures expand the productive capacity of the business. Effective January 2010, water heater capital purchases are being funded through separate 
finandng secured by the water heaters and associated contracts. All other capital expenditures were funded by the credit fadlity. 

^ Change in non-cash working capital is exduded from the calculation of Cash Available for Distribution as the Fund has a $250,0 million credit facility, which is 
available for use to fund working capital requirements. This eliminates the potential impact of timing distortions relating to the respective items, 

^This amount includes payments to the holder of Class A preference shares and is equivalent to distributions. The number of Class A preference shares 
outstanding is induded in the denominator of any per unit calculation, 

*Not a meaningful number 

JUST ENERGY INCOME FUND » SECOND QUARTER REPORT 2011 



MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

In accordance with the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants ("CICA") July 2007 interpretive release. Standardized Distributable 

Cash in Income Trusts and other Flow-Through Entities, the Fund has presented the distributable cash calculation to conform to this guidance. 

In summary, forthe purposes of the Fund, Standardized Distributable Cash is defined as the periodic cash flows from operating activities. 

Including the effects of changes in non-cash working capital less total capital expenditures as reported in the GAAP financial statements. 

Financing strategy 

The Fund's $250.0 million credit facility will be sufficient to meet the Fund's short-term working capital and capital expenditure requirements. 

Working capital requirements can vary widely due to seasonal fluctuations and planned U.S.-related growth. In the long term, the Fund may 

be required to increase the level of the working capital fadlity to support experienced growth or to access the equity or debt markets in order 

to fund significant acquisitions. NEC entered into an agreement in January 2010 with Home Trust Company to separately finance Its water 

heaters. See page 24 for further discussion on this financing. TGF has a separate credit facility, debenture and a term loan for its funding 

requirements, which are detailed on page 31 . 

Productive capacity 

Just Energy's primary business involves the sale of natural gas and/or electricity to residential and commercial customers under long-term, 

fixed-price, price-protected, variable rate and green energy contracts. In addition, through NHS, the Fund sells and rents high efficiency and 

tankless water heaters and HVAC products. TGF, an ethanol producer, operates an ethanol facility in Belle Plaine, Saskatchewan. The Fund's 

productive capacity is primarily determined by the gross margin earned from the contract price and the related supply cost on energy 

contracts. Also included is the gross margin earned on water healer rentals and ethanol sales after deducting production-related costs. 

The maintenance of productive capacity of Just Energy is achieved through the retention of existing customers and the addition of new 

customers to replace those that have not been renewed. The productive capacity is maintained and grows through independent contractors 

and Hudson broker channels, call centre renewal efforts, Internet marketing and various mail campaigns. The Fund entered into an 

agreement with its wholly owned subsidiary, Momentis, a network marketing entity, under which its independent representatives will 

market natural gas and electricity contracts on behalf of Just Energy. Management believes that this arrangement will further expand the 

productive capacity of the energy business. 

Effectively, all of the residential marketing costs related to energy customer contracts are expensed immediately but fall into two categories: 

The first represents marketing expenses to maintain gross margin at pre-existing levels and, by definition, maintain productive capacity. 

The second category is marketing expenditures to add new margin which, therefore, expands productive capacity. Commercial marketing 

expenses are paid in one of two ways: The commission is either paid throughout the contract period as residuals to the broker who signed 

the customer for as long as the contract flows, or alternatively, it is all paid upfront. The portion of the commercial marketing expenses 

which are paid upfront to brokers are capitalized and amortized over the remaining life of the customer contract. 

The vast majority of capital expenditures incurred by Just Energy relate to the purchase of water heaters, which are subsequently rented on 

a long-term basis under customer contracts. These capital expenditures are funded by non-recourse borrowings which have as security the 

water heaters and the rental contracts. As such, these capital expenditures increase the productive capacity of the Fund. 
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Summary of quarterly results 
(thousands of dollars, except per unit amounts) 

Sales (seasonally adjusted) 

Gross margin (seasonally adjusted) 

General and administrative expense 

Net income (loss) 

Net income (loss) per unit - basic 

Net income (loss) per unit - diluted 

Adjusted EBITDA 

Amount available for distribution 

After gross margin replacement 

After marketing expense 

Payout ratio 

After gross margin replacement 

After marketing expense 

Sales (seasonally adjusted) 

Gross margin (seasonally adjusted) 

General and administrative expense 

Net income (loss) 

Net income (loss) per unit - basic 

Net income (loss) per unit - diluted 

Adjusted EBITDA 

Amount available for distribution 

After gross margin replacement 

After marketing expense 

Payout ratio 

After gross margin replacement 

After marketing expense 

^Includes a one-time Special Distribution of $26.7 million in the third quarter of fiscal 2010 and J 18.6 million in the third quarter of fiscal 2009. 

The Fund's results reflect seasonality, as consumption is greatest during the third and fourth quarters (winter quarters). While year over year 

quarterly comparisons are relevant, sequential quarters will vary materially. The main impact of this will be higher distributable cash with a 

lower payout ratio in the third and fourth quarters, and lower distributable cash with a higher payout ratio in the first and second quarters, 

excluding any Special Distributions. 

Q2 
fiscal 2011 

$ 748,480 

115,356 

25,511 

(154,480) 

(1.15) 

(1.15) 

39.375 

53,442 

45.753 

79% 

92% 

Q2 
fiscal 2010 

$ 562,133 

107,519 

25,634 

110,690 

0.83 

0.82 

36,598 

52,303 

41,345 

82% 

104% 

Ql 
fiscal 2011 

$ 639,997 

88,933 

29,272 

275,309 

2.05 

1.85 

31,282 

33,783 

24,402 

125% 

173% 

Ql 
fiscal 2010 

$ 432,565 

74,769 

15,617 

102,627 

0.92 

0.91 

30,182 

42,219 

36,087 

83% 

97% 

Q4 
fiscal 2010 

$ 694,788 

121,872 

22,405 

(79,211) 

(0.59) 

(0,59) 

108,961 

66,023 

58,359 

63% 

7 1 % 

Q4 
fiscal 2009 

$ 589,948 

106,143 

18,150 

(168,621) 

(1.57) 

(1.57) 

104,614 

72,244 

62,515 

48% 

56% 

Q3 
fiscal 2010 

$ 654,686 

121,722 

24,767 

97,390 

0.73 

0.73 

60,563 

69,455 

61,242 

98%^ 

1 1 1 % ' 

Q3 
fiscal 2009 

$ 510.801 

87.554 

14,753 

(49.094) 

(0.44) 

(0.44) 

60,822 

57,475 

48,162 

93%' 

1 1 1 % ' 
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Analysis of the second quarter 

The 33% increase in seasonally adjusted sales compared to the prior comparable quarter is mainly attributable to the sales generated by 

Hudson customers, which were acquired on May 1, 2010. Strong net growth in customers added in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2010 and 

first quarter of fiscal 2011 through marketing, primarily in the U.S., has also increased sales. The sales impact of the net customer additions 

in the second quarter will be reflected in future periods as these customers begin to flow with Just Energy. The customer base has increased 

by 39% from September 30, 2009. 

Seasonally adjusted gross margin increased by 7% in the second quarter of fiscal 2011 to $115.4 million, up from $107.5 million in the 

same period last year. The margin increase was less than the increase in sales due to final reconciliations for the recent warm winter, a lower 

U.S. dollar exchange rate, and lower relative margins on commercial customers who make up the majority of the incremental customers 

year over year General and administrative costs were $25.5 million for the quarter, unchanged from the same period last year 

The distributable cash after customer gross margin replacement was $53.4 million, up 2% from $52.3 million in the prior comparable 

quarter The increased gross margin was offset by increased interest charges and bad debt expenses versus the prior year comparable quarter 

After the deduction of all marketing expenses, distributable cash totalled $45.8 million, an increase of 11 % from $41,3 million in the 

second quarter of fiscal 2010, Distributions for the quarter were $42,3 million, reflecting the same annual rate of $1,24, unchanged from a 

year ago. The payout ratio after payment of all marketing costs for the second quarter of fiscal 2011 was 92% versus 104% for the same 

period last year Management anticipates that the payout ratio for fiscal 2011 will be less than 100%. as it has been In pastyears. 

Gas a n d e lec t r i c i t y r r a r k e t i n g 

Sales and gross margin - Per financial statements 

For the three months ended September 30 

(thousands of dollars) 

Fiscal 2011 

Canada United States Total Canada United States 

Sales 

Gas 

Electricity 

77,614 

165,578 

243,192 

55.927 

322,075 

$ 133,541 

487,653 

91,636 

174,457 

37,724 

111,919 

Fiscal 2010 

Total 

129,360 

286,376 

$ 378,002 $ 621,194 $ 266,093 $ 149,643 $ 415,736 

Increase (decrease) 

Gross margin 

Gas 

Electricity 

(9)% 153% 49% 

$ 2,936 $ (461) S 

27,805 _57,901 

$ 30,741 $ 57,440 $ 

2,475 5 6,496 

85,706 31,741 

88,181 $ 38,237 

8,795 

30,283 

$ 39,078 $ 

15,291 

62,024 

77,315 

Increase (decrease) 

For the six months ended Septemtxr 30 

(thousands of dollars) 

(20)% 47% 14% 

Sales 

Gas 

Electricity 

$ 

$ 

s 

$ 

Canada 

207,329 

326,208 

533,537 

(1)% 

15,067 

53,801 

68,863 

United States 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

128,975 

546,989 

675,964 

145% 

4,823 

94,671 

99,494 

$ 

Fiscal 2011 

Total 

336,304 

873,197 

$1,209,501 

$ 

s 

48% 

19,890 

148,472 

168,362 

$ 

$ 

$ 

3 

Canada 

241,333 

297,948 

539,281 

29,210 

51,380 

80,590 

United Stales 

$ 88,158 

187,307 

$ 275.465 

$ 19,489 

43,311 

$ 62,800 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

Fiscal 2010 

Total 

329,491 

485,255 

814,746 

48,699 

94,691 

143,390 

Increase (decrease) 

Gross margin 

Gas 

Electricity 

Increase (decrease) (15)% 58% 17% 
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Canada 

Sales and gross margin for the three months ended September 30, 2010, were $243.2 million and $30.7 million, respectively, a decrease of 

9% and 20%. respectively, from the prior comparable period. Total sales and gross margin for the six-month period of fiscal 2011 were 

$533-5 million and $68.9 million, respectively. 

Uni ted States 

Sales and gross margin in the U.S. were $378.0 million and $57.4 million, respectively, forthe second quarter of 2011, an increase of 153% 

and 47%, respectively, from the same period last year Total sales and gross margin for the six months ended September 30, 2010, were 

$676.0 million and $99.5 million, respectively. 

Sales and gross margin - Seasonally adjusted' 

For the three months ended September 30 

(thousands of dollars) 

Sales 

Gas 

Adjustments' 

Electricity 

Canada 

$ 77,614 

71,889 

149,503 

155,578 

$ 315,081 

(15)% 

United States 

$ 55,927 

18,713 

74,640 

322,075 

$ 396,715 

129% 

Fiscal 2011 

Total 

S 133.541 

90.602 

224,143 

487,653 

$ 711,796 

3 1 % 

$ 

$ 

Canada 

91,636 

103,686 

195,322 

174,457 

369,779 

United States 

$ 37,724 

s 

23,788 

61,512 

111,919 

173,431 

Fiscal 2010 

Total 

$ 129,360 

127,474 

256,834 

286,376 

$ 543,210 

Increase (decrease) 

Gross margin 

Gas 

Adjustments' 

Electricity 

$ 2,936 $ (461) $ 2,475 $ 6,496 $ J,795 $ 15,291 

15,456 3,071 18,527 23,760 2,263 26,023 

$ 

18,392 

27,805 

46,197 

(25)% 

$ 

2,610 

57,901 

60,511 

46% 

21,002 

85,706 

S 106.708 

3% 

$ 

30,256 

31,741 

61,997 $ 

11,058 

30,283 

41,341 

41,314 

62,024 

$ 103,338 

Increase (decrease) 

For the six months ended September 30 

(thousands of dollars) 

Sales 

Gas 

Adjustments' 

Electricity 

Fiscal 2011 

Canada United States Total 

309,922 

326,208 

147,297 

546,989 

457,219 

873,197 

Canada United States 

$ 207,329 $ 128,975 $ 336,304 $ 241,333 

102,593 18,322 120,915 137,241 

$ 88,158 

23,788 

378,574 

297,948 

111,946 

187,307 

Fiscal 2010 

Total 

329,491 

161,029 

490,520 

485,255 

$ 636.130 $ 694,286 $1,330,416 3 676,522 $ 299,253 $ 975,775 

Increase (decrease) 

Gross margin 

Gas 

Adjustments' 

Electricity 

(6)% 132% 36% 

S 15,067 $ 4,823 $ 19,890 $ 29,210 $ 19.489 $ 48.699 

23,540 3,423 26,963 32,454 2.263 34.717 

38,607 

53,801 

$ 92,408 $ 102,917 

8,246 

94,671 

46,853 

148,472 

$ 195,325 

61,664 

51,380 

21,752 

43,311 

83.416 

94,691 

$ 113,044 $ 65,063 $ 178,107 

Increase (decrease) (18)% 

' Fot Ontario, Manitoba, Quebec arid Michigan gas markets. 

58% 10% 
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On a seasonally adjusted basis, sales increased by 31 % in the second quarter of fiscal 2011 to $711.3 million as compared to $543.2 million 
in fiscal 2010. Gross margins were $106.7 million for the three months ended September 30, 2010, up 3% from the prior comparable 
quarter The lower increase in margin versus sales is a result of lower margins on commercial customers, which generated the majority of 
the increase in sales over the period. 

Total sales and gross margin for the first six months of fiscal 2011 were $1,330.4 million and $195.3 million, respectively, versus $975.8 million 

and $178.1 million for the same period last year 

Canada 
Seasonally adjusted sales were $315.1 miilion forthe quarter, down 15% from $369,8 million in fiscal 2010, Seasonally adjusted gross 
margins were $46.2 million in the second quarter of fiscal 2011, a decrease of 25% from $62.0 million in the same period last year For 
the six months ended September 30, 2010, seasonally adjusted sales and gross margin were $636.1 million and $92.4 million, respectively, 
down 6% and 18%, respectively, from the prior comparable period. 

Gas 
Canadian gas sales were $149.5 million, a decrease of 23% from $195.3 million in the second quarter of fiscal 2010. In thesecondquarter 
of fiscal 2011, total customer delivered volumes were down 20% from the prior comparable quarter due to warm temperatures across all 
key gas markets and a 13% decrease inflowing customers. Gross margin totalled $18.4 million, down 39% from the second quarter of 
fiscal 2010, reflecting lower consumption and $10.7 million in losses on the sale of excess gas resulting from milder temperatures last 
winter at much lower spot prices than had been originally contracted. 

For the six months ended September 30, 2010, sales and gross margins were $309,9 million and $38.6 million, respectively, a decrease of 
18% and 37%, respectively, over the same period last year 

After allowance for balancing and inclusive of acquisitions, realized average gross margin per customer ("GM/RCE") for the three months 
ended September 30, 2010, amounted to $128/RCE compared to $175/RCE for the prior comparable quarter This was due to the lower 
consumption and losses on the sale of excess gas. The GM/RCE value includes an appropriate allowance for the bad debt expense in Alberta. 

Electricity 
Electricity sales were $165.6 million for the quarter, a decrease of 5% from the second quarter of fiscal 2010 due to a 5% decline in 
flowing customers. Gross margin decreased by 12% forthe current quarter to $27.8 million versus $31,7 million forthe prior comparable 
period. This decrease is a result of the 5% decline in customers and total reduced consumption of 11 % in Alberta (where customers and 
supply are load following) due to a much warmer air conditioning season in fiscal 2010 versus fiscal 2011. 

During the quarter, there were a number of Ontario electricity customers that were contacted for early renewal of their contract under a 
"blend and extend" offer These customers were offered a lower rate versus their current price, but the term of their contract was extended 
out to five more years. By doing so, approximately $1.8 million was lost in margin for the current quarter but approximately $9.5 million 
was locked in as future margins. 

For the six months ended September 30, 2010, sales and gross margins were $326.2 million and $53.8 million, respectively, an increase of 
9% and 5%, respectively, over the same period last year 

Realized average gross margin per customer after all balancing and including acquisitions for the quarter ended September 30, 2010, in 
Canada amounted to $143/RCE, a decrease from $164/RCE in the prioryearcomparablequarter due tothe lower percustomer consumption 
in Alberta. The GM/RCE value includes an appropriate allowance for the bad debt expense in Alberta. 

United States 
Sales for the second quarter of fiscal 2011 were $396.7 million, an increase of 129% from $173.4 million in the prior comparable quarter 
Seasonally adjusted gross margin was $60.5 million, up 46% from $41.3 million from the same quarter last year 

Gas 
For the second quarter of fiscal 2011, gas sales and gross margin in the U.S. totalled $74.6 million and $2.6 million, respectively, versus 
$61.5 million and $11.1 million in fiscal 2010, The sales increase of 21% was due to a 48% increase in customers largely through 
successful marketing but also through the acquisition of Hudson. Sales grovrth was less than customer growth due to warmer weather, 
a lower U.S. dollar exchange rate and lower selling prices. 

Gross margin declined quarter over quarter by 76% as opposed to the 21 % increase in sales primarily due to final reconciliations against 
the prior warm winter In Michigan, one-time reconciliations with the utility and associated sales of surplus gas (which must be completed 
in the summer) resulted in a loss of $7.4 million in margin. 

Sales and gross margin forthe six months ended September 30, 2010. totalled $147.3 million and $8.2 million, respectively. 
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Average realized gross margin after all balancing costs for the three months ended September 30, 2010, was $33/RCE, a decrease of 88% 

over the prior year comparable period of $267/RCE. This is due to sharply lower per customer consumption, utility reconciliations, losses on 

sale of excess gas and the inclusion of lower margin commercial customers acquired with Hudson. The GM/RCE value includes an 

appropriate allowance for had debt expense in Illinois and California. 

Electricity 

U.S. electricity seasonally adjusted sales and gross margin tor the quarter were $322.1 million and $57.9 million, respectively, versus 

3111,9 million and $30,3 million, respectively, in the prior comparable quarter of fiscal 2010, Sales were up 192% due to an Increase in 

flowing customers year over year attributable to the Hudson acquisition and strong marketing growth. Sales were up more than gross 

margin due to higher selling prices, offsetting the decline in the U,S. dollar exchange rate. Total customer demand increased by 252%, 

which is consistent with the growth in the customer base. Margins were up 91 % year over year. The majority of customers added over the 

period were commercial customers with lower per customer margins than the largely residential book in place a year prior. 

For the six months ended September 30, 2010, the sales and gross margins were $547.0 million and $94.7 million, respectively. 

Average gross margin per customer for electricity during the current quarter decreased to 3156/RCE, compared to 3282/RCE in the prior 

year comparable period, as a direct result of a lower U.S. dollar exchange rate and lower margins per RCE for commercial customers added. 

The GM/RCE value for Texas, Pennsylvania and California includes an appropriate allowance for the bad debt expense. 

C u s t o m e r a g g r e g a t i o n 

Long-term customers 

Natural gas 

Canada 

United States 

Total gas 

Electricity 

Canada 

United States 

Total electricity 

Combined 3,069,000 254,000 (124,000) (38,000) 3,161,000 3% 

Gross customer additions for the quarter were 254,000, the second largest total in Just Energy's history. This was due to very strong 

additions in both the Consumer Energy division and the Commercial Energy division. Of the total, 133,000 were commercial customers, 

showing the continued positive Impact of both the newly established broker channel and Just Energy's internal efforts to expand its share of 

the commercial market. Net customer additions through marketing for the quarter were 92,000. For the same quarter last year, there were 

36,000 net customer additions through marketing. Overall, there has been a 3% increase in total customers since the first quarter and a 

39% increase over the past 12 months. 

For the three-month period ended September 30, 2010, total gas customer numbers decreased by 1 %, reflecting a difficult Canadian 

price environment with a large disparity between utility spot prices and the five-year prices. This continues to impact new customer 

additions and renewals. 

Total electricity customers were up 6% in the three months ended September 30, 2010, with strong growth In our U.S. markets, slightly 

offset by a small decline in total customers in our Canadian markets. 

As at September 30, 2010, there are an additional 68,000 RCEs categorized as variable and short term in nature and, accordingly, have not 

been included in the long-term customer aggregation reported above. The majority of these short-term customers were acquired as part of 

the Hudson acquisition in the previous quarter 

July 1, 
2010 

709,000 

564,000 

1,273,000 

757,000 

1,039,000 

1,796,000 

Additions 

15.000 

40.000 

55.000 

25,000 

174,000 

199,000 

Attrition 

(22,000) 

(31,000) 

(53,000) 

(22,000) 

(49,000) 

(71,000) 

Failed 
to renew 

(13,000) 

(4,000) 

(17,000) 

(15,000) 

(6,000) 

(21,000) 

Sept. 30, 
2010 

689,000 

569,000 

1,258.000 

745,000 

1,158,000 

1,903,000 

% increase 
(decrease) 

0)% 
1 % 

(1)% 

(2)% 

1 1 % 

6% 
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

JustGreen 
Sales of the JustGreen products remain strong but were tempered somewhat by their relatively high cost during a period of economic 

slowdown. The JustGreen program allows customers to choose to purchase units of green energy in the form of renewable energy or 

carbon offsets, in an effort to reduce greenhouse gas emissions. When a customer purchases a unit of green energy, it creates a contractual 

obligation for Just Energy to purchase a supply of green energy at least equal to the demand created by the customer's purchase. A review 

was conducted by Grant Thornton LLP of Just Energy's Renewable Energy and Carbon Offsets Sales and Purchases report for the period 

from January 1, 2009 through December 3 1 , 2009, validating the match of the Fund's renewable energy and carbon offset purchases 

against customer contracts. 

The Fund currently sells JustGreen gas in the eligible markets of Ontario, British Columbia, Alberta. Michigan, New York, Ohio and Illinois 

and JustGreen electricity in Ontario, Alberta, New York and Texas, JustGreen sales will expand into the remaining markets over the coming 

quarters. Of all consumer customers who contracted with Just Energy in the quarter, 38% took JustGreen for some or all of their energy 

needs. On average, these customers elected to purchase 91 % of their consumption as green supply, which compared to 48% take-up, for 

an average of 89% of consumption In the first quarter 

As of the quarter ended September 30, 2010, green supply now makes up 3% of our overall gas portfolio, up from 1 % in the second 

quarter last year JustGreen supply makes up 11 % of our electricity portfolio, up from 4% from the same period last year 

Attr i t ion 
Natural gas 

The trailing 12-month natural gas attrition in Canada was 12%, above management'starget of 10%. Attrition is higher than targeted 

levels due to weak economic conditions causing a higher than normal customer default move back to the utility. In the U.S., gas attrition for 

the trailing 12 months was 27%, below management's annual target of 30%. This reflects a small continued improvement in the U.S, due 

to new product offerings and some strengthening in the U,S, economy. 

Electricity 

The trailing 12-month electricity attrition rate In Canada for the quarter was 12%, above management's target of 10%, The electricity 

attrition has been reflecting a similar trend compared to the Canadian gas market. Electricity attrition in the U.S. was 15% for the trailing 

12 months, below management's target of 20%. 

Natural gas 

Canada 

United States 

Electricity 

Canada 

United States 

Failed to renew 

The Just Energy renewal process is a multifaceted program and aims to maximize the number of customers who choose to renew their 

contract prior to the end of their existing contract term. Efforts begin up to 15 months in advance, allowing a customer to renew for an 

additional four or five years. 

The trailing 12-month renewal rate for all Canadian gas customers was 63%, below management's target of 70%. In the Ontario gas 

market, customers who do not positively elect to renew or terminate their contract receive a one-year fixed-price for the ensuing year 

Of the total Canadian gas customers renewed in the first quarter of fiscal 2011, 32% were renewed for a one-year term. Canadian gas 

markets lagged the 2011 target of 70%. largely due to the current high spread between the Just Energy five-year price and the utility spot 

price. Management will continue to focus on Increasing renewals, and a return to rising market pricing should result in an improvement in 

Canadian gas renewal rates to target levels. 

Trailing 
12-month 

attrition 
fiscal 2011 

12% 

27% 

12% 

15% 

Targeted 
attrition 

fiscal 2011 

10% 

30% 

10% 

20% 
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

The electricity renewal rate for Canadian customers was 65% forthe trailing 12 months, which is below the targeted level. There continues 

to be solid demand for JustGreen products, supporting renewals in Canadian electridty customers; but, due to the disparity between the 

spot and five-year prices and low volatility in the spot prices, customers are reluctant to again lock Into fixed-priced products. Just Energy has 

introduced some enhanced variable-price offerings to Improve renewal rates. 

In the U.S. markets. Just Energy had primarily Illinois and a small number of Indiana and New York gas customers up for renewal. Gas renewals 

for the U.S. were 78%, above ourtargetof 75%. 

During the quarter, Just Energy had both Texas and New York electricity customers up for renewal. The electricity renewal rate was 89%, 

well above the target rate of 75%. 

In each of these markets, our green product is in the process of being offered to renewing customers, which should further strengthen the 

profitability of these customers. 

Natural gas 

Canada 

United States 

Electricity 

Canada 

United States 

Trailing 
12-month 
renewals 

fiscal 2011 

63% 

78% 

65% 

89% 

Targeted 
renewals 

fiscal 2011 

70% 

75% 

70% 

75% 

Gas and electricity contract renewals 
This table shows the percentage of customers up for renewal in each of the following years: 

Remainder of 2011 

2012 

2013 

2014 

2015 

Beyond 2015 

Total 

Canada -
gas 

15% 

24% 

22% 

15% 

14% 

10% 

Canada -
electridty 

1 1 % 

22% 

26% 

17% 

12% 

12% 

U.S.-
gas 

8% 

20% 

26% 

12% 

18% 

16% 

U.S.-
electricity 

14% 

23% 

17% 

2 1 % 

16% 

9% 

100% 100% 100% 100% 

Just Energy continuously monitors its customer renewal rates and continues to modify its offering to existing customers in order to 

maximize the number of customers who renew their contracts. To the extent there is continued customer take-up on "blend and extend" 

offers, some renewals scheduled for 2012 and 2013 will move back to 2015 and beyond. 

Gross margin earned through new marketing efforts 
Annual gross margin per customer for new and renewed customers 

The following table depicts the annual margins on contracts of residential customers signed in the quarter This table reflects all margin 

earned on new additions and renewals Including brown commodity and JustGreen. Customers added through marketing were at or above 

the margins of customers lost through attrition or failure to renew. Renewing customers were at lower margins largely due to lesser take-up 

of JustGreen on renewal. However, the take-up rate is beginning to be aggressively marketed for renewals, with the expectation that rates 

similar to those for new customers are being achieved. Sales of the JustGreen products remained very strong with approximately 38% of all 

residential customers added In the past quarter taking some or all green energy supply. Customers that purchased the JustGreen product 

elected, on average, to take 9 1 % of their consumption in green supply. A 100% JustGreen electricity customer in Ontario generates annual 

margins of approximately $193/RCE, much higher than the "brown" margins realized. For large commercial customers, the average gross 

margin for new customers added was $1Q0/RCE, an increase from 367/RCE reported in thefirst quarter of fiscal 2011. The aggregation 

cost of these customers is commensurately lower per RCE than a consumer customer 
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Q2 
fiscal 2011 

$ 198 

133 

220 

172 

181 

168 

106 

199 

150 

146 

Number 
of customers 

8,000 

17,000 

32,000 

64,000 

28,000 

27,000 

8,000 

10,000 

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANAL/SIS 

Annual gross margin per customer' 

Residential and small commercial customers added in the quarter 

Canada-gas 

Canada-electricity 

United States-gas 

United States - electricity 

Average annual margin 

Customers renewed In the quarter 

Canada - gas 

Canada - electricity 

United States-gas 

United States - electricity 

Average annual margin 

Large commercial customers added in the quarter 100 133,000 

Customers lost in the quarter 

Canada - gas 

Canada -electricity 

United States-gas 

United States - electricity 

Average annual margin 

' Customer sales price less cost of associated supply and allowance for bad debt and U.S. working capital. 

H o m e Services d i v i s i on (NHS) 

NHS provides Ontario residential customers with long-term water heater rental programs that offer conventional tanks, power vented tanks 

and tankless water heaters in a variety of sizes, in addition to now offering furnaces and air conditioners. NHS continues to ramp up its 

operations and, as at September 30, 2010, had a cumulative installed base of 99,700 water heaters, 1,000 furnaces, and 300 air 

conditioners in residential homes. The water heater installed base has increased by 80% in the past year Management is confident that 

NHS will contribute to the long-term profitability of the Fund and continue to help diversify away from weather-related volatility. 

As NHS is a high growth, relatively capital-intensive business. Just Energy's management believes that, in order to maintain stability of 

distributions, separate non-recourse financing of this capital is appropriate. On January 18, 2010, NHS announced that it had entered into a 

long-term financing agreement with HTC for the funding of the water heaters for NHS in the Enbridge gas distribution territory. On July 16, 

2010, NHS expanded this financing arrangement to cover the Union Gas territory. Underthe agreement, NHS receives funds equal to the 

amount of the five-year cash flow of the water heater contract discounted at an agreed upon rate. HTC is then paid an amount which is 

equal to the customer rental payments on the water heaters for the next five years. The funding received from HTC up to September 30, 

2010, was $80,7 million. 

Management's strategy for NHS is to self-fund the business through its growth phase, building value within the customer base. This way, 

NHS will not require significant cash from Just Energy's core operations nor will Just Energy rely on NHS's cash flow to fund distributions. 

The result should be a valuable asset, which will generate excellent cash returns following repayment of the HTC financing. 

The first six months of 2011 saw significant geographic and product expansions for NHS, The division has begun marketing its products in 

Union Gas territory in Ontario, expanding its reach to the entire province. It also rolled out an offering of furnace and air conditioner rentals 

and sales. These expansions were funded by increased general and administrative costs but are expected to substantially increase the 

growth and profitability of NHS in the future. 

195 

150 

180 

178 

176 

35,000 

37,000 

29,000 

28,000 
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

Three months 
ended 

Sept 30. 
2010 

$ 5,172 

1,386 

3,786 

850 

2,995 

1,490 

9,152 

468 

99,700 

Three months 
ended 

Sept. 30, 
2009 

$ 2,474 

159 

2,315 

1,112 

2,154 

-
11,094 

1,025 

55,500 

H o m e Services d i v i s i o n 

Selected financial in format ion 

(thousands o f dollars, except where indicated) 

Sales per financial statements 

Cost of sales 

Gross margin 

Marketing expenses 

General and administrative expense 

Interest expense 

Capital expenditures 

Amortization 

Ending total number of water heaters installed 

Results of operations 

Forthe quarter ended September 30, 2010, NHS had sales of $5.2 million and gross margin of $3,8 million, an Increase of 110% and 64%, 

respectively, from the prior comparable quarter The cost of sales for the quarter was 31.4 million and represents the non-cash amortization 

of the installed water heaters for the customer contracts signed to date. Marketing expenses for the second quarter of fiscal 2011 were 

$0.9 million and include the amortization of commission costs paid to the Independent agents, automobile fleet costs, advertising and 

promotion, and telecom and office supplies expenses. General and administrative costs, which relate primarily to administrative staff 

compensation and warehouse expenses, amounted to $3.0 million for the three months ended September 30, 2010. The high level of 

general and administrative costs relative to past quarters was largely due to the expansion into Union Gas territory and the rollout of 

furnace and air conditioner offerings. 

Capital expenditures, including installation costs, amounted to $9.2 million for the three months ended September 30, 2010. Amortization 

costs were $0,5 million for the current quarter and include not only the depreciation on non-tank-related capital assets noted above but 

also the amortization of the purchased water heater contracts. 

Forthe six months ended September 30, 2010, sales and gross margin for NHS were $9.6 million and $6.6 million, respectively Marketing 

and general and administrative costs were 31.7 million and $5,9 million, respectively, for the first half of fiscal 2011. Interest expense 

amounted to 32,8 million as a result of the financing arrangement with HTC. To date in fiscal 2011, capital expenditures by NHS amounted 

to $17.3 million. Comparative figures include results for only three months as NHS was acquired as part of the Universal acquisition 

effective July 1,2009. 

The growth of NHS has been rapid and. combined with the HTC financing, is expected to be self-sustaining on a cash flow basis. 

E thano l d i v i s i on (TGF) 

TGF continues to remain focused on improving plant production and runtime of the Belle Plaine, Saskatchewan, wheat-based ethanol 

facility. For the quarter ended September 30, 2010, the plant achieved an average production capacity of 81 %, which is the best quarter in 

its history. The phase 1 grain-milling upgrade has allowed the plant to achieve daily milling rates exceeding nameplate capacity from time to 

time. The plant was forced to close for eight days in the quarter as a result of the inability to have wheat delivered due to flooding in the 

Belle Plaine area. This was a marked improvement over the 19 days of shutdown experienced in the first quarter of fiscal 2011, Ethanol 

prices continue to be depressed and were, on average, $0.57 per litre for the quarter, flat with the prior quarter. Wheat prices averaged 

$170 per metric tonne for the quarter, up slightly from $168 in thefirst quarter 

The Ethanol division has separate non-recourse financing in place such that capital requirements and operating losses will not impact Just 

Energy's core business and its ability to pay distributions. 
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Three months 
ended 

Sept 30, 
2010 

$ 31,191 

26,618 

4,573 

3,162 

1.902 

65 

297 

Three months 
ended 

Sept 30, 
2009 

$ 16,449 

14,583 

1,866 

3,819 

1,843 

100 

621 

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

E t h a n o l d i v i s i o n 

Selected financial in format ion 

(thousands of dollars) 

Sales per financial statements 

Cost of sales 

Gross margin 

General and administrative expense 

Interest expense 

Capital expenditures 

Amortization 

Results of operations 

During the second quarter of fiscal 2011, TGF had sales of $31.2 million, an increase of 90% from $16.4 million in the prior comparable 

quarter Gross margin amounted to $4.6 million, up 145% from $1.9 million in the second quarter of fiscal 2010. During the quarter, the 

plant produced 30.6 million litres of ethanol and 28,386 metric tonnes of DDG. For the three months ended September 30, 2010, TGF 

incurred $3,2 million in general and administrative expenses and 31.9 million in interest charges. Capital expenditures for the quarter, 

including installation costs, amounted to $0.1 million. 

For the six months ended September 30. 2010, sales and gross margin for TGF were $48.0 million and $1.9 million, respectively. General 

and administrative costs and interest expenses were 35.5 million and $3.6 million, respectively for the first half of fiscal 2011. Comparative 

figures include results for only three months as TGF was acquired as part of the Universal acquisition, effective July 1, 2009. 

TGF receives a federal subsidy related to an agreement signed on February 17, 2009, based on the volume of ethanol produced. From 

July 1, 2009 to March 31, 2010, the subsidy was ten cents per litre, and throughout fiscal 2011, this subsidy will be nine cents per litre. 

This amount declines through time to five cents per litre of ethanol produced in fiscal 2015, the last year of the agreement. 

Ove ra l l c o n s o l i d a t e d resu l ts 

General and administrative expenses 

General and administrative costs were $25.5 million for the three months ended September 30, 2010, consistent with that which was reported 

in the second quarter of fiscal 2010. The expenses for the current quarter include 32.1 million in costs related to Hudson, which was not 

owned by the Fund during the prior comparable quarter These higher costs were offset by the realization of synergies from the Universal 

acquisition completed in fiscal 2010, The current quarter expenses also reflect a one-time reduction in expenses attributable to litigation 

settlements costs for the quarter being lower than what had been previously accrued. It is expected that general and administrative costs will 

increase in the third and fourth quarters as the costs of further geogra;:ihic expansions are incurred and as the Fund converts to a corporation. 

Expenditures for general and administrative costs for the six months ended September 30, 2010, were $54.8 million, an increase of 33% 

from $41.3 million in the prior comparable period. The Increase is a re'iutt of the prior period not including the expenses relating to Hudson, 

increased costs to accommodate numerous areas of expansion undertaken by the Fund, which should result in higher margin and 

distributable cash in future periods, and only three months of expenses from Universal, which was acquired effective July 1, 2009. 

Market ing expenses 

Marketing expenses, which consist of commissions paid to independent sales contractors, brokers and independent representatives for 

signing new customers, as well as corporate costs, were $37.0 million, an increase of 37% from $27.1 million in the second quarter of 

fiscal 2010. New customers signed by our marketing sales force were 254,000 in the second quarter of fiscal 2011, up 8 1 % compared to 

140,000 customers added through our sales offices in the same period last year The increase in the current quarter expense reflects the 

cost of strong growth in customer additions, offset by the lower aggregation cost per customer 

Marketing expenses to maintain gross margin are allocated based on the ratio of gross margin lost from attrition as compared to the gross 

margin signed from new and renewed customers during the period. Marketing expenses to maintain gross margin were 325,1 million for 

the second quarter of fiscal 2011, an increase of 56% from $16,1 million from the prior comparable quarter as a result of higher attrition 

from a larger customer base and an increase in the number of customers up for renewal in the current period. 
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Residential 
customers 

$ 247/RCE 

199/RCE 

208/RCE 

183/RCE 

197/RCE 

Commerdal 
customers 

3 174/RCE 

120/RCE 

141/RCE 

71/RCE 

92/RCE 

Commercial 
broker 

customers 

$ 32/RCE 

24/RCE 

30/RCE 

37/RCE 

34/RCE 

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

Marketing expenses to add new gross margin are allocated based on the ratio of net new gross margin earned on the customers signed, less 

attrition, as compared to the gross margin signed from new and renewed customers during the period. Marketing expenses to add new gross 

margin In the second quarter totalled $7.7 million, a decrease from $11.0 million in the prior comparable period. Although there was a 

greater increase in the net customer additions ot 92,000 for the second quarter, up ftom 36,QQ0 in fiscal 2010, the blend of commercial and 

residential customers added resulted in a lower increase in margin than in the previous year In addition, some of the cost of commercial 

customer additions was capitalized and will be expensed over the life of the contract. 

Marketing expenses included in distributable cash exclude amortization related to the contract initiation costs for Hudson and NHS. For 

the three and six months ended September 30, 2010, the amortization amounted to $4.2 million and $6,3 million, respectively. 

For the six months ended September 30, 2010, total marketing expenses were $66.7 million, an increase of 43% from the $46.5 million 

reported in the same period last year. 

The actual aggregation costs for the six months ended September 30, 2010, per customer for residential and commercial customers signed 

by independent representatives and commercial customers signed by brokers were as follows: 

Natural gas 

Canada 

United States 

Electricity 

Canada 

United States 
Total aggregat ion costs 

The actual aggregation cost per customer added for all energy marketing for the six months ended September 30, 2010. was $110, up from 

$95 in the first quarter This is due to the higher relative number of residential customers aggregated and their associated higher costs. The 

$34 average aggregation cost for the commercial broker customers is based on the expected average annual cost for the respective customer 

contracts. It should be noted that commercial broker contracts pay further commissions averaging $34 per year for each additional year that 

the customer flows. Assuming an average life of 2.8 years, this would add approximately $61 (1.8 x $34) to the fiscal 2011 $34 average 

aggregation cost for commercial broker customers reported above. 

Unit based compensation 

Compensation in the form of units (non-cash) granted by the Fund to the directors, officers, full-time employees and sen/ice providers of 

its subsidiaries and affiliates pursuant to the 2001 unit option plan, the 2004 unit appreciation rights plan and the directors' deferred 

compensation plan amounted to $1.5 million forthe second quarter of fiscal 2011, an increase from the $1.0 million paid in first quarter 

of fiscal 2010. Total costs for the six months ended September 30, 2010, totalled $2.6 million, versus $1.6 million for the same period last 

year The increase relates primarily to additional fully paid unit appreciation rights awarded to the senior management of the Fund. 

Bad debt expense 

In Illinois, Alberta, Texas, Pennsylvania and California, Just Energy assumes the credit risk associated with the collection of customer 

accounts. In addition, for commercial direct-billed accounts in B.C, New York and Ontario, the Fund is responsible for the bad debt risk. 

Credit review processes have been established to manage the customer default rate. Management factors default from credit risk into its 

margin expectations for all of the above-noted markets. During the quarter. Just Energy was exposed to bad debt on 35% of its sales. 

Bad debt expense for three months ended September 30, 2010, increased by 74% to 36.7 million versus 33.9 million expensed In the 

prior comparable quarter The bad debt expense Increase was entirely related to the 151 % increase in total revenues for the quarter to 

$262.6 million, in the markets where Just Energy assumes the risk for accounts receivable collections, which also now includes incremental 

commercial customers. Management integrates its default rate for bad debts within its margin targets and continuously reviews and 

monitors the credit approval process to mitigate customer delinquency. 

Forthe six months ended September 30, 2010, the bad debt expense was 312.4 million, representing approximately 2,6% of the 

$469.6 million in sales in markets where it assumes credit risk (34% of total sales), within the Fund's 2% to 3% target range. This was 

slightly improved from the 2.8% reported for the first quarter and down from the 3.5% reported a year earlier. Credit losses in Texas as 

a percentage of total revenues have declined due to aggressive collection efforts and quicker disconnection for delinquent customers. 

Continued improvements in the Illinois collection efforts and lower default rates for acquired Hudson commercial customers have also 

contributed to the improvement in the bad debt rate versus the second quarter of fiscal 2010. Management expects that bad debt 

expense will be in the range of 2% to 3% for the remainder of the fiscal year assuming that the housing market in the U.S. continues 

to show signs of improvement. 
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